1976 ANNUAL REPORT

VOLUME I

BANANAS

UNITED FRUIT COMPANY

DIVISION OF TROPICAL RESEARCH

AND

DIVISION EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENTS

THIS RESEARCH REPORT IS CLASSIFIED INFORMATION AND ONLY 14 COPIES HAVE BEEN DISTRIBUTED

-Nº40 20 2.50 VIL: 1020 Sec.

D151R180110H

CO64 1

DIRECTOR, THOPICAL RESEARCH - BOSTON

DIRECTOR, VIBING C. DUMLAP LABORATORIES - LA LINA

DIRECTOR, MORICULTURE THAINING AND EXTENSION . LA LIMA

DIRECTOR, CROP DEVELOPMENT - LA LINA

GIRECTON, ENCONDLOGY/NEMATOLOGY - LA LIMA

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ALMINANTE, PANANA

8 EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES, PARAMA

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - COLFITO, COSTA RICA

10 EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - HONBORAS

I CENERAL MANAGER - PHILIPPINES

GENERAL MANAGER - COLONB (A

3-14 LIBRARY, VINING C. QUMLAP LABORATORIES - LA LIMA

DISTRIBUTION

COPY	1	VICE-PRESIDENT, TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL OPERATIONS - BOSTON
	2	DIRECTOR, TROPICAL RESEARCH - BOSTON
	3	DIRECTOR, VINING C. DUNLAP LABORATORIES - LA LIMA
	4	DIRECTOR, AGRICULTURE TRAINING AND EXTENSION _ LA LIMA
	5	DIRECTOR, CROP DEVELOPMENT - LA LIMA
	6	DIRECTOR, ENTOMOLOGY/NEMATOLOGY - LA LIMA
	7.	EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ALMIRANTE, PANAMA
	8	EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES, PANAMA
	9	EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - GOLFITO, COSTA RICA
۱	0	EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - HONDURAS
1	1	GENERAL MANAGER - PHILIPPINES
1	2	GENERAL MANAGER - COLOMBIA
1	3-14	LIBRARY, VINING C. DUNLAP LABORATORIES - LA LIMA

病,

1976 ANNUAL REPORT

VOLUME I

BANANAS

CONTENTS

	Page No.
PATHOLOGY	1
NEMATOLOGY	120
ENTOMOLÒGY	159
AGRONOMY	169
POST-HARVEST HORTICULTURE	257
FOOD TECHNOLOGY	269
BANANA BREEDING	272
EXTENSION AND TRAINING	277
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES	281
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - BOCAS	295
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - GOLFITO	303
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - HONDURAS	325
PROFESSIONAL STAFF	345
MEETINGS ATTENDED BY STAFF	347
DAYS WORKING AWAY FROM LA LIMA	349

5

134 1826

6

6 6 6

AL 9.13

10

 PATHOLOGY
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1
 1

BANANA DISEASES (Cont'd)	Page No.
FRUIT SPOTS - HONDURAS	100
Comparison of the Incidence of Fruit Spot on Honduras Container and Breakbulk Fruit	100 104 104
VIRUS DISEASES	109
MOKO DISEASE - HONDURAS	109
Effectiveness of Beloran and Vanodine As Tool Disinfectants in Moko Control	113 115
FUSARIAL WILT - TAIWAN RACE	119
YELLOW MAT	119
ELEPHANTIASIS	119
PUBLICATIONS	120
NEMATOLOGY	120
Culturing Nematodes for Experimental Use	120 121 121 129 134
Bananas	138 143 146
with Fungi	147 147 152 152 155 157
ENTOMOLOGY	159
Corky Scab - Philippines	159
Biology of Thrips	159 159 162

and the state of t

with Which

ENTOMOLOGY (Cont'd)	Page No.
Corky Scab - Philippines (Cont'd)	
Bud Spraying	162 163 163
Root Borers	165
Colaspis	165
Tests of Insecticide Impregnated Bags	165
Metachroma variabile Found in Higuerito, Honduras	165
Colaspis Beetle Ecology	166
Effects of DBCP on Scarab Larvae in Soil	166
AGRONOMY	169
Drip Irrigation	169
Experiment A - Water Levels	169
Experiment B - Nitrogen Levels	183 184
Chemistry Laboratory Services	186
Nutrition	186
Foliar Analyses - Honduras	186 186
International Standard	188
Nitrogen Sources - Caimito Farm	193
Phosphorus-Potassium - Guaruma II Farm	195
Potassium-Magnesium - Honduras	199
Potassium Frequency Trial Monitored by Foliar Analyses - La	201
Foliar Analyses - Golfito	201
Nitrogen-Potassium - Palmar	207
Potassium Frequency Trial Monitored by Foliar Analyses - Golfito	207
Potassium Chloride Versus Potassium Sulfate - Palmar	210
Phosphorus-Potassium - Changuinola	213
Foliar Analyses - Armuelles	213
Foliar Analyses - Colombia	213
Foliar Analyses - Dominican Republic and Philippines	215
Soil Fertility Studies	215
Phosphorus-Potassium	215
Nitrogen	233
Magnesium	235
Sulfur - Costa Rica	237
Soil Fertility Survey	237

	Page No.
AGRONOMY (Cont'd)	
Ground Covers	239
Importance of Native Plants	251 252
Experiment with Tagetes sp. for Suppressions of Nematode Population	252
Seed Germination Trials	253
Fruit Protection - Guying Modifications	254
POST-HARVEST HORTICULTURE	257
Sinkers	257
The Relationship Between Potassium and Magnesium Status and Holding Properties of Bananas	260
Holding Properties of Bananas in Relation to Hand Position	263
Low Molecular Weight Polyethylene Emulsions for Coating Bananas	266
FOOD TECHNOLOGY	269
Banana Catsup	269
BANANA BREEDING	272
Diploid Breeding	272
Tetraploid Breeding	276
Tetraploid x Diploid Breeding	276
Greenhouse Operations	277
EXTENSION AND TRAINING	277
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES	281
Agronomy	281
Leaf Sampling for Nutrient Analysis	281 281 281 281 281 282 282 282
Roundup Experiment	282

103	

<u>CONTENTS</u> (Cont'd)	Page
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES (Cont'd)	NO.
Diseases	282
Sigatoka	282 282 283 283
Nematicides	283
Nematode Control	283 283 287 287 287 287 287
Insects	292
Colaspis	292 292 292 292
Extension	292
Meetings Attended, Seminars, Weather	294
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - BOCAS	295
Agronomy	295
PK-24	295 295 295 295
Nematology	296
Fallow Farm 66	296
Insects	296
Antichloris (Ceramidia)	296 298 298
Miscellaneous	301
Critical Age Studies	301 302 302
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - GOLFITO	303
Agronomy	303
Fertilization	303 303

(... (NE. 6.

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - GOLFITO (Cont'd)	Page No.
Agronomy (Cont'd)	
Phosphorus Trial - Coto 45	303 303
Entomology	303
Natural Control	303 304 304
Nematology	305
Losses	305 305 305 307 307 308
Pathology	310
Moko	310 310 310
Weather	311
Philippine Insects	311
Introduction	311 311 315 316 321
EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - HONDURAS	325
Pathology	325
Disease Control	325 325 326 326 326 328
Nematology	328
DBCP Nematode Control Experiments	328
Entomology	329
Metachroma variabile	333 333

S.

N. A.

6

2 C C C

6

5 m 10

NEW VEW

NEW WEY E

All all

A. 1830

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - Honduras (Cont'd)	Page No.
Agronomy	333
Potassium-Magnesium Experiment - Lima and Ulua Districts Grand Nain Versus Dwarf VALERY - Laurel Farm	333 333 336 337 337 337 338 338
Sampling for Foliar Analysis	340 340 340
Blowdown Losses	340 340 340
PROFESSIONAL STAFF	345
MEETINGS ATTENDED BY STAFF	347
DAYS WORKING AWAY FROM LA LIMA	349

BANANA DISEASES

Leaf spot (black Sigatoka and Sigatoka) and nematode root rot continue to be the most costly of the diseases and pests attacking bananas. Leaf spot control in the four Central American Divisions absorbs nearly 5 million dollars or 52% of the costs of disease and pest control; nematode control costs about 2 million dollars or 22%. Although disease control procedures were improved in 1975, costs of materials and labor continued to rise and it was necessary to greatly increase number of spray cycles to provide good control of the virulent black Sigatoka. As a result, overall costs rose considerably.

SIGATOKA

Sigatoka is present in all of Central and South America, except Honduras and Belice where it has been replaced by black Sigatoka. The Armuelles Division had a record year of good Sigatoka control with only 10.3 cycles of spray. It was the only Division that reduced Sigatoka costs (Table 1). In contrast, control was not as good as in 1975 in Golfito and Almirante, even though the same number of cycles were applied in 1976 as in 1975. Heavy spotting broke out in Coto and Palmar Districts in June and July and there were several heavy spotting outbreaks in Changuinola.

Greater use was made of Benlate and the Benlate-Dithane "cocktail". Armuelles used the cocktail formula extensively (1.5-2 oz Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane). Benlate alone at the low rate of 2 oz per acre provided adequate control during dry weather in the Armuelles and Golfito Divisions. Lowvolume applications of oil (1 gal per acre) replaced the former 2.5 gal per acre oil-in-water emulsion in all Divisions. To avoid problems when water contamination of the oil occurred, emulsifier was added to oil for the first tank mix of the day. Blending speed was increased to over 3000 RPM. Towards the end of the year, some oil burning appeared in the Pacific coast divisions when drought conditions prevailed. Low-volume oil-in-water emulsions may be needed under such conditions. (DONALDSON, STOVER, GROVE)

BLACK SIGATOKA - HONDURAS

A record number of cycles was applied in 1976 and costs soared (Table 1). However, control was the best since the first epidemic swept through the division in 1974. A small amount of fruit ripened in localized "hot spots" in November and December when the market was saturated and fruit was left hanging one to two weeks longer than usual. Losses were kept to a minimum in spite of record high rainfall from October through December and a large amount of lost flying time due to breakdown of helicopters.

Figures 1-3 show disease trends. Spotting began to increase sharply in October, reached a peak in November and December, and began the seasonal decline in late January 1977 over most of the Division. In some localized

TABLE 1. Black Sigatoka and Sigatoka Cycles and Costs (in U.S. Dollars) - 1973-1976

	HONDURAS (Black Sigatoka)	ALMIRANTE	GOLFITO	ARMUELLES			
	<u>1976 1975 1974 1973</u>						
Average cycles/year	29.5 21.6 17.2 13.8	16.0 16.0 16.9 16.3	17.7 17.0 16.6 14.3	10.3 12.5 13.6 13.1			
Cost/acre/ cycle	3.82 2.98 2.25 1.35	3.24 3.00 1.68 1.20	2.99 2.36 1.73 1.31	3.11 2.69 1.58 1.22			
Cost/project/ acre	112.54 64.35 38.72 18.63	51.89 48.01 28.38 19.29	52.90 40.23 28.70 18.75	32.09 34.08 22.41 15.96			
Change in cost/acre 1976/1975	+48.19	+3.88	+12.67	-1.99			



Figure 1. Black Sigatoka infection in the two worst sections of Santa Rosa Farm: Benlate-oil zone.

3



Figure 2. Black Sigatoka infection in the two worst sections of the following experiments: (1) 4 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil, Zone 1, Santa Rosa; (2) 4 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 1 gal oil, Zone 2, Santa Rosa; (3) 4 oz Benlate + 0.5 gal water + 0.5 gal oil, Zone 1, Mopala; (4) 2 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil, Zone 2, Mopala. All rates are per acre.

-4





5-

areas, however, heavy spotting persisted through February.

By the first of August bronzing was showing up in areas such as Omonita. Santa Rosa and Los Limones. At this time the low-volume emulsion (0.5 gal oil in 0.5 gal water) area of Santa Rosa showed less bronzing. It was then recommended to put other areas where the youngest leaf spotted in the two worst sections was 8 or better on low-volume emulsion with 4 oz of Benlate. Where the youngest leaf spotted reached 9 or older, the Benlate was reduced to 2 oz. Where pronounced bronzing occurred and the youngest leaf spotted remained younger than 8, alternate cycles of 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal oil with 4 oz Benlate in 50% emulsion were used. San Juan, La Curva and Tacamiche had quite prominent bronzing by the end of November. In December all except experimental areas were using the low-volume 50% emulsion. The 50% emulsion will continue to June in order to reduce oil injury during cool, dry weather.

The presence of black Sigatoka was confirmed in Belize. In Honduras the disease was spreading more slowly than expected out of the Ulua Valley. It has moved 25 km west of Cortes on the Cortes-Cuyamel highway, but has not moved east of Tela towards La Ceiba. It has reached Taulabe beyond Lake Yojoa on the main San Pedro-Tequcigalpa highway.

Plantains in the lower Ulua Valley were heavily attacked from July onward and by the end of October export quality fruit could not be obtained and all exports ceased. Plantains will have to be sprayed from June to December for export quality fruit. (STOVER, DICKSON, SLABAUGH)

Formulae and Cycling Tested for Black Sigatoka Control

During the year many changes in formulations occurred. These changes were made as more knowledge of the disease and spraying methods were obtained. Following are listed the changes that were made during the year:

	Formulation Changes in 1976 (All rates are per acre)
January 7	l gal oil plus 6 oz Benlate until spotting levels lowered; 8 oz of Dithane was included with Benlate in most areas in order to evaluate coverage during spray equipment calibra- tion.
February 6	Reduced oil rate to 0.75 gal with 6 oz Benlate in farms with infection rate of leaf 8.5 or older.
February 10	Where 8 oz Dithane added to evaluate coverage, reduce Ben- late from 6 to 4 oz.
February 10	Placed one spray zone in Ulua District on 2 oz Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane in 1 gal oil.
February 21	Farms with persistently high rates of infection for last 3 months received 2 cycles of 6 oz of Benlate at 10-12 day intervals.

-

-

100

C.

1999

Ser. S

Nersy.

111

Č.

100 1

February 25

- Three standard formulae listed for use depending on amount of disease in two worst sections:
- 1. 2 oz Benlate, 12 oz Dithane, 1 gal oil where youngest leaf spotted 8.5 or older.
 - 2 oz Benlate, 12 oz Dithane, 0.75 gal oil where youngest leaf spotted 8.5 or older from February-May, or where drought conditions prevail.
 - 4 oz Benlate, 12 oz Dithane, 1 gal oil where youngest leaf spotted 8.5 or younger during June, July and August.
- June 1 4 oz Benlate, 12 oz Dithane, 1 gal oil used over entire Division. Cycles 10-12 days on all areas where leaf 8.5 or younger infected.

June 7 Cycles shortened in all areas:

Leaf 8.5 or older spotted - 14 days maximum Leaf 8.4 or younger - 11 days maximum

June 10 Lowered flying height to 70 feet from ground.

June 11 Placed Lima District on Benlate only, except certain areas in San Juan and Tacamiche that received Benlate + Dithane.

July 5 Placed entire Division on 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal oil, except certain spray zones in La Lima, Ulua, Guanacastal and Higuerito Districts which continued with Benlate plus Dithane.

August 1 The following formulae were designated:

Formulae	Composition per acre
 Standard Benlate Standard Oil 	4 oz Benlate 1 gal oil 0.2% Triton X-45, or 0.1% Agral 90 When youngest leaf spotted No. 8.9 or younger
2. Low Benlate Standard Oil	2 oz Benlate l gal oil 0.2% Triton X-45, or 0.1% Agral 90 When youngest leaf spotted No. 9.0 or older

August 11 The following formulae also were put into effect:

3. Standard Benlate Low Oil Emulsion 4 oz Benlate 0.5 gal oil 0.5 gal water 0.75% Triton X-45, or 0.38% Agral 90 On all areas where infection on leaf 8.0 or older and on all areas where pronounced bronzing evident and spotted leaves younger than 8.0 for two consecutive cycles, then alternate with formula 1.

Formula	e Compo	sition per acre					
4. Low Benlat Low Oil Em	e 2 or ulsion 0.5 0.5 0.7 or 0	2 oz Benlate 0.5 gal oil 0.5 gal water 0.75% Triton X-45, or 0.38% Agral 90 0 n all areas where infection on leaf 9.0 or older.					
August 20	The follow fect to rea	ing formulae and duce number of m	cycle intervals wer nixes:	re put into ef-			
	Youngest leaf						
	spotted	Cycle days	Formula				
	7.9	9-11	Standard Benlate Standard Oil				
	8.0	10-12	Standard Benlate				

9.0 13-14 Low Benlate Low Oil Emulsion

Finally on November 16, all formulations were changed to emulsions with the following schedule recommended for the rest of 1976:

			SEASON					
Youngest leaf spotted*	December	to May	all' estimate	June to November				
	Low Oil	Emulsion	Youngest leaf	Standard Oil Emulsion				
	Cycle days	Formula	spotted*	Cycle days	Formula			
7.9	10-12	Standard Benlate	7.9	9-11	Standard Benlate			
8.0	12-14	Low Benlate	8.0	10-12	Standard Benlate			
9.0	15-17	Low Benlate	9.0	13-14	Low Benlate			

* Average of the two worst sections spotted in the zone.

FORMULAE CONTENTS PER ACRE

- 1. Standard Benlate Standard Oil Emulsion
- 2. Standard Benlate Low Oil Emulsion

4 oz Benlate 0.85 gal oil 0.15 gal water 0.10% Agral 90

Low Oil Emulsion

27 (B) (E)

18 W

1969 (CA)

1

14. W

1

4 oz Benlate 0.5 gal oil 0.5 gal water 0.38% Agral 90

FORMULAE CONTENTS PER ACRE (Cont.)

 Low Benlate Low Oil Emulsion 2 oz Benlate 0.5 gal oil 0.5 gal water 0.38% Agral 90

The four zones of 4 oz Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane M-45 continued through December. However, toward the end of December, because of heavier disease build-up and the discovery of some tolerance to Benlate, it was decided to spray all heavily diseased areas with 4 oz Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane M-45 in a 50% emulsion per acre for two cycles and then alternate with 4 oz Benlate in 50% emulsion. (STOVER, DICKSON, SLABAUGH)

Oil-in-Water Emulsions

Because more frequent spraying is required for black Sigatoka than Sigatoka control, low-volume emulsions were studied in order to reduce the amount of oil being applied. Excessive oil not only damages the leaves (bronzing), but can reduce yield, especially during cool, dry weather.

In the laboratory it was not possible to make a good stable 85% emulsion using 4 oz Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane and Agral 90 up to 3.5% by oil volume. At 2.3% or above it became very viscous. With a 50% emulsion a good stable emulsion was obtained at 0.5% Agral 90 and a fairly fast-breaking one at 0.38% Agral. In the field 0.38% proved satisfactory. Agral 90 at 0.38% of oil volume is also required for a 75% emulsion. For 4 oz Benlate in an 85% emulsion only 0.1% Agral 90 is required.

The low-volume (1 gal per acre) 50% emulsion has been successfully used in Honduras between December and June. (DICKSON, SLABAUGH, STOVER)

Levels of Spotting with Different Formulations

A number of areas received different formulations for comparison. Levels of Benlate of 1.5 and 2 oz along with Dithane at 8 and 12 oz were tested in 1 and 0.75 gal of oil per acre in Tacamiche Farm. No differences could be detected in disease control in these small-scale tests up to mid-year. Larger tests were then initiated.

In Santa Rosa-Mopala large blocks were sprayed with four different formulae. Spotting data are shown in Figure 2.

Benlate-Oil: This 600-acre block had been sprayed almost continuously since November 1974 with 4 oz of Benlate in 1 gal of oil. In 1976, 30 applications were made. These included five cycles at the beginning of the year at 6 oz of Benlate, one of 4 oz plus 12 oz Dithane, and in the last three cycles of the year beginning November 25 the carrier was changed to an 85% emulsion sprayed at 1 gal per acre. The 30 cycles for the year give an average of 12.2 days between applications. 4 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane + 1 gal oil per acre: This treatment consisted of 260 acres lying between the Benlate-oil zone of Santa Rosa 1 and the 50% emulsion zone of Mopala 1. This treatment was begun on February 14 and continued through November 26.

<u>4 oz Benlate + 1/2 gal oil + 1/2 gal water per acre</u>: Beginning May 14, 312 acres of Mopala were sprayed with this formulation. Twenty cycles were applied to November. Some heavy infection on shot plants appeared in September in Sections 4 and 5 along the river and began moving toward the interior of the spray zone. By December considerable infection was occurring in Sections 1 and 2 near the river. By mid-December heavy infection was also occurring in Sections 69 and 70 and ripe and turning fruit appeared.

2 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil per acre: This formula was applied to 294 acres of Zone 2 of Mopala beginning July 5. Fifteen cycles were applied including one cycle on November 4 of 4 oz Benlate, and the last two cycles in December were sprayed with the 50% low-volume emulsion.

Spotting reached high levels in all of the above areas during the last three months of the year (Figure 2). However, control was adequate in all areas except the emulsion block. Control in this treatment did not begin to deteriorate until September and by December severe spotting was present in about 80 of the 312 acres. Tolerance to Benlate was detected in this area in September. Also, the area lies along the Ulua River where "hot spots" frequently develop because of poorer coverage or a more favorable micro-environment for the pathogen. Under these circumstances, it is probable that at least part of the disease outbreak in the emulsion area can be attributed to a location effect. This is one reason why formulations must be tested in several locations over a year's time before they can be fairly evaluated. (STOVER, DICKSON, SLABAUGH, GROVE)

Benlate Tolerance

Tolerance and loss of disease control have been recorded for at least eight pathogens where benomyl alone was sprayed at regular intervals for 2-3 years. For early detection of tolerance and possible loss of control, ascospores from black Sigatoka areas are discharged at regular intervals onto agar plates containing 0.1 mg/ml (0.1 ppm) of benomyl. Up until September these spores have either not germinated or germinated abnormally. Conidia from spots have reacted similarly. However, when isolations were made from hyphae in young lesions, from 25 to 70% of the colonies that developed grew at a much faster rate and could grow on media with 0.1 mg/ml of benomyl (Figure 4). About one-half of these tolerant isolates would also grow (although more slowly) at levels up to 500 mg/ml, but not at 1000 mg/ml of benomyl. These tolerant isolates were of two types - one that grew about six times as fast as the non-tolerant isolates and one that grew about four times as fast (Figure 4). In addition, cultural characteristics were very different from wild type isolates.

Colonies from hyphae isolated from young lesions by removing a piece 1 mm or less in diameter were always either tolerant or non-tolerant and no mixtures occurred. Also, conidia produced in culture were always the same type as the parent. In contrast to the dual nature of hyphal isolates, ascospores and conidia produced in and on spotted areas that yielded tolerant thalli were always non-tolerant. Tolerant isolates were never obtained from areas that had not been sprayed with benomyl. 199

1

4

E

6.5

VERY

1

6

63

6

100

æ.



Figure 4.

Tolerant and non-tolerant strains of Mycosphaerella fijiensis var. difformis to benomyl. (Upper row) Five-day growth on Mycophyl agar without benomyl and (middle row) with 0.1 µg/ml of benomyl. The two plates on the right contain the tolerant strain; those on the left the non-tolerant. (Lower row) Rate of growth and colony characteristics of two strains tolerant to benomyl (large colonies) and the wild non-tolerant strain after 10 days on Mycophyl agar at room temperature (23-26° C). From left to right colonies are 11, 7 and 2 mm in diameter.

Tolerant colonies were stable and did not sector. Attempts to create hetercaryons between tolerant and non-tolerant strains by mixing conidia and isolating from hyphal tips of resulting colonies were unsuccessful. Only colonies of the faster-growing tolerant strains were obtained from hyphal tips.

Pathogenicity studies were undertaken with tolerant and non-tolerant cultures taken from lesions in areas receiving benomyl. After isolation and classification, single-conidia derived cultures were obtained for inoculation. Spore suspensions were applied to the lower surface of the unfurled first leaf of young banana plants growing in a mist chamber. No spotting developed from tolerant cultures, but non-tolerant cultures were highly virulent - mass spotting occurring within eight weeks.

Cultures derived from single ascospores from areas with benomyl-tolerant thalli in lesions and from areas that never received benomyl were used to inoculate young plants. One-half of the plants then received three applications of benomyl in oil on the upper leaf surface ten days apart beginning 48 hours after inoculation of the lower surface. Lesion development was retarded and fewer lesions developed on the plants receiving benomyl. Nevertheless, enough lesions eventually appeared for isolation purposes. No benomyl tolerant thalli were obtained from any plants where inoculum was derived from ascospores from areas never receiving benomyl. Tolerant thalli were present in lesions derived from ascospores from areas where benomyl had been used for 18 months.

The failure of tolerance to appear in the sexual progeny from lesions known to consist of tolerant and non-tolerant hyphae is characteristic of extrachromosomally inherited differences.

Following the discovery of an extra-chromosomal type of tolerance not transmitted through the ascospore, tolerance was detected in ascospores. These isolates had a level of virulence equal to non-tolerant strains. In certain locations up to 5% of the ascospores will grow at 1 ppm and 3% at 10 ppm. In individual leaves, as high as 60% of the ascospores had some tolerance to benomyl. Recently, a few ascospore-derived cultures have been obtained that grow at about 50% of the normal rate in 200 ppm of benomyl.

As increasingly higher levels of tolerance were detected, a study was made on the effect of Dithane on the incidence of tolerant isolates (Table 2). The presence of Dithane along with the Benlate reduced the level of tolerant isolates. It was then decided to re-instate Dithane as a component of the Benlate-oil spray.

The use of mixtures of fungicides with Benlate or other benzimidazoles to overcome tolerance problems is being promoted by the manufacturers. Both DuPont and Rohm and Haas are proceeding to register new compounds consisting of mixtures of a benzimidazole and a dithiocarbamate fungicides.

The Effect of Dithane in the Benlate-Oil Formulae

Four areas were kept on 4 oz of Benlate plus 12 oz Dithane M-45 plus 1 gal of oil when the remainder of the Division stopped using Dithane in the mix at the end of June:

Table 2. Effect of Benlate alone and Benlate plus Dithane on tolerance of ascospores of <u>Mycosphaerella fijiensis</u> var. difformis to benomyl in Santa Rosa Farm.

		Toleranc	e Levels	
	Benlata . Pithne Benl	1.0-10 ppm	<1.0 ppm	% Tolerant
Sept. 6-7	Benlate	14*	21	60
	Benlate + Dithane	0	32	0
Sept. 29-30	Benlate	24	51	32
	Benlate + Dithane	3	27	10
Nov. 29-30	Benlate	79	35	69
	Benlate + Dithane	0	84	0

* No. of ascospore-derived colonies growing at levels indicated.

Table 4. Amount of spotting on leaf 7 on plants with fruit being calipered for the first week of harvest in adjacent areas treated with Benlate or Benlate + Dithane in Laurel-Limones Farms.

Adjacent	Spottir	ng rating*	%	% plants in category 3 and 4*				
sections south to	Benlate +	10.1> 01	-0.1	Benlate +				
north	Dithane	Benlate		Dithane	Benlate			
52-51, 42-43	1.40	1.29		0	0			
45, 44-45	1.20	2.57		0	50.0			
46, 33	1.30	1.14		0	0 00-00			
32, 32	1.20	1.14		0	0			
25, 25	1.10	1.13		0	0			
Average	1.24	1.45						

* Average of 5-10 plants per section number: 1 = less than 5% of leaf spotted; 2 = 5-15%; 3 = 16-33%; 4 = more than 33%. 100

Vers

0

((U)

We we

0

C

6

AN 199

Star All

Table 5. Amount of spotting on leaf 7 on plants with fruit being calipered for the first week in adjacent areas treated with Benlate or Benlate + Dithane in San Juan-La Curva Farms.

Adjacent	Spotting	rating *	% plants in category 3 and 4 *						
sections	Benlate		Benlate						
north	Dithane	Benlate	Dithane	Benlate					
42, 34-35	1.00	1.00	0	0					
41, 36	1.00	1.00	0	0					
40, 37	1.00	1.00	0	0					
39, 38	1.14	1.00	0	0					
72, 71	1.14	1.00	0	0					
73, 70	1.00	1.00	0	0					
74, 15-16	1.00	1.00	0	0					
Average	1.04	1.00							

* Average of 5-8 plants per section number: 1 = less than 5% of leaf spotted; 2 = 5-15%; 3 = 16-33%; 4 = more than 33%. 1

Date	of	Survey	4	Benlate	Calixin		Calixin + Benlate
				Average	e age youngest	leaf spot	ted
Oct.	11,	1976		7.0	8.5		8.6
	25			6.4	6.9		6.4
Nov.	8			6.7	6.5		6.5
	22			6.8	6.4		6.4
Dec.	6			6.6	6.7		7.3
	20			6.4	6.5		6.4
Jan.	4,	1977		6.5	6.4		7.1
	18			6.5	6.7		6.5
	28			6.0	5.8		5.9
				% leaves	in spotting cate	egories 2	and 3*
Oct.	11,	1976		0	2.2		1.3
	25			7.2	001.4		2.5
Nov.	8			2.4	2.2		1.8
	22			0.9	1.3		3.1
Dec.	6			2.9	6.6		1.0
	20			2.2	4.2		1.4
Jan.	4,	1977		3.4	1.9		0.1
	18			5.9 -	6.6		0.4
	28			4.2	7.4		1.0

Table 6. Effect of Benlate, Calixin, and Benlate plus Calixin on spotting levels on non-fruited plants in Tacamiche Farm.

* Category 2 = 5-15% of leaf spotted; 3 = 16-33%.

1.200

1

Sta All

Ser.

VIII WIN TH

Star 100, 100

4

13

Ser.

increased in the Benlate and Calixin plots. There was much less spotting in the Calixin-Benlate treatment than in either Benlate or Calixin alone.

An examination of spotting data on shot plants (Table 7) indicates that disease levels in the Benlate and Calixin plots were about equal by the end of January. The Calixin-Benlate treatment, however, clearly had less spotting. The data show the Benlate treatment significantly reduced spotting on shot plants nearing harvest from an average index of 3.5 to 2.00. Calixin maintained the average index at around 2.00, and the Calixin plus Benlate reduced the index from 2.0 in December to 1.0-1.4 in January (Table 7). These data confirm studies made elsewhere indicating that Calixin alone is not as effective as Benlate. However, a mixture of the two may be more effective than either one alone. Additional studies are warranted when registration and a tolerance is obtained. (STOVER, DICKSON)

Imazalil

Imazalil is a new systemic fungicide produced by Janssen Pharmaceutica and tested by the French in Africa where it provided good control of Sigatoka. Ascospores are extremely sensitive to concentrations as low as 0.1 ppm. Imazalil acts on the cell wall causing leakage of contents and severe distortion of germ tubes (Figure 5). This material was sprayed in Omonita Farm in a "seedbed" because fruit could not be exported until Imazalil was registered and a tolerance established with the Environmental Protection Agency. The first application was made on April 10 at 200 g a.i. in 1 gal oil per acre followed on April 20 by the second application. On May 5 one-half the area (four swaths wide) was changed to 100 g a.i. per acre. These latter treatments were carried out for a total of six cycles. In addition, it was necessary to make an application on June 5 of 100 g a.i. per acre to the 200 g a.i. zone because of a shortage of material on hand.

On August 31, the 200 g a.i. plot was changed to 0.75 g a.i. per acre. These treatments continued to the end of the year, except that the last two applications were applied as a 50% emulsion. In all, 16 cycles of Imazalil were applied. Fruit for residue work was shipped to the United States on August 19, 1976.

After the first two applications, light pitting was found on many of the leaves, although it did not appear serious. Since that time the pitting had disappeared. No pitting was found on fruit. There appeared to be a relationship between the amount of light intensity at time of spraying and amount of pitting.

Control has been about equal in both the Imazalil plots (16 cycles of spray) and an adjacent control block sprayed with Benlate-oil (22 cycles). Figure 6 shows the rainfall, spray application dates, and leaf spot data.

Imazalil warrants commercial-scale testing when clearance is obtained and a price is established. (DICKSON, SLABAUGH, STOVER)

Methods of Evaluating Spotting Levels

In commercial type surveys to determine the youngest leaf spotted, tall plants are used. A study was made to determine what effect plant height or

	BENLATE					CALIXIN				CALIXIN + BENLATE						
Date 1976		Av. grade	<u>% lea</u>	ves #7	in cat	egory*	Av. grade	<u>% lea</u>	ves #7	in ca	tegory 4	Av. grade	<u>% leav</u>	ves #7	in cate	egory
Nov. 2:	2	3.52	0.0	12.0	24.0	64.0	2.04	8.0	80.0	12.0	0.0	1.76	60.0	12.0	20.0	8.0
Dec.	2	2.40	5.0	50.0	45.0	0.0	1.75	35.0	55.0	10.0	0.0	1.90	15.0	80.0	5.0	0.0
1	3	2.50	0.0	50.0	50.0	0.0	3.50	0.0	10.0	30.0	60.0	2.00	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
2	3	2.00	30.0	40.0	30.0	0.0	1.80	30.0	60.0	10.0	0.0	1.50	60.0	30.0	10.0	0.0
Jan.	4	2.00	8.0	84.0	8.0	0.0	1.40	64.0	32.0	4.0	0.0	1.04	96.0	4.0	0.0	0.0
1	4	2.00	16.0	68.0	16.0	0.0	1.60	44.0	52.0	4.0	0.0	1.00	96.0	4.0	0.0	0.0
2	8	2.00	24.0	52.0	24.0	0.0	1.96	24.0	56.0	20.0	0.0	1.40	60.0	40.0	0.0	0.0
*] =	less	than 5	5% of 1	eaf sp	otted;	2 = 5-159	%; 3 = 1	1-33%;	4 = mc	ore tha	an 33%.					

Table 7. Effect of Calixin, Benlate, and Calixin + Benlate on spotting levels on leaf No. 7 just prior to harvest.

-20-






Figure 6. Black Sigatoka infection in the Omonita Imazalil Experiment and unsprayed control of Guaruma I, Section 38.

12

age had on the survey readings. Also, since most black Sigatoka spotting develops between shooting and harvest, a study was made of evaluating leaf spot just prior to harvest.

To categorize medium and tall plants, 10 plants of the medium and tall height classes were measured as to height and time to shooting (Table 8). The tall plants on May 20 averaged 12.6 (range 12.2-13.1) ft in height to the axil of the first opened leaf and the candela. These shot at an average of 13.3 (range 12.8-14.3) ft. The dates of shooting were between May 26 and June 9 or an average of 11.9 days after marking (June 1). The medium plants on May 20 averaged 10.6 (range 10-11.6) ft in height and shot at an average of 13.8 (range 12.4-14.9) ft in height. The dates of shooting were between June 20 and August 20 with the average being July 31 or 71.5 days after marking.

An evaluation of youngest leaf spotted on tall and medium height plants (Table 9) shows that a much younger leaf is spotted in medium than in tall plants. Whether this is due to a faster rate of leaf production in the younger medium-sized plants or a faster rate of disease development is not known.

For evaluation of spotting intensity just prior to harvest, the seventh leaf of plants with the ribbon color being harvested for the first time (first week) was chosen. Spotting was evaluated using the standard index described in Tropical Agriculture 48: 185, 1971: 0, none up to 10 individual lesions; 1, 5% of leaf area with spotting; 2, 6% to 15%; 3, 16% to 33%, and 4, more than 33% of leaf area spotted. Figure 7 shows the data from March through mid-January. There is a good correlation between spotting intensity on leaf No. 7 on plants near harvesting age and youngest leaf spotted on medium-sized plants. A similar but less close correlation occurs between youngest leaf spotted on tall plants. (DICKSON)

Effect of Black Sigatoka on Carrying Quality of Fruit

Two banana ripening trials of fruit harvested from Sigatoka diseased plants were run. Each trial consisted of 10 boxes of fruit packed from each of 10 racemes from heavily spotted plants.

Blue-ribbon bagged fruit from the week of July 3 (27th week) was harvested on September 20 (approximately 100 days old) in Tacamiche Farm. Plants showed from 1-5 leaves in Category 4 (more than 33% of leaf area diseased), plus 0-4 leaves in Category 3 (16-33% leaf area damaged). The average leaf index was 2.4 and the average caliper grade of the second hand was 13.4 (range 11-15). Shortly after packing, the boxes were placed in a ripening room where the temperature was maintained at 58° F. The first box showing signs of ripening occurred 21 days after packing and consisted of one finger of each of two hands where the fingers had been heavily scarred.

Gold-ribbon bagged fruit from the week of August 7 (32nd week) was harvested on October 22 (approximately 93 days old) in Indiana Farm. Plants showed from 1-6 leaves in Category 4, plus 0-3 leaves in Category 3. The average leaf index was 2.3 and the average caliper grade of the second hand was 14.9 (range 13-19). This time the packed boxes were held at ambient temperature for 24 hours, then 48 hours at 62° F, followed by 48 hours at 60° F, Table 8. Height and days to shooting for "medium" and "tall" plants marked in San Juan Farm on May 20, 1976.

		Height in feet May 20	Date of shooting	Days to shooting	Height at shooting
Tall plants	1	12.7	May 27	7	13.2
	2	12.7	June 9	20	13.4
	3	12.9	5	16	13.4
	4	12.9	May 29	9	13.2
	5	12.2	June 4	15	12.8
	6	13.1	May 26	6	13.6
	7	12.2	30	10	13.0
	8	12.7	31	11	14.3
	9	12.3	June 1	12	13.0
	10	12.4	2	13	13.0
	Average	12.61		11.9	13.29
Medium plants	1	10.9	June 20	31	12.4
	2	11.6	July 6	47	14.2
	3	10.0	Aug. 7	79	13.3
	4	10.3	17	89	14.5
	5	10.0	July 26	67	13.4
	6	11.2	29	70	13.9
	7	10.3	Aug. 20	92	14.9
	8	10.2	8	80	13.8
	9	10.7	July 31	72	13.3
	10	10.5	Aug. 16	88	14.6
	Average	10.57		71.5	13.83

21 on October 22 (antroximately 93 days old) in Indiana farm. Plants

-24-

12

8

100

100° 1000

32 45

Table 9. Evaluation of youngest leaf spotted on "medium" and "tall" plants and leaf spot intensity on leaf No. 7 of plants with ribbon being harvested the first week.

Medium Plants		Plants	Tall Plants			Shot Plants			
Date	No. youngest leaf spotted	spotted	No. youngest leaf spotted	% spotted <8	Av. grade leaf #7	<u> </u>	#7 leave	es in gr	rade4
Mar. 9,10,12 22	5.9 6.3	100	7.6 7.6	50 48	2.2 2.9	40 10	16 32	28 20	16 38
Apr. 10 23	7.0 6.9	78 80	8.3 8.6	14 10	3.0 3.1	6	30 24	22 12	42 54
May 6 21	7.0 7.6	78 40	9.0 10.1	6 0	2.8	12 54	26 24	30 14	32 8
June 4 18	7.4 7.7	58 34	10.3 11.5	0	1.7	54 76	26 12	14 8	6 4
July 6 20	7.7	32 30	10.5 10.1	0 0	1.1 0.8	92 74	6 2	2 0	0 0
Aug. 18	7.7	44	8.8	2	0.9	89	0	0	0
Sept. 2 16 30	7.3 7.5 7.8	58 52 32	8.7 8.8 9.5	2 4 0	0.9 1.0 1.1	98 96 86	0 4 14	0 0	. 0 0 0
Oct. 15	7.9	28	9.7	0	1.0	100	0	0	0
Nov. 1 15 29	7.1 7.4 6.6	80 58 98	9.7 8.7 8.0	4 2 22	1.4 2.1 2.0	66 12 2	26 70 96	8 18 2	0 0 0
Dec. 13 29	6.3 7.5	100 50	7.7 9.1	38 2	1.9	8 88	90 12	2	0
Jan. 12	7.0	92	8.2	6	1.1	92	8	0	0



Figure 7. Comparison of Sigatoka grading systems on plants of different size. Commercial type surveys were made on medium and tall plants and compared to spot intensity of the 7th leaf of shot plants nearing harvest age.

-26-

then at 58° F. One box had 2, 1 and 3 fingers of 3 hands respectively ripening at 15 days. The plant from which this fruit came had seven leaves at harvest: 4 in Category 4 and 3 in Category 1 with an average index of 2.7. The caliper grade was 14. All other boxes completed 21 days with no ripes and turnings.

These data support previous studies showing that fruit from plants severely diseased will carry at least 2 weeks, provided most of the spotting develops after shooting. (DICKSON, STOVER)

Effect of Deleafing on Black Sigatoka Incidence

Rapid removal of fallen leaves and leaves with more than 25% of the area with spotting should reduce amount of inoculum being produced and improve disease control. In December 1975 an experiment began in Indiana Farm to determine the effect weekly deleafing and deleafing to 9 leaves at shooting would have on black Sigatoka incidence. The two treatments consisted of:

- CONTROL: Six randomized blocks (1-2 sections each), hanging leaves removed with a machete once every two weeks, standard deleafing for fruit spot spray and scar prevention.
- DELEAFED: Six randomized blocks (1-2 sections each), all hanging leaves, any leaves burnt with leaf spot, and all leaves except nine at shooting removed with a knife on a pole weekly.

Rate of infection (youngest leaf spotted) was evaluated every two weeks on ten non-fruited plants and leaf spotting intensity on ten plants about to be harvested in the center of each section.

The layout of the experiment and rate of infection for the different treatments are shown in Figure 8. Data on rate of infection and spotting levels show no difference between treatments on unshot plants (Table 10). There are slightly fewer leaves with Category 2 (6-15% of leaf area spotted) spotting in the deleafed treatment (Table 11). (STOVER, DICKSON, OYUELA)

Distribution in Southeast Asia and Probable Origin of Mycosphaerella fijiensis

Patterns of detection and distribution of <u>Mycosphaerella musicola</u> and <u>M</u>. <u>fijiensis</u> (including the var. difformis) in Southeast Asia and the Pacific Islands were studied (Figure 9). The data indicate a center of origin of <u>fijiensis</u> in the New Guinea-Solomon Islands area. From there the pathogen was carried, most likely in scale leaves on sword sucker rhizomes or in leaf trash, to Taiwan, Philippines, some of the adjacent islands in Indonesia, and most of the South Pacific Islands. Movement into Fiji, Hawaii, Philippines, and Southern Malaya has occurred probably within the past 30 years. <u>M. musicola</u> still predominates in most of Indonesia including Java and Sumatra, the Island of Borneo, and on the Asian mainland, except in Southern Malaya. Wherever fijiensis has invaded areas occupied by <u>musicola</u>, it has replaced the latter as the dominant banana leaf spot. (STOVER)



-28-

- 97

			Ave	erage age	3		% leaves
		•	lea	oungest of spotted	4	% spotted leaves <8	in spotting category 1**
Control	Sections	7/11		7.9		38	42
No Deleafing		9/13		9.4		6	27
		16		7.9		39	41
		19/14A		9.5		5	26
		22		7.6		52	41
		26/27		7.6		49	42
	Average			8.3		32	37
Deleafed	Sections	8/10		9.5		5	25
		5/12		7.8		46	42
		14/15		9.4		6	26
		17/18		7.8		41	40
		20/21		7.8		42	41
		24/25		7.5		50	43
	Average			8.3		32	36

Table 10. Effect of deleafing on black Sigatoka incidence*

* Deleafing began in December 1975; data shown is for non-shot plants recorded fortnightly between May 10 and September 27, 1976.

** Up to 5% of leaf area spotted.

			Average No. of youngest leaf spotted	% spotted leaves 8	% of leaves in spotting category l**	% of leaves in spotting category 2**
No Deleafing	Sections	7/11	5.0	97	62	0.3
		9/13	5.5	95	56	1.0
		16	4.6	100	62	3.0
		19/14A	6.0	97	51	1.1
		22	5.4	97	48	7.3
		26/27	5.3	95	56	2.4
	Average		5.3	97	56	2.4
Deleafed	Sections	8/10	5.7	95	54	0.8
		5/12	4.9	100	63	0.3
		14/15	6.1	97	50	1.6
		17/18	4.4	100	62	2.3
		20/21	5.6	100	52	4.8
		24/25	4.9	100	58	0.7
	Average		5.3	98	56	1.7

Table 11. Effect of deleafing on black Sigatoka incidence at harvesting grade*.

* Deleafing began in December 1975.

** 1 = Up to 5% of leaf area spotted.

2 = 6-15% of leaf area spotted.

124

NE.

13

WEST ST

STA ARE ARE ARE

COUNTRY CONTROL

1

12.0 1.2

202



Figure 9. Present known distribution of <u>Mycosphaerella</u> fijiensis and <u>Mycosphaerella</u> <u>musicola</u> in Southeast Asia. <u>M. fijiensis</u> is indicated by solid lines and <u>M. musicola</u> by x.



Figure 11. Positions on banana leaves utilized for monitoring Benlate quantities and distribution.

1

aliquot of the fungicide-ethyl acetate solution was then spotted on paper filter discs (14 mm in diameter) and air-dried with the aid of an Oster Airjet Dryer. After drying, the discs were placed on PDA (Potato-Dextrose Agar) previously seeded with spores of <u>Penicillium expansum</u>. The cultures were maintained at room temperature for 48 hr before zones of inhibition were measured and recorded. Five evenly spaced plants were selected across each spray swath and the experiment was conducted three times. The formulation used in these applications contained 4 oz Benlate + 0.1% Agral 90 per gal of oil and was applied at the rate of 1 gal per acre.

The micronair system used in this experiment consisted of four units mounted on a Piper Pawnee. Three of the four units were equipped with 30 mesh screen on the cages, whereas the other unit was equipped with 20 mesh screen. These micronair units were equipped with 3.5 in blades (cracked and chipped) which were adjusted to a 40° angle on the inboard units and a 50° angle on the outboard units. These angles permitted a rotating speed of approximately 4,000 RPM for each unit. The inboard units were located 50 in (right side) and 49 in (left side) from the fuselage, providing a total distance of 131 in between the inboard units. The outboard units were located 85 and 86 in from the inboard units on the right and left side, respectively. All units were centered with the lower edge of the wings and level with the plane of the lower wing surfaces. All units were located 6.25 in behind the wing. All micronair applications were made at an airspeed of 90 mph and from an altitude of 65-70 ft above the ground. A pump pressure of approximately 40 psi and an 80 ft swath were used. The nozzle system used in this experiment was mounted on a Bell G2-A helicopter. This equipment conformed the specifications noted in Figure 10 and Table 12, with the exception of altitude. All applications from the nozzle system were made from an altitude of 100 ft above the soil surface.

No significant differences were observed in the quantity of Benlate deposited within the canopy in general when the micronair and nozzle systems were compared (Tables 12 and 13). However, more fungicide was deposited within the canopy when applied with the nozzle system (Figures 12 and 13). In contrast, when slides were brought from Guatemala, sprayed with a Snow aircraft with Micronair AU 3000 units, the results showed that the Bananera application of approximately 3.6 oz Benlate per acre was superior to the Honduras application of 4 oz per acre. The average quantity of Benlate deposited was 24% less in Honduras (2.2×10^{-7} g per 69.4 sq cm) than in Bananera (2.9×10^{-7} g per 69.4 sq cm). These differences are probably related to the much older and poorly maintained Micronair units on the Piper Pawnee.

Variability, in general, in Honduras Division applications was greater within the canopy under micronair application than under nozzle application (Tables 13 and 14). This variability may be attributed, in part, to the lighter coverage obtained in the center of the micronair application swaths (Figure 14).

Adequacy of coverage was statistically the same when both systems of spraying were compared within the canopy. However, a higher average percentage of adequate coverage was generally noted in nozzle system applications (Table 15). Adequacy of coverage is defined as 314 sq mm of inhibition area in the bioassay test. Table 12. Spray equipment specifications for Bell G2-A helicopters used in the aerial spray application experiments.

Tee Jet 4664 Nozzle (hardened stainless steel orifice) arrangement

chipped) which ware adjusted to a 40° angle of the inhoard units and a 50°

Rate of Application

l g.p.a. oil or 0.5 g.p.a. oil and

0.5 g.p.a. water

Center boom	6-D2 (orifice) 23 (core)	4-D2-23	
Outboard booms	4-D3-23	10-D3-23	
	22-D3-25	12-D3-25	

First nozzle 2-1/2 inches from tip of outboard boom, remainder spaced 12 inches apart; center boom 14.8 inch nozzle spacing beginning 6-1/2 inches from tip. First nozzle 2-1/2 inches from outboard boom tip, then spaced 14 inches apart; center boom 24-inch nozzle spacing beginning 6-1/2 inches from tip.

effications i

Variability, Sin

6

AN AR

100

6

Flight Specifications

opraving were compared within the canopy. However, a higher average percent age of adequate coverage was generally noted in nazzla system applications

Swath width	100	ft
Speed	60	m.p.h
Height from ground	70	ft
Spray pressure	100	psi
Gallons per minute	11	.5

Position of sample	Area of in zones	nhibition (mm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)		
within canopy]	Nozzle ²	Micronair	Nozzle	Micronair	
Candela	285.2 ef	230.0 f	35.6	26.0	
1 A	458.6 abcde	361.2 def	27.3	47.0	
В	427.4 bcdef	272.2 ef	23.7	37.6	
C	628.0 a	477.6 abcde	16.6	32.3	
5 A	521.0 abcd	576.8 abc	23.6	18.2	
В	593.0 ab	454.6 abcde	17.2	29.1	
C	525.0 abcd	413.4 bcdef	13.5	25.2	
LA	411.4 bcdef	282.2 ef	19.8	29.3	
В	511.4 abcd	339.6 def	20.2	27.7	
С	397.2 cdef	279.8 ef	36.3	19.9	
x	475.8	368.7			

Table 13. Spray distribution within a banana canopy as applied by aircraft using two different spray systems.

¹ The numbers refer to leaf number on the plant and L represents leaves 7, 8 or 9; the letters A, B and C refer to the sampling sites at the leaf tip, middle and base, respectively.

² The nozzle and micronair systems were used on a helicopter and an airplane, respectively; each statistic represents the mean of 15 samples taken from five evenly spaced plants (across each swath) in three tests; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test); the inhibition zones were determined by bioassay with Penicillium expansum.



Figure 12. Comparison of micronair and nozzle spray systems for Benlate distribution within the banana canopy. A bioassay method of detection was used with <u>Penicillium</u> <u>expansum</u> as the test organism.

-38-



SAMPLING SITE IN CANOPY

Figure 13 Comparison of micronair and nozzle spray systems in terms of Benlate spray distribution within the banana canopy. A bioassay method of detection was used with <u>Penicillium</u> expansum as the test organism.



Leaf sampled	Area of i zones ^L	nhibition (mm2)	Coefficient of variability (%)		
within canopy	Nozzle	Micronair	Nozzle	Micronair	
Candela	285.0 e	228.2 e	35.1	25.8	
Leaf 1	496.8 abc	361.0 cde	11.9	28.0	
Leaf 5	550.2 a	462.0 abc	10.0	17.5	
Lowest leaf ²	450.8 abcd	298.4 de	16.4	22.7	
Under-canopy ³	526.4 ab	364.8 cde	17.9	35.0	

Table 14. Spray distribution within the banana canopy as applied by aircraft equipped with two different application systems. 100 CE

197 AN AN

Certy

CON CON

0

(1) AN

033

¹ Each statistic is a mean of 45 samples taken from three swaths in three tests; mean of candela is from 15 samples and mean of under-canopy is from ten samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).

² Samples obtained from leaf 7, 8 or 9.

She

³ Samples obtained at soil surface at the mat base.

⁴ Inhibition zones were determined via bioassay with Penicillium expansum.



Figure 14. Spray distribution across the swath as applied by two different spray systems. The spraying altitudes were 100 ft and 70 ft for helicopter and airplane, respectively. A bioassay test was used for Benlate detection with <u>Penicillium</u> expansum as the test organism.

Table 15. Percentage of adequate coverage within the banana canopy as applied by two spray systems. W West CL

6 6 6

Ner:

630

6.5

6

19 W

Position of sample within	Mean perce adequate c	ntage of overage3	Coefficie variabili	ent of ity (%)
canopy ²	Boom-nozzle	Micronair	Boom-nozzle	Micronair
Candela	33 c ¹	33 c	60.83	86.03
1 A	67 abc	47 abc	45.23	53.02
В	73 abc	40 c	25.56	113.25
С	93 a	80 abc	19.03	28.09
5 A	73 abc	87 a	25.26	25.48
В	73 abc	80 ab	37.31	35.57
C	67 abc	67 abc	0.00	34.29
LA	73 abc	53 abc	25.56	47.62
В	80 abc	60 abc	28.09	62.90
С	53 abc	40 bc	22.72	61.27

Each statistic is a mean of 15 samples from three tests; numbers with similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

² The number refers to the leaf number and L represents leaves 7, 8 or 9; the letters A, B and C refer to sampling sites at the tip, middle and base of the leaf lamina, respectively.

³ Adequate coverage was determined by bioassay and was defined as samples having 314 sq mm or more of area in the inhibition zone (determined by bioassay with Penicillium expansum).

Weather conditions during these experiments were noted and recorded. The data showed more Benlate was deposited within the canopy at $68-74^{\circ}$ F than at 78° F (Table 16). This may be the result of oil evaporation from small droplets at the higher air temperature, or the result of an increase in air turbulence which can cause virtual suspension of the small droplets (less than 100 μ in diameter) in the air, thus being more subject to increased desiccation and drift.

Relative humidity plays a role in droplet loss, particularly in emulsion sprays and should be included in later studies. Also, more accurate temperature and wind velocity measurements must be developed in order to acquire meaningful data on the effect of atmospheric conditions on spray efficiency.

In the ascospore germination tests, normal germination occurred on 7.7% of the leaf samples. Over 50% of these sampling sites had inhibition zone areas of less than 314 sq mm according to the bioassay tests. Normal germination on leaf samples taken at random prior to spray application in each area averaged 41% and occurred on 93% of the samples. Unsprayed control from Guaruma II, Section 38 had a normal germination rate of 86% with 100% of the leaf samples displaying normal germination.

As noted earlier, the nozzle system in Honduras and the micronair system in Guatemala were superior to the micronair-equipped Pawnee used in Honduras. These studies show that good maintenance of spray equipment is necessary for optimum spray application efficiency. Additional studies will be made with new Micronair-equipped aircraft now in service in Honduras.

A Comparison of Two Ultra-Low Application Rates. As a result of more foliar bronzing, an experiment was initiated to determine differences, if any, between rates of 0.75 and 1 gal of oil per acre.

The equipment utilized and all specifications were as noted (Figure 10 and Table 12), except spraying was done from an altitude of 100 ft. The spray contained 4 oz Benlate (or 2 oz Benlate) + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per unit volume of oil per acre. The rate of Benlate application (4 or 2 oz per acre) was the same within each experiment. Spray samples were collected at 4-6 ft intervals at the soil surface across each swath on aluminum foil (110 x 110 mm) along the flag-lines. Large glass slides (100 x 100 mm) were also placed at the foil sampling sites. The aluminum foil samples were processed and bioassayed as described earlier in this section on aerial spray application experiments. The slides were examined under a microscope for droplet density and size. Droplet density and size were determined from three randomly selected portions of each slide. Leaf samples were taken from unobstructed foliage across each swath for ascospore germination tests. The weather conditions were as follows: Table 16. Effect of weather conditions on Benlate spray distribution within the banana canopy.

Position of	a developed to a de	Weather conditions ²	1561 SVE bellwide
sample within	A	В	C
canopy1	Mean are	a of inhibition zones	3 (mm2)
Candela	246	287	222
1 A	423	564	246
В	272	324	437
С	531	607	531
5 A	603	633	423
В	487	702	380
C	598	423	370
LA	398	394	238
В	531	503	308
С	445	437	174
x	453.4	487.4	332.9

The numbers refer to the leaf number and L represents leaves 7, 8 or 9; the letters A, B and C refer to the sampling sites of each leaf lamina at the tip, middle and base, respectively.

² A = 68° F, overcast, wind velocity - 0 at canopy level, time of application was 5:30-5:45 a.m.

 $B = 74^{\circ}$ F, clear, wind velocity - 0 at canopy level, time of application was 5:50-6:00 a.m.

 $C = 78^{\circ}$ F, clear, wind velocity - 0 at canopy level, time of application was 6:05-6:27 a.m.

³ A bioassay was used with <u>Penicillium expansum</u> as the test organism; each statistic is the mean of 10 samples taken from two swaths; no significant differences were detected with an Analysis of Variance test.

6

.3 Vai

(A) (B)

6

6:

-

Trial	Farm	Gal/ acre	Time of application	Temperature	Wind velocity	Misc.
1	Ceibita	0.75	5:32 AM (3/6) ^a	70° F	ob	Overcast
	Caimito	1.00	5:50 AM (3/6)	70° F	0.6 mph (short gusts)	0vercast
2	Tibombo	0.75	6:25 AM (3/29)	68° F	0	Clear
	Omonita	1.00	6:05 AM (3/30)	70° F	0	Clear
3	Tacamiche	0.75	6:00 AM (5/5)	73° F	0	Partly overcast
		1.00	6:15 AM (5/5)	73° F	0	Partly overcast

^a Date of application.

^b These figures represent measurements at sampling sites at approximately 4 ft above the ground.

Actual gallonage rates per acre deviated from the proposed rates in some cases. All measurements of Benlate quantity and droplet density were adjusted to correct for this error.

No significant differences in Benlate quantity delivered per unit area were detected in two of three trials, but Benlate quantities were generally larger in the 1 gal treatment (Table 17), and more variation was observed at 0.75 gal per acre. No significant differences in droplet density were noted and the variability was similar for the rates within each trial (Table 18). In two of the three trials, a significantly higher percentage of small droplets (less than 100 µ in diameter) was observed in the 0.75 gal treatment. Also, the percentages of droplets less than 200 µ in diameter were higher in the 0.75 gal treatment (Table 19). This increase in the percentage of small droplets was possibly the result of a greater concentration of suspended materials in the spray. Presumably, the greater concentration of suspended materials in the spray would also reduce the rate of droplet desiccation, hence higher percentages of small droplets and no significant differences in droplet density between the two rates. The higher percentages of small droplets increase susceptibility to spray drift, suspension in convective currents, and droplet desiccation. Thus, the 0.75 gal rate is less desirable because of the weather conditions normally encountered in Honduras. An increase in droplet size probably would not be desirable because of possible reduced coverage quality (distance between droplets too great). A l gal rate appears to be the minimum for good disease control.

Ascospore germination tests indicated an adequate quantity of chemical was reaching all unobstructed foliage. Normal spore germination was observed in only one trial (Trial 3) and occurred on only 6% of the samples.

Table 17.	Areas of fungal inhibition zones produced by Benlate
	spray samples taken from two application rates as
	monitored at the soil surface.

1

6

100 mg

S.K.B.

City.

6

Trial:	Application rate (gal/a)	Mean area of inhibition ¹ zones (mm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
1 :	0.75	491 b	13.1
	1.00	866 a	7.7
2 :	0.75	723 m	13.1
	1.00	648 m	7.7
3 :	0.75	546 x	17.7
	1.00	646 x	9.0

¹ Trial 1 and 2 received 4 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per acre and Trial 3 received 2 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per acre; each statistic is the adjusted mean of 34 or more samples from two swaths; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level.

Accoupte germination tests indicated an admonate quantity of chemical as reaching all unobstructed foliage. Normal spore germination was pusaeved a only one trial (Iriol 3) and occurred on only 62 of the course.

the minimum for good disease control

Table 18. Droplet densities observed on glass slides exposed to two application rates from nozzle-equipped helicopters as monitored at the soil surface.

Tria	1:	Application rate (gal/a)	Mean area of inhibition zones (mm ²) ¹	Coefficient of variability (%)
1	•	0.75	274.8 a	11.1
		1.00	265.3 a	11.4
2	:	0.75	222.9 m	32.8
		1.00	228.6 m	28.4
3	:	0.75	144.8 ×	20.5
		1.00	129.7 ×	24.9

¹ Trials 1 and 2 received 4 oz Benlate (Trial 3 = 2 oz Benlate) + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per acre; each statistic is the mean of 34 or more samples from two swaths; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level.

			Mean percent o	f droplet density	*		
Range of	Tri	Trial 1		Trial 2		1 3	
(/u)	0.75	1.00	Application 0.75	rate (gal/a) 1.00	0.75	1.00	
0-100	59 a (11.7)	38 b (17.3)	39 g (18.6)	25 h (32.1)	21 op (29.4)	30 n (21.8)	
101-200	20 c (21.8)	30 Ь (23.2)	26 h (21.9)	20 hi (23.3)	40 m (15.2)	27 no (19.2)	
201-300 ,	7 e (43.8)	13 cd (19.0)	9 jk (42.3)	14 ij (20.7)	. 17 p (14.5)	13 pq (26.1)	
301-400	5 e (52.0)	9 de (37.3)	6 k (47.7)	13 ij (36.9)	9 (64.9)	9 q (34.7)	

20 hi (20.5)

27 h (27.9)

14 pg (32.0)

Table 19. Percent of droplets in five size ranges observed in Benlate spray with two different application rates.

* Trials 1 and 2 received 4 oz Benlate (Trial 3 = 2 oz Benlate) + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per acre; each statistic is the mean of 48, 34 and 40 samples from trials 1, 2 and 3, respectively; the percents were rounded-off to the nearest percent; numbers followed by the same letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).

) Coefficient of variability.

401+

8 e (49.0)

10 de (46.0)

-48-

20 op (35.4)

A Comparison of Emulsion and Oil As Carriers of Benlate. An experiment was designed to determine whether any differences exist between emulsion and oil formulations on the basis of Benlate quantities delivered, droplet density, and percentages of droplets within various size ranges.

The equipment used for application is outlined in Figure 10 and Table 12. The oil and emulsion formulations contained 4 oz of Benlate + 1 gal of oil + 0.1% Agral 90 and 4 oz of Benlate + 0.5 gal of oil + 0.5 gal of water + 0.38% Agral 90. The rate of application was 1 gal per acre. Spray samples were collected at 5 ft intervals across each swath on aluminum foil and adjacent glass slides. The methods of sample processing were the same as noted earlier in this section on aerial application experiments. This experiment was conducted three times and samples were taken across two swaths in each treatment. Leaf samples were taken from unobstructed foliage and subjected to the ascospore germination tests. Weather conditions were as follows:

Trial	Date	Time of application	Formulation	Temperature ° F	Wind velocity ¹	Other
1	5/14	6:00 AM	Emulsion	73	0-SG	Clear
		6:20 AM	011	78	0-SB	Clear
2	6/13	7:35 AM	Emulsion	78	0-SG	Partly overcast
		8:00 AM	011	80	0-SG	Partly overcast
3	6/23	5:45 AM	Emulsion	74	0-SG	Overcast
		6:05 AM	011	74	0-SG	Overcast

SG, short gusts of wind occurring above the canopy; SB, constant breeze occurring above the canopy; zero indicates no measurable wind velocity in the canopy.

Significantly more Benlate was delivered in the oil than in the emulsion formulation. However, there was no significant difference in the amount of Benlate delivered in two of three trials; the emulsion application was more variable and 14% less active ingredient was detected (Table 20).

The droplet density was significantly higher in oil than emulsion. However, droplet density was significantly higher in only one of three trials. Variability in droplet counts was greater in emulsion samples with an average of 14% fewer droplets (Table 21). No significant differences in percentages of droplets in various size ranges could be detected. More variability was noted in the emulsion treatment (Table 22).

According to Amsden (Agricultural Aviation 4: 88-93, 1962), a water droplet, 100 microns in diameter, will have a lifetime of 50 seconds and

Table 20. Mean areas of fungal inhibition zones detected in Benlate spray samples taken at the soil surface from one gal per acre applications of oil and emulsion formulations with nozzle-equipped helicopters.

Trial	:	Formulation	Mean area of inhibition zones (mm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
1	:	Emulsion	949.1 a ²	17.5
		011	891.5 a	15.0
2	:	Emulsion	857.3 m	12.9
		011	895.7 m	13.0
3	:	Emulsion	682.0 s	24.7
		011	860.4 r	24.1
_				
×1-3	:	Emulsion	830.3 z (-14%)	9.3
		011	884.4 y	8.6

¹ The oil formulation contained 4 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil + 0.1% Agral 90 and the emulsion formulation contained 4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples from two swaths with the exception of \bar{x} 1-3 which is the mean of 120 samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level; number in brackets indicates difference in the quantity of active ingredient delivered.

-50-

Table 21. Mean droplet densities detected in Benlate spray samples at the soil surface from one gal per acre applications of oil and emulsion formulations with nozzle-equipped helicopters.

Trial	:	Formulation	Mean droplet density (No./cm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
1	:	Emulsion	196.8 a ²	29.6
		011	166.6 a	18.7
2	:	Emulsion	107.9 n	30.6
		011	179.5 m	23.9
3	:	Emulsion	90.9 w	45.6
		011	110.8 w	33.3
× 1-3	:	Emulsion	131.9 z (-14%)	18.3
		011	153.6 y	12.0

¹ Same formulations as those noted in Table 20.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples from two swaths with the exception of \bar{x} 1-3 (=120 samples); number in brackets indicates difference in droplet density; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level.

Table 22.	Mean percents of droplets in various size ranges detected in
	I gal per acre applications of oil and emulsion formulations
	with nozzle-equipped helicopters.

1.12

6

E

20 M.

Trial	:	Size of droplet	Percent of	droplets	Coefficien	nt of tv (%)
		(u in diameter)	Emulsion	0i1	Emulsion	011
1	:	100	20.5 b ²	20.5 b	22.7	26.9
		101-200 201-300	38.6 a 14.1 bc	36.5 a 20.4 b	12.7 35.8	15.6
		301-400 400	5.4 d 21.4 b	9.0 cd 13.6 bc	65.5 32.2	43.3 34.4
2	:	100 101-200	11.9 hi 44.1 f	14.1 hi 37.4 f	29.1 12.7	39.0 15.0
		201-300 301-400	20.8 g 9.9 i	17.1 gh 11.0 i	21.2 42.6	11.4 30.8
·		400	13.4 hi	20.4 g	26.8	15.8
3	:	100 101-200	11.4 r 42.4 p	11.3 r 44.1 p	31.8 17.7	22.8 14.8
		201-300 301-400	19.5 q 11.4 r	20.1 q 11.9 r	19.4 22.8	13.9
_		400	15.3 qr	12.6 r	25.7	32.3
× 1-3	:	100 101-200 201-300	14.6 y 41.7 w 18.1 xy	15.3 y 39.3 w 19.2 x	15.8 8.3 15.6	11.7 5.9 6.5
		301-400 400	8.9 z 16.7 xy	10.6 z 15.6 y	21.8 18.4	16.5

¹ Same formulations as noted in Table 20.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples taken from two swaths except those of \bar{x} 1-3 (120 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).

fall 22 ft at 68° F and 80% relative humidity without the influence of aircraft "downwash". Since the emulsion is 50% water, evaporation is increased and could result in lower quantities of Benlate and droplet densities. This is supported by the higher variability in the emulsion.

No normal germination was observed in the ascospore germination tests in either the emulsion or oil treatment. Apparently, both treatments delivered sufficient quantities of Benlate to provide adequate control on unobstructed foliage.

An Evaluation of Flying Altitudes. The equipment used was as noted in Figure 10 and Table 12. The formulations used were as follows:

Trial	Farm	Formulations
1	Ceibita	2 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per gal oil per acre.
2	San Juan	Same as Trial I.
3	Los Limones	4 oz Benlate + 12 oz Dithane M-45 + 0.1% Agral 90 per gal oil per acre.
4	Caimito	4 oz Benlate + 0.1% Agral 90 per gal oil per acre.
5	Caimito	Same as Trial 4.

Samples were collected at 5 ft intervals across two swaths in each treatment at the soil surface on aluminum foil (110 x 110 mm) and adjacent glass slides (100 x 100 mm). Sampling sites were located along flag-lines dissecting the spray areas to ensure continuous application over the sampling sites. Processing of these samples was as noted earlier, except acetone was substituted for ethyl acetate as a solvent for Benlate residues on the foil samples. In three trials, five plants across each swath were selected for analysis of spray distribution within the canopy. Only the tallest unshot plants were selected and all were selected to achieve approximate equal spacing across each swath. Spray distribution in the canopy was monitored attaching aluminum foil (110 x 110 mm) at each sampling site. Leaf samples for ascospore germination tests were taken from areas immediately adjacent to the foil (Figure 11). The foil spray samples were processed as noted above. Weather conditions for each trial were as follows:

Trial	Date	Time of application	Temperature ° F	Wind velocity (mph)*	Misc.
1	5/19	6:20 AM (70 ft)	76	0	Overcast
		6:25 AM (100 ft)	76	0	Overcast .
2	5/28	6:05 AM (70 ft)	75	0-1,2	Overcast
		6:10 AM (100 ft)	75	0-1,2	Overcast

Cont'd.

Trial	Date	Time of application	Temperature °F	Wind velocity (mph)*	Misc.
3	6/19	5:45 AM (70 ft)	74	0	Partly overcast
		6:00 AM (100 ft)	74	0	Partly overcast
4	7/6	7:03 AM (70 ft)	78	0-1,2	Overcast
		7:11 AM (100 ft)	78	0-1,2	Overcast
5	7/15	6:55 AM (70 ft)	78	1.25	Overcast
		7:08 AM (100 ft)	. 78	1.25	Övercast

() Altitude of spray application.

* Numbers 1,2 represent spray drift of 1-2 swaths resulting from above canopy winds.

Significantly more Benlate was delivered at the soil surface from an altitude of 70 ft than 100 ft. In individual trials, a significantly larger quantity of Benlate was delivered from the lower altitude in two of four trials. However, variability was greater at the lower altitude (Table 23). Significantly higher droplet densities were observed in samples receiving spray from 70 ft. In one of four trials, the difference in density was not significant. Again, more variability was noted in spray samples from the lower altitude (Table 24).

Significantly higher percentages of small droplets (less than 200 µ in diameter) were delivered to the soil surface from the lower altitude.

When trials were considered separately, three of four trials had higher percentages of small droplets (less than 200 μ in diameter) delivered from the lower altitude. Patterns in variability were not consistent when droplet size ranges were compared between the treatments. However, variability was consistently lower in the droplet size range (101-200 μ) which had the highest percentage of droplets (Table 25). A close examination of the data indicated that a number of weather factors may be responsible for the lower efficiency of application from the higher altitude. The same helicopter and tank mix was used within each trial which eliminates the possible variables created by differences in aircraft and mix.

Chemical distribution was also monitored within the canopy with aluminum foil and subsequent bloassays. The leaves monitored included leaf 1, 3, 5 and 7 at three positions on each lamina. In general, all sampling sites received larger quantities of Benlate when the spray was applied from an altitude of 70 ft. (Figure 15). These differences were significant only at the tip of leaf 3, the base of leaf 5, the middle of leaf 7, and the base of leaf 7. More spray penetration within the canopy resulted from application at the lower altitude. If the average areas of fungal inhibition of the entire leaves are considered, leaf 7 received significantly more Benlate at the lower altitude (Figure 16). These data show better spray penetration is obtained within the canopy at the 000

100

にの金麗

の中国に

CON ACC. ACC.

10

ŧ

-120

6

1

8

Table 23.	Mean area	s of fungal	inhibition	zones	detected in Benlate spray
	samples	applied from	two differ	rent al	titudes with nozzle-
	equipped	helicopters.			

Trial	: Altitude of application (ft above soil surface)	Areas of inhibition zones (mm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
1	: 70	864 a ²	28.5
	100	585 b	20.2
2	: 70	626 d	45.4
	100	477 d	59.7
3	: 70	873 m	24.8
	100	763 m	17.2
5	: 70	634 w	19.7
	100	460 x	19.3
×1,2,	3,5 : 70	749.4 y	17.8
	100	571.1 z (-44.6%)	12.9

¹ A description of the formulations used in these trials is presented earlier in the text.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples taken from two swaths except for those in × 1,2,3,5 (160 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level; the number in brackets represents the average difference in the quantity of Benlate delivered.

-55-

Trial	:	Altitude of appli	cation	Droplet densit	y	Coefficient of
		(it above soll su	i lace)	(10.70.07		variability (e)
1		70	100	155 a ²		37.1
1.20		100		112 Б		30.8
2	;	70		171 d	2	41.9
		100		99 e		42.0
3	-	70		188 m		24.3
		100		183 m		23.4
5		70		213 r		35.5
		100		134 s		21.9
×1,2,	3,5	5 : 70		182 y		14.1
		100		132 z (-27	.3%)	12.4

Table 24. Droplet densities detected in Benlate spray samples applied from two different altitudes with nozzle-equipped helicopters. いなの家

公司部

All 100

1000

6

Ć

120 100 10

120. 150

¹ The formulations used in each trial were as described earlier in the text.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples taken from two swaths except for those in × 1,2,3,5 (160 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level; the number in brackets represents the average difference in droplet density.

Trial	: Droplet size	Percent of droplets		Coefficient of variability (2)	
	(u in diameter)	70 ft	100 ft	70 ft	100 ft
1	100	$14.5 do^2$	25 0 be	26.0	18.7
	101-200	32.0.2	20 3 ab	12.8	18 2
	201-200	10 1 cd	1/ 1 do	22.2	26.7
	201-500	0.0 0	9.0 .	29.7	30.7
	301-400	3.5 C	22.7 1.	20.7	33.0
	> 400	23.0 DC	22.7 DC	22.2	21.0
2	: < 100	22.4 g	12.1 ij	12.9	26.3
	101-200	34.5 f	31.8 f	11.9	18.5
	201-300	16.0 hi	17.8 chi	28.0	19.4
	301-400	10.1 1	15.8 hi	38.7	22.0
	>400	17.0 ghi	22.5 ah	21.9	30.4
3	: <100	16.8 mno	12.0 o	33.7	36.9
	101-200	41.6 k	33.6 1	14.5	14.2
	201-300	15.4 mno	17.6 mn	19.1	21.3
	301-400	13.4 no	16.1 mno	27.3	28.5
	>400	12.8 no	20.7 m	27.2	21.8
5	: <100	20.3 q	10.9 r	25.8	40.7
	101-200	42.5 p	35.6 p	9.3	16.2
	201-300	15.4 gr	18.9 q	29.5	21.2
	301-400	11.4 r	17.5 g	47.3	22.0
	> 400	10.4 r	17.1 q	24.1	18.0
x		10 5	10.0		0.1
1,4,2	5,5 : <100	10.5 UV	15.0 XY	9.7	8.4
	101-200	31.8 5	32.6 t	6./	9.8
	201-300	16.5 VW	17.2 VW	13.8	11.3
	301-400	11.2 y	14.6 WX	11.8	12.6
	>400	16.0 VW	20.6 u	13.8	11.1

Table 25. Mean percents of droplets within various size ranges as obtained from nozzle-equipped helicopters applying Benlate sprays¹ from two different altitudes.

¹ The formulations used in the trials were as described earlier in the text.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples taken from two swaths except for those in × 1,2,3,5 (160 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).



-58-


Figure 16. Benlate distribution within the banana canopy as detected by bioassay. All applications were made with a nozzle-equipped helicopter.

makes which referred have lightly and harvestime with minethalant whill a second

the light as the solution will be a subtract the solution and the first set

lower altitude. Also, more spray reached the soil surface under the canopy at the lower altitude. The quantity of Benlate reaching the soil was similar to the average quantity on each leaf (Figure 16). From these data, it appears that the amount of Benlate reaching the soil is indicative of the average quantity deposited within the canopy. Variability was generally greater at the leaf tips and bases when application was from 100 ft (Table 26). This pattern was not evident at the lower altitude. The leaf tips and bases are generally more difficult to reach because of leaf orientation and obstruction by adjacent foliage. Apparently, less lateral drift and lower quantities of small droplets at the higher altitude account for the greater variability in Benlate quantities deposited at the leaf tips and bases. に見てくくいう男子、見てる

Harry alle and a

12

S.

3

Spray applied from an altitude of 70 ft provided a higher frequency of adequate coverage than from 100 ft at 12 different sampling sites within the canopy (Figure 17). Adequate coverage was defined as those sites providing 314 sq mm or more of fungal inhibition in a bioassay test. When each leaf sampled is considered separately, the frequency of adequate coverage was much greater when the spray was applied from the lower altitude. The average frequency of adequate coverage was nearly equal (maximum difference of 6%) among the sampled leaves in the 70 ft treatment, whereas this frequency differential was much greater (maximum difference of 25%) in the 100 ft treatment (Figure 18). Again, the data indicate that penetration was greater from the lower altitude.

Ascospore germination tests on leaf samples showed that very low levels (0.6% = in 1 test only) of normal germination occurred on only a few samples. However, a true reading on germination response was obstructed by residues from previous applications because no normal germination was observed on the samples taken prior to spraying. Samples taken from an unsprayed area (Guaruma 11, Section 38) had high rates of normal germination $(\bar{x} = 80\%)$, thus lending support to the presence of a residue. (SLABAUGH)

FORMULATION STUDIES - AMOUNT OF SPRAY DEPOSITION

A Comparison of Two Emulsion Formulations As Fungicide Carriers. An experiment was initiated to compare the application efficiencies of an 85:15 oil-water formulation and a 50:50 oil-water formulation.

The equipment used for application was as outlined previously (Figure 10 and Table 12). The emulsion formulations contained 4 oz Benlate in 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.1% Agral 90 (or in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90). The application rate was 1 gal per acre and all figures were adjusted for application rate error. Spray samples were collected at 5 ft intervals across each swath on aluminum foil and adjacent glass slides. The methods of sample processing were the same as those noted earlier in the section on aerial application experiments. This experiment was conducted two times and samples were taken across two swaths in each treatment. Weather conditions were as follows:

Table 26.	Areas of inhibition zones obtained by bioassay from various
	sampling sites in the banana canopy from Benlate sprays ap-
	plied from two different altitudes ¹ .

		Area of inhibit	ion zone (mm2)	Coefficient (of varia	bility %
Sam	pling		Altitude	(ft above soil) Percent difference		
5	ite ²	70	100	in area of zone	70	100
1	A	471.6 ab*	332.0 bcdefg	-29.6	12.4	38.1
	B	390.6 bcdefg	216.0 efg	-44.5	38.9	21.8
	C	400.0 bcdef	331.2 bcdefg	-17.2	26.9	40.9
3	A	593.0 a	383.2 bcdefg	-35.4	22.9	43.9
	B	463.2 abcd	249.6 defg	-42.8	37.5	23.9
	C	370.4 bcdefg	243.2 defg	-34.3	40.6	34.7
5	A	361.4 bcdefg	327.6 bcdefg	- 9.4	15.3	41.1
	B	355.6 bcdefg	281.0 cdefg	-20.9	40.7	15.3
	C	465.2 abc	255.8 defg	-45.0	24.4	14.9
7	A	385.2 bcdefg	256.8 defg	-33.3	38.1	34.2
	B	407.2 bcde	190.8 g	-53.1	26.4	16.4
	C	429.2 abcd	203.0 fg	-52.7	21.1	30.0
G		338.0 bcdefg 402.0 bcdef	229.4 efg 287.8 bcdefg	-32.1 -28.4	7.6 40.9	11.0 19.1

¹ Application was with a helicopter equipped with a nozzle system.

² The numbers refer to the leaf numbers of the plant; the letters A, B and C refer to tip, mid-section and base of the leaf lamina.

* Each statistic is the mean of 15 samples taken from three swaths; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level as determined with Duncan's Multiple Range Test; percent figures are roundedoff to the nearest 0.1 percent.



a bioassay test using Penicillium expansum

の他で の一部 1455 日本の

ſ

-62-



Figure 18. Frequency of adequate Benlate spray coverage on leaves in the banana canopy. Adequate coverage was defined as 314 sq mm or more of fungal inhibition area in a bioassay test using <u>Penicillium</u> expansum.

Trial	Time of application	Formulation	Temperature ° F	Relative humidity (%)	Wind velocity	Other
1	6:53 AM	85:15	77	87	0	Clear
	6:15 AM	50:50	72	95	0	Clear
2	6:35 AM	85:15	74 _	95	01	Partly overcast
	7:20 AM	50:50	70	95	0	Partly overcast

ある

1.120

80

00000

È

ã.

影響

Less than 1.7 mph (measured over 5 min period) in the form of a periodic steady breeze creating a swath drift of 0.5-1.5 swaths.

Significantly more Benlate was delivered in the 85:15 than the 50:50 emulsion formulation. However, there was no significant difference in the amount of Benlate delivered in one of two trials. In terms of the Benlate quantities delivered, the 50-50 emulsion application was more variable and 36% less Benlate was detected in the 50-50 emulsion application (Table 27). The significant difference noted in Trial 2 was probably due to excessive swath overlap caused by the periodic breezes because one of the two swaths monitored in the 85:15 treatment had abnormally high quantities of Benlate.

Droplet density was significantly higher in the 85:15 than in the 50:50 emulsion application. However, droplet density was significantly higher in only one of two trials. Variability in droplet density was greater in the 50:50 emulsion spray samples with an average of 23.8% fewer droplets delivered per unit area (Table 28). One of the two swaths in the Trial 2 treatment with 85:15 emulsion had abnormally high droplet densities. Again, excessive swath overlap due to periodic breezes appears to account for the abnormally high droplet densities observed in one of two swaths in the Trial 2 treatment with the 85:15 emulsion.

No significant differences in average percentages of droplets within various size ranges with the exception of those less than 100 microns in Trial 1 could be detected. However, higher percentages of droplets less than 300,µ in diameter were detected in the 85:15 emulsion application in one of two trials (Table 29). Variability, in terms of droplet size percentages, was generally greater in the 85:15 application (Table 29).

The results from this experiment agree closely with the results from the oil alone versus 50% emulsion where the quantity of Benlate delivered and the droplet density in general were higher in Benlate-oil alone than in the 50% emulsion. In any case, it appears that the 85% emulsion application is probably more efficient in terms of Benlate quantities delivered and droplet density, than the 50% emulsion, particularly during the warmer and drier seasons of the year. (SLABAUGH)

Table 27.	Mean areas of fungal inhibition zones detected in field
	sampling of Benlate applied in two formulations with
	nozzle-equipped helicopters.

:	Formulation	Mean area of inhibition zones (mm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
÷	85:15	845.5 a ²	28.0
	50:50	853.4 a	32.6
:	85:15	1073.8 m**	12.8
	50:50	824.7 n	13.3
,2	: 85:15	959.9 ×*	11.1
	50:50	830.4 y (-36.4%)	17.7
	:	: Formulation ¹ : 85:15 50:50 : 85:15 50:50 ,2 : 85:15 50:50	: Formulation ¹ Mean area of inhibition zones (mm ²) : 85:15 845.5 a ² 50:50 853.4 a : 85:15 1073.8 m** 50:50 824.7 n ,2:85:15 959.9 x* 50:50 830.4 y (-36.4%)

All formulations contained 4 oz Benlate blended into 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.1% Agral 90 or 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples from two swaths except those in x 1,2 (mean = 80 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.05 level (*) or the 0.01 level (**); the number in brackets represents the difference in the quantity of Benlate delivered.

Trial	:	Formulation ¹	Droplet density (No./cm ²)	Coefficient of variability (%)
1	:	85:15	191.5 a ²	18.7
		50:50	180.2 a	18.7
2		85:15	228.6 m	15.1
		50:50	141.9 n	16.8
× 1,2	:	85:15	207.8 x	12.0
		50:50	158.3 y (-23.8%)	16.9

Table 28. Mean droplet densities of Benlate spray samples detected on glass slides at the soil surface from 1 gal applications with nozzle-equipped helicopters.

The formulations are the same as those noted on Table 27.

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples from two swaths except those in ^x 1,2 (mean = 80 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level; the number in brackets represents the average difference in droplet density.

ALSO AND CTV

Ê

0000000

愛信信意にに居信じ

金谷

Table 29.	Mean percentages of droplets within various size ranges de-
	tected in 1 gal emulsion applications as applied with nozzle
	equipped helicopters.

Trial	:	Droplet size (u in diameter)	Percent of 85:151	droplets 50:50	Coefficient of 85:15	variability (%) 50:50
1		100	$15.6 dof^2$	26 h bc	24 6	17.1
		101-200	39.6 5	36 2 ab	10.2	17.1
		201-200	24 2 cd	10 0 cdo	26.0	18 1
		201-500	0 6 f	8 0 f	31.2	40.6
		100	11.0 06	0.01	21. 1	26.1
		400	11.0 ei	3.2 1	24.4	24.1
2		100	21.3 q	19.5 g	19.5	19.5
	- The - 150	101-200	41.7 p	35.1 p	8.4	9.9
		201-300	16.0 gr	15.5 or	20.5	17.6
		301-400	8.4 s	9.6 rs	23.6	18.7
		400	12.6 qr	20.3 g	15.5	23.3
-			12 14			
^ 1,2	1	100	18.5 wxy	22.7 W	12.2	11.8
		101-200	40.7 v	35.7 v	10.1	10.5
		201-300	20.1 wx	17.7 wxy	17.8	14.0
		301-400	9.0 z	8.8 z	20.6	15.1
1.15		400	11.7 yz	15.1 xy	14.2	11.9

These formulations are the same as those noted on Table 27.

of Lange server a transfer in the server of the server of the server in the server is the server of the server is the server of the server of

² Each statistic is the mean of 40 samples from two swaths except those in × 1,2 (mean = 80 samples); numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level (Duncan's Multiple Range Test).

"Control to four the section of the time of the side of the section of the section of the section of the section

-67-

BENLATE STUDIES

The systemic activity of Benlate in banana foliage is limited primarily to movement into very localized areas with virtually no lateral movement in the leaf (1975 Annual Report, pp. 19-26). The active ingredient of Benlate is released slowly in oil and water moving laterally presumably in the frequent leaf wettings of dews, irrigation and rains. Hence persistence of Benlate on the foliage becomes important to good control.

6.

100 000

10 00

100

100

6

ŝ

120

1. 100

Atplus 300-F for Suspension and Persistence of Benlate

Atplus 300-F has been promoted as a partial replacement for oil for Sigatoka control. An experiment was initiated to test suspension and persistence qualities in Atplus before utilizing it in a large-scale field trial.

Benlate suspension quality was tested in the equivalents of the following formulations:

- A 4 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil + 0.1% Agral 90
- 8 4 oz Benlate + 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90
- C 4 oz Benlate + 0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water
- D 4 oz Benlate + 0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90.

All formulations were mixed in a low-speed (2700 RPM) and a high-speed (6000 RPM) blender for 2 min and 30 sec, respectively. When Atplus was added to the mix, the oil and Atplus were blended before adding Benlate which was mixed into the water. Immediately after blending, the samples were passed through a 30-mesh sieve and observed for precipitation rates. The experiment was repeated twice.

All emulsion formulations passed through the sieve with a minimum of Benlate residue retained after either low or high-speed blending. The oil formulation passed through the sieve easily after high-speed but not low-speed blending (Table 30). All formulations showed good suspension qualities when mixed in a high-speed blender. Under conditions of slow-speed blending, the Atplus formulations suspended better than the emulsion formulation being used currently. When Agral 90 was omitted from the Atplus formulation, suspension quality was significantly better in the Atplus formulation than in the current emulsion formulation (Table 30). Benlate suspension in the oil formulation was approximately equal to that observed in the Atplus emulsions after slow-speed blending. However, it should be noted that 73% of the Benlate was removed by the sieve tests which may influence precipitation rates (Table 30).

site beauting	The secol of	Percen	Percent passing				
Formulation	5 min	10 min	15 min	129 min	30-mesh sieve		
A	3.7 a **	4.7 de ±	5.0 mn *	7.0 yz **	27	(100)	
В	4.7 a	7.3 d	11.0 m	25.3 ×	100	(100)	
С	0.0 b	1.0 e	2.3 n	5.3 z	100	(100)	
D	1.0 ab	2.3 de	3.0 n	10.7 y	100	(100)	

Table 30.	Benlate	suspen	sion	and	mixing	qualities	in	Atplus	300-F
	formulat	ions a	fter	slow	w-speed	blending	(270	DO RPM)	

See listing of formulations in above text.

² Numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly at the 0.01 (**) or 0.05 (*) level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

Amount of Benlate passing through sieve after high-speed blending (6000 RPM).

The persistence quality of Benlate was determined by discharging ascospores on sprayed leaf samples subjected to various amounts of simulated rain. All spray samples were vigorously agitated in the field just prior to application. The formulations were applied with a Paasche air-brush in amounts equivalent to those expected from an aircraft application rate of 1 gal per acre. A spray tower (9 x 9 x 32 in) with air-brush nozzle attached to a lid was used to achieve an evenly distributed spray pattern on the leaves. Sprayed samples were left in the field 24 hr before removing them for simulated rain application in a rain tower and subsequent spore discharge in the laboratory. Each treatment was replicated three times and the experiment was repeated. The treatments used in this experiment were:

4 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil/acre

4 oz Benlate + 1 gal oil + 0.1% Agral 90/acre

4 oz Benlate + 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre

4 oz Benlate + 0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water/acre

4 oz Benlate + 0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre

1 gal oil/acre

1 gal oil + 0.1% Agral 90/acre

0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre

0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water /acre

0.204 gal oil + 0.046 gal Atplus 300-F + 0.75 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre The persistence qualities of Benlate were the same in all Benlate formulations when using ascospore germination as the control parameter. This was true for all quantities of simulated rain applied (0.4-1.9 inches) (Table 31). All oil and emulsion formulations without Benlate decreased normal germination significantly. Decreases in normal germination were statistically equal with the exception of pure oil in combination with Agral 90. The later mix reduced the percent of normal germination significantly more than the other treatments without Benlate (Table 31). However, the addition of Agral 90 to the oil formulation with Benlate did not significantly increase Benlate persistence on leaves subjected to 1.9 inches of simulated rain. There was no difference between Atplus and Agral emulsions with regard to Benlate persistence under the test conditions. It remains to be seen whether the Atplus formulation in a large-scale field trial can provide an equal or higher level of control than Benlate in oil alone. If the control is equal, a savings of \$0.30 per acre per cycle can be realized.

싚

100

22, 425

ê

8

5

÷.

Triton XS-75 for Suspension and Persistence of Benlate

An experiment to test the suspension and persistence qualities of Benlate in oil and emulsion formulations with Triton XS-75 was initiated. All oil only formulations contained 4 oz of Benlate (Lots No. F 906121) per gallon of oil with 0.00, 0.05, 0.10, 0.25 and 0.50 percent of Triton XS-75 or Agral 90 added. All emulsion formulations contained 4 oz of Benlate in 0.5 gal of oil + 0.5 gal of water with 0.00, 0.05, 0.10, 0.25 and 0.50 percent of either adjuvant added. The addition of these adjuvants was based on the quantity of oil in the mix. All formulations were mixed in a low-speed (2700 RPM) and a high-speed (6000 RPM) blender for 2 min and 30 sec, respectively. Immediately after blending, the samples were passed through a 30-mesh sieve and observed for precipitation rates. Each treatment had 4 replicates and the experiment was repeated.

All formulations passed through the sieve with a minimum of residue retained after slow- or high-speed blending. In the oil formulations, there was no significant difference in Benlate suspension between mixes containing Triton X5-75 and Agral 90 when blended at a slow-speed (Table 32). The addition of 0.05-0.50 percent of either adjuvant did not increase the suspension quality of Benlate in mixes blended at a slow-speed but actually decreased suspension quality significantly when the precipitation rate was evaluated 1 hr after blending (Table 32). Highspeed blending of the oil formulations increased suspension quality considerably when the precipitation rates at both blending speeds were compared (Tables 32 and 33). Under high-speed blending, the addition of either adjuvant decreased suspension quality when evaluated 30 min or longer after blending. These decreases were not significant until 1 hr after mixing (Table 33).

In general, the Benlate suspended equally well after slow-speed blending in the emulsion formulations containing either adjuvant. This was true even when Triton XS-75 was used at twice the concentration of Agral 90 (Table 34). Benlate suspension in the emulsion formulation without adjuvant added was equal or slightly worse than that observed in the formulations containing 0.05-0.10% of either adjuvant, but rapid oil and water phase separation was observed in the formulation without adjuvant (Table 34). No oil and water phase separation or Benlate precipitation was observed in the emulsion formulations with or without adjuvant after high-speed blending when observed 24 hours later. In general, more foaming was observed in the Agral than in the Triton mixes. Evidently, there is no real

		Mean	percent n	ormal ger	mination ²	1.0.0
. 1	110102-002		Simulated	rain (in	ches)	
Formulations	0.4	0.8	1.2	1.5	1.9	x
Benlate-011	0,0	2.8	5.0	0.0	0.0	1.56 d
Benlate-Oil-Agral	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00 d
Oil-Agral	46.8	57.0	45.8	62.2	61.5	54.66 c
011	63.0	67.8	67.6	74.0	71.2	68.72 b
Benlate-Agral Emulsion	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00 d
Benlate-Atplus Emulsion	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	b 00.0
Benlate-Atplus-Agral Emulsion	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	b 00.0
Agral Emulsion	69.3	69.8	77.8	83.0	76.3	75.24 Ь
Atplus Emulsion	59.7	65.0	71.0	69.3	74.7	67.94 ь
Atplus-Agral Emulsion	59.2	62.0	62.2	67.8	79.8	66.20 b
Control	93.0	80.3	82.8	89.2	87.2	86.5 a
and the second second		Labor	101 10			and the state

Table 31.	Normal Mycosphaerella fijiensis var. difformis ascospore						
	germination after simulated rains on banana leaves sprayed						
	with various Benlate formulations.						

¹ See listing of formulations noted earlier in the text.

² Each statistic is the mean of 6 replicates; numbers followed by the same letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

			Precipitati	on Rate (%)	
Formulation		1 min ²	10 min	30 min	l hr
Agral 90	0.05	44.9 a ³	61.9 c	72.9 fg	100.0 n
	0.10	44.1 a	50.8 c	63.2 g	100.0 n
	0.25	43.4 a	55.0 c	75.0 efg	100.0 n
	0.50	45.0 a	56.8 c	89.0 e	100.0 n
Triton XS-75	0.05	36.0 a	47.4 c	62.3 g	100.0 n
	0.10	38.3 a	55.0 c	66.7 g	100.0 n
	0.25	41.0 a	57.7 c	79.8 efg	100.0 n
	0.50	43.5 a	60.3 c	90.5 ef	100.0 n
Control		39.7 a	46.2 c	54.4 g	67.7 m

Table 32. Suspension quality of Benlate in oil formulations with Agral 90 and Triton XS-75 after slow-speed blending.

All informations contained 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal of oil; the adjuvants, Triton and Agral were added as a percent of oil volume.

² Time interval after blending.

³ Each statistic is the mean of eight samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test. Ę.

5

To Charles and

1276 City 4780

10

1		2	Precipitati	on rate (%)	
Formulation		l min [*]	10 min	30 min	l hr
Agral 90	0.05	0.0 a ³	0.0 e	5.0 q	14.5 y
	0.10	0.0 a	4.0 d	11.8 no	25.8 vw
	0.25	0.0 a	3.0 d	9.8 no	31.8 v
	0.50	0.0 a	9.0 c	26.3 m	51.0 u
Triton XS-75	0.05	0.0 a	2.3 d	12.8 n	20.5 wxy
	0.10	0.0 a	4.3 cd	6.3 pq	18.8 xy
	0.25	0.0 a	5.5 cd	8.8 op	15.0 y
	0.50	0.0 a	4.5 cd	11.3 no	21.5 wx
Control		0.0 a	0.0 e	3.8 q	8.5 z

Table 33. Suspension quality of Benlate in oil formulations with Agral 90 and Triton XS-75 after high-speed blending.

¹ All formulations contained 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal oil; the adjuvants were added as a percent of oil volume.

² Time interval after blending.

³ Each statistic is the mean of eight samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

	30 min ²				
the second se	- Contraction	i hr	4 hrs	24 hrs	
0.05	10.1 b ³	13.6 gh	21.9 n	26.5 WX	
0.10	11.9 a	15.0 f	21.6 no	26.9 wx	
0.25	10.0 Б	12.9 ghi	20.0 p	25.4 y	
0.50	8.8 c	11.1 ј	17.8 q	24.1 z	
0.05	9.0 bc	12.0 ij	20.5 op	26.3 xy	
0.10	12.5 a	18.0 e	23.6 m	27.4 w	
0.25	10.0 b	12.9 ghi	21.0 nop	26.5 wx	
0.50	9.6 bc	12.6 h	19.9 p	26.4 xy	
	12.5 a	14.0 fg	21.6 no	26.5 wx	
	0.05 0.10 0.25 0.50 0.05 0.10 0.25 0.50	0.05 10.1 b ³ 0.10 11.9 a 0.25 10.0 b 0.50 8.8 c 0.05 9.0 bc 0.10 12.5 a 0.25 10.0 b 0.50 9.6 bc 12.5 a	0.05 10.1 b ³ 13.6 gh 0.10 11.9 a 15.0 f 0.25 10.0 b 12.9 ghi 0.50 8.8 c 11.1 j 0.05 9.0 bc 12.0 ij 0.10 12.5 a 18.0 e 0.25 10.0 b 12.9 ghi 0.50 9.6 bc 12.6 h 12.5 a 14.0 fg	0.05 10.1 b ³ 13.6 gh 21.9 n 0.10 11.9 a 15.0 f 21.6 no 0.25 10.0 b 12.9 ghi 20.0 p 0.50 8.8 c 11.1 j 17.8 q 0.05 9.0 bc 12.0 ij 20.5 op 0.10 12.5 a 18.0 e 23.6 m 0.25 10.0 b 12.9 ghi 21.0 nop 0.50 9.6 bc 12.6 h 19.9 p 12.5 a 14.0 fg 21.6 no	

Table 34. Suspension quality of Benlate in emulsion formulations with Agral 90 and Triton XS-75 after slow-speed blending.

All formulations contained 4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water; the adjuvants were added as a percent of oil volume.

² Time interval after blending.

³ Each statistic is the mean of eight samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

4 Rapid separation of oil and water phase observed.

ŝ

10 10

(10) (10) (10)

100

ę

丧

it.

88 A

difference between the two adjuvants in terms of Benlate suspension under these test conditions.

The persistence quality of Benlate was determined by a leaf disc bioassay by discharging ascospores on sprayed leaf samples subjected to various amounts of simulated rain. The formulations were mixed in the slow-speed blender (2700 RPM) for 2 min before taking the samples to the field. The formulations were applied with a Paasche air-brush in amounts equivalent to those expected from an aircraft application of 1 gal per acre. A spray tower (9 x 9 x 32 in) with the air-brush nozzle attached to a lid was used to achieve an evenly distributed spray pattern on the leaves. The plants utilized in this experiment were selected in Guaruma 1, Section 38, an unsprayed area. Sprayed leaf samples were left in the field for 24 hr before removing them for simulated rain application in a rain tower and subsequent spore discharge in the laboratory. Each treatment was replicated three times and the experiment was repeated. The treatments used in this experiment were as follows:

A - 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal oil/acre

B - 4 oz Benlate in 1 gal oil + 0.05% Triton XS-75/acre

C - 4 oz Beniate in 1 gal oil + 0.05% Agral 90/acre

D - 4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.75% Triton XS-75/ acre

- E 4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.75% Agral 90/acre
- F 4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre
- G 1 gal oil/acre

H - 1 gal oil + 0.05% Triton XS-75/acre

1 - 1 gal oil + 0.05% Agral 90/acre

J - 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.75% Triton XS-75/acre

K - 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.75% Agral 90/acre

L - 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre

The persistence qualities of Benlate were the same in all Benlate formulations when using normal ascospore germination as the control parameter. This was true for all quantities of simulated rain applied (0.4-1.9 in) to the Benlate-treated leaves (Table 35). None of the oil or emulsion formulations without Benlate decreased normal ascospore germination significantly. The later results do not agree with the results reported in the section "Atplus 300-F for Suspension and Persistence of Benlate". This discrepancy may have resulted from chemical differences among oil lots because this laboratory has observed suspension quality differences among different spray oil lots. As the data indicated, there was no real difference between the Triton and Agral-treated formulations with regard to Benlate persistence on the foliage.

Suspension and Persistence of Benlate in 85% Emulsion

Field experiments testing oil alone and a 50% emulsion showed less Benlate was delivered in the emulsion in one of three trials. In addition,

Table 35.	Percent normal germination of Mycosphaerella fijiensis var.
	difformis ascospores on sprayed leaves subjected to various
	quantities of simulated rain.

Amount of		Mean rat	e of normal	germinatio	n (%)	
simulated rain (in)	A-F	G	Н	T	J	K
0.0	0.0 b ²	68.3 c	82.7 d	73.3 e	77.3 i	76.7 n
0.4	0.0 Ь	77.3 c	77.0 d	78.0 e	79.3 i	74.3 n
0.8	0.0 Ь	83.7 c	74.7 d	84.7 e	94.3 fghi	81.3 n
1.2	0.0 Ь	81.0 c	82.3 d	87.3 e	90.3 fghi	94.7 m
1.5	0.0 b	73.7 c	88.7 d	87.0 e	96.0 fgh	93.3 m
1.9	0.0 Ь	75.3 c	79.0 d	84.7 e	98.7 fg	96.0 m
Control BW ³	82.3 a	82.3 c	82.3 d	82.3 e	82.3 hi	82.3 n
Control AW4	81.0 a	81.0 c	81.0 d	81.0 e	81.0 hi	81.0 n

Formulations; see text for formulation content.

² Each statistic is the mean of three replicates; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

³ Control (no spray applied) without simulated rain applied.

⁴ Control (no spray applied) with 1.9 inches of simulated rain applied.

6 石

6

自愿意

AND NO

100 C.S

10.00

ŝ

10

10.00

R.

197

difficulties of mixing have occurred when Benlate was blended into oil alone because of moisture contamination and differences in the wettable powder carriers. A high oil-to-water ratio emulsion may alleviate the application efficiency and blending problems. Benlate (Lot No. F 40215E) was tested in an 85% emulsion. The quantity of Agral 90 needed to achieve good suspension and persistence was studied before initiating field trials. The suspension qualities were tested in the following formulations, all containing 4 oz of Benlate:

	Gal Oil	Gal Water	& Agral 90	
Α.	0.85	0.15	0.75	
в.	0.85	0.15	0.35	
с.	0.85	0.15	0.30	
D.	0.85	0.15	0.17	
Ε.	0.85	0.15	0.12	
F.	0.85	0.15	0.06	
G.	0.85	0.15		
н.	0.5	0.5	0.38	

The percent of Agral 90 added was based on the quantity of oil. All formulations were mixed in a low-speed (2700 RPM) and a high-speed (6000 RPM) blender. The oil and Agral 90 were blended before adding Benlate which was mixed into the water previously. All formulations were mixed for 2 min in the low-speed blender and for 30 sec in the high-speed blender. Immediately after blending, the samples were passed through a 35-mesh sieve and observed for precipitation rates. The experiment was repeated.

All formulations passed through the sieve with a minimum of Benlate residue retained after either high- or slow-speed blending. However, the formulations mixed in the low-speed blender were somewhat viscous and slow in passing through the sieve. The flow rate of the formulation blended at a slow-speed decreased as the quantity of Agral 90 was increased (Table 36). The 50/50 oil-water formulation was also slightly viscous when blended at slow speed and approximately equal to the 85/15 oil-water mixture with 0.12% Agral 90 in terms of flow rate. All formulations, after slow-speed blending, remained in complete suspension for at least 120 min. After high-speed blending, the formulation showed various rates of precipitation. The most rapid rates of precipitation occurred in the mixes containing the highest percentages of Agral 90 (Table 36). No foaming was observed in any of the mixes, except in the 50/50 oil-water formulation.

The formulation with 0.12% Agral 90 was selected for a field trial based on the relative mixing qualities in a slow-speed blender which more nearly approximates field conditions. This formulation was tested in the lowpressure, high-volume hydraulic mixing system and the field blender. The mixes from both systems were good.

The persistence quality of Benlate was determined by discharging ascospores on sprayed leaf samples subjected to various amounts of simulated rain.

	Preci	pitation rate	e (%)2	Flow	rate through
Formulations	1 min	5 min	10 min	a 35-	mesh sieve ³
A	0.0 a	22.0 c	23.5 w	good	(very poor)
В	0.0 a	20.5 cd	22.5 wx	good	(very poor)
C	0.0 a	13.5 cd	14.5 xy	good	(poor)
D	3.5 a	11.5 de	12.5 y	good	(poor)
E	0.0 a	10.0 e	14.0 xy	good	(average)
F	0.0 a	2.5 f	11.5 y	good	(average)
G	0.0 a	1.0 fg	9.0 y	good	(average)
н	0.0 a	0.0 g	0.0 z	good	(average)

Table 36. Benlate suspension qualities in a high oil to water ratio formulation after high-speed blending. 22

122

é

NEW

ADV-ADV

1080

100

100

題の

金麗

¹ See listing of formulations in the above text.

² Numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

³ Good = flow rate through the sieve equals pouring rate. Average = flow rate through the sieve is approximately 10% slower than pouring rate. Poor = flow rate through the sieve is approximately 33% slower than pouring rate.

Very poor + flow rate through the sieve is over 50% slower than pouring rate.

 Flow rate after slow-speed blending; non-bracketed flow rate indications are after high-speed blending. All formulations were mixed in the slow-speed blender (2700 RPM) for 2 min in the laboratory before going to the field. All spray samples were agitated vigorously just prior to application. All applications were made with a Paasche air-brush in amounts equivalent to those expected from an aircraft application rate of 1 gal per acre. A spray tower (9 x 9 x 32 in) with the air-brush nozzle attached to the lid was used to achieve an evenly distributed spray pattern on the leaves. Sprayed leaves were left intact in the field for 24 hr before removal for simulated rain application in a rain tower. Each treatment was replicated four times and the experiment was repeated. The formulae used (per acre rate) in this experiment were as follows:

- A 4 oz Benlate + 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.3% Agral 90/acre
- B 4 oz Benlate + 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.1% Agral 90/acre
- C 4 oz Benlate + 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water/acre
- D 4 oz Benlate + 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre
- E 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.3% Agral 90/acre
- F 0.85 gal oil + 0.15 gal water + 0.1% Agral 90/acre
 - G 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90/acre.

The persistence qualities of Benlate were equal statistically in all formulations using ascospore germination as the control parameter. However, an average of up to 5% normal germination was observed on leaf samples treated with the Benlate 85% emulsion when Agral 90 was included in the mix (Table 37). This occurred in only one of the experiments and is probably due to experimental error. All formulations without Benlate reduced normal ascospore germination up to 28% (Table 37). This suggests that oil in combination with Agral 90 reduces normal germination.

Benlate Residue Retention on Banana Foliage Under Field Conditions During May and June

Ultra-low volume emulsion applications (4 oz Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.1% Agral 90/acre) were compared to ULV oil applications (4 oz Benlate in 1.0 gal oil + 0.1% Agral 90/acre) for Benlate residue retention on (or in) the foliage. Both application types were made with Bell G2A helicopters equipped with a boom and nozzle system (See section on Application Efficiency). Detection of residue on the foliage was accomplished by discharging ascospores on leaf samples taken from the field at various time intervals after spray application and recording germination rates. Twenty leaves were selected across a swath in each application area for sampling. The leaves selected for analysis were lower leaves which were horizontal in position and not obstructed from spray application by adjacent foliage. The experiment was repeated. Leaf samples from an unsprayed area were used as controls.

Under field conditions, no statistically significant differences in Benlate residue retention on the banana foliage could be detected when the emulsion and oil were compared (Tables 38 and 39). However, significant differences in the retention of Benlate residue were noted when rainfall and irrigation occurred which suggested the loss of chemical by erosion from the leaf

Amount of				Me	an	rate (of	normal	ge	rminat	ion	(%)	-		-
simulated rain (in)		A		В		C	_	D		E		F		G	
0.0		0.0	Ь₫	0.0	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	66.6	0	82.5	rst	89.3	ху
0.4		0.0	Ь	2.5	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	69.1	no	65.8	U .	78.3	z
0.8		0.0	Ь	0.0	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	72.1	no	77.5	tu	80.5	yz
1.2		2.5	Ь	3.0	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	70.8	n	76.9	tu	79.0	z
1.5		5.1	b	5.1	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	77.3	n	79.5	stu	78.9	z
1.9		3.3	ь	2.5	e	0.0	h	0.0	k	78.9	n	78.8	stu	74.5	z
Control B	w ²	91.8	a	91.8	d	91.8	g	91.8	j	91.8	m	91.8	r	91.8	×
Control A	W3	89.6	а	89.6	d	89.6	9	89.6	j	89.6	m	89.6	rs	89.6	xz

Table 37. Percent normal germination of <u>Mycosphaerella</u> <u>fijiensis</u> var. <u>difformis</u> ascospores on sprayed leaves subjected to various quantities of simulated rain.

ê

BA APP

£,

t.

Formulations used in this experiment; see listing in text.

² Control (no spray applied) without simulated rain applied.

³ Control (no spray applied) after a simulated rain application equal to 1.5 inches.

* Each statistic is the mean of eight samples taken in two tests; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

have been such that would would would be first and the barries of the second of the

Table 38.	Spore germination of Mycosphaerella fijiensis var. dif-
	formis on banana leaves sprayed with Benlate in oil and
	emulsion.

		DAYS A	FTER APPLI	CATION				
	0	3	5	7	9	11		
Carrier		Spore	germinatio	n (%)			x	
Emulsion	7.5*(0.77)	13.5 (1.06)	17.8	30.9	46.8	38.5	25.83 a	
011	7.3 (0.61)	9.5 (1.04)	20.2	40.6	53.6	49.1	30.05 a	
x**	7.4 c	11.5 c	19.0 bc	35.7 ab	50.2 a	44.2	a	

* Each statistic represents 40 samples (two tests).

** Means having identical letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level as determined by Duocan's New Multiple Range Test.

 Average rainfall in inches occurring before day 3 and 5; irrigation occurred on day 5 (during first experiment; none during second experiment).

Table 39.	Normal spore germination of Mycosphaerella fijiensis var.	
	difformis on banana leaves sprayed with Benlate in oil	
	and emulsion.	

		DAYS	AFTER APPL	ICATION			
	0	3	5	7	9	11	
Carrier		Normal s	pore germi	ination (%)		x
Emulsion	0.0*(0.77)	2.5 (1.06)	6.3	4.4	2.5	11.8	4.58 a
011	0.0 (0.61)	0.0 (1.04)	5.6	3.5	5.3	13.8	4.70 a
x**	0.0 c	1.25 c	5.95 b	3.95 Ь	3.90 Б	12.8 a	E.

* Each statistic represents 40 samples.

- ** Means having identical letters are not significantly different at the 0.05 level as determined by Duncan's New Multiple Range Test.
- Average rainfall in inches occurring before days 3 and 5; irrigation occurred after day 5 of first experiment (none during second experiment).

100

れらら載ら

うくのでの

1000

0000

1100 CEN 2010

1100 1100

(Table 38). This erosion is undoubtedly the result of physical removal, dilution of active ingredient, and degradation. Total spore germination (abnormal and normal) increased an average 55 and 65% after average rainfalls of 0.69 and 1.05 in, respectively. Another 133% increase in total spore germination was observed after an irrigation cycle. The controls for this experiment had a germination rate of 85%. The percentages of normal spore germination were much lower than those of total spore germination (Tables 38 and 39). Increases in normal spore germination were not significant until an average of over 1.5 in of rainfall occurred. No significant increase in normal spore germination was observed between days 5 and 9, but significant increases occurred between days 9 and 11 (Table 39).

The amount of spore germination inhibition in this experiment was considerably lower than that noted in an earlier experiment (1975 Annual Report, p. 22) where approximately 30% inhibition after irrigation occurred over the same period of time. The amount of chemical used was the same but the use of Agral 90 was not indicated. This may account for the difference in Benlate retention. The data suggest that an emulsion spray is equal to an oil spray in terms of disease control if a 10-day cycle is maintained. However, if fungicide quantities in the mixture are reduced to less than 4 oz/gal/acre, normal spore germination rates may increase because significantly less fungicide reached the canopy in one of three emulsion application trials (page 49).

Stability of Benlate in Spray Formulations

Spray mixtures are prepared 12-24 hr in advance of application. Sometimes unfavorable weather conditions delay application of the mixes for one or more days. When such conditions exist, the mixes are retained until conditions are favorable for application. An experiment was designed to determine whether Benlate deteriorates significantly in oil, emulsion, and water over various time periods, and the quantity of Benlate to be incorporated into the original mixes to maintain active ingredient level.

Benlate stability was tested in oil, emulsion (50% oil + 50% water), and water. All tests contained sufficient Benlate to equal 4 oz per gal of carrier. The oil and emulsion formulations received 0.05 and 0.38% Agral 90, respectively, as is recommended for field use. All formulations were mixed in a Waring Blendor for 30 sec at approximately 6000 RPM to assure good suspension, and incubated at room temperature (72-80° F). One ml aliquots were removed from each original mix for bioassay tests at 0, 24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 hr after blending. The original mix was agitated sufficiently prior to each aliquot removal to ensure complete suspension of Benlate particles which adhere to the glassware during incubation. The 1 ml aliquots of the oil and emulsion formulations were diluted in 100 ml of oil. After vigorous agitation, 1 ml of diluted suspension was dissolved in 10 ml of ethyl acetate. A 0.1 ml sample of the resultant solution was spotted on filter paper discs (14 mm in diameter) and placed on Penicillium expansum-seeded PDA. The discs were dried before placement on the PDA with the aid of an Oster Air-jet Dryer. A I ml aliquot of the original Benlate in water suspension was diluted in 50 ml of water. One ml of the dilute solution was diluted in another 10 ml of water. Five-hundredths of an ml of the final dilution was spotted on the filter paper discs and placed on P. expansum-seeded PDA.

Benlate was not stable in any of the three carriers when incubated in a closed system, i.e. in a tightly capped bottle (Table 40). A significant decrease in active ingredient levels occurred within 24 hr in all the carriers tested. The rate of active ingredient loss in the formulations declined rapidly following the initial 24 hr incubation period (Table 40).

A significant increase in active ingredient levels was observed in the oil and emulsion formulations after 96 hr of incubation (Table 40). This increase in fungicidal activity may be the result of increases in Benlate degradation by products which are fungitoxic to the test organism, <u>Penicillium expansum</u>, or the result of a Benlate-oil-Agral 90 interaction to form another fungicide. All tests gave similar results under the closed system. However, similar increases in the water formulation were not statistically significant (Table 40). Oil alone and oil-Agral 90 mixtures did not show fungicidal activity under these test conditions. É,

100

(43 C 23

dini-

120

æ

5

語(1)日

Benlate stability in oil, emulsion, and water also was tested in an open system (incubation in glass containers without caps) which more closely approximates field conditions. The methods of dilution and spotting were the same as those described earlier in this report. Benlate was unstable in this system also (Table 41). However, the percent of active ingredient loss was not statistically significant until 72 hr after blending in the oil and emulsion formulations. The concentration of active ingredient in the water formulation actually increased during the first 48 hr of incubation. Since no such increase was noted in the closed system, it may be assumed that this increase in concentration was the result of water vapor loss (Tables 40 and 41). However, the level of active ingredient apparently decreases during incubation but is masked during the initial 48 hr of incubation by high rates of water evaporation.

After 120 hr of incubation, large increases in active ingredient were observed. This is similar to the observations on the experiment under the closed system (Tables 40 and 41). Apparently, the same process responsible for increased fungicidal activity after 120 hr of incubation in the closed system is also working in the open system. No tests have been conducted to determine if similar responses would occur in the presence of the black Sigatoka pathogen.

A third experiment was designed to determine the Benlate quantities which should be added to the original mix if it is not applied within 72 hr. Various amounts of Benlate were added to the original formulations after 72 hr of incubation and were blended in a Waring Blendor for 30 sec to achieve good suspensions. The addition of 10% more Benlate to the original suspension increased the active ingredient concentration to a point statistically equal to the active ingredient concentrations of the new blends without incubation (Table 42). Evidently, 10% more Benlate must be added in order to maintain original concentrations of Benlate active ingredient if the original mix is not applied within 72 hr.

Acetone and Ethyl Acetate As Solvents for Use in Bioassays of Benlate

Ethyl acetate is used as a solvent to remove Benlate from aluminum foil samples of Benlate spray collected in the field. Anticipating the need of using another solvent for laboratory safety and availability reasons, acetone was tested as a substitute solvent for ethyl acetate.

Hours after	Mean zone of inhibition area (mm ²) Carrier						
blending 0	011		Emulsion		Water		
	1470.6 a*		1642.2 m		1161.4 v		
24	1232.6 bcd	(-35.7)	1406.4 no	(-31.4)	1035.4 wx	(-33.9)	
48	1260.0 bc	(-31.6)	1314.8 o	(-41.9)	981.6 xy	(-48.4)	
72	1154.4 cd	(-47.3)	1288.4 o	(-44.9)	909.8 z	(-65.0)	
96	1130.0 d	(-55.8)	1106.6 p	(-64.7)	856.4 z	(-76.6)	
120	1321.4 b	(-22.3)	1529.2 mn	(-16.9)	925.4 yz	(-61.6)	

Table 40. Stability of Benlate in three carriers in a closed system.

* Each statistic represents the average area of ten zones of inhibition in two tests; numbers having similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level as determined using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

() Percent of loss of active ingredient.

Table 41. Stability of Benlate in three carriers in an open system

Hours after blending 0	Mean zone of inhibition areas (mm ²) Carrier						
	011	Emulsion	Water				
	1291.0 b*	1327.5 mn	800.4 y				
24	1260.0 b (- 6.4)	1257.8 n (-13.3)	846.2 y (+34.1)				
48	1217.0 Ь (-15.2)	1308.8 n (- 3.6)	1047.8 w (+355.4)				
72	1075.8 c (-41.7)	951.8 o (-68.1)	785.2 yz (- 8.3)				
96	1041.4 c (-48.8)	962.4 o (-67.3)	726.8 z (-16.6)				
120	1471.0 a (+36.9)	1360.2 m (+ 6.2)	935.2 x (+165.7)				

* Each statistic represents the average of ten samples from two tests; numbers having similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

() Percent increase or decrease in the concentration of active ingredient.

Part AP

THE OWNER AND

N. 6.35.

Straff.

Amount of Benlate added to original	Mean zone of inhibition areas (mm ²) Formulations			
blend (%)	011	Emulsion		
0	1412.0 c*	1290.0 z		
10	1627.4 ь	1406.2 yz		
20	1619.2 Ь	1446.4 xy		
30	1626.0 ь	1562.6 wx		
40	1669.0 ab	1633.4 w		
50	1757.8 a	1765.0 v		
New blend☆☆	1619.0 Ь	1493.6 xy		

Table 42. Addition of Benlate to formulations after 72 hours of incubation

* Each statistic represents ten replicates from two tests; numbers having similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

** This blend was identical to the original blend without incubation. Solutions of 0, 1, 5, 7.5, 10, 20, 25, 40, 50, 75 and 100 ppm a.i. of Benlate were prepared using 10 ml of ethyl acetate and acetone as solvents. A 0.1 ml aliquot of the solution was spotted on a paper filter disc (14 mm in diameter) and evaporated to dryness using an Oster Air-jet Dryer. The treated paper filter discs were placed in Petri dishes on Potato-dextrose agar (40 gm per 1t) seeded with the conidiospores of <u>Penicillium expansum</u>. The quantity of PDA dispensed into each Petri dish (20 ml/plate) was kept constant to eliminate the possible influence of dilution. The samples were incubated at room temperature for 48 hr. Each treatment was replicated three times and the experiment was repeated.

All the Benlate at all concentrations dissolved readily in both solvents. In addition, the inhibition zones were almost equal and provided similar standard curves (Figure 19). These standard curves were very similar to the standard curve previously obtained with ethyl acetate as the solvent (1975 Annual Report, p. 24). Acetone may be substituted for ethyl acetate as a solvent in future bioassay tests.

A New Bioassay Method for Detecting Benlate on Foliage

The method previously used in detecting Benlate distribution throughout the banana canopy included the attachment of aluminum foil at various sampling sites on the leaves and a subsequent bioassay of the Benlate rinsed from the foil using filter paper discs and <u>Penicillium expansum</u>-seeded PDA. The disadvantages were time-consuming experimental site preparation (2 hr per site) and the limited quantity of samples which could be processed after an experiment within a reasonable time period. As a result, a new method was sought which would permit the bio-assay of larger quantities of samples. Earlier experiments with bioassays of sprayed leaf discs (14 mm in diameter) using <u>Penicillium expansum</u>-seeded PDA were unsuccessful because of contamination from the leaf discs (1975 Annual Report, p. 18). <u>Aspergillus terreus</u> (provided by Dr. R. H. Fulton of Rohm and Haas) was tested in a leaf disc bioassay for Benlate sensitivity in a salt-PDA medium.

Various concentrations of Benlate in 0.5 gal oil + 0.5 gal water + 0.38% Agral 90 (added as percent of oil) were applied to unsprayed leaf areas (9 x 9 in). The various formulations were initially mixed in the laboratory in a slowspeed blender (2700 RPM) for 2 min before being taken to the field for application. All mixes were vigorously agitated just prior to application to ensure good Benlate suspension and distribution in the carrier. The sprays were applied with a Paasche air-brush in an amount equivalent to that expected from an aircraft application of 1 gal per acre. A spray tower with the air-brush nozzle attached to a lid was used to achieve an even distribution of spray on the leaf sample areas. Sprayed leaf areas were left on the plant for 4 hr before removal for processing. Thirty leaf discs (14 mm in diameter) were removed from each sprayed sample area and placed sprayed-surface down on a salt-agar medium seeded with the conidiospores of Aspergillus terreus in petri dishes (2 discs per plate). The medium contained 40 g of Potato-dextrose agar and 5 g of NaCl per liter of distilled water. Zones of inhibition were recorded after 48 hr of incubation at room temperature. Each treatment had three replicates and the experiment was repeated.

1985

1429

A NUMBER OF STREET

1997

ALL 115:04080(05070)

ŝ

Ŕ.

301 1002



-89-

Concentrations of Benlate equaling less than 0.25 oz a.i. per acre could not be detected using this method of bioassay (Table 43). All other concentrations of Benlate (0.25-5.0 oz a.i./acre) applied to the leaf samples provided zones of inhibition with significant differences between treatments. Variability within each treatment was low as indicated by the coefficient of variability (Table 43). No contamination problem was encountered using this method of bioassay. The standard curve derived from these data was similar to that reported previously, but the zones of inhibition were smaller from equivalent amounts of Benlate (Figure 20).

This difference probably resulted from the use of ethyl acetate in the bioassay method because ethyl acetate dissolves the inert portion of the wettable powder, thus releasing all of the active ingredient into the solvent. This total release does not occur in the presence of oil or water which are the only solvents used in this new method. This new method should permit a more accurate analysis of adjuvants for testing persistence quality of Benlate. (SLABAUGH)

権

C

100

10

£

夜

C

13

ż

CROWN MOLD AND ROT

Influence of Deflowering Prior to Dehanding on the Incidence of Crown Mold and Rot

Removal of dead flower parts (deflowering) is usually done in the dehanding tank. These dead flowers carry many of the same fungi that cause crown mold and rot. Removal of the flowers outside the dehanding tank should reduce the fungus flora coming into contact with fresh cut crowns and hence reduce the amount of crown mold and rot. Treatments were deflowering in the dehanding tanks prior to clustering, and stems deflowered, rinsed with water and then placed in the dehanding tank for clustering. The dehanding tanks were divided in two parts - one for each treatment. Three shipments were sent to the U.S. for after-ripening evaluation. One fourth of the fruit for the day was deflowered prior to going into the selecting tank for the entire station. Late in the afternoon, 20 boxes of each treatment were taken from the packing line and flashers attached for inclusion in a shipment of breakbulk fruit to the U.S. for quality control evaluation. At the same time, ten boxes of each treatment were moved to the ripening rooms in La Lima. Collections of the fruit were made late in the day to insure an adequate amount of inoculum in the selecting tank. The boxes in La Lima were processed for U.S. assimilated and European assimilated schedules as follows: Twenty-four hr at ambient followed by six 12-hr temperature periods of 77°, 72°, 69°, 66°, 64° and 57° F, respectively. U. S. shipment assimilated schedule was to hold the fruit an additional ten days at 58°F, whereas the European shipment assimilated schedule called for 21 days at 58° F. Fruit was then ripened on a standard 7-day schedule. There were five boxes per treatment in each schedule. Fruit was gassed and ripened on a 7-day schedule. Three shipments were made to the U.S. and two were evaluated in La Lima. Crown rot and crown mold were evaluated on scales of 1-9 and 1-5 (Quality Control scale), respectively.

Crown rot in the simulated European shipment was significantly higher (P = .01) in the deflowering in the dehanding tank treatment (Table 44). For the U.S. simulated shipment, no difference in crown rot was noted. Crown mold in both treatments was an average of medium severity. Crown rot was more severe in the European simulated shipment than in the U.S. simulated shipment with the pre-dehanding de-flowering significantly lower than the standard treatment of deflowering in the dehanding tank.

Amount of Benlate applied		Areas	s of funga	fungal inhibiti		s (mm ²)	
(g x 10-6)1	1	2	3	4	5	x	CV
0.003	154 ²	154	154	154	154	154.0 k	0.0
0.18 (0.1)	154	154	154	154	154	154.0 k	0.0
0.35 (0.2)	154	154	154	154	154	154.0 k	0.0
0.53 (0.3)	154	154	154	154	154	154.0 k	0.0
0.88 (0.5)	172	190	194	193	188	187.4 jk	4.7
1.23 (0.7)	252	240	229	236	228	237.0 i	4.1
1.76 (1.0)	293	308	323	304	284	302.4 h	4.9
2.64 (1.5)	396	397	423	406	411	406.6 g	2.7
3.53 (2.0)	505	469	491	533	550	509.6 f	6.4
4.41 (2.5)	566	570	580	557	574	569.4 e	1.5
5.29 (3.0)	633	642	631	644	643	638.6 d	1.0
7.05 (4.0)	730	756	785	766	758	759.0 c	2.6
10.58 (6.0)	866	858	787	806	814	826.2 b	4.1
17.63 (10.0)	946	985	925	949	979	956.8 a	2.6

Table 43. Zones of inhibition produced by various Benlate concentrations sprayed on leaves.

Quantity of Benlate applied to each leaf disc (14 mm in diameter); numbers in brackets equal ounces of Benlate per acre.

² Each statistic is the mean of 18 samples; numbers followed by similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.01 level using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

³ Control; includes samples receiving no spray and spray without Benlate.



The second second

1000

3

0 4

なちのとうころ

Table 44. Crown rot and crown mold determinations for European and U.S. simulated shipments of deflowered before dehanding and deflowered in the dehanding tank.

European	21.6	and the second se		
	0.5.	European	U.S.	
6.01	3.70	4.91	3.70	
7.05	3.84	4.86	3.84	
13.68**	0.78 NS	0.85 NS	0.03 NS	
3.40*	0.84 NS	0.79 NS	0.70 NS	
	6.01 7.05 13.68** 3.40*	6.01 3.70 7.05 3.84 13.68★★ 0.78 NS 3.40★ 0.84 NS	6.01 3.70 4.91 7.05 3.84 4.86 13.68** 0.78 NS 0.85 NS 3.40* 0.84 NS 0.79 NS	

the second second in the second s

F Test = Level of significance

* 58 ** 18

the loss with the contribute the sector fact. It is a contract the works with

The three shipments to the U.S. had crown rot readings of 0.0, 2.0 and 0.0 for pre-dehanding deflowering compared to 0.0, 0.0 and 0.0 for deflowering in the selecting tank. Crown mold for the same shipments was reported as 4.2, 74 and 6% of the clusters for deflowering prior to dehanding, and 0.4, 76 and 7% for deflowering in the selecting tank. No conclusions can be drawn from these data because of the great variability among shipments. There is no indication that deflowering prior to dehanding consistently reduces crown mold and rot.

Screening of Chemical for Crown Rot and Crown Mold Control

Benlate and TBZ (Mertect) are recommended for control of crown rot and crown mold. Chemicals that were tested at 200 and 400 ppm a.i. and compared to Benlate and TBZ were Mycoban, Vanodine, Proprionic Acid, Agrimycin 100 and Gibberellic Acid; the latter was combined with Benlate. Fruit was processed through the packing station up to the point where the standard post-harvest spray was applied. The test chemicals were then applied by spraying the crown in three passes to runoff using Carpi knapsack sprayer equipped with 8001 SS nozzle. All chemical solutions and the water control were prepared in a 1% alum solution. Each treatment was five boxes with 12 clusters per box. Treatments were made on three different dates with all chemicals included for each date. The fruit treated at the 200 ppm rate was held under conditions to assimilate a U.S. breakbulk shipment, whereas the 400 ppm rate was held to assimilate a European shipment. The standard schedule which was devised from actual ship measurements is as follows: Twenty-four hr at ambient followed by six 12-hour temperature periods of 77°, 72°, 69°, 66°, 64° and 57° F, respectively. U.S. shipment assimilated schedule was to hold the fruit an additional ten days at 58° F, whereas the European shipment assimilated schedule called for 21 days at 58° F. Fruit was then ripened on a standard 7-day schedule. Fruit held on the assimilated European shipment schedule resulted in ripe and turning in the boxes so this schedule will have to be modified. After ripening readings of crown rot (scale 1-9) and crown mold (scale 1-5) were read as per Quality Control systems.

None of the chemicals were superior or equal to Benlate and TBZ for crown rot and crown mold control (Table 45). There was no advantage of adding Gibberellic Acid to Benlate solutions. There was no apparent difference in the incidence in crown rot or crown mold between the U.S. and European assimilated schedules.

Evaluation of Crown Rot-Crown Mold Isolates for Tolerance to Benzimidazole Fungicides

Benlate, which is used as a post-harvest fungicide for control of crown rot and crown mold, is currently being used for control of black Sigatoka and Sigatoka. Historically, tolerance to this fungicide has been reported through repeated field use. Therefore, isolates from crown rot and crown mold were evaluated for tolerance to Benlate and Mertect (TBZ), both benzimidazole fungicides.

Four collections of fruit were made from randomly selected boxing stations for isolation of crown rot and crown mold fungi in Honduras. Ten boxes of fruit from each packing station were collected at a sampling and the boxes held ambient one day, 58° F for 14 days and ripened on a four-day schedule. Crown rot clusters which had a 4+ reading on a 1 to 9 scale were selected for isolations. Two CHARD BAR

14

8

経らぬらら

整ちく

14

該
Sale as and propagation		Concentrati	on ppm a.i.	
	20	03	40	0
Treatment	CR	CM	CR	CM
Alum 1% Control	4.73 x	4.41 v	4.51 x	4.28 ×
Mycoban	3.74 y	4.13 vw	3.37 y	3.38 yz
Proprionic acid	3.74 у	3.96 vw	3.64 y	3.75 y
Agrimycin 100	3.75 y	3.88 wx	3.73 y	3.56 y
Vanodine	3.54 y	3.83 wx	3.52 y	3.72 y
Benlate + 5 ppm G.A. ¹	2.78 z	3.56 yz	2.82 y	3.03 z
Benlate	2.67 z	3.26 yz	2.69 z	2.95 z
Tecto	2.56 z	3.00 z	2.58 z	2.95 z
Benlate + 10 ppm G.A. ²	2.67 z	2.81 z	2.56 z	2.86 z

-

Table 45. Effect of various chemicals at 200 and 400 ppm on crown rot (CR) and crown mold (CM) control.

tion from sample with function and an active lagest mean or second to be made at the former of the

+ 5 ppm Gibberellic Acid A4/A7

² + 10 ppm Gibberellic Acid A_L/A₇

³ Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

-95-

isolations per crown were made by cutting out tissue at the advanced edge of the rot from two locations and plating the pieces on acidified PDA. Crown mold isolates were made of mycelium on the same crown and plated on acidified PDA. Transfers from resulting fungal colonies were based upon growth characteristics of the fungus. The transfers were grown on PDA in test tubes. Also, isolates were made from 20 boxes of ripened fruit in Charleston, S. C., and one week later the isolates were brought back to Honduras.

-

僧

120

New .

100

12

家家

C.

くし、着な 見らし

\$

e.

A listing of the fungal isolations from Honduras and Charleston are presented in Table 46. Fourteen genera of fungi were isolated plus bacteria and yeast. The genus <u>Fusarium</u> was most common and isolates were keyed to species of which six were identified. Acremonium strictum was also identified to species.

A disc bioassay technique was used to screen the isolates at 100, 200, 500, and 1000 ppm a.i. of Benlate and TBZ. This technique involves three steps: 1) 0.1 ml of fungicide solution is spotted on 12.7 mm filter paper discs and allowed to air dry; 2) 1 ml of fungus spore suspensions is pipetted into the bottom of a petri dish and 10 ml of tempered PDA pipetted on top of this - the solution is swirled to give a uniform mix; 3) after the PDA has set, the four filter paper discs, one of each concentration, are placed fungicide-side up on the media. Plates were incubated at room temperature and read after growth of the fungi had occurred, generally in two days.

No difference in response between the Honduras and Charleston isolates were noted so the findings are combined. Table 47 is a summary of the findings. Data are reported as percent of the isolates showing tolerance. Of the isolates listed in the table, <u>F. semitectum</u> and <u>A. strictum</u> are considered the most aggressive crown rotting organisms. <u>A. strictum</u> was about 50% tolerant at the 100 ppm level of both Benlate and TBZ and 25% tolerant at the 1000 ppm level of both fungicides. For <u>F. semitectum</u>, the relationships were 25% at 100 ppm and 15% at 1000 ppm. In the case of <u>F. semitectum</u> some isolates were tolerant to TBZ at various or all levels and not tolerant to Benlate as well as the reverse. The indication is that tolerance is present. This condition should be monitored and other postharvest fungicides tested. (DARLINGTON)

PEEL ROT OR ANTHRACNOSE - CHANGUINOLA

Anthracnose, called peel rot by Quality Control, is often a seasonal problem in Changuinola. The fungus (Colletotrichum musae) grows in transit and during ripening on any wounded tissue. An outbreak was studied in October-November.

Observations on Certain Types of Fruit Blemishes in Regard to Peel Rot (Anthracnose) Development During Storage in Changuinola

Green fingers from fruit held 21 days at 58° F were randomly selected for the following defects: point scarring (PS), scarring between fingers (SBF), pitting disease (JS), anthracnose lesion on finger (AF), anthracnose on tip (AT), and neck injury (N1). Blemishes were marked and fingers placed in a humidity chamber at laboratory room temperatures. After an incubation period, readings were taken on the development of Colletotrichum sporulation (Table 48).

Table 46.	The number	of isolates	(from Charlesto	n, S.C.	and La	Lima,
	Honduras)	isolated from	the crowns of	bananas	with a	4+
	crown rot	rating on a se	ale 1-9.			

	<u>CH</u> /	RLESTON	1	LA LIMA
Acremonium strictum		17		24
Fusarium semitectum		80		230
F. moniliforme		17		5
<u>F. solani</u>		6		2
<u>F. episphaeria</u>		1	1.10	3
<u>F. "nivale</u> " (type)		5		0
F. oxysporum		5		0
Curvularia		11		67
Alternaria		1		25
Cladosporium		2		50
Verticillium		5		1
Penicillium		18		11
Nigrospora		3		23
Mucor		0		38
No spore (unknown)		4 a'		17 a
Other		61 ab		8 ab

a - Isolates were not tolerance tested.

b - Other included bacteria, yeast and fungi mixed.

	Number	of		Concent	ration of fund	gicide in pom	a.i.
Identification	isolat	tes		100	200	500	1000
Acremonium strictum	(41)	B T	31	48.8 48.8	43.9 36.6	29.3 31.7	22.0 29.3
Fusarium semitectum	(310)	B T		29.4 24.2	22.9 19.0	16.8 15.8	13.9 13.9
F. moniliforme	(22)	B T		27.3 27.3	18.2 22.7	9.1 4.6	9.1 4.6
<u>F. solani</u>	(8)	B T		25.0 50.0	12.5 37.5	12.5 12.5	12.5 0.0
F. <u>episphaeria</u>	(4)	B T		0.0 25.0	0.0 25.0	0.0	0.0
F. <u>nivale</u>	(5)	B T		20.0 20.0	20.0 20.0	20.0 20.0	20.0
F. oxysporum	(5)	B T		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Curvularia	(78)	B T		64.1 62.8	60.0 60.3	51.3- 48.7	41.0 46.2
Alternaria	(26)	B T		57.7 57.7	57.7 50.0	53.9 50.0	50.0 50.0
Cladosporium	(52)	B T		73.1 82.7	71.2 75.0	69.2 71.2	69.2 71.2
Verticillium	(6)	B T		16.7 33.3	16.7 33.3	0.0 0.0	0.0
Penicillium	(29)	B T		75.9 75.9	75.9 75.9	72.4 72.4	72.4 72.4
Nigrospora	(26)	B T		46.2 50.0	46.2 50.0	46.2 50.0	42.3 46.2
Mucor	(38)	B T		89.5 92.1	81.6 84.2	71.1 73.7	60.5 63.2

Table 47. Percent of fungal isolates showing various levels of tolerance to Benlate (B) and TBZ (T),

10

「秋花の」で

a superstate state and

1. 1. R. M. M. W.

 (Y_{12}, \dots, Y_{n})

. w.

Table 48.	Appearance of Colletotrichum musae sporulation in
	fingers with blemishes of anthracnose (peel rot) on
	finger (AF), anthracnose on tips (AT), neck injury
	(NI), pitting disease (JS), scarring between fingers
	(SBF) and point scarring (PS).

Sar Side Hourselve			Blemi	sh		Transfer 1	
Number of fingers with	1 AF	2 AT	3 N I	4 JS	5 SBF	6 PS	
Colletotrichum	8	61	4	4	3	2	
Clean	0	3	6	5	14	8	
Total number of fingers	8	14	10	9	17	10	

Five other fingers had <u>Botryodiplodia</u> sporulation which would have masked <u>Colletotrichum</u>.

A REAL PROPERTY AND

bigent balle is in the first which and a structure of the first structure is the first structure of the stru

Anthracnose lesions that developed in cold storage sporulated. Care must be taken at the time of boxing that any scarred fingers be removed. Neck injury is also a possible site of development of the anthracnose pathogen. Peel rot which can develop in damaged tissue caused by scarring can be controlled by drenching fruit with 400 ppm Mertect. Mist-type spray booths used at some boxing stations left dry fingers which are possible sites of infection.

The Evaluation of Post-Harvest Fungicide Treatment for Control of Peel Rot on Stems Being Rejected

Ten stems which had been rejected at the boxing station were studied. The hands were removed and obvious defects discarded. Scarring from rough handling was common but not removed as a defect. The hands were split in half and notes taken on each cluster. One-half of the hand was dipped in 400 ppm a.i. Mertect plus 1% alum and the other half dipped in tap water plus 1% alum. Fruit was held 36 hr ambient, moved to ripening room at 58° F and held for 10 days. Fruit was gassed and evaluated four days later at color grade 6.

Clusters were evaluated for peel rot, crown rot and neck rot using a 1-5 disease indexing system. Results from this experiment are represented in Table 49. Analysis of these data using t test comparison of means indicates that 400 ppm Mertect, if applied to cover the entire finger or clusters will control peel rot, crown rot and neck rot. This study supports the recommendation to raise the treatment level to 400 ppm Mertect applied as a dip or drench.

Evaluation of Concentrations of Mertect for Control of Peel Rot

Boxes of fruit were randomly selected on three different dates when the concentration of Mertect (Thiabendazole) being used was 125, 200 and 400 ppm. Five boxes from Farm 15 were included for each treatment date. Boxes had been processed through the normal spray booth and were held at ambient temperature. Evaluations for peel rot, crown rot and crown mold on a 1-5 severity scale were made when the first cluster began to turn. The mean rating per box was used as a replicate. Results of this experiment are presented in Table 50. The 400 ppm Mertect is superior to 200 and 125 ppm rates for the control of crown rot and crown mold. The 400 ppm rate was superior to the 125 ppm rate but not the 200 ppm rate. Therefore, due to the combined levels of control of the three post-harvest problems, it is recommended that 400 ppm Mertect be used on a commercial basis throughout the year for shipments to Europe. (DARLINGTON)

FRUIT SPOTS - HONDURAS

Comparison of the Incidence of Fruit Spot on Honduras Container and Breakbulk Fruit

Quality control reports for fruit spot after ripening in the U.S.A. show a higher incidence in fruit shipped by container compared to non-container. The relationship is graphically illustrated in Figures 21 and 22 and summarized in Table 51. As most spotted fingers are rejected at the boxing station, spotting results from latent infections which develop in transit.

	Tr	Treatment					
Defect	400 ppm Mertect	Water	t value				
PR	1.05	3.50	15.51**				
CR	1.10	3.30	12.63**				
NR	1.00	2.02	8.80**				

Table 49. Evaluation of 400 ppm dip treatment for peel rot (PR), crown rot (CR) and neck rot (NR).

** Values are significantly different at the 1% level of probability.

Table 50. The effect of increasing post-harvest fungicide treatment on the incidence of peel rot (PR), crown rot (CR) and crown mold (CM) on fruit collected at Farm 15 in Changuinola.

Concentration ppm a.i.		Evaluation 1	
Mertect .	PR	CR	CM
125	3.88 a	2.67 ×	2.65 x
200	2.73 ab	2.72 ×	2.85 ×
400	1.55 b	1.00 y	1.16 y

Means listed are for five boxes, means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 5% (a,b) or 1% (x,y) level of probability as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.











Table 51. Summary of percent clusters showing fruit spot in 1975 and 1976 for containers (C) and breakbulk (BB) fruit.

	# of	report	Mean %	clusters	Range %	clusters		
	C	BB	C	88	C	BB	C	BB
1975	45	14	7.3	0.9	0-24	0-3	6.49	1.07
1976	23	20	12.2	4.6	1-28	0-21	8.05	4.55

test income in the bar these

the second state where the second sec

To simulate handling of breakbulk fruit, boxes were held 24 hr at ambient temperature followed by six 12 hr temperature periods of 77°, 72°, 69°, 66°. 64° and 57° F, respectively. U.S. shipment assimilated schedule was to hold the fruit an additional ten days at 58° F, whereas the European shipment assim-ilated schedule called for 21 days at 58° F. Fruit was then ripened on a standard 7-day schedule. The fruit simulating container conditions was moved to 58° F directly from the packing station. Clusters of fruit were selected on the basis of having at least one spot. Fruit was 12 weeks old with caliper grade 14-18. Treatments consisted of ten boxes with 14 clusters per box. Green fruit was evaluated at 7, 11, 15 and 21 days for the number of new spots. No new spots appeared by the 11th day. By the fifteenth day, the majority of the new spots had developed with no great increase on the 21st day. In the total of both treatments, there were only 38 clusters out of 280 clusters (13.6%) on which new spots developed. This would represent loss of a single quality point due to spotting $(13.6 \times 0.08 = 1.0 \text{ points off})$. Due to the low incidence of new spotting, no conclusions can be drawn from the experiment. There was no difference between the treatments under the conditions of this experiment.

100

and the

ON THE REAL OF THE

Č

葡萄

Č.

C

ŝ

6

Effect of Fruit Age on Pitting Disease Development

Banana fingers aged 2 to 14 weeks were inoculated with a spore suspension of <u>Pyricularia grisea</u> of 22 x 10³ spores/ml and placed in a humidity chamber. Fingers were evaluated 18 days later. As indicated in Table 52 and Figure 23, 12- and 14-week old fruit (caliper grade 14-18) had significantly more spots than other fruit. The youngest, or 2-week old fruit, had a higher mean number of spots than the 4- to 10-week old fruit, but this difference was not statistically significant. These data indicate that 12- to 14-week old fruit would be the most likely to have the latent infection phase of P. grisea.

Incidence of Fruit Spot in an Unsprayed Area

In Indiana Farm, Honduras, during July and August, Sections 25 (VALERY) and 14 (Grand Nain) were not sprayed for fruit spot. Sections 22 (VALERY) and 9 (Grand Nain) were sprayed for fruit spot using the normal farm practice of a single spray of Dithane at 19.2 g a.i./lt when all hands were exposed. Other practices included deleafing to the average of 9 leaves at shooting, weed control by machete chopping, and an average of 10 (range 9-12 for seven cycles) day spray cycles for Sigatoka using 4 oz of Beniate per acre. Two of the sprays were emulsions and five were in oil.

Starting September 27, weekly evaluation of fruit spots was made for a total of eleven evaluations. Data were collected from 25 stems from each section at each reading. Data included the total number of pitting disease spots, diamond spots, brown spots, infected hands and total number of hands. For the last three weeks, weight loss data were collected by removing the fingers infected with either pitting or diamond spot. Weight loss was determined by weighing the stem, weighing the peduncle and dividing the weight of the discarded fingers by the weight of the total hands, and converting to percent.

The incidence of pitting disease, diamond spot, and brown spot was higher in the unsprayed plots for both varieties with means significantly different at the 1% level (Table 53). The indication is that even with short cycles of

Table 52. Mean number of spots per finger of 10 replications of fruit aged 2-14 weeks inoculated with 22 x 10³ spores per ml of Pyricularia grisea.

Age of fruit in weeks	Mean number of spots per finger
14	167.6 x*
12	126.0 ×
10	18.0 z
8	14.9 z
6	12.3 z
4	5.9 z
2	40.4 z

* Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level of probability as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.





107-

Table 53. The mean number of pitting disease spots, diamond spots, and brown spots for 25 stems each of VALERY (V) and Grand Nain (GN) for sprayed (S) and unsprayed (US) sections of Indiana Farm.

Pitting Disease

GN-US	19.1 x≑
v -us	16.0 xy
v - s	5.82 yz
GN- S	4.27 z

Diamond Spot

GN-US	17.1	y≑
v -us	16.7	у
V - S	7.8	z
GN- S	4.2	z

Brown Spot

V-US	180.1	y☆
GN-US	166.6	У
V - S	40.2	z
GN- S	16.4	z

* Mean followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level of probability as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test; numbers are average of 11 replicates. 12

ê

φ.

6

1942-12

6

107 NB

Benlate for Sigatoka control, it will be necessary to spray for fruit spot part of the year. When comparing the percent fruit spotting on hands, VALERY and Grand Nain showed no mean difference for the unsprayed treatments (Table 54). For the sprayed treatments, the percent hands with spotting was significantly different for the mean comparisons of Grand Nain and VALERY. This could be due to a varietal effect or better spray coverage of the shorter Grand Nain. This should be further investigated. The percent of fruit selected out (for pitting and diamond spot) was decreased by spraying (Table 55). Though these levels of fruit spot are low, 1976 was not a severe fruit spot year, particularly during the period when data were being collected. Therefore, the lack of high losses in non-sprayed fruit should not be taken as a guide to the elimination of fruit spot spraying. Also, the development of fruit spot on non-sprayed fruit should be evaluated after simulating a container shipment since there is always more fruit spot development in containers than in breakbulk fruit. (DICKSON, DARLINGTON)

VIRUS DISEASES

Comparison of Meristem-cultured Grand Nain and Commercial Grand Nain "Seed" Sources

Rhizomes were collected from Comayagua and Coulee where the virus-free stock derived from meristem cultures was being grown. These were compared with rhizomes from commercial plantings collected in November 1974. The plots were planted in Section 38, Guaruma 2. The experimental design was two treatments and four replicates of 25 plants/replicate. Data collection included the following: 1) days to shooting, 2) days to harvest, 3) plant height, 4) number of leaves at shooting, 5) stem weight, 6) peduncle weight, 7) fruit or hand weight, 8) number of hands, 9) caliper grade, 10) fingers/stem, 11) fingers/hand, 12) length of the central finger of each hand (average for all hands). Data are presented in Table 56 for the first two crops. F-test comparisons of means from an analysis of variance indicate that there was no significant difference between "seed" from the virus-free meristem source and the commercial source.

The slightly greater average height of the meristem-derived plants is due to a reversion from the Grand Nain to the VALERY height class in a portion of the plots. Reversion was 60%, 0%,30% and 44% for the four replicates. The change in height class was traced to some of the meristem-derived plants in the Comayagua seedbed. It is possible that the heat-treatment and meristem process may favor a reversion through somatic mutation from the more dwarf to the taller varieties in the Cavendish group. (BUSTAMANTE, STOVER, DARLINGTON)

MOKO DISEASE - HONDURAS

Are Buffer Zones Necessary? The present control practice regarding buffer zones in Honduras is to buffer cases in high-incidence areas (three cases per cayo per month, or 0.5 cases per 100 acres) but not in the low-incidence

	-	Unsprayed				Sprayed							
Date	e	Gra	ind Na	in	1	ALERY		Gr	and Na	nin	٧	ALERY	
evalu	ated	T	1	8	T	1	z	T	1	2	T	1	20
Sept.	27	253	76	30.0	268	99	40.7	268	16	6.0	244	43	17.8
Dct.	4	259	105	40.5	246	171	69.5	261	14	5.4	245	42	17.1
	11	267	100	37.4	246	74	30.1	268	11	4.1	252	22	8.7
	19	251	141	56.2	238	65	27.3	247	19	7.7	235	26	11.1
	25	257	69	24.9	211	62	29.4	249	11	4.4	233	24	10.3
Nov.	1	251	135	53.8	220	73	33.2	247	3	1.2	237	22	9.3
	8	252	112	44.4	220	96	43.6	261	15	5.8	240	26	10.8
	15	246	116	47.2	221	114	51.6	244	17	7.0	228	18	7.9
	22	245	123	50.2	217	117	53.9	246	27	11.0	236	63	26.7
	29	234	110	47.1	200	127	63.5	242	22	9.1	245	36	14.7
Dec.	6	261	145	55.6	221	155	70.1	254	43	16.9	229	38	16.6
leans	1	252.3	112	44.4×*	225.7	1048	46.4×	253.4	18.0	7.1y	238.5	32.7	13.72

100 CE

80

10

2

Table 54. Total number of hands (T), infected hands (I) and percent of infected hands from sprayed and unsprayed sections in Indiana Farm.

* Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level of probability as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

the solution was instanted in the Alexandrian Market (and the Market States). States we

Table 55. Percent fruit weight loss due to discarding fingers infected with pitting disease or diamond spot for the last three fruit cuts - Data converted to arcsin 1/3 for analysis.

Percent Weight Loss

V -US	1.1 γ*
GN-US	0.9 y
GN- S	0.3 z
V - S	0.3 z

* Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level of probability as determined by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

in the standard of the second s

Table 56.	Comparison of commercial Grand Nain plants (C) and plants derived from virus-free meristem cultures (V)
	(F-test values from analysis of variance are listed for treatments and blocks).

		PLANT	TILLA		RATOON			
			, F-va	lue			F-va	alue
Parameters	C	V	T	В	C	V	T	В
Days to shooting	306.0	325.3	6.89	.77	-	-	-	-
Days to cutting	104.9	108.2	1.98	.84	97.3	97.2	.00	5.40
Plant height (in)	80.8	87.6	4.28	.77	105.5	110.5	.51	.09
Number of leaves	12.9	12.1	23.06*	7.06*	12.4	12.1	.51	.34
Stem weight	51.0	51.6	. 08	.44	89.0	85.6	.56	.60
Peduncle weight	5.6	5.3	. 38	.54	8.6	7.5	6.87	.16
Fruit weight	45.4	46.4	.24	.89	80.4	78.1	.31	.75
Number of hands	9.0	9.1	.13	1.03	11.0	10.7	1.07	.57
Caliper	10.7	11.1	.43	.70	13.2	13.9	15.84*	3.76
Number of fingers/ stem	140.1	137.6	1.13	6.53	212.5	192.6	3.98	1.05
Number of fingers/ hand	15.6	15.2	1.85	4.02	-	-	-	-
Finger length	8.1	8.2	.10	.57	9.3	9.1	.60	1.25

* Means are significantly different at the 5% level of probability.

NUL I

é

100 M

して最後のの

こうこう 御御御 おうこうに 御御御 とうこう

100

1989

areas. It was reported (1973 Annual Report, p. 49) that the spread of Moko was controlled without the use of buffer zones in San Juan Farm if all other control measures were enforced. Thus, a comparison of buffered and non-buffered areas surrounding Moko cases was made in Cobb Farm. This experiment should help to determine whether root contact is an important factor in Moko spread.

A 22 ft zone (radius) was outlined around each Moko case. One-half of the zone was designated as the area of observation and received no treatment. The remaining half of the zone was buffered to a radius of 15 ft with the remaining 7 ft being retained as the area of prevention (Figure 24). In the area of prevention, all mats were inspected for Moko by cutting into the old bullheads. Each case was mapped at the time of treatment and all plants within the areas of prevention and observation were plotted by number or letter. The areas were checked every 14 days and any new cases within the areas were plotted by position. The date of treatment, type of infection (mature mat, sucker, and fruit), and Moko strain were recorded for each case.

Twenty-three original Moko cases were studied. There has been only one possible case of secondary spread within any of these plots and it occurred in the area of prevention. Both the original and possible secondary spread case yielded the F-strain. In addition, three instances of possible second-ary spread occurred in two original plots started in 1975 (August and October). All of these possible secondary spread cases occurred in the areas of prevention and one of these three cases yielded a Moko strain which was not the same as isolated from the original case. It was previously reported (1975 Annual Report, p. 64) that seven new cases occurred in the area of prevention with the remaining two occurring in the area of observation. Two of the seven cases could not have spread from the original cases since the strains isolated from the original cases were not identical. In any case, it is doubtful that any of this secondary spread occurred via root contact since all of the cases developing within the 22 ft zone occurred in the area of prevention.

Effectiveness of Beloran and Vanodine As Tool Disinfectants in Moko Control

Vanodine (product of Pfizer of Costa Rica) is an iodine disinfectant which has been promoted as a bactericide, fungicide and viricide. It has the advantage of being readily available in Central America. An experiment was initiated to determine the bactericidal effectiveness of Vanodine using Beloran (Lot No. BA 1-76) as the standard.

Concentrations were prepared in 100 ml aliquots with the concentrations based on the total chemical solution (not active ingredient). After thorough agitation to ensure good distribution of the disinfectant, a 10 ml aliquot of each concentration was distributed into each of four test tubes. One ml of latex was added to two of these tubes with disinfectant. One test tube with disinfectant and one tube with disinfectant plus latex were stored for seven days before testing to determine if any bactericidal activity was lost by volatilization, chemical degradation, or latex tie-up. All test solutions stored for seven days were kept sterile by inserting sterile cotton plugs in the test tubes. Inoculum was prepared by inoculating nutrient broth tubes with the F-strain of Pseudomonas solanacearum and incubating them for 60 hr



部の旅

ŝ

100 8122

Sal

1-

(PR)

62

13, 44

Figure 24. Diagram of a Moko buffer test plot showing the areas of the plot and the buffer zone.

the little bracks of the local second back

at 30° C. The 60 hr nutrient broth cultures were dispensed in 0.1 ml aliquots with sterile pipettes to the test tubes containing various concentrations of disinfectant. After exposing the bacteria to the disinfectant for 15 or 30 sec, a loop of bacterial suspension was transferred aseptically to sterile nutrient broth in each of five test tubes and incubated at 30° C for 48-60 hr. After incubation, the nutrient broth inoculated with treated bacteria was checked for turbidity and streaked on tetrazolium chloride medium (0.05 g tetrazolium chloride + 5 g dextrose + 10 g peptone + 1 g casamino acids + 20 g agar/lt) to confirm the test tube results. Each treatment had five replicates and the experiment was repeated five times.

Beloran was slightly more effective than Vanodine without latex added when tested right after mixing. However, Vanodine was as effective as Beloran in the presence of 10% latex. In the presence of latex, the bactericidal activity of Beloran and Vanodine right after mixing was reduced up to 50% (Table 57). The loss of bactericidal activity in the presence of latex did not increase after one week of storage, as indicated by the data (Tables 57 and 58). Vanodine in the absence of latex lost a small amount of activity during the one week of storage, but no real losses in Beloran activity were observed (Tables 57 and 58). In the presence of latex for one week, the Vanodine solution retained a higher level of bactericidal activity than Beloran (Table 58). It was previously reported (1967 Annual Report, p. 38) that a 1% solution of Beloran in the presence of latex retained sufficient bactericidal activity for effective tool disinfection when the bacteria (SFRstrain from Honduras) were exposed for only 10 sec to the disinfectant. Those results are not in agreement with this experiment which suggests that a 2% solution is required to get the desired quality of disinfection (Tables 57 and 58). This discrepancy in results indicates increased tolerance to Beloran or a difference in tolerance to Beloran among the F- and SFR-strains. Approximately 87% of the Moko samples now processed by this laboratory are the F-strain.

Moko Cases in Honduras - 1976

During 1975, the SFR- and F-strains of <u>Pseudomonas solanacearum</u> were isolated from 46.9 and 53.1 percent of the samples, respectively, processed for strain identification. Most of these cases (68.9%) were sucker infections which indicated transmission by tools (1975 Annual Report, p. 64).

The percents of SFR- and F-strains isolated from 224 samples during 1976 were 8 and 87, respectively. This represents a big shift in strain frequency indicating selective pressure against the SFR-strain and/or increased adaptation of the F-strain to insect transmission. The remaining 5% of the isolations yielded a strain(s) which had the cultural characteristics of both the SFR- and F-strains on tetrazolium chloride agar (TZC). Although this strain(s) was isolated from only 5% of the samples, 80% of these isolations were obtained during the last five months of 1976. Is this a new strain or a mixture of the SFR- and F-strains? Forty-three percent of the infections were reported as occurring in the fruit and almost all of the fruit cases (92%) yielded the Fstrain (Table 59). This suggests that the F-strain has become more adapted to insect transmission, or the SFR-strain is changing in terms of cultural characters in the TZC agar medium.

Concentration	Mear BELC	percent of cu	Iltures with gro VANO	owth
chemical (%) ¹	15 sec2	30 sec	15 sec	30 sec
A - 0.00	1003	100	100	100
0.25	90	77	90	93
0.50	33	20	33	23
0.79	10	0	13	3
1.00	0	0	3	0
2.00	0	0	0	0
4.00	0	0	0	0
B - 0.00	100	100	100	100
0.25	97	100	100	100
0,50	93	87	100	97
0.79	67	57	63	53
1.00	63	43	33	23
2.00	0	0	0	0
4.00	0	0	0	0

Table 57. Bactericidal effectiveness of Beloran and Vanodine against <u>Pseudomonas</u> <u>solanacearum</u> immediately after mixing.

201 NG6

CIN MBC

話を

1 A = No latex added; B = Latex added (10%).

² Time of bacterial exposure to the disinfectant.

³ Each statistic is the mean of 30 samples based turbidity in nutrient broth culture.

to be a series of the set of the

Concentration of test	Mean	n percent of cu RAN	Itures with gro VANO	wth DINE
chemical (%)	15 sec ²	30 sec	15 sec	30 sec
A - 0.00	1003.	100	100	100
0.25	90	90	97	100
0.50	50	53	50	43
0.79	13	3	30	10
1.00	0	0	10	3
2.00	0	0	0	0
4.00	0	0	0	0
B - 0.00	100	100	100	100
0.25	100	100	100	100
0.50	97	97	87	90
0.79	83	80	83	73
1.00	50	33	30	30
2.00	0	0	0	0
4.00	0	0	0	0

Table 58. Bactericidal effectiveness of Beloran and Vanodine against Pseudomonas solanacearum seven days after mixing.

1 A = No latex added; B = Latex added (10%).

² Time of bacterial exposure to the disinfectant.

 3 Each statistic is the mean of 30 samples based turbidity in nutrient broth culture.

	Type of Infection								
		F-Strain			SFR-Strain				
			Mature	ter Varia	10-10	Mature			
Farm	Fruit	Sucker	mat	Fruit	Sucker	mat			
Cobb	8	0	9	0	0	1			
Indiana	2	0	3	0	0	0			
La Fragua	8	0	2	0	0	0			
Laurel	3	0	2	0	0	0			
Los Indios	14	13	6	1	2	1			
Lupo	2	5	2	0	1	0			
Mopala	1	4	1	0	0	0			
Tibombo	27	5	1	6	0	0			
Ceibita	2	1	1	0	0	0			
Barranco	0	0	1	0	0	0			
Palomas	1	0	0	0	0	1			
San Juan	14	11	19	0	0	0			
Omonita	0	1	1	0	0	2			
Copen	1	0	0	0	0	0			
Guaruma	1	1	3	0	0	0			
Caimito	0	1	0	0	0	0			
Santa Rosa	0	0	0	0	0	1			
Total	84 (43.8)	42 (21.8)	51 (26.5)	7 (3.6)	3 (1.5)	5 (2.8			

Table 59. A comparison of Moko bacterium strain to the site of disease symptom observation.

() Numbers represent the percent of total samples.

8

10

45

0

and the state of

「おくとうない」」

1. 14

14

The Division reported the occurrence of 725 Moko cases this year. This represents 40% fewer Moko cases treated this year. (SLABAUGH)

FUSARIAL WILT - TAIWAN RACE

Studies were continued at Perrine with the Taiwan race of <u>Fusarium oxy-</u> <u>sporum f. cubense</u> that attacks Cavendish varieties. Previous studies at Perrine showed Cavendish varieties were not attacked by the Taiwan race in a South Florida marl soil high in lime. A cement box 14 ft square and 3-1/2 ft high was filled with a low-calcium sand from Central Florida. This soil had only 950 ppm of calcium and a pH of 4.4. The box was planted with six Grand Nain and three Highgate rhizomes on January 3. Soil was pulled back from the roots and an oatmeal culture of the Taiwan race was applied on March 19. The plants were dug up on July 22 or 4 months after inoculation. Two of the Highgate and one of the Grand Nain plants showed heavy rhizome infection. These infected plants were chopped up and diseased tissue placed around young suckers of the six Grand Nain and three Highgate plants. These suckers were dug up three months later on October 19. Four out of six of the Grand Nain rhizomes had from medium to heavy infection. All Highgate were heavily diseased.

These studies show Grand Nain, and most likely all Cavendish varieties, are susceptible to the Taiwan race of Panama disease in a low calcium soil. Studies will now be initiated with some of the key breeding lines. Two plantings can be made yearly: March to June and July to November. Bananas do not grow well from December through February because of low temperatures at Perrine. (STOVER)

YELLOW MAT

An outbreak of yellow mat ("mata amarilla") was investigated in Surinam. An outbreak occurred for the first time in Ecuador in late 1975. Scattered cases continue to appear in Changuinola. Internal symptoms consist of pronounced vascular discoloration where the rhizome stele joins the cortex. Anatomical studies showed the discoloration is associated with phloem tissue plugged with a yellow amorphous substance, and discoloration of the phloem walls including adjacent companion cells.

Suckers with various degrees of rhizome discoloration from plants showing yellow mat symptoms in Changuinola were planted in concrete tanks in Honduras. At first these suckers grew more slowly than healthy suckers. Within three months of planting, growth rate was normal and all plants appeared healthy. Six months after planting, all new rhizomes were healthy and showed no symptoms. (STOVER)

ELEPHANTIASIS

Diseased plants were examined in Turbo. Internal rhizome discoloration is similar to that found in yellow mat. External symptoms are different consisting of twisting and bending of the suckers with or without swelling and splitting of the outer leaf sheaths. As in yellow mat, discoloration was associated with phloem plugging and discoloration of the phloem walls.

Phloem diseases are usually caused by mycoplasmas transmitted by insect vectors. If this is the case with yellow mat and elephantiasis, the vector must be very inefficient as disease incidence is sporadic and occasional. (STOVER)

×

Part and the state of the

100

NO.

ě

MANANA SAN

4

PUBLICATIONS

- Stover, R. H. and J. D. Dickson. 1976. Banana leaf spot caused by <u>Myco-sphaerella musicola and M. fijiensis var. difformis</u>: A comparison of the first Central American epidemics. F.A.O. PLANT PROTECTION BULLETIN 24 (2): 36-42.
- Stover, R. H. 1976. Distribution and cultural characteristics of the pathogens causing banana leaf spot. TROPICAL AGRICULTURE 53(2): 111-114.
- Salas, J. A., R. Oyuela and R. H. Stover. 1976. Effect of fallow on the burrowing nematode (<u>Radopholus similis</u>) of bananas. PLANT DISEASE REPORTER 60(10): 863-866.
- Mulder, J. L. and R. H. Stover. 1976. <u>Mycosphaerella species causing banana</u> leaf spot. TRANS. BRITISH MYCOL. SOCIETY 67(1): 77-82.

NEMATOLOGY

Culturing Nematodes for Experimental Use

Monoaxenic cultures of plant parasitic nematodes may be used for critical pathogenicity studies, fungi interaction evaluation, and as convenient sources of uniform inoculum for other laboratory and greenhouse tests. Culture of nematodes started in May 1976 by attempting to raise two important banana pathogens, Radopholus similis and Pratylenchus coffeae on carrot discs.

The most successful methods tried have been the ones described by E. H. Moody <u>et al</u>, Journal of Nematology 5: 255-256 (1973), and J. H. O'Bannon in Phytopathology 58: 385 (1968). Both methods include modifications.

The main problem encountered in these methods has been contamination, especially when the source of nematodes comes from the field. This can be originated by several causes: bacteria (the most common), fungi and nematodes. They can account for a large loss in incubated material even if techniques are followed with care. Observations also indicate that the carrot material used as a substrate might contain fungi and/or bacteria internally that will decompose carrot tissue within a short time (2-6 weeks). The average contamination with the method described by Moody has been approximately 80% and for the O'Bannon method 95% at 4 months after inoculation. Due to this problem, it is most convenient to maintain a continuous supply of cultures by making separate batches of 20-30 jars per month. The procedure itself is tedious and timeconsuming (Figure 25).

Transfer of nematodes from old cultures to new cultures has been more successful, since they already are free or low in contaminants. Contamination from jars has been approximately 20% at three months which is very low. There are no reports in the literature of loss in infectivity of nematodes due to change of host. Both nematodes, <u>R. similis</u> and <u>P. coffeae</u>, reproduce well on carrot discs, although the latter does it at much slower rate. Population increase in some jars initially inoculated with 20 specimens have shown up to 650,000 nematodes after four months of incubation. Average population per jar ranges between 80 and 100,000 nematodes at 3-4 months.

Nematode Survey in Belize

In October a nematode survey was done in the banana-growing area of Big Creek and South Stann Creek, Belize. Two different kinds of nematode surveys were taken into account. The first one dealing with the burrowing nematode, <u>Radopholus similis</u>, consisted in digging five rhizomes at random per acre, peeling them superficially and checking for nematode lesions which are characterized by the formation of dark necrotic lesions with reddish borders. A second nematode survey involved the recollection of 54 soil samples from the different farms covering the whole plantation. The purpose of this survey was to determine the different genera and species of plant parasitic nematodes associated with bananas in Belize. The amount of acreage surveyed was 1,296 out of a total of approximately 1,400. An additional 500 acres under one year were not surveyed. Using the same rhizome for nematode-lesion evaluation, a survey for root-borers was also performed.

The results of this survey indicate that there is an increase in R. similis infestations as compared to other surveys made in October, 1975 and May, 1976, the highest being recorded in Farm 2, Section D with an average infestation of 80% (Tables 60, 61, 62, 63, 64). This nematode was found widely distributed in the four farms in Big Creek. Root-knot nematodes. Meloidogyne sp., were found present in all 54 soil samples (Table 65). This was the most abundant plant parasitic nematode in the soil, their population reaching up to 1,860 nematodes in 250 cc of soil. The spiral nematode, Helicotylenchus spp., was found in low population. The rest of the plant parasitic nematodes are of little or no economic importance found on a wide array of soils. The lesion-nematode, Pratylenchus coffeae, similar in damage to R. similis and frequently found in banana plantations throughout the world, was not encountered. Root-borer infestation was fairly low, the highest reaching 35%. Many areas were found free of these insect pathogens. In many cases root-borer damage was present in rhizomes showing extensive nematode lesions.

Nematode Collection

A Nematode Survey Collection (NSC) from banana and other crops is available in permanent slides mounted in glycerine. This collection is expected É

SPAN,

N.C.

1630 Mart

1

1000

Number of the

100 X



Figure 25. Incubation jars showing carrot cultures. A) Healthy growing culture 4 months after inoculation with 20 specimens of <u>Pratylenchus</u> <u>coffeae</u>. B) Four-month old contaminated culture that appears in the form of a hard rot. This form is probably caused by bacteria and fungi and deteriorates slower than the soft rotting form. C) Two-month old contaminated culture that appears in the form of a soft rot. This is probably caused by bacteria. Notice bacterial ooze in the bottom of jar. D) Healthy culture 15 days after inoculation with 20 specimens of Radopholus similis.

-123-

B.C.B. Farm

Date of Survey: 10/15/76 Total Acreage: 368 Total Acres Surveyed: 368

Section	<pre># of rhizomes surveyed</pre>	Nematode inf. rhizomes	% of nem. infested	Root borer inf. rhizomes	% of R.B. inf.
A-8	40	6	15	6	15
9	40	3	7.5	10	25
10	40	17	42.5	10	25
11	40	11	27.5	6	15
12	40	8	20	4	10
13	40	13	32.5	14	35
14	40	9	22.5	7	17.5
15	40	12	30	2	5
B-2	40	18	45	5	12.5
3	40	8	20		0
4	40	17	42.5	2	5
5	40	8	20	1	2.5
6	40	24	60	4	10
7	40	15	37.5	1 1	2.5
8	40	21	52.5	-	0
9	40	11	27.5	-	0
10	40	22	55	-	0
11	40	16	40	-	0
12	40	24	60	5	12.5
13	40	26	65	2	5
14	40	24	60	- 11	0
15	40	17	42.5		0
16	25	10	40	A	0
17	25	17	68	1	2.5
18	20	14	70	2	5
19	50	25	50	1	2.5
C-2	40	26	65	5	12.5
3	40	20	50	5	12.5
4	40	22	55	2	5
5	40	8	20	4	10
6	40	3	7.5	5	12.5
7	40	28	70	6	15
8	40	8	20	16	40
9	40	23	57.5	-	0
10	40	4	10	3	7.5
11	40	15	37.5	-	0
12	40	6	15	16	40
13	40	8	20	-	0
14	40	11	27.5	2	5
15	40	9	22.5	3	7.5
16	40	15	37.5	12	30
17	40	12	30	4	10
18	40	19	47.5	7	17.5
19	40	9	22.5	3	7.5
2.0	40	34	85	2	5
21	40	13	32.5	2	5
22	40	24	60	4	10
Average	A 40	9.8	24.6	7.3	18.4
Average	B 3/./	17.0	46.6	1.3	5-5
Average	C 40	15.0	31.1	4.0	12.0

-124-

6

8

10 M

して愛信報

いく意思

御堂

Date of Survey: 10/18/76 Farm 2 Total Acreage: 372 Total Acres Surveyed: 347

Section	<pre># of rhizomes surveyed</pre>	Nematode inf. rhizomes	% of nem. infested	Root borer inf. rhizomes	% of R.B. inf.
D-9	40	30 -	75	7	17.5
10	40	31	77.5	6	15
11	40	29	72.5	14	35
12	40	35	87.5	13	32.5
13	40	31	77.5	5	12.5
14	40	31	77.5	ŭ	10
15	40	30	75	8	20
16	40	35	87 5	6	15
17	40	34	85	8	20
18	40	32	80	8	20
10	40	35	87 5	6	15
20	40	25	87 5	8	20
20	40	20	75	7	17 5
22	40	20	75	7	17.5
£.0	40	17	12 5	/	17.5
10	40	20	92.2		0
10	40	17	10 5	2	5
11	40	10	42.5	2	2
12	40	10	45	1	4.5
13	40	10	45	3	1.2
14	40	17	42.5	-	0
15	40	9	22.5	2	2
16	40	25	05	4	10
17	30	0	26.6	1	2.5
18	40	15	37.5	2	5
19	40	35	87.5	4	10
20	40	24	60	4	10
21	40	2.7	67.5	3	7.5
22	40	33	82.5	5	12.5
23	40	19	47.5	2	2.5
24	40	13	32.5	-	0
25	37	11	29.7	3	7.5
26	40	17	42.5	2	5
27	28	11	39.2	6	15
F-9	40	10	25	1	2.5
10	40	7	17.5	3	7.5
11	40	11	27.5	. 3	7.5
12	40	11	27.5	1	2.5
13	40	12	30	2	5
14	40	17	42.5	6	15
15	40	11	27.5	3	7.5
16	40	5	12.5	1	2.5
17	40	7	17.5	- 100	0
18	40	22	55	2	5
19	40	16	40	1	2.5
20	40	7	17.5	2	5
Average D	40	32	80 .	7.6	19.0
Average E	38.6	19.2	49.9	2.4	6.2
Average F	40	11.3	28.3	2.1	5.2

	-			
-		_	_	
		_	_	
	_	-		
		-		

Date of Survey:	10/16/76
Total Acreage:	304
Total Acres Surveyed:	303

Farm 3

Section	<pre># of rhizomes surveyed</pre>	Nematode inf. rhizomes	% of nem. infested	Root borer inf. rhizomes	% of R.B. inf.
Y-1	35	18	51.4	3	7.5
2	40	24	60	8	20
3	40	21	52.5	3	7.5
4	40	26	65	14	35
5	40	30	75	8	20
6	40	35	87.5	4	10
7	40	25	62.5	10	25
D-1	40	19	47.5	5	12.5
2	40	30	75	7	17.5
3	40	37	92.5	8	20
4	40	33	82.5	10	25
5	40	12	30	14	35
6	40	21	52.5	7	17.5
7	40	12	30	2	5
8	40	15	37.5	5	12.5
X-1	40	15	37.5	5	12.5
2	40	18	45	8	20
3	40	15	37.5	1	2.5
4	40	25	62.5	13	32.5
5	40	11	27.5	0	0
6	40	10	25	4	10
7	40	10	25	<i>l</i> 4	10
F-1	40	23	57.5	2	5
2	40	22	55	4	10
3	40	24	60	5	12.5
4	40	23	57.5	1	2.5
5	40	25	62.5	3	7.5
6	40	13	32.5	2	5
7	40	9	22.5	1	2.5
8	40	31	77.5	9	22.5
F-1	40	18	45	2	5
2	40	8	20	0	Ó
3	40	26	65	5	12.5
4	40	6	15	0	0
5	40	15	37.5	3	7.5
6	40	11	27.5	2	5
7	40	= 11	27.5	11	27.5
8	40	30	75	0	0
Average Y	39.2	25.5	64.8	7.1	17.8
Average D	40	22.3	55.9	6.6	14.8
Average X	40	14.8	37.1	5	12.5
Average E	40	21.2	53.1	3.3	8.4
Average F	40	15.6	39	2.8	7.1

Farm 4

Ť,

000000

してい意を見たい

100

ble 63 .

ite of Survey: 10/18/76 Ital Acreage*: 228 Ital Acres Surveyed: 208

Section	# of rhizomes surveyed	Nematode inf. rhizomes	% of nem. infested	Root borer inf. rhizomes	% of R.B. inf.
6-18	40	19	47 5	_	0
19	40	21	52 5	-	ő
20	40	12	30	1	2 5
21	40	17	42 5		0
H-17	40	13	22 5		0
18	40	19	47 5	10	25
19	40	13	32 5	10	10
20	40	16	40	2	7 5
21	40	29	72 5	5	12.5
22	40	21	52 5	í.	10
23	25	1	4		10
24	20		0		ő
25	20	2	10		0
26	21	2	14 2		0
20	24	2	20.7		2.0
29	20	6	30.7		3.0
20	25	6	24	1	4
1 10	23	16	20	Ţ	0
1-10	40	10	40	1	2.5
19	40	13	32.5	-	0
20	40	12	30	-	0
21	40	14	35	<u> </u>	0
22	40	1/	42.5	1	2.5
23	40	10	45		2.5
24	40	9	22.5	-	0
25	40	11	21.5	-	0
26	40	8	20		0
21	40	9	22.5	2	5
28	40	5	12.5	-	0
29	40	13	32.5	- 94	0
Average	G 40	17.2	42.1	0.2	0.5
Average	н 30.7	10.5	34.2	2.1	6.8
Average	1 40	12	30	0.4	1
		1.5			
t Total	acreane - minimu	- 000 4025			
- 10131	acreage - minimu	m one year.	-		

Date (of Survey:	10/16/76
Total	Acreage:	135
Total	Acres Surveyed:	70

South Stann Creek

Section	<pre># of rhiz surveye</pre>	omes	Nema1 rh	tode inf. izomes	00 in	of nem. fested	Roo inf.	t borer rhizomes	R	% of .B. inf.
1	42			29		69		4		9.5
2	42			20		47.6		2		4.7
4	42			5		11.9		-		0
6	42			8		19		- 111		0
8	42			11		26.1		1		2.3
10	45			18		40		4		8.8
12	45			30		65.2		4		8.8
14	2.2			9		40.9		-		0
15	28			13		46.4		2		7.1
Average	38.8			15.8		40.7		1.8		4.6
		-	1000		-		200		-	

and need of loss (15 years) h

ine The set TOY of a management The codes?

Table 65.	Average population of plant-parasitic nematodes in
	positive samples and their percentage of occurrence
	(in brackets).

Contraction of the second s								
	BCB	Farm	Farm Fai		Farm 3		Farm 4	
Nematodes		10=		12=		132	-	13=
Radopholus similis	20:	* (56)	33	(92)	43	(84)	58	(66)
Meloidogyne sp.	609	(100)	498	(100)	239	(100)	186	(100)
Helicotylenchus erithrinae	57	(100)	78	(50)	23	(46)	15	(41)
Helicotylenchus multicinctus	45	(6)	0	(0)	30	(8)	0	(0)
Macroposthonia oncense	11	(37)	103	(17)	5	(8)	30	(8)
Discocriconemella limitaneum	17	(19)	0	(0)	130	(8)	119	(38)
Tylenchus sp.	13	(25)	8	(25)	13	(31)	9	(53)
Paratylenchus sp.	12	(44)	17	(25)	8	(15)	5	(8)
Trichodorus sp.	13	(31)	8	(33)	10	(8)	0	(0)
Xiphinema ensiculiferum	5	(12)	10	(8)	0	(0)	0	(0)
Xiphinema simillimum	0	(0)	0	(0)	0	(0)	15	(8)
Aphelenchus sp.	9	(25)	0	(0)	0	(0)	0	(0)
Psilenchus sp.	10	(6)	0	(0)	0	(0)	0	(0)
Nothocriconema sp.	0	(0)	13	(17)	0	(0)	0	(0)

* Number of soil samples.

** Number of nematodes in 250 cc of soil.

1 2 2

1. 100 m

12 ALD 14D 4D

「「「「「「「「「「「「「「「」」」をいう」ので、

to increase with time and will be used as reference material, training purposes and demonstrations. The collection includes only plant parasitic specimens, classified to genus and species level, males and females mounted alone or in root tissue, and perineal patterns of root-knot nematodes (<u>Meloidogyne</u> spp.). Each slide contains information on host, locality, collector and date. At present, the collection holds 34 different nematode species and 215 root-knot perineal patterns (Tables 66 and 67).

Occurrence, Fungal Association and Spatial Distribution of Root-Knot Nematode on Bananas and Plantains

A study to determine the root-knot species present, their frequency in the field, association with fungi, and spatial distribution in areas where <u>Radopholus similis</u> and <u>Helicotylenchus multicinctus</u> are also present was conducted in the banana and plantain farms of Guaruma 1, 2, San Juan and Paleto. Infested roots showing typical symptoms were selected at random. Females in roots were dissected from galls and perineal sections were mounted on permanent slides. Fungi associated with firm-textured root-knot galls were isolated from tissue adjacent to root-knot females and egg masses. Spatial distribution was determined by recovering soil samples at 30, 60, 90 and 120 cm intervals from the rhizome on plants chosen at random. In order to determine vertical distribution, soil samples at 10, 20, 30 and 40 cm of depth were recovered in composite samples taken at 75 cm distance from the rhizome.

Perineal sections indicate that the predominant root-knot species found was <u>H. incognita</u> (58%) (Table 68, Figure 26). Also present were <u>M. arenaria</u> (11%), <u>M. javanica</u> (9%), and <u>M. exigua</u> (4%). This is the first time <u>M. exigua</u> is reported on banana host in Honduras. Several other perineal sections (six) could not be correctly identified due to their resemblance to more than one type. These are considered overlapping patterns between species. Different species were often found in the same gall, especially <u>M. incognita</u> with <u>M.</u> <u>arenaria</u> and <u>M. javanica</u>. In plantains, <u>M. incognita</u> was the most frequent (96%) species encountered. An undetermined and distinct species of <u>Meloidogyne</u> was present. Its perineal pattern does not resemble any of the known types in literature and is characterized by the absence of formation of visible galls.

Penicillium on bananas (14 isolates) and Fusarium solani on plantains (8 isolates) were the most common fungi recovered from nematode-galled root tissue (Table 69). Microscopical observation revealed that root-knot females in firm gall showed very little necrotic tissue formation. The small necrotic areas were noticeable near egg masses and limited to 2-6 cell layers surrounding nematode. It would appear that fungi do not spread easily to adjacent healthy tissue. This pattern might also be related to low number of successful isolations as compared to total (51 out of 550). Fungi isolated in the course of this study are believed to be mainly saprophytic of little or no plant pathogenic importance found in a wide array of soils.

Banana and plantain material showed typical root-knot symptoms such as root distortion, sub-apical galling and root bifurcation (Figure 27). These symptoms were most evident toward the distant end of the root. Some roots also showed extensive lesions caused by R. similis, the damage appearing most evident in the portion closer to the rhizome and in the rhizome.

Table 66.	Permanent slides	of plant	parasiti	c nemator	des mour	nted
	in glycerine and lection (NSC).	deposited	l in the	Nematode	Survey	Co1-

Nematode Species	Male	Female	Host
Radopholus similis	+	+	Plantain, banana
Meloidogyne incognita	+	+	Banana
Helicotylenchus erithrinae	+	+	Banana
Helicotylenchus multicinctus	+	+	Banana, melon
Pratylenchus coffeae	+	+	Banana
Pratylenchus scribneri*	+	+	Fern
Tylenchorhynchus cylindricus*		+	Melon, corn
Rotylenchulus reniformis		+	Acacia, banana, oil palm
Discocriconemella <u>limitanea</u> *		+	Banana, cedar
Discocriconemella inauratus*		+	Plantain
Discocriconemella retroversa*		+	Guarumo
Hemicroconemoides cocophillus		+	Grass .
Hemicriconemoides mangiferae		+	Mango, banana
Hemicriconemoides litchi*		+	Mango, acacia
Macroposthonia oncense		+	Banana
Macroposthonia denoudeni*		+	Araucaria
Xiphinema ensiculiferum		+	Plantains
Xiphinema americanum		+	Oil palms, bananas, plantains
Xiphinema simillimum*		+	Bananas, tuft fish tail palm
Peltamigratus holdemani*		+	Oil palm
Trophurus sp.	+	+	Banana

6000年のののの日本語にのの後期で

將金務門,一篇慶大,

100 M
Table 66 (Cont.)

Nematode Species	Male	Female	Host
Hoplolaimus sp.		+	Ariana palm, grass
Paratylenchus sp.		+	Banana, plantain
Paralongidorus sp.		+	Banana
Hemicycliophora sp.	+	+	Banana, grass
Xiphinema sp.		+	Banana
Lobocriconema sp.*		+	Plantain
Nothocriconema sp.*		+	Banana

* Reported in Honduras for the first time.

Table 67. Perineal sections of root-knot nematodes mounted in glycerine and deposited in the NSC.

Root-knot nematodes	No. perineal patterns	Host
Meloidogyne incognita	158	Melon, banana, oil palm, plantain, beans
Meloidogyne javanica	11	Banana
<u>Meloidogyne</u> arenaria	21	Banana, plantain
Meloidogyne exigua	4 -	Banana
Meloidogyne hapla	2	Banana
Unidentified	19	

-131-

and annual of	BANANA	BANANA		PLANTAIN		
Nematode Species	Perineal sections	2		Perineal sections	2	
M. incognita	63	58		50	96	
M. arenaria	11	10		2	4	
M. lavanica	9	8		0	0	
M. exigua	4	4		0	0	
Overlapping P.S.*	6	5		0	0	
Undetermined**	16	14		0	0	
TOTAL	109	100		52	100	

Table 68. <u>Meloidogyne</u> spp. present and their frequency in the banana and plantain growing areas of the Sula Valley, Honduras.

* Perineal sections that may correspond to M. incognita, M. arenaria, M. javanica or M. exigua.

** Perineal sections correspond to an undetermined but distinct root-knot species not reported in the literature.

Table 69. Fungi associated with Meloidogyne spp. isolated from galled root tissue of bananas and plantains.

	Number of ise	olations
Fungi Genera	Banana	Plantain
Acremonium	(3)	(2)
Alternaria	(1)	
Aspergillus	(2)	
Curvularia		(1)
Cylindrocarpon	(1)	(4)
Fusarium solani	(2)	(8)
Geotrichum	and and and	(2)
Penicillium	(14) (2) (1) ≏	
Rhizocthonia		(4)
Cladosporium	(4)	

* Three different cultures of Penicillium.

E

COMPO C

16 223

AGB ACK THE OF

したなななのに「様

1. C. R. C.

25

CODA STORES



Figure 26 (A-D). Perineal sections of root-knot mematodes associated with bananas and plantains. A) <u>Meloidogyne incognita</u>, B) <u>M. aremaria</u> C) <u>M. exigua</u> and D) <u>M. javanica</u>.



Figure 27. Meloidogyne spp. symptoms on roots of bananas.

they best been it and it is introduced by the proof it would be all the fit and the set in the

「「

Į.

14

184

¥.

6

10 10 10

Ē.

ę

100

6

10

600

1981

180

έ.

(一般

ġ

Root-knot nematodes were seldom found in the first 40 cm of root and none in the rhizome itself. <u>Helicotylenchus</u> sp. lesions were present fairly evenly distributed throughout the length of the root. Root-knot population in the soil (Figure 28) would seem to confirm that the area of influence of this nematode would start 60 cm from the rhizome. However, when <u>R. similis</u> was absent, whole root would show galling. This would indicate that <u>Meloidogyne</u> spp. competes for the same feeding sites as <u>R. similis</u> and that the latter is capable of suppressing and/or replacing the <u>Meloidogyne</u> population. Depth distribution of root-knot showed that 66% of the population of this nematode is found near the surface between 10 cm of depth. In some cases, galls were clearly observed on the surface of the soil. Frequency of the nematode diminished considerably after 20 cm of depth.

Additional observations show that extensive damage as a result of active feeding by <u>R. similis</u> girdles root and makes them easy to dismember. Deterioration is probably increased by the presence of fungi and bacteria. The destruction of roots is reflected in the reduction of the number of feeding sites for Meloidogyne spp. and the interruption of their life cycles. (PINOCHET)

DBCP and Bromine Phytotoxicity to Bananas

For nematode control, applications of DBCP (1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane) at 14 cc/mat of an 86% emulsifiable concentrate in two cycles per year represent 4.8 gal/a/yr at 650 production units per acre. Fumazone 86E contains 12.1 lbs DBCP and related compounds/gal and is 66.7% bromine by weight. Thus, 38.7 lbs/a/yr are applied of elemental bromine. EPA has established a tolerance of 125 ppm bromine in whole fruit and 75 ppm bromine in pulp of bananas as residue tolerances for DBCP.

In 1974 an unknown malformation of the plants in Armuelles resulted in the name of "Higueron Malady" for what has been shown to be linked with excess bromine or bromine toxicity in bananas. The same year Golfito and Bocas reported distortion of the suckers by apparent over-injections of DBCP. Thus, there are two forms of phytotoxicity associated with the application of DBCP to bananas: 1) Direct phytotoxicity as manifested in splitting and abnormal growth of the sucker and 2) Indirect phytotoxicity from the accumulation of bromine following the degradation of DBCP releasing bromine in the soil.

In 1975 plants from Higueron Farm showing symptoms of bromine phytotoxicity averaged 134 ppm bromine (seven samples) compared to 108 ppm bromine (eight samples) in whole fruit in symptomless plants.

In 1962 it was reported that bromine levels in the plant would be highest in the rhizome. During 1975 three sections of Higueron Farm at three plants per section were sampled. Section 2 (currently 57) was not treated, whereas Sections 1 (currently 56) and 10 (currently 65) were treated with 21, 14 and 14 cc/mat in three cycles. Samples were collected at 177 and 188 days from last application for Sections 10 and 2, respectively. Plants from Section 10 had severe symptoms, from Section 1 moderate symptoms, and from Section 2 no symptoms of bromine toxicity. Plant parts included for bromine analysis were: finger (whole fruit of harvest grade from largest hand on sunny side), crown, peduncle or fruit stalk at last bract scar, pseudostem (actually peduncle taken at 6 ft from ground), rhizome



Spatial distribution of Meloidogyne spp. in banana Figure 28. soils infested with R. similis and H. multicinctus. A) Distribution of Meloidogyne spp. at different distances from the rhizome. B) Depth distribution at 75 cm from the rhizome.

be measured and provide a static providence of the Station of the Station of the state of the state of the state second protect with a reaction of the second second protect of the second s

have N 12 1 is showing monthly bet over a shall get ingent to the other start shart

-135-

(upper part of peduncle), rhizome lower part, and the growing point of the sucker. The means of three samples are presented in Table 70. The data are extremely variable but the trend is present that when symptoms become more severe, bromine content is higher. It was also noted that after repeated treatment, bromine content was higher in the fingers in contrast to the findings of 1962 when following a single cycle of DBCP, bromine content was highest in the rhizome.

In Palmar, Costa Rica during 1975, samples from Farm 3 (Cables 30 and 31) which had been treated with DBCP at 14 cc/mat over four cycles were sent to Midland, Michigan for analysis by DOW Chemical. Farm 12 fruit was sent as an untreated control. Samples were sent at 4, 16, 30 and 78 days from application. Tabulated findings are listed below for an average of eight samples:

1000

S. S. Carlor

a,

6

Time	- Bron	mine - ppm
(Days)	Pulp	Whole Fruit
4	18.5	42.2
16	16.5	24.9
30	20.9	33.1
78	18.0	25.9

Over this time period, there was no increase in the base level of bromine. Controls averaged less than 2 ppm bromine.

During 1976, samples were again sent to Midland from Armuelles and Golfito to compare the systems of analysis for bromine. DOW used whole fruit in the first reading and pulp data are not yet available. Samples of whole fruit were well below tolerance of 125 ppm with one exception of 105 ppm. The samples were handled as double samples per stem and four samples per cable. The variation between samples needs to be fixed or numbers of samples will have to be greatly increased to cover variation.

Leaf samples from Higueron Farm, with symptoms of bromine toxicity, compared to symptomless leaves from the same area showed a high content of bromine:

Bromi	ne - ppm
Symptoms	Symptomless
290	180
307	112
325	123
	290 307 325

Sinker fruit from Armuelles had low content bromine and this problem could not be related to bromine toxicity.

Fruit from the DBCP phytotoxicity study where injections were at 2, 4, 6 and 8 in from the mat in the 9 x 5 and 5 x 9 configuration showed bromine content at less than 40 ppm (pulp). Plants showed bromine toxicity, particularly young leaves on the suckers.

Fruit from dry triangles in areas where plants were showing phytotoxicity symptoms had pulp readings of 10-25 ppm of bromine compared to a reading of 2 ppm from fruit in an adjacent area which was receiving sufficient water. Table 70 . Bromine content (ppm) in various plant parts showing bromine phytotoxicity in Armuelles, Panama

		SYMPTOMS	
Plant Part	Normal	Medium	Severe
Finger (whole fruit)	4	107	124
Crown	3	67	102
Fruit Stalk	2	30	33
Pseudostem	23	50	90
Rhizome (upper)	2	31	74
Rhizome (lower)	0	34	87
Rhizome (sucker)	0	23	43

and a second device attraction of an indication of a large of the second s

-137-

concentrate with water had no effect on the content of bromine in the fruit:

In Armuelles, changing the pattern of injection or diluting the emulsifiable

二日日の

10

100 100

ŝ

たいたのことを

「「ない」

薖

3

	TOLLOT IN	Diffector	promitic ppm
14	semicircle	1:0	30
20	circle	1:0	38
14	semicircle	1:1	25
20	circle	1:1	25
14	semicircle	1:4	38
20	circle	1:4	29

A series of ten water samples from areas showing bromine toxicity symptoms in Armuelles were taken from the piezometers. These values ranged from 1 ppm to 28 ppm in the soil water (Table 71). The readings of pulp content, where available, were not correlated with the soil water readings.

In Honduras the symptoms of bromine phytotoxicity were reproduced artificially on suckers grown in clay pots. In the first experiment, DBCP and equivalent amounts of NaBr were added to clay pots of soil in which established sword suckers were growing. Rates used were 0, 4, 8, 16 and 32 cc/pot. Symptoms developed first in bromine-treated pots showing typical leaf symptoms. At the end of the experiment, all plants in the 8, 16 and 32 cc treatments were dead. At 4 cc, three plants died and the fourth was showing symptoms. The DBCP was less severe but both forms of phytotoxicity developed - leaf burning and split pseudostems. A second test using 2, 4, 6 and 8 cc is currently underway. Bromine toxicity symptoms appeared first on the 6 and 8 cc level of bromine and subsequently on the 6 and 8 cc level of DBCP. In small pots using established <u>Musa acuminata</u> seedlings, 2 and 4 cc of DBCP killed the seedlings within 4 days. Treatments of NaBr, KBr and NH₃Br are showing varying degrees of leaf symptoms. The 4 cc rate of NH₃Br also resulted in rapid seedling death.

The information accumulated to date indicates that bromine is the primary cause of the condition referred to as Higueron Malady. However, it is not clear-cut that an area showing these symptoms will be carrying high bromine. It is possible that a shock of bromine from a rapid breakdown and release of bromine from DBCP can result in phytotoxicity. The growing point is apparently affected as the leaf or fruit stalk forms. The soil content of bromine in regard to the expression of toxic symptoms needs to be worked out. Also, the movement of the chemical in the soil should be studied since we have not experienced the problem in areas of high rainfall as in Changuinola or on the Atlantic coast of Costa Rica. Apparently, the element can be leached out with proper drainage. Drought could also cause an excessive accumulation of bromine. (TAYLOR, DONALDSON, ESPINOZA, STEPHENS, CALDERON)

Effect of Watering Schemes on Radopholus similis Infestation of Bananas

The three areas selected for nematicide studies in Honduras were infested with <u>Radopholus</u> based upon rhizome index surveys greater than 50%. Root sampling in the areas showed Higuerito to contain a moderate infestation and San Juan and Los Limones low infestations compared to similar index levels in areas of higher rainfall. Therefore, a series of three experiments was undertaken to study the effects of

Farm	Section	Piezometer	DECP cycles	ppm-Br Water	ppm-Fruit
Caoba	5	13	3	3	7 (VII/76 - P)
Zapatero	8	20	2	2	NA*
Zapatero	10-11	18	2	1	NA
Higueron	B18	8	3	3	120 (XI/76-WF)
Bogamani	13	1	3	2	NA
Bogamani	5	2	?	28	NA
Javillo	17	22	3	21	35 (VII/76-P)
Níspero	12-16	4	2	6	11 (VII/76-P)
Palo Blanco	24	5	2	5	21 (VIII/76-P)
Higuito	4-8-9-5	1	3	6	12 (VIII/76-P)

Table 71. Free bromine content of soil water in piezometers from areas showing cases of bromine phytotoxicity in Armuelles, Panama

* NA - Not available

P - Pulp

WF - Whole fruit

2

ķ

ł

watering schemes on plant growth and nematode infestation.

<u>Water Experiment 1.</u> In this experiment water was applied at the rate of 3 cm per day with drainage, 3 cm/day without drainage, and 6 cm/week with drainage. Peeled VALERY suckers from Guaruma (10-20 cm diameter) were planted in Guaruma soil in 28 cm diameter clay pots. Infested pots were inoculated with Higuerito <u>Radopholus</u>-infested root pieces at the rate of 30,000 nematodes/pot. Inoculation was a ring of root pieces around the rhizome at planting. Non-infested controls were included for each watering scheme. Five replicates per treatment were included. Plants were inoculated on July 9, 1975 and harvested 50 days later. The lack of drainage was accomplished by placing aluminum pans under the pots so that a water table could be held in the pot. For data analysis, only four replicates were used and nematode data were converted to Log X. Plants were grown under a carport.

Table 72 is the tabulation of the experimental findings. No differences in means were found for root weight, root length, lesion index, or <u>Radopholus/100 g</u> of roots. Only one of the control plants contained a detectable level of <u>Rado-</u>pholus. There was a tendency towards more root necrosis in the wet soils.

<u>Water Experiment 11</u>. This experiment was similar to the first experiment except that the source of inoculation was infested rhizomes from Higuerito that were peeled free of roots but not nematode lesions. Treatments were: Subirrigation with daily filling of the pan below the pot (A); Sub-irrigation with daily filling of the pan below the pot but no inoculation by root pieces (B); 1.5 cm water two times/week (C); 1.5 cm water once a week (D); 1.5 cm water every two weeks (E); and no more water after the initial 1000 ml of water at planting (F). All treatments except 8 were infested with root pieces to obtain 75,000 <u>Radopholus/pot</u>. The experiment was planted September 10, 1975 and harvested 60 days later.

Table 73 is a tabulation of the experimental findings. Only four replicates per treatment were used for the data analysis and <u>Radopholus</u>/100 g of root data were converted to Log X for analysis. The only significant mean difference (1% level) was for plant height. Three treatments of 1.5 cm of water every two weeks and no water after planting had mean differences that were significant from each other and the other four treatments. Lack of water apparently had no effect on the amount of roots produced or the length of the roots. <u>Radopholus</u> levels were not greatly different in the treatments but the level of lesion index was again higher where more water was applied. It is interesting to note that an equal infestation could be obtained without inoculating the pots (Treatments A vs. B) which is a labor intensive step in nematode experimentation.

Water Experiment 111. As continuation from the findings in Experiments 1 and 11, an experiment was established to compare three watering schemes and a source of nematode infestation. Rhizomes were used from Higuerito and handled as in Experiments 1 and 11. In the no-nematode treatment, the rhizomes were peeled free of all lesions. No root pieces for additional inoculum were included. Treatments were watered with 1.5 cm of water on 7 (A), 14 (B), 28 (C), and 7 (D) day cycles, D being the treatment without nematodes. Rhizomes were planted November 20, 1975 and harvested 60 days later. Replicates were increased to ten per treatment. ţ

¢.

467

6

é

4

12

fing	
water	
three	
for	
determination	
Radopholus	
and	
parameters	
Growth	
н	
Experiment	10
Water	acheme
72.	
Table	

Ì

5

and the set

5.

Treatments Mater applied	Radopholus	Root Weight (g)	Root Length (cm)	Radoph	olus/100 g roots ^a /	Lesion Index (cm/100 cm)
Sonked - poor drainage 3 cm/day	Present Absent	93.3 82.8	140.0		105,783	32.1
Wet - drainage 3 cm/day	Present Absent	96.6 124.6	165.6	.int	124,142	33.0
Dry - drainage 6 cm/week	Present Absent	96.3 76.4	187.1		279,462	17.8
F observed Treatments Blocks		0.55 NS 0.50 NS	0.37 N 0.20 N	10 50	0.26 NS 0.05 NS	1.30 NS 1.08 NS

-141-

24

TREATMENT	Planta/ Height (cm)	Root Weight (g)	Root Length (cm)	Lesion Index	<u>Radopholus</u> /100 g roots
A	50.8 x	44.4	232	36	56,492
В	50.7 x	27.9	250	28	45,197
с	53.5 x	33.2	152	48	46,567
D	43.4 x	35.2	236	41	54,744
E	26.0 y	20.9	146	22	16,589
F	11.1 z	37.8	222	11	54,089

Table 73. Water Experiment II - Growth parameters and <u>Radopholus</u> determination for watering schemes

A - sub-irrigation daily.

B - sub-irrigation daily - no root pieces.

C - 1.5 cm water 2 times a week.

D - 1.5 cm water once a week.

E - 1.5 cm water every two weeks.

F - No subsequent water.

a/ Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% level. Other treatments means not significantly different. Table 74 is a tabulation of the experimental findings. Lack of water in this experiment had a deleterious effect on plant height and root weight. Peeling of the rhizome also had a deleterious effect on plant growth. Total root length obtained which could be split for lesion index was not different based upon mean comparisons. Lesion index and <u>Radopholus</u>/100 g of roots means were not significantly different where nematodes were not peeled away, even though the Lesion Index is lower in the treatment receiving the least amount of water. The mean of total number of nematodes in the roots (obtained by converting the numbers of nematodes/sample to the total weight of the sample) was significantly different at the 1% level. Watering once a week produced more nematodes in more roots than did watering every two and four weeks. The peeling treatment was very effective in reducing the nematode population.

To summarize the findings of the three experiments, it was noted that under the conditions of shade and plants grown in clay pots, sufficient moisture remains to support plant growth and nematode survival. Lack of water apparently has more of an effect upon top growth than on root growth. As roots grow, the nematode population increases with the roots. Moist soil is apparently conducive to lesion development. It was also found that if infested rhizomes are used for experiments and not peeled free of <u>Radopholus</u>, populations develop to a level similar to those found under conditions of areas where yield loss occurs from this nematode and thus making the inoculation with rhizome chips or root pieces unnecessary. The next step is to go to the field and determine if under conditions of either drought or high water table, nematode populations are higher under natural conditions when moist and lower when dry. Soil temperature should be included in the analysis. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Source of Inoculation for Pot Studies of Radopholus on Banana - Honduras

3

1

All New Tar

Following the water studies, an experiment was established to check the source of infestation of <u>Radopholus</u> in Honduras. When studying water, nutritional levels, soil features, and other factors interacting with <u>Radopholus</u> infestations in bananas, it will be desirable to obtain a uniform and high degree of infestation at the start of the experiments. Four different sources of inoculum were compared by using soil and rhizomes from Higuerito and San Juan in the four possible combinations of: Higuerito rhizome in Higuerito soil (A); San Juan rhizome in Higuerito soil (B); Higuerito rhizone in San Juan soil (C); and San Juan rhizome in San Juan soil (D). Planting and growing conditions are similar to those described in the water studies. The pots were watered with 3.5 cm of water per week. Rhizomes were planted February 11, 1976 and harvested 126 days later. Ten replicates/treatment were used.

Results are presented in tabular form in Table 75. In regard to plant growth, mean comparisons for root weight and root length large enough to be split for lesion index showed no differences between rhizome and soil sources. Plants growing in San Juan soil were shorter than those grown in Higuerito soil with means significantly different at the 5% level.

For nematode populations, there was a progression from Higuerito rhizomes in Higuerito soil to San Juan rhizomes in San Juan soil. The fact that the Higuerito soil with San Juan rhizomes produced more nematodes per 100 g of

teris in the second is a second in		1.5 CM WATE	R EVERYa/	
	7 DAYS	14 DAYS	28 DAYS	7 DAYSD/
Plant Height (cm)	43.1 x	25.3 жу	17.5 z	33.6 xy
Root Weight (g)	59.2 x	28.1 y	33.7 y	32.5 y
Root Length (cm)	264 x	184 x	238 x	137 x
Lesion Index ^{c/}	29 x	24 x	11 x	0 у
Radopholus/100 g roots ^{c/}	233,450 x	154,509 x	231,890	х 320 у
<u>Radopholus</u> /root system ^{d/}	141,023 x	32,591 y	27,298	y 85 z
a/ Means not followed by at the 1% level - Dun	the same le can's Multip	tter are si le Range Te	gnificantly st.	different
b/ Peeled free of <u>Radoph</u>	olus lesions			
c/ Converted to log (X /	1) for anal	ysis.		
d/ Converted to log (X #	100) for an	alysis.		

Table 74. Water Experiment III - Growth parameters and <u>Radopholus</u> determination for watering schemes

-144-

-144-

1000

ē

6

MUCKO

Ē.

CON 1000 (CON

£.

No.

C RN

0.00

Ch. 130

e C

虚

Table 75. Growth parameter and <u>Radopholus</u> determination for rhizomesoil source for infestation study.

		RHIZOME/S	OIL SOURCE	
PARAMETERS	A Higuerito <u>Higuerito</u>	B San Juan <u>Higuerito</u>	C Higuerito San Juan	D San Juan San Juan
Plant height (cm)	50.0 a	50.6 a	46.4 ab	43.5 Ъ
Root weight (g)	36.6 a	45.1 a	40.9 a	37.6 a
Root length (cm)	149.0 a	182.6 a	173.6 a	178.3 a
Lesion Index	26.1 x	19.4 xy	15.9 жу	1.8 y
Radopholus/100 g roots	46,500 x	31,750 xy	16,650 xy	6,550 y

Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at the 1% (x-y) or 5% (ab) level - Duncan's multiple range test.

the second s

and pressive the first pressive and the pressive spectra state of the second state of

roots than did the reverse situation is of significance. In experiments comparing soil type or fertility, the resident population of nematodes is going to have to be eliminated and equal levels of nematodes introduced. Lesion index follows the same pattern as does nematode infestation.

In regard to pathogenicity of the nematode, suckers showed no indication of reduced plant growth with a high population of nematodes in the roots. In general, there appeared to be no correlations between measurements of plant growth and nematode populations. Tall plants could have either a high or low nematode population. Root weight showed the same lack of relationship. ÷

E.

ON RM

1000

NO2E

日本のないに、このないないで

-

Banana Nematode Sample Transportation for Counting in Honduras

In many cases, it is going to be adviseable to process root and soil samples for nematode counts in an area where a microscope is not available. Also, the processing of the samples is an operation that a trained field worker can perform but the actual counting of the nematodes requires a higher degree of training. Storage of nematode samples in a 5% formalin solution after heat-relaxing at 52° C for 10 min is a standard nematology procedure. The formalin is prepared by diluting commercial 36.6% formaldehyde in the ratio of 1:3 with water to obtain a 10% formalin solution. This is then mixed with the nematode suspension 1:1 to result a 5% formalin storage solution.

To determine if samples processed by standard methods of blending and wet screening 25 g of banana roots for the extraction of <u>Radopholus</u> and <u>Helicotylenchus</u> would yield similar results after dilution and storage, an experiment was established using three different handling sequences. The four types of counts that were derived can be described as:

A. <u>Standard Method</u>: 25 g of roots processed for nematodes and the solution brought up to 500 cc. Counts were made of 4 ml subsample with a correction factor of 500X to determine numbers/100 g of roots.

B. <u>Subsample and Concentration</u>: 10 ml of the standard solution were allowed to settle for an hour, 5 ml removed, the nematodes heat-relaxed, and 5 ml of 10% formalin added to bring the solution back to 10 ml. From this, 4 ml were counted and the conversion factor was still 500%.

C. <u>Subsample and Dilution</u>: 10 ml of the standard solution were collected, nematodes heat-relaxed, and 10 ml of 10% formalin added. An aliquot of 4 ml was counted and the dilution factor became 1000X.

D. Subsample and Dilution (Hot Formalin): This is the same procedure as used in C, except that instead of heat-relaxing the nematodes, 10 ml of hot 10% formalin (80-90° C) were added directly to the 10 ml from the standard solution. An aliquot of 4 ml was counted and the dilution factor became 1000X.

Four different standard samples were processed. For each sample, steps A-D were repeated in order six times. Counts were made of <u>Radopholus</u> and <u>Helicotylen-chus</u>. For data analysis, counts of 4 ml were doubled in treatments C and D since these had been diluted by half. Comparisons of means of the six readings were compared by Analysis of Variance and Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

The results of the statistical analysis of mean differences resulted in two of four sets of samples not giving the same population mean for the standard sample (Tables 76-77). This is related to the amount of nematodes which are collected in the 10 cc subsample but there is no explanation as to why these values should be either higher or lower than the standard since 6 subsamples were collected. Of the three subsample methods, the system whereby the nematodes were fixed and preserved by adding hot 10% formalin (Treatment D), the mean of this method was not different from the readings from the standard method (Treatment A). The within treatment variation was lower for the Radopholus readings than the Helicotylenchus readings (Tables 76-77). Relative variation ranged from 6 to 29% in the Radopholus samples and 8 to 58% in the Helicotylenchus samples. The analysis of variance showed no block effect so that although variation is present within treatments, this variation between treatments is of the same magnitude. The variation between means derived from six observations per mean for the same population is of the same magnitude as the variation within the readings making up the mean (Table 78).

Since the Treatment D, where 10 cc of standard solution was killed and preserved by the addition of 10 cc of 10% formalin, was not different from the standard method based upon the means of six readings for each of the four samples, this is the system that will be used to kill and fix nematodes for transport to the laboratory for counting. Since these samples are a 5% formalin solution, no special permits will be required for transport from one country to another. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Establishing Infestation of <u>Radopholus</u> for Studying Interactions with Fungi

Previous inoculations with <u>Radopholus</u> were not highly successful due to failure to obtain a <u>Radopholus</u> infestation. An inoculation study using levels of 20,000; 10,000; 5,000; 2,500 and 1,000 <u>Radopholus</u> per inoculation site was initiated. Roots were produced from rhizomes which had been surface sterilized and then grown in vermiculite. Nematodes were surface sterilized and cleaned using screening and centrifugation. Following concentration, the nematodes were added to the inoculation site in 5 ml of solution. The roots were covered again with vermiculite and incubated for one month. Results are presented in Table 79. To insure that a nematode infestation is obtained, it is going to be necessary to inoculate with at least 5,000 nematodes/site. At this level and above, lesions are formed and nematodes can be recovered. For further studies, it is suggested that the test run at least two months to insure at least one generation and possibly two generations of the nematodes. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Nematode Sampling in DBCP Experiments in Honduras

The DBCP experiments were sampled twice during 1976. The standard method of sampling was used to obtain root weight, lesion index, <u>Radopholus</u>/100 g of roots and <u>Helicotylenchus</u>/100 g of roots. In Higuerito, the second sampling was made 24 weeks from the fifth treatment, in San Juan it was 18 weeks from the fifth treatment, and in Los Limones 3 weeks from the sixth treatment. Five individual samples were taken in each replicate and the mean of these

	B	C	D
.0 a	115.5 <u>4</u> 16.0 ab	99.3 £ 10.4 b	109.7 <u>4</u> 19.7 ab
	14%	10%	18%
.1	90.2 £ 7.8	108.0 £ 20.2	• • 9 7 0•96 ·
	7.6	19%	29
.1 y	190.7 £ 11.0 z	369.0 £ 33.4 ×	267.7 £ 38.4 y
	67,	16	147.
.7	163.3 £ 47.9	203.3 £ 22.9	196.0 £ 39.4
	2.9%	11%	20%

7

-148-

又要アイーノ

二日間の日の 二日間の

1 37 10

" Means not followed by the same letter are statistically different at the 1% (x,y,z) and 5% (a,b) level.

A	B	C	
5 ± 3.7	15.8 £ 4.1	19.3 <u>/</u> 6.2	1.8 1.0.41
30%	26%	32%	58%
7 ± 4.8 b	18.2 £ 4.4 b	27.0 £ 4.3 a	· 20.3 £ 8.8 ab
33%	24%	16%	43%
8 <u>/</u> 5.1 y	25.8 £ 5.0 y	49.7 <u>4</u> 11.8 ×	20.0 £ 10.6 y
30%	197.	24%	53%
8 1 5.9	29.2 £ 2.2	44.3 14.2	34.3 £ 9.6
24%	87.	32%	28%

-149-

Relative Mean* Radopholus/100 g of roots Sample Variation Radopholus 1 113.3 / 12.2 11% 56,650 2 98.9 £ 7.6 8% 49,450 3 268.2 / 74.6 28% 134,100 4 186.8/ 17.5 9% 93,400 Helicotylenchus 15.4 / 2.9 1 19% 7,700 2 20.1 £ 5.2 26% 10,050 26.8 / 16.0 3 60% 13,400 33.1 / 8.4 4 25% 16,550 * Number of samples = 24 - Combined readings of treatments A, B, C, and D.

Table 78. Means and relative variation of combined methods of handling nematode samples for storage and transportation

10

ę,

6

5

ŝ é

É É

e

분

÷

100

-150-

Radopholus/ 100 g of roots	88450 41250 142980 96750 92360	277450 33250 62000 21300 98500	9000 32300 38850 47000	24025 7180 28050 19750	4300 0 1430
Percent recovery (%)	7.63 6.25 16.63 11.25 10.44	44.75 17.50 3.000 <u>18.81</u>	4.00 8.50 20.00 9.88	31.00 7.00 17.00 18.33	10.00 0.00 3.33
Radopholus recovered/ 100 ml solution	1525 1250 3325 2250 2087	4475 1750 300 1881	200 425 350 1000	775 175 425 458	100 0 33
Root weight (9)	- 666	5.2	2.9 2.9 2.9 2.9	3.2 2.4 1.5	0.4 0 0 7 0
Lesions (cm)	4.0 6.5 7 7	8.8 8.8 9.4 7.9	3.1.6	2.2	0.0000
	- 0 m +	- 0 0 4	- 0 0 4		- ~ m
Nematode level	20,000 x	10,000 X	5,000 X	2,500 ž	1,000 x

Table 79. Radopholus recovery following inoculation at various rates to banana roots

1 11

-0

13

1.0

and the set of the set of the set

į

five samples used for the mean of the replicate. Lesion Index, <u>Radopholus/100</u> g of roots, and <u>Helicotylenchus/100</u> g of roots means were analyzed using the analysis of variance. A result of the six samplings is presented in Table 80. In Higuerito at the last sampling, the mean differences for lesion index, <u>Radopholus/100</u> g of roots, and <u>Helicotylenchus/100</u> g of roots were significant at the 1% level. Here, the level of control was 94% for the <u>Radopholus</u>, 99% for <u>Helicotylenchus</u>, and 83% for the amount of lesioning. In San Juan, mean differences between the treated and the controls for <u>Helicotylenchus</u> were significant at the 1% level, for <u>Radopholus</u> mean differences were significant at the 5% level and the lesion index means were not significantly different. Mean differences in Los Limones were significant at the 1% level for <u>Radopholus</u> and at the 5% level for <u>Helicotylenchus</u> and Lesion Index. Thus, after five cycles of DBCP at originally 16 and currently 14 cc/mat and two cycles per year, we have obtained a good degree of control for <u>Radopholus</u> and <u>Helicotylenchus</u>, particularly in Higuerito. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Sucker Height As an Indicator of Response to Nematode Control

Reports in the literature indicate that a faster rationing rate can result from nematode control. To determine if we were getting a growth response in the DBCP experiments in Honduras, a survey was made for sucker growth. All suckers were measured for the last three cutting ribbons in each of the experiments and recorded separately by cutting ribbon. Data are presented in Table 81. Mean differences were tested by analysis of variance. Results indicate that there is no effect on sucker height by the time the mother plant has reached harvest age. Subsequent surveys will be made to determine if a difference can be detected at a younger age of fruit. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Guying Surveys in DBCP Experiments in Honduras (H-74-N4, H-74-N5, H-74-N6)

A method of evaluation of guying is required to determine how well this agricultural operation is being done in regard to protecting the plants from up-root losses. During 1976 two surveys were made in the three DBCP experiments in Honduras. Six different classes of guying were used:

AOK:	Guys are attached correctly, angle is correct, and none of the guys have been broken.
0 guys:	The two guys have been broken, cut or never attached.
l guy:	A guy missing so a single guy holds up the plant.
Slack guys:	Guys attached so that either one or both do not have any tension.
Angle wrong:	The guys are not attached in the normal triangle directly behind the fruit or in the direction to which the fruit is leaning.

部の

Ć

ť

4

100

の思想の

用意見見らしてを

e.

18 CE

~
2
0
-
. 8
-7
~
5
-
2.
0
÷.
102
100
12
- 5
-
12
3
2
-
-
-
100
- 545
-
10
100
E
-
1.
- 63
i õ
1
- 63
n:-
$\tilde{\omega}$
100
\overline{O}
-
100
1
<u></u>
-
12
-
12
15
17
190
-
0
2
0
1
12
12
10
100
-
0
2
-
112
1
120
3
60
0
00
୍ଦ
-
.0
10
-

and No.

1001 - 1001

ションヨンシンション

10% 20

-

	0	c	- Dd	F Test	D	oholus/100	3C 9	F Test	D	tylenchus C	\$C	r f Test
liguerito	(H-74-)	N4)										11 N
9/76 2/76 9/75 8/74 8/74	0-000-0-4 0-00-4-4	33.0 24.6 24.6 27.9	83 76 74 74	163.18**	2,120 3,800 4,350 8,450	34,020 25,150 37,930 23,550 36,410	94 85 85 85 77	44.37**	1,730 1,730 1,870 3,570	11,520 9,720 19,650 9,830 19,420	823 - 1 823 823 - 1 823	37.32**
an Juan	N-4/2-H)	. (5										
9/76 2/75 4/75 9/74	200-1 200-10	10.6	X 64 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45	1.75 NS	1,980 3,980 3,130 1,230 3,610	14,130 13,580 6,500 6,800	86 59 81 81	4.98*	1,170 480 820 1,420 4,960	14,130 7,420 9,900 11,630	23 24 28 28 23 28 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	84.27**
os Limon	ле (н-7	4-N6)										
9/76 2/76 9/75 4/75	9-20-6	6.9 6.9 6.0 6.0	452 689 653 689	8,91%	683 200 720 3,170	6,720 9,680 7,030 8,070	983 982 1982	11.03**	1,150 600 2,280	8,470 3,970 2,930 4,470 19,417	88 88 88	5.68*
1 1 1 0 0 0 00	DBCP tr Control Percent	eatment treatmen control	t			ingeneration Constants	and the	# - 58 ## - 18 NS - No+	level of level of signifi	signific signific	cance	ation

				and the second	
RIBBON	MO DBCP	CONTROL	DBCP	CONTROL	F. OBS.*
Higuerito - XI	1/24/76 (H-74	4-N4)			1181118
Brown	11.9	12.1	8.7	8.7	0.01 NS
Orange	12.2	11.9	9.5	9.1	0.67 NS
Silver	12.2	11.9	9.0	8.5	3.21 NS
San Juan - 1/3	/77 (H-74-N5))			
Brown	12.4	12.3	8.5	9.0	6.41 NS
Green	12.2	12.4	8.3	8.9	4.77 NS
Silver	12.2	12.1	8.9	9.1	0.36 NS
Los Limones - 1	KII/29/76 (H-	-74-N6)			
Brown	11.7	12.3	8.6	8.5	0.00 NS
Orange	11.8	11.7	8.5	8.2	0.00 NS
Silver	12.0	11.6	9.1	9.1	0.00 NS

Table 81. Height of mother and daughter in mean feet for last three cutting ribbons in DBCP trials - Honduras

6

10

Analysis of variance - F Test - Sucker height

*

Angle wrong but no choice:

The angle of the guy(s) is not correct but there is no other choice since the placement of the mats may be such that either another mat is not close or the stem is on a ditch or roadway.

When surveys are taken, 50 stems in an area or plot are counted and the results converted to percent. In the DBCP experiments, 50 plants per plot were counted.

The results of the two surveys in 1975 are reported in Table 82. The lack of guying in the case of 0 guys and single guys is in the range of 12-27% (8/76) and 11-18% (12/76). Four spot surveys in Bocas (6/76) indicated that 0 guys and single guys ran 10-14% and a single survey in Golfito (7/76) indicated 8% 0 and single guys. In order to maximize yield and reduce losses, it is going to be necessary to give the plants 100% support. Thus, the economics of reguying cycles should be worked out to insure proper protection. (TAYLOR, CALDERON)

Nematicidal Properties of Kepone

Application of Kepone for banana root borer control in Armuelles has resulted in a 50% reduction in up-rooting. In Golfito, the results have not been as dramatic. Examination of recent up-rooted plants have not indicated excessive amounts of root borer damage. The Golfito test areas were treated with DBCP for nematode control, whereas those in Armuelles were not treated. This raised the question of the nematicidal activity of Kepone.

Two experiments were established in pots to determine if Kepone could be classed as a nematicide using beans as the host plant for nematodes. Treatments were as follows:

Chemical	37-day test g a.i.	33-day test g a.i.
Kepone 20%	2.0	1.0
Nemacur 10% G	2.0	1.0
Furadan 5% G	2.0	1.0
Mocap 5% G	2.0	0.5
Dursban 0.5%	1.6	0.8
Control	0	0

g a.i./7500 cc soil - 1500 cc soil/pot.

Naturally infested <u>Radopholus similis</u>, <u>Helicotylenchus multicinctus</u>, and <u>Meloidogyne</u> sp. soil from the Higuerito area was mixed with the chemical. In clay or plastic pots, 1500 cc of soil was planted to ten Burpee Bush Bean -Red Kidney - No. 5082 seeds. Plants were grown in the greenhouse. Table 82. Summary of percent guying surveys during 1976 in the DBCP (D) and Control (C) plots in Honduras. PLOT AOK 0 - GIVS - 1 SLACK ANGLE ANGLE-INC É

8 17:

11

£.

4 Ŕ e

4 18

(H-74	-N4)					The lot of
C D	32 24	16 8	11 16	27 36	7 6	6 11
C D	41 40	1 7	14 11	12 14	20 16	12 13
(H-75-1	85)					
C D	30 21	2 2	10 18	36 26	6 18	15 20
C D	57 63	1 1	13 13	8 4	8 7	12 12
<u>s</u> (H-7	75-N6)					
C D	32 22	3 2	10 17	38 36	11 9	7 13
			1.1		21	
	(H-74 C D C D (H-75-1 C D C D C D C D C D	(H-74-N4) C 32 D 24 C 41 D 40 (H-75-N5) C 30 D 21 C 57 D 63 C 32 D 22	(H-74-N4) $C 32 16$ $D 24 8$ $C 41 1$ $D 40 7$ $(H-75-N5)$ $C 30 2$ $D 21 2$ $C 57 1$ $D 63 1$ $C 57 1$ $D 63 1$ $C 32 3$ $D 22 2$	(H-74-N4) $C 32 16 11 D 24 8 16$ $C 41 1 140 D 40 7 11$ $(H-75-N5)$ $C 30 2 10 D 21 2 18$ $C 57 1 13 D 63 1 13$ $(H-75-N6)$ $C 32 3 10 D 22 2 17$	$(H-74-N4)$ C 32 16 11 27 D 24 8 16 36 C 41 1 14 12 D 40 7 11 14 (H-75-N5) (H-75-N5) 10 36 C 30 2 10 36 D 21 2 18 26 C 57 1 13 8 D 63 1 13 4 $\frac{s}{D}$ (H-75-N6) 10 38 D 22 2 17 36	(H-74-N4) C 32 16 11 27 7 D 24 8 16 36 6 C 41 1 14 12 20 D 40 7 11 14 12 20 C 40 7 11 14 16 16 (H-75-N5) C 30 2 10 36 6 6 C 30 2 10 36 6 18 26 18 C 57 1 13 8 8 7 \underline{S} (H-75-N6) \underline{C} 32 3 10 38 11 D 22 2 17 36 9

AOK - Correct guying Guys - 0 or 1 - cut, broken or missing Slack - No tension on one or both guys Angle - Positioning wrong Angle NC - Positioning wrong but no choice Results of readings on root weight, top growth, and nematode populations are reported in Table 83 for Kepone, Nemacur and the control treatment. Dursban, Mocap and Furadan were extremely phytotoxic at the rates used in the experiment. Nemacur was slightly phytotoxic. This nematicide-insecticide virtually eliminated all three nematodes from the roots of the beans. Kepone gave a high degree of control of <u>Meloidogyne</u> sp. and <u>Helicotylenchus</u>. Therefore, this chemical can be classed as possessing nematicidal properties.

When this insecticide is applied for borer control, it is applied to the base of the plant adjacent to and on the rhizome. Also, since the chemical is a chlorinated hydrocarbon, it is persistant in the soil. Thus, the chemical is in contact with the area of heavy nematode infestation of the rhizome for a longer period of time than the nematicides currently in use. This could result in a weak nematicide giving a higher degree of control. (TAYLOR, OSTMARK, CALDERON)

Cones for Nematicide Application

During the year, a new system of application of small amounts of chemical such as nematicides, insecticides, or microelements in granular, wettable powder, or dust forms was developed. An application cup that would be easily filled and discharged with a minimum of error and time was desired. Previous cups were cut-off cans or pipes. The new concept was to obtain a wide opening of the cup to allow rapid filling and distribution without having low sides. Cones were prepared to fulfill this need by using 1/4, 3/8, or 1/2 a circle of tin formed into the cone. A set of standards of each size should be developed for preparing cones. As the volume of the chemical increased, the size of the part of a circle was increased. In Golfito, a handle was devised to be soldered all the way around the cone to present a form of protection about the lip of the cup.

It is suggested that when cups are to be fabricated, first the particle density (cc/g - bulk density = g/cc) of the chemical should be determined by obtaining the average volume of three different lots of 100 g of chemical. When the particle density of the chemical is known, a formula of:

Chemical Weight (g) x 0.90 x Particle Density (cc/g) = Volume of Cone Example: 40 g x 0.90 x 0.73 cc/g = 26.3 cc cone required.

The constant of 0.90 represents 90% of the chemical in the cup and 10% overfill as is common in the field. When the desired volume is known, the size of the cone can be determined by filling one of the series of standard cones and determining the radius of the cone to be cut. This radius is used for the radius of the tin circle. Any further modification to individual cone can be made with a tin snip.

In the process of developing the cones, the amount of fill obtained was checked. When the cone was filled-level, mounded, and completely overfilled, variation for field application could range at 650 production units per acre from 98 through 109 to 119 lbs/acre for a cone (level-fill) delivering 68.3 ± 2.0 g of chemical. Although the slight overfill was more variable at about

The second state	37 Day	Test -	2.0 g at	33 Day	Test - 1	.0 g ai
<u>rorameter</u>	Nemacur	Kepone	Control	Nemacur	Kepone	Control
Radopholus/100 g of roots	0	1,192	2,224	0	2,732	20,506
(Percent Control)	(%00%)	(46%)		(100%)	(87%)	r.
Helicotylenchus/100 g of roots	0	3,705	34,532	0	6,236	40,808
(Percent Control)	(100%)	(%68)	ı	(100%)	(85%)	•
Meloidogyna/100 g of roots	154	1,538	17,784	0	102	12,232
(Percent Control)	(%66)	(%16)	,	(100%)	(%66)	
Soot Weight/Flant (g = wet)	0.65	1.24	1.56	0.46	0.55	0.59
Top Weight/plant (g - wet)	2.76	3.04	3.33	2.83	2.46	4.09

Nematode population suppression by Kepone compared to Nemacur and an untreated control using red kidney beans as an indicator plant.

Table 83.

Grams active ingredient is total for 5 replicates. All means based upon 5 replicates/treatment.

ものと見たくそれなどのなどのなどでしたのと

しててていてるるをやさくをやたりとうなど

-158-

7%, this is the type of fill that is obtained by field crews and thus is the standard to be used for cone size selection. In general, cones developed to deliver 40, 50 or 60 g of chemical yielded within 10% of the desired weight of the chemical using volume as a criterion for cone preparation. (TAYLOR)

ENTOMOLOGY

CORKY SCAB - PHILIPPINES

Corky scab continues to be a serious blemish of Philippine fruit (see 1974 Annual Report, p. 53). During April and May 1976, a series of experiments was conducted to find a control method other than bud spraying. Briefly, the thrips enters emerging buds and feeds on the inner surface of the fruit within the bud. As the bracts lift, the thrips desert the exposed hands and continue to feed and reproduce on the remaining enclosed hands. The inner surface of fingers within the bud becomes the outer surface when the fingers turn upward. Corky scabbing appears on the outer surface of the fruit as it reaches maturity.

Biology of Thrips

In addition to the work conducted in 1974, a series of nine ice-cream carton traps (see 1966 Annual Report, p.108) was placed directly under the hanging fruit of each of ten plants dated when the buds first began peeping from the crown. As thrips emerged from the soil under the traps, they moved upward and stuck to the Stickem coating on the polyethylene top of the trap where they were counted daily and marked with a ball-point pen so they were only counted once. The results are shown in Figure 29.

The entire life cycle of attacking adult to newly emerged adult took a minimum of 11 days. Since fruit was debudded and left with no suitable feeding sites for <u>Thrips florum</u> at approximately 14 days, the maximum time required for larvae entering the soil, passing through prepupal, pupal stage, then emerging as new adults was six days.

In 1974, males were found to generally emerge before the females (1974 Annual Report, p. 55), but 1976 studies showed both sexes emerging from the soil in a two females to one male sex ratio at approximately the same time.

Control of Corky Scab

There are two approaches to corky scab control: 1) Reduce the population of <u>Thrips florum</u>, and 2) Modify farm practices to reduce the formation of corky scab on fruit already thrips-damaged. In order to base control tests on an agreed-upon standard, photos were taken of corky scabbed hands and given an index Number of 0 (clean) to 4 (heavy). To be sure that the index was practical, the assistance of Richard Judin, Quality Control Inspector, was elicited. The following index supplemented with photos (Figure 30) was developed. Six sets of photos were sent to the Philippines to standardize EMERGENCE OF THRIPS FLORUM FROM SOIL BENEATH HANGING STEMS TADECO, PHILIPPINES. 6

ę

6

100 100

Ę

Alla

5 6

ć

t)

6

é

12

ñ



Figure 29

-160-



Figure 30. Index of corky scab damage, Tagum, Philippines.

Ć

100000000000

い間町の

ć

quality control and experimental results:

0	-	clean
1	-	trace - CHIQUITA quality
2	-	light - Barely CHIQUITA quality
3	-	medium - Second-class fruit or discarded
4	-	heavy - Discarded.

Tying Bad End to Reduce Corky Scab

While tying the lower ends of bags to reduce wind tearing, Dr. Lloyd Berg noticed that stems so treated appeared to have less corky scab.

A trial begun by Clyde Stephens in January in order for me to examine fruit harvested in April consisted of three treatments: 1) Normal bagging, 2) Bag with lower end tied shut, and 3) No bag. Results:

			C	orky Scat		Overall	% hands with
Typ	e of bag	No. hands	Trace	Light	Medium	index	corky scab
1)	Normal	564	24	14	1	0.09	7
2)	Tied	604	12	2	-	0.03	2
3)	None	527	21	16	-	0.09	7

Tying the bottom of the bags appeared to inhibit the formation of corky scab. However, the area had so little corky scab that the Index in all treatments was less than 1 (trace) so the test was not conclusive.

Bud Spraying

Fruit from a bud-spraying test set up by Clyde Stephens in January was harvested in early May. Plants were marked with paint when buds began to emerge and these buds were each sprayed three times with a 0.06% diazinon spray. Results:

	Bud Sprayed	Not Sprayed
Number of stems	128	130
Total hands	1113	1200
Number of hands clean	1079	1040
Index 1 (trace)	28	114
Index 2 (light)	6	46
Index 3 (medium)	0	0
Average Index lowest hand	0.2	0.8

frames its fisher or meter cost diment. No. 19

Bud spraying reduced corky scab under ideal experiments farm practice some reduction can be expected and should coere, bud spraying will reduce losses. This experiment was ineven the lowest hand (which is normally the most severely blemscab) on unsprayed bunches did not average Index 1 (trace). Also, ing is always more effective in research experiments than in farm pu-Under farm practice some buds are missed while spray cycles lag at timlowing thrips to enter the buds. There are few treatments that effecti kill thrips within buds.

Economics of Bud Spraying

() @@@@@

Besides the problems of labor shortage, poor application, over-loo and resistance build-up inherent in a full-scale bud spraying project, a cost consideration. The Japanese market has never downgraded our fru corky scab so there is no monetary loss at that end.

Figuring that 1,000 buds can be sprayed with 20 gal of mix includi 1b of 40% diazinon, 9,450 twenty-gal mixes would be sprayed yearly. Th amounts to 11,812 lb diazinon at \$3 lb or \$35,437 per cycle. At three per bud, a year's supply of diazinon would cost \$106,300.

Labor would require 180 men @ ₽ 8.00 x 6 days/week x 52 or \$61,700

Equipment consists of 180 sprayers, booms and nozzles which cost \$ unit and last 2 years, or \$5,400 for equipment.

Total: \$173,400 per year to be weighed against corky scab losses.

Early and Regular Bagging

An experiment was conducted to compare the effects of early and no ging using Poly-D, diazinon-impregnated (experimental) and plain, 0.5 m ethylene. There were six treatments including an unbagged check descri Table 84.

Although 25 stems in each treatment were either bagged or marked ((May 3, 1976), only 15 to 19 stems per treatment were harvested on Augu because the rest blew down.

Results showed that Poly-D bags attached to 7-8 day-old stems precorky scab from developing to more than "light", a category generally : for CHIQUITA quality. Strangely, the Poly-D bags placed on 2-week-old resulted in only seven hands with corky scab as compared to 41 for unbfruit and 16 for the Poly-D early bags. From the biological data I wo assumed that normal bagging is too late to kill many Thrips florum.

Poly-D normal bagging was then extended to a farm scale to thorou test it before considering the more labor intensive early bagging. (O RAROS)

Effect of treatments on stem weight - Drip Irrigation Experiment, Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 87.

Treatments	1 (Plantilla)	Harvest 2 (Ist Ratoon) Stem We	Number [*] 3 (2nd Ratoon) ight	1 + 2 + 3
		kg kg		
A: Water levels				
1) 25 mm of water/week	28.36 a	39.68 a	52.68 a	35.09 b
2) 38 mm of water/week	26.13 a	40.81 a	51.22 a	36.63 b
3J 50 mm of water/week	20.30 0	e 65.0#	52.45 a	30.10 a
c. v., ż	5.50	5.40	5.10	2.64
B: Nitrogen levels				
1) 84 kg of N/ha/year	27.36 a	41.59 a	52.0 a	36.77 a
2) 168 kg of N/ha/year	26.00 a	41.59 a	51.5 a	36.36 a
3) 252 kg of N/ha/year	26.86 a	39.90 a	53.81 a	37.22 a
c. v., %	6.01	3.10	04.4	3.42
C: Nº of drippers/plant				
1) I dripper per plant	21.44 b	38.59 a	49.59 a	31.86 a
 2 drippers per plant 3 drippers per plant 	24.95 a 25.40 a	40.50 a 38.31 a	49.45 a 48.31 a	34.86 a 34.31 a
			1	
C. V., 8	5.32	4 * 40	6.30	5.13

* Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

1000	
- 44	
-	
-	
- 0	
-	
-	
1.0	
1.22	
- 92	
-0	
×.	
83-2	
-	
- 22	
.0	
-	
0.251	
- 44	
- CT -	
-	
-	
1.0	
1.00	
- Are.	
-	
-	
0	
-	
-	
1	
0	
-	
~~	
.0.	
1000	
100	
- 3	
- 61	
- 22	
-	
- 72-1	
- G .	
-	
-	
10	
rat	
urat	
curat	
turat	
aturat	
aturat	
maturat	5
maturat	35
n matural	282
n maturat	SPJ
on maturat	uras
on maturat	duras
on maturat	iduras
s on maturat	nduras
ts on maturat	onduras
its on matural	londuras
nts on maturat	Honduras
ents on maturat	Honduras
lents on maturat	. Honduras
ments on maturat	. Honduras
tments on maturat	m. Honduras
atments on maturat	rm. Honduras
atments on matural	irm. Honduras
catments on maturat	arm. Honduras
reatments on maturat	Farm. Honduras
creatments on maturat	Farm. Honduras
treatments on maturat	Farm. Honduras
treatments on maturat	I Farm. Honduras
treatments on maturat	I Farm. Honduras
f treatments on matural	11 Farm. Honduras
of treatments on maturat	11 Farm. Honduras
of treatments on maturat	n II Farm, Honduras
of treatments on maturat	va II Farm, Honduras
t of treatments on maturat	ma II Farm. Honduras
ct of treatments on maturat	uma II Farm. Honduras
oct of treatments on matural	'uma Il Farm. Honduras
ect of treatments on maturat	ruma II Farm. Honduras
fect of treatments on matural	aruma II Farm, Honduras
fect of treatments on matural	varuma II Farm. Honduras
ffect of treatments on matural	uaruma II Farm. Honduras
Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
 Effect of treatments on matural 	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
 Effect of treatments on maturat 	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
88. Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
88. Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
2 88. Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
e 88. Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
le 88. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
ble 88. Effect of treatments on matural	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
uble 88. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
able 88. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras
Table 88. Effect of treatments on maturat	Guaruma II Farm. Honduras

Treatments	1 (Plant[]]a)	2 (lst Ratoon) Maturation	3 (2nd Ratoon) Period	1 + 2 + 3
		skep days		
Water levels			26	
· 25 mm of water/week	100.6 a	95.4 a	103.0 a	98.7 a
38 mm of water/week 50 mm of water/week	101.4 a 98.6 b	103.0 a 103.7 a	9.99 a 89.6 a	101.8 a 100.8 a
V., 2	0.68	5.06	3.10	2.50
Nitrogen levels				
. 84 kg of N/ha/year	100.6 a	102.8 a	98.6 a	101.3 a
168 kg of N/ha/year	103.4 a	103.7 a	100.1 a	103.0 a
N 252 kg of N/ba/year	104.4 a	104.7 a	103.6 a	104.4 a
. V., 2	2.66	1.80	2.30	1.70
N ² of drippers/plant				
1 dripper per plant	104.2 a	100.1 a	104.8 a	. 102.4 a
2 drippers per plant	101.4 b	103.0 a	105.7 a	102.6 a
1 3 drippers per plant	102.3 b	102,0 a	104.9 a	102.5 a
. V., %	0.97	3.20	1.95	1.56

* Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

-171-

Effect of treatments on plant height - Drip Irrigation Experiment, Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 89.

		Harvest	Number ^a		
Treatments	l (Plantilla)	2 (lst Ratoon) Plant H	3 (2nd Ratoon) e i g h t	1 + 2 + 3	
					6
1: Water levels					
) 25 mm of water/week	2.13 a	2.89 a	3.50 a	2.65 b	
 Jo mm of water/week 50 mm of water/week 	2.22 a	2.92 a	3.44 a	2.74 a	
. v. 3	3.97	1.79	2.54	1.63	
3: Nitrogen levels					
 84 kg of N/ha/year 	2.55 a	2.92 a	3.41 a	2.68 a	
2) 168 kg of N/ha/year	2.22 a	2.92 a	3.47 a	2.71 a	
57 Z52 kg of N/ha/year	e 47.2	2.92 a	3.50 a	2.74 a	
V %	2.36	1.20	1.60	1.74	
C: N ² of drippers/plant					
 1 dripper per plant 	2.10 a	2.86 a	3.38 a	2.59 a	
2) 2 drippers per plant	2.13 a	2.86 a	3.35 a	2.59 a	
3) 3 drippers per plant	2.16 a	2.83 a	3.35 a	2.62 a	
z. v. z.	4.05	1.17	2.80	2.51	

* Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level. 日本は後のなったときののののですのなのですのですのですののののででです。 ちゅう

-172-
್ಷ	
2	
0	
5	
1	
(۵	
<u> </u>	
- 67	
E	
0	
- 22	
0	
0	
10	
-E	
-	
100	
-	
1.0	
0	
1.6	
4	
2	
10	
1	
0	
Ē	
3	
U	
-	
. 0	
12.22	
Ę	
tem	
stem	
dostem	
udostem	
eudostem	
oseudostem	
pseudostem	se
n pseudostem	ras
on pseudostem	luras
s on pseudostem	nduras
ts on pseudostem	onduras
ints on pseudostem	Honduras
nents on pseudostem	, Honduras
tments on pseudostem	m, Honduras
atments on pseudostem	rrm, Honduras
eatments on pseudostem	arm, Honduras
treatments on pseudostem	Farm, Honduras
treatments on pseudostem	I Farm, Honduras
of treatments on pseudostem	11 Farm, Honduras
of treatments on pseudostem	a 11 Farm, Honduras
t of treatments on pseudostem	ma 11 Farm, Honduras
oct of treatments on pseudostem	'uma 11 Farm, Honduras
fect of treatments on pseudostem	aruma 11 Farm, Honduras
ffect of treatments on pseudostem	uaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
10. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
90. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
e 90. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
ole 90. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma II Farm, Honduras
able 90. Effect of treatments on pseudostem	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras

Treatments	1 (Plantilla) P s	2 (lst Ratoon) e u d o s t e m C i	3 (2nd Ratoon) r c u m f e r e n c e	1 + 2 + 3
		- WD CW		
Water levels				
25 mm of water/week	48.76 a	69.08 a	82.29 a	61.97 b
38 mm of water/week	49.78 a	70.35 a	82.29 a	64.00 a
50 mm of water/week	51.30 a	70.35 a	82.55 a	65.27 a
V., 2	3.77	1.35	2.57	1.59
Nitrogen levels				
. 84 kg of N/ha/year	51.30 a	70.61 a	82.55 a	63.75 a
168 kg of N/ha/year	50.80 a	71.12 a	82.29 a	64.26 a
252 kg of N/ha/year	51.30 a	70.10 a	82.29 a	64.77 a
V., %	2.17	1.48	2.30	1.49
Nº of drippers/plant				
I dripper per plant	46.48 a	68.83 a	53.59 a	59.69 a
2 drippers per plant 3 drippers per plant	49.02 a 49.27 a	68.83 a 68.07 a	56.64 a 56.38 a	61.46 a 61.72 a
V 2	3.97	2.13	2.80	3.18

-173-

100

^x Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

Effect of treatments on length of the basal finger - Drip Irrigation Experiment, Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras. Table 91.

		Harvest	Number ⁴	Contraction of the state
Treatments	<pre>[] [Plant[]]a)</pre>	2 (1st Ratoon) Finger L	3 (2nd Ratoon) e n g t h	1 + 2 + 3
		WD		
Water levels				
25 mm of water/week	23.11 a	22.60 a	24.38 a	23.11 a
38 mm of water/week	22.86 b	22.60 a	24.63 a	23.11 a
S0 mm of water/week	23.62 a	22.60 a	24.38 a	23.36 a
v 8	0.65	1.60	1.44	0.83
Nitrogen levels				
84 kg of N/ha/year	22.86 a	22.60 a	24.38 a	23.11 a
168 kg of N/ha/year	22.86 a	22.60 a	24.63 a	22.86 a
252 kg of N/ha/year	23.11 a	22.35 a	24.89 a	23.11 a
V., %	1.91	.86	2.46	0.76
Nº of drippers/plant				
1 dripper per plant	22.35 a	22,35 a	24.63 a	22.47 b
2 drippers per plant	22.86 a	22.86 a	24.63 a	23.05 a
3 drippers per plant	22.0b a	22.60 a	24.38 a	22.92 a
V 8	1.30	1.20	1.23	.56

[#] Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level. -174-

9			Harkes	t Number*	
	Treatments	i (Plantilla)	2 (lst Ratoon) Finger	3 (2nd Ratoon) Length	1 + 2 + 3
			0		
4	Water levels				
-	25 mm of water/week	21.08 a	20.32 a	22.35 a	20.82 a
-	38 mm of water/week	21.08 a	20.32 a	22.35 a	21.08 a
-	50 mm of water/week	21.36 a	20.32 a	21.84 b	21.08 a
	V., 2	1.20	1.08	66*	0.53
	Nitrogen levels				
~	84 kg of N/ha/year	20.82 a	20.32 a	22.35 a	20.82 a
-	168 kg of N/ha/year	20.82 a	20.06 a	22.60 a	20.82 a
-	252 kg of N/ha/year	20.82 a	19.81 a	22.60 a	20.82 a
	V., %	2.10	1.09	2.56	1.06
	N ² of drippers/plant				
-	I dripper per plant	20.57 a	20.32 a	22.09 a	20.57 a
-	2 drippers per plant	21.08 a	20.06 a	22.60 a	20.82 a
-	3 drippers per plant	21.08 a	20.06 a	22.35 a	20.82 a
-	V., %	1.20	1.20	2.97	0.79

Effect of treatments on length of middle finger - Drip Irrigation Experiment. Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 92.

and a state

1

the set

* Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

-175-

Effect of treatments on length of apical finger - Drip Irrigation Experiment, Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras Table 93.

	Treatments	1 (Plantilla)	Harvest 2 (Ist Ratoon) Finger	Number* 3 (2nd Ratoon) Length	1 + 2 + 3	1
	A THE PART OF THE					
à:	Water levels					
1	25 mm of water/week	18.79 a	17.78 a	18.79 a	18.28 a	
m n	38 mm of water/week 50 mm of water/week	18.79 a 19.05 a	17.78 a 18.03 a	19.05 a 18.79 a	18.54 a 18.54 a	
3	V., 2	1.35	0.79	2.09	1.21	
	Nitrogen levels					
20m	84 kg of N/ha/year 168 kg of N/ha/year 252 kg of N/ha/year	18,54 a 18,54 a 18,54 a	10.03 a 17.78 a 17.78 a	19.05 a 19.05 a 19.30 a	18.28 a 18.28 a 18.28 a	
ö	V., %	46.1	67.0	2.66	1.15	
3	N ² of drippers/plant					
	1 dripper per plant 2 drippers per plant 3 drippers per plant	18.28 b 18.79 a 18.79 a	18.03 a 18.03 a 18.03 a	19.30 a 19.30 a	18.28 b 18.54 a 18.54 a	
: 0	V., 8	1.36	1.05	2.70	46.0	
			21212	THE REPORT		

Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

-

(4

100 100

ń

のなるのででです。

and the set

-176-

10.0	
10.00	
-	
(2)	
- 22 -	
-	
1	
100	
0	
0	
- 30	
242	
_	
- C	
100	
~	
-	
1.20	
1000	
ाणः	
175	
1000	
1	
1.4	
-	
1222	
<u>с</u> .	
-	
1.00	
. Sec.	
0	
-	
1	
4.0	
-97	
- 63	
1.00	
1	
1.	
-	
0.99	
-	
1225	
10.21	
- 44	
100	
100	
100	
-70	
- 22	
ाव्यः	
100	
2	
-	
4	
4 -	
of h	
of h	
h to t	
r of h	
er of h	
er of h	
ber of h	
nber of h	
umber of h	
umber of h	
number of h	
number of h	15
i number of h	.95
n number of h	ras
on number of h	uras
on number of h	turas
on number of h	duras
s on number of h	nduras
ts on number of h	onduras
its on number of h	londuras
nts on number of h	Honduras
ants on number of h	Honduras
ents on number of h	Honduras
ments on number of h	. Honduras
tments on number of h	n. Honduras
itments on number of h	m. Honduras
atments on number of h	rm. Honduras
eatments on number of h	arm. Honduras
reatments on number of h	Farm, Honduras
reatments on number of h	Farm, Honduras
treatments on number of h	Farm. Honduras
treatments on number of h	I Farm, Honduras
treatments on number of h	1 Farm, Honduras
f treatments on number of h	11 Farm, Honduras
of treatments on number of h	11 Farm, Honduras
of treatments on number of h	1 1 Farm, Honduras
of treatments on number of h	a 11 Farm, Honduras
t of treatments on number of h	ma 11 Farm, Honduras
st of treatments on number of h	ima il Farm, Honduras
ict of treatments on number of h	uma 11 Farm, Honduras
ect of treatments on number of h	ruma 11 Farm, Honduras
fect of treatments on number of h	aruma 11 Farm, Honduras
fect of treatments on number of h	varuma 11 Farm, Honduras
ffect of treatments on number of h	uaruma !! Farm. Honduras
Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
i. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
4. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
34. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
e 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
le 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
ole 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
ble 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
able 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras
Table 94. Effect of treatments on number of h	Guaruma 11 Farm, Honduras

-

Treatments	1 (Piantilla)	2 (1st Ratoon) 5 t e m	3 (Znd Ratoon) S i z e	1 + 2 + 3
I WATCHING THE WATCHING OF		Har	spu	
Water levels				
613A31 13484				
25 mm of water/week	7.4 0	10.5 a	12.1 a	9.3 c
38 mm of water/week	7.6 a	10.6 a	12.1 a	9.6 b
50 mm of water/week	7.9 a	10.8 a	12.1 a	9.9 a
V., 2	4.16	2.90	4.10	1.54
Nitrogen levels				
01. 1 E M/L - 1	0		1 0 1	
160 Lo of N/ha/year		a / 01	10.0	2.1 0
252 kg of N/ha/year	7.8 a	10.6 a	12.2 a	0.7 a
V., 2	3.17	2.07	2.74	1.76
N ² of drippers/plant				
1 dripper per plant	6.7 b	10.4 a	11.9 a	a 9.8
2 drippers per plant	7.4 a	10.4 a	11.8 a	9.3 a
3 drippers per plant	7.5 a	10.2 a	11.9 a	9.3 a
V., 2	3.66	3.30	4.15	3.03

Irrigation	
Drip	
hooting	
at s	
hands	
ential	
pot	a firme
on number of	11 Farm Hond
ments	- Britten
treat	Gun
Effect of treat	Funarimant Gua

Treatments	1 (Plantilla)	2 (lst Ratoon) S t e m	3 (2nd Ratoon) S i z e	1 + 2 + 3
		eH	spu	
Water levels				
25 mm of water/week	8.4 a	11.5 a	13.1 a	10.3 c
38 mm of water/week 50 mm of water/week	8.6 a 8.9 a	11.6 a 11.8 a	13.1 a 13.1 a	10.6 b 10.9 a
V., 2	3.76	2.66	3.79	1.39
Nitrogen levels				
84 kg of N/ha/year	8.9 9.1	11.7 a	13.1 a	10.7 a
252 kg of N/ha/year	e 0.0 e 0.0	11.6 a	13.2 a	10.7 a
v., 8	2,80	1.90	2.54	1.57
Nº of drippers/plant				
l dripper per plant 2 drippers per plant 3 drippers per plant	2,50 2,40 2,51 2,20 2,20 2,20 2,20 2,20 2,20 2,20 2,2	11.4 a 11.4 a 11.2 a	12.9 a 12.8 a 12.9 a	9.9 a 10.3 a 10.3 a
V., %	3.21	3.70	3.83	2.73

⁴ Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

いたら聞きていたの間からの感情感でい

*

「日本の日本」として

100 Tes

-178-

Treatments	Area and an area and an area	Harvest	Number*	
	<pre>1 (Plantilla)</pre>	2 (1st Ratoon)	3 (2nd Ratoon)	1 + 2 + 3
		reaves/	olant	
. Water levels				
) 25 mm of water/week	8.1 a	8.1 a	8.5 a	8.1 b
) 38 mm of water/week	8.1 a	8.1 a	8.8 a	8.2 b
) 50 mm of water/week	8.2 a	8.4 a	8.7 a	8.4 a
. v., %	3.48	3.35	2.96	1.16
: Nitrogen levels				
) 84 kg of N/ha/year	8.5 a	8.2 a	8.6 a	8.4 a
) 163 kg of N/ha/year	7.9 b	8.1 a	8.7 a	8.1 a
) 252 kg of N/ha/year	8.0 b	8.0 a	8.8 a	8.2 a
· V., 3	. 3.00	2.06	3.49	2.37
: N ² of drippers/plant				
) 1 dripper per plant	e 7.7	8.2 a	8.8 a	8.0 a
) 2 drippers per plant) 3 drippers per plant	8.2 a 8.2 a	8,0 a 8,0 a	8.5 a 8.5 a	8.2 a 8.2 a
. V., 2	3.28	1.36	2.14	1.35

Effect of treatments on number of leaves at harvest - Drip irrigation Experiment, Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 96.

manufi (o)

100 100

¹⁰ Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

-179-

Effect of treatments on number of leaves at shooting -Drip irrigation Experiment, Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 97.

N DOLLAR V

Treatments	I(Plantilla)	2 (Ist Ratoon)	3 (2nd Ratoon)	1 + 2 +
	************	Leaves/p	ilant	
Water levels				
25 mm of water/week	13.8 a	15.1 a	15.4 a	14.6 b
38 mm of water/week	14.0 a	15.1 a	15.5 a	14.7 b
50 mm of water/week	14.3 a	15.2 a	15.5 a	14.9 a
V., 2	1.88	0.85	.88	0.68
Nitrogen levels				
84 kg of N/ha/year	14.2 a	15.2 a	15.4 a	14.8 a
168 kg of N/ha/year	13.9 a	15.2 a	15.4 a	14.7 a
252 kg of N/ha/year	14.1 a	15.2 a	15.5 a	14.8 a
ν., %	1.23	0.73	1.44	0.49
N ² of drippers/plant				
1 dripper per plant	14.0 a	15.1 a	15.5 a	14.6 a
2 drippers per plant 3 drippers per plant	14.2 a 14.0 a	15.2 a 15.2 a	15.4 a 15.4 a	14.7 a
V., 3	3.48	1.37	1.69	1.64

* Values within columns within subtables followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

The second secon

the second se

-180-



Figure 31. Daily rainfall (mm) distribution at Guaruma II Farm from May 1975 through December 1976.

10× 8×1 1 1 1

5,

Experiment,	
Irrigation	
Drip	
treatment -	
1 and water applied per	11 Farm, Honduras
Rainfal	Guaruma
Table 98.	

		1975			1976*	
Treatments	Rainfall	Water applied	Total	Rainfall	Water applied	Total
			W	4		
Experiment A: Water levels						
Treatment 1 (25 mm of water per week)	664	394.5	1058.5	1267	512.6	1779.6
Treatment 2 (50 mm of water per week)	664	967.5	1631.5	1267	1139.9	2406.9
Experiment B: Nitrogen levels						
(irrigating with 44 mm of water per	221	014	11.69	6761	100	0 1966
weak	100	611	2041	1071	166	0.4022
Experiment C: N ² of dripper per plant						
(irrigating on a daily evaporation hasia)	664	μεα 6	1122 E	1967	642 2	1910 3
		0.000	0.0711	1041	0.000	

-182-

Experiment B - Nitrogen Levels

Eighty-four, 168 and 252 kg of N per ha per year (75, 150 and 225 lb of N per acre per year) are compared in this trial. All treatments receive 44 mm of water per week and each plant in these plots is irrigated with two drippers per plant.

No statistical differences were found among treatments for any of the parameters studied (Tables 87-97). This experiment has shown uniform behavior through all harvests. The average stem weight in this trial was very similar to the average stem weights for the water levels trial (harvest 1 + 2 + 3 in Table 87). These values were higher than the weights found in the experiment for number of drippers per plant which receive the same amount of N than the water levels trial. These data indicate that probably there is a water-N interaction, but with the actual experimental design we were unable to detect it. Perhaps if this experiment had been designed taking into consideration first and second order interactions, better results could have been obtained. Moreover, the number of replications is quite low.

Trial B indicates that 84 kg of N per ha per year is as effective as 252 kg per ha per year to produce high yields of quality fruit under the conditions of this experiment. A tendency for the maturation period to increase when higher quantities of N were applied can also be observed.

In order to determine the efficiency of N applied through the drip irrigation system, a determination of the uniformity of N application was made. All the solution from one emitter per replication in each treatment was collected during the fertilization. Nitrogen concentration was determined in each sample. The results shown in the following table were obtained:

Nitrogen applied	Nitrogen	Efficiency of nitrogen application
kg/ha/yr		- % of amount applied -
84	78	93
168	150	89
252	260	103

Leaf lamina samples for chemical analysis were collected in February and September 1976 in order to determine whether there was any effect of treatments on chemical composition. The following table shows an increase in N concentration with each increment in N applied. On the other hand, K content in the leaf decreased at higher N levels:

		Sampling mont	th (1976)	
	Febru	ary	Sept	ember
Nitrogen	Nutrient	concentration	in the dry	matter
level	N	K	N	K
kg/ha/yr				
84	2.70	3.19	2.39	3.02
168	2.71	3.02	2.53	2.90
252	2.79	3.03	2.55	2.75

The above data indicate that even the lowest N rate supplied sufficient N to the banana plant for adequate growth and production. On the other hand, K concentration for the highest N rate in the September sampling may be close to the minimum required for maximum production of quality fruit. The average concentration of P, Ca and Mg was 0.16, 1.04 and 0.26%, respectively; while micro-nutrient content was 92, 187, 21 and 27 ppm for Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn, respectively.

The other

ter.

1000

3

680

10.000

NUS

Experiment C - Number of Drippers Per Plant

One, two and three drippers per plant are compared in this trial. All treatments receive a basal application of 252 kg of N per ha per year. This experiment is irrigated based on the daily evaporation.

The following differences among treatments at 0.05 probability level were found for the first harvest: stem weight was superior in treatments 2 and 3 than in treatment 1 (Table 87). These two treatments also had longer apical finger than treatment 1 (Table 93). Differences were not observed for plant height, pseudostem circumference, number of hands and number of leaves (Tables 89, 90, 94, 95, 96 and 97).

Stem weight, maturation period, plant height, pseudostem circumference, length of basal and middle fingers, number of hands at shooting and at harvest and number of leaves at shooting and at harvest did not show differences at any probability level when harvests were analyzed separately or together. Statistical differences at 0.05 probability level were observed among treatments for length of apical finger. Treatment 2 was statistically equal to treatment 3 and both had longer fingers than treatment 1 (Table 93).

Although there were no statistical differences among treatments in trial C for the ration crops, one dripper per plant showed a lower stem weight than two and three drippers per plant. These results can be explained in terms of the different patterns of water distribution formed.

The estimated fruit yield and stems harvested per plant per year are shown in Table 99. Considering water application at the same N rate, there was a reduction of 9.10 tons per ha of fruit when going from 50 to 38 mm of water per week. Taking into consideration an average of 16% of fruit losses at the packing station, it means 424 boxes (18.18 kg) per hectare. These values correspond to two and a half harvests obtained between October 1975 and November 1976, or 147 boxes per acre per year. There was also a considerable reduction in yields when going from 50 to 25 mm of water per week with the same amount of nitrogen applied.

A decrease in production for the same amount of water applied was observed when different numbers of drippers per plant were used. The smaller amount of water was applied to the number of drippers per plant experiment. It also produced the lowest yields. The above information shows that when the banana plant is irrigated on a daily evaporation basis, as used in the third trial, the plant is probably not receiving an adequate quantity of water for maximum production and a correction factor may be needed. However, it is evident that two and three drippers per plant have a similar response and they are better than one dripper per plant. Estimated fruit production and stems harvested per plant per year -Drip Irrigation Experiment, Guaruma II Farm, Honduras Table 99.

Adda and

Estimated production of stem fruit for all harvests	Metric tons/hectare	120.6 136.05 145.24	129.21 130.57 140.37	106.56 122.42 123.09	
Stems harvested per mat per year from first date of harvest through November 1976	/mat/year	1.91 2.07 2.12	1.96 2.00 2.10	1.86 1.96 2.00	
Stems harvested per mat per year from planting through November 1976	Stem	1.22 1.31 1.35	1.24 1.27 1.34	1.18 1.24 1.27	A Local Property of the Party o
Treatment		 25 mm of water/week 38 mm of water/week 50 mm of water/week 	 84 kg of N/ha/year 168 kg of N/ha/year 2) 252 kg of N/ha/year 	 1 dripper per mat 2) 2 drippers per mat 3) 3 drippers per mat 	
xpt.		A	8	0	

The following conclusions can be drawn from the data obtained:

- Twenty-five mm of water per week is not sufficient to obtain maximum production; the required rate appears to be 50 mm per week.
- Eighty-four and 168 kg of N per ha per year produce approximately the same quantity of fruit per hectare, but their production is less (although no statistically different) that that obtained with 252 kg of N per hectare per year.
- Two drippers per plant appear to be adequate, while one dripper per plant is not sufficient.
- Irrigating bananas on a daily evaporation basis may not guarantee an optimum moisture content and a correction factor may be needed.

(RODRIGUEZ, JACOME, LANZA)

100 M2

ę

2

4

Ê,

「「「「「「「「

1010

夜

£.

CHEMISTRY LABORATORY SERVICES

The distribution, by regions, of banana leaf and soil samples analyzed in 1976 is shown in Table 100. A total of 9,532 banana leaf samples were chemically analyzed, while the chemical and mechanical analysis of 2,244 and 418 soil samples from banana plantings or potential banana areas, respectively, was made. These values represent 107% more banana leaf samples and 22% less soil samples analyzed this year as compared to 1975. Additionally, Br content was determined in 427 green banana fruit samples, an increment of 10% over last year. (MANZANARES)

NUTRITION

Foliar Analyses - Honduras

A total of 4,485 banana leaf samples were chemically analyzed. This represents a 150% increase for foliar analysis in bananas as compared to last year. Banana leaf samples were collected from fertilizer experiments and from all commercial banana areas in the Division. Since there was a marked decrease in K concentration in leaf samples from areas of La Lima District that did not receive a K application this year, a basal K application to the entire District was recommended for 1977.

Analyses of Ripe Bananas - Honduras

Banana fruit samples were collected from three banana cultivars, Grand Nain (Guaruma I and Omonita), VALERY (San Juan and Mopala) and Giant Cavendish (CAGSSA). Different plant growth conditions - poor, medium and good - were also represented. Soil and leaf samples for chemical analyses were also collected from the same areas where fruit samples were obtained in order to determine whether any relationship in chemical composition among the three materials analyzed existed.

	Banana	S	oil	
Division	leaf samples	Chemical	Mechanical	Total
	N	lo. of sample	es analyzed	
Honduras	4,485	93	24	4,602
Golfito	1,668	1,800	12	3,480
Almirante	1,109	127	158	1,394
Armuelles	972	-	-	972
Turbo	1,024	105	105	1,234
Philippines	231	-	2	231
Dominican Republic	39	-		39
Others	4	119	119	242
TOTAL	9,532	2,244	418	12,194

Table 100, Distribution of banana leaf and soil samples from different regions analyzed in 1976

Leaf and ripe banana fruit samples (grade 7) were digested by the "Wet Digestion Method" (H₂SO₄ + CH₃OH + H₂O₂). Soil samples were extracted by a NH4OAc solution at pH 4.8. Nitrogen was determined by the micro-Kjeldahl method; P by the ascorbic acid procedure; and K, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn by atomic absorption spectrophotometry.

Tables 101 and 102 show texture and chemical properties of the soils, and chemical composition of the leaves, respectively; whereas Table 103 depicts the chemical composition of ripe fingers from the upper, middle and lower hands. Each value for fruit analysis is the average of four determinations (samples), and each sample was composed of five sub-samples. Soil samples were composed of 20 sub-samples, taken at a depth from 0-30 cm. Values for leaf analysis are means of two determinations (samples), and each sample was composed of five subsamples.

Generally, a relationship among chemical composition of the soil, leaf and fruit was observed. Soil from Guaruma I had a very high P content and it was reflected in the higher P concentration in the leaf and in the fruit from this farm. However, no direct relationship in P concentration was observed at lower P levels in the soil. There was a closer relationship between soil K and concentration of this nutrient in the fruit than between K in the leaf and K concentration in the soil or in the fruit. No clear relationship in Ca, Mg or Fe concentration among soil, leaf or fruit samples was observed.

Moisture and ash contents were equal to or higher than values published in the Banana Ripening Manual, Circular No. 14, 1965. On the other hand, generally, nutrient concentrations, except for Na and Fe, were slightly lower than the values published.

Calibration of the Previous Leaf Sampling Method with the New International Standard

In order to determine whether there were differences in nutrient concentration in the lamina of banana leaves when the old and the new standard sampling methods were compared, samples were collected following both procedures from San Juan, La Curva and Tacamiche Farms in Honduras; and from Farm 15 in Changuinola. For the old method, a 10 to 25 cm sample was taken from the leaf lamina side that unfurls first, extending from the leaf margin to the midrib, and midway of the length of the third fully developed leaf of recently (1-15 days) shot plants. In the new method, a 10 cm wide strip is cut on both sides of the midrib, half-way along the length of the third leaf of recently shot plants, but the outer half of the strip in each side of the midrib is discarded. This comparison was required because if differences were found, changes in adequacy levels would have to be made.

Table 104 shows macronutrient concentration when both sampling procedures were followed. Values in this table are averages of six composite samples from San Juan Farm, 18 from La Curva and Tacamiche Farms in Honduras; and seven from Farm 15, Changuinola. There were pronounced differences in concentration of some nutrients when both methods were compared. On the average, samples collected following the new procedure had 0.21% less N and 0.10% more K than the ones obtained using the old scheme. No difference in P concentration was found when both methods were compared. Similarly, little or no differences in Ca or Mg content were found when both procedures were followed.

のときので

ŝ.

100

ŝ,

ġ,

ŧ

S. 60

Ę.

ê

ŝ

÷

-

É.

1998

102

Table 101. Characteristics of soil samples from various farms in the Honduras Division#

100.00

į,

and the site of any and any any the

į

1961 1961

					Organic			Nutr	ent co	ncentra	tion		
Farm	Section	Cable	Text.	Hd	matter	d	×	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
14					1 1 09 1	-			d	wd			
Guaruma 1	38	C-A	TCL	8.1	2.3	74	170	6,200	494	1.8	3	17	1.5
Omonita	25	30	μ	8.2	2.1	19	490	8,700	131	2.8	80	ę	1.3
San Juan	2.9	24	Ę	8.4	2.2	30	85	9,900	413	3.3	10	17	1.8
Mopala	LA.	2	Ę	8.3	1.6	13	255	8,400	138	3.5	12	32	2.8
CAGSSA - 12	14-15	Zone 2	SL	8.3	1.7	39	485	9,900	256	4.3	15	43	2.9
CAGSSA - 12	84	Zone 4	1	8.3	2.5	21	490	9,800	262	2.8	6	39	2.4
	ΠÌ.	1									1	-	
		-			1 1 1 1								

Samples were composed of 20 sub-samples.

٠

-189-

Table 102. Chemical composition of banana leaf samples from various farms in the Honduras Division*

			21121	Party and a second s		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		The second secon		the state of the s		
Farm	Section	Cable	appearance	N	Ь	×	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mn	U	2
								1		1d	00	
Guaruma 1	38	C-A	Poor	2.41	0.21	3.33	0.86	0.25	32	178		
Omonita	25	30	Good	2.64	0.16	3.23	0.84	0.17	75	94	~	
San Juan	29	24	Poor	2.68	0.16	2.62	0.86	0.27	124	100		~
Mopa la	5	2	Good	2.63	0.16	3.40	0.82	0.20	74	94	~	~
CAGSSA -	14-15	Zone 2	Good	2.66	0.16	3.06	1.01	0.22	85	90		~
CAGSSA -	12 84	Zone 4	Medium	2.43	0.16	3.48	0.84	0.20	69	80		

ないな種でもののなるななななながでした。それの日本ではないないですができました。

-190-

Chemical composition of ripe banana fruit from Honduras Table 103.

Fa -0.1 5.0.4 -----0.1 °.-. °. 22 ٦. in or 5.7 Na 977 0000 10 m 00 Q N N * 2 + 0 inin 000 Non 0.00 Nutrient concentration 28.8 28.2 26.9 28.9 27.6 25.7 29.4 28.8 27.0 32.332.331.0 30.4 28.2 ż BW Ch mg/100 0.0.0 5.58 4.8.8 5.5 OLINIA n co o Ca 000 100 1 319.0 336.0 336.0 301.0 341.5 347.0 356.0 285.0 285.0 285.0 306.0 309.0 \leq 3.66 5.0.0 20.6 26.3 25.3 24.9 9.0 ONO 20.1 ł 0. Ash 1.9 0.00 00 ~~~~ 000 000 000 *** · · · --00 000 -00 80 Moist.* ****** 79.7 77.4 76.7 77.8 77.3 76.3 78.4 76.4 Upper Middle Upper Middle Upper Middle Upper Middle Upper Middle Middle Upper Lower Lower Lower Hand Lower Lower Lower Values are averages of four determinations. Var. %h 000 >>> >>>000 ND ND NOON 04 04 04 4.4 4 Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone Zone U Cabl 000 01:01:01 555 Location of sample Section 14-15 0000 222 556 222 4 4 4 8 200 01 101 101 San Juan San Juan \mathbf{k} \mathbf{x} × 1 £ ×. San Juan Omonita Omonita Guaruma Guaruma Guaruma Omon i ta CAGSSA CAGSSA CAGSSA Farm Mopala Mopala CAGSSA CAGSSA Mope la CAGSSA

Cavendish,

.

= VALERY; C

Vain; V

Grand

1

CN

52 S

-191-

	. •		

くなるというななのでももの見をかりして

1.64

¥. 6

し毎日後でして見ている

Table 104. Effect of sampling procedure on macronutrient concentrations in banana leaf lamina from various farms

and the second second				S	ampling	Procedu	re			
		New St.	andard	Method			01	d Metho	bd	
		Ma	cronutr	ient c	oncentra	tion in	the dr	y matte	er	
Farm	N	Р	K	Ça	Mg	N	Р	K	Ca	Mg
					2					
San Juan	2.74	0.14	2.95	0.92	0.26	2.87	0.14	2.90	0.91	0.30
La Curva	2,50	0.13	2.93	0.89	0.26	2.77	0.13	2.69	0.81	0.28
Tacamiche	2.66	0.13	2.69	0.81	0.28	2.91	0.13	2.63	0.88	0.28
Farm 15	2.67	0.16	2.87	0.76	0.35	2.85	0.16	2.82	0.72	0.34
Average	2.64	0.14	2.86	0.85	0.29	2.85	0.14	2.76	0.83	0.30
										1
							8			

-192-

.

Table 105 depicts micronutrient concentrations in the lamina using the old and the new sampling methods. The most striking difference between both procedures was for Mn. On the average, there were 97 ppm more Mn when the old method was followed; Fe concentration also was higher when the old procedure was followed, but differences in this case were not as pronounced. No differences in Cu or Zn concentration were observed when both methods were compared.

Based on the limited information available, it was suggested to reduce tentatively the minimum N required for adequacy in the third leaf lamina of recently shot plants from 2.60 to 2.40%, and to increase the minimum K concentration from 2.75 to 2.80%. However, since K fertilization is based on foliar analysis made every six months, we recommend to keep the K content in the leaf above 3.00% as an insurance against a sudden drop in concentration. Since the adequacy level for Mn in leaf lamina has been reported as 150 ppm when the old method was used, it probably can be reduced to 60-70 ppm when the new procedure is followed. For Fe, the minimum level may be reduced from 80 to 60-70 ppm. Values suggested are tentative ones and they may change as more information of this type is obtained.

Nitrogen Sources - Caimito Farm

1112 111

The literature shows higher N losses when urea is applied solid on the soil surface than when it is applied in solution. Similarly, it has been stated that ammonium nitrate (NH4NO3) is more efficient than urea in supplying N to plants growing on alkaline soils. Information received recently indicates that Nitroform, a slow-release N compound, was more efficient than urea as a N source to the banana plant in Ecuador. An experiment was designed to compare the efficiency of solid urea (46% N), liquid urea, NH4NO3 (32% N) and Nitroform (38% N), and determine the rate of each material required for maximum fruit production.

The experiment was established in Section 36, Caimito Farm in November 1976. Solid urea is applied to supply 196, 280, 365 and 450 kg/ha/year of N (175, 250, 325 and 400 lb/acre/year). Urea in solution, NH4NO3 and Nitroform provide 112, 196, 280 and 365 kg/ha/year of N (100, 175, 250 and 325 lb/acre/year). Solid urea and NH4NO3 are applied three times a year and liquid urea applications are made four times a year; while only two Nitroform applications per year are made.

Treatments were arranged in a randomized block design with five replications. Plot size is 0.080 ha (0.20 acre) containing 105 production units approximately, but only the 50 mats in the center of each plot are used to collect information. Number of stems harvested, stem weight, total yield, number of hands per stem and nitrogen concentration in the leaf lamina are the parameters used to evaluate response to the treatments applied. Leaf samples to monitor N concentration were obtained before treatments were applied, and 15 and 30 days after the initial application of treatments, and are being taken once a month thereafter. Results will be analyzed statistically by the Analysis of Variance and treatment means will be compared using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

				Sampling	Procedure			
	1	lew Standa	rd Metho	bo		01d /	fethod	111-1-1-1-1
		Micron	utrient	concentra	tion in t	he dry ma	atter	
Farm	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
				p	pm			
San Juan	126	89	24	31	156	203	21	35
La Curva	136	115	20	32	153	202	19	33
Tacamiche	117	136	23	32	132	237	22	32
Farm 15	96	287	17	29	104	375	18	26
Average	119	157	21	31	136	254	20	32

Table 105. Effect of sampling procedure on micronutrient concentration in banana leaf lamina from various farms

Table 106 shows treatments and N concentration in the leaf before treatments were applied, and 15 and 30 days after application of treatments. The data show that a high N concentration has been absorbed by the banana plant 15 days after the application of N. Except for treatments 1, 2, 10 and 13, N concentration in the leaf 30 days following the application of treatments was slightly lower than 15 days after application of the fertilizer materials, indicating that an equilibrium had already been reached.

Nitrogen-Potassium - Laurel Farm

This trial was established in January 1975. Nitrogen is being applied three times a year in January, May and September and K is applied in February and August. Leaf lamina samples, for chemical analysis, were collected in June and November. The main objective of the foliar analysis was to study the relationship between response to treatments and nutrient concentration in the leaf.

Table 107 shows the relationship between treatments and nutrient concentration in the lamina. Slightly lower N content was observed in plots receiving 225 kg/ha/year (200 lb/acre) of N than the ones receiving 336 kg/ha (300 lb/acre). However, a foliar analysis carried out in November 1976 showed that plots receiving 225 kg/ha of N had 2.61% N in the leaf; while those receiving 336 kg/ha had 2.62% N. There was no influence of N application on P, K, Ca or Mg concentration. Similarly, K treatment did not affect N or P content in the leaf, but generally, K application increased K concentration and reduced Ca and Mg levels. The antagonistic effect of K in the absorption of the other main nutrient cations is well-established.

The relationship among K rates, stem weight and K concentration in the lamina is shown in Table 108. No difference in average stem weight was obtained with the application of either 225 kg/ha/year of N or 336 kg/ha, indicating that in this soil the application of 225 kg/ha/year may be sufficient to obtain adequate fruit yields. However, more about N needs will be learned when the data for ration crops are statistically analyzed separately. None-theless, the information obtained agrees with N concentration in the leaf found in the November sampling, where there was a mean N concentration of 2.61 and 2.62% of N with the application of 225 and 336 kg/ha/year of N, respectively. These values for N concentration in the leaf are considered above the minimum required for satisfactory plant growth and adequate production of quality fruit.

The data in Table 108 also show a small increase in stem weight with the application of K. This agrees with the slightly low K content found in the leaf for the 0 and the lower K rate treatments. Although there is not a clearcut indication of the best K rate, it appears that it varies between 225 and 450 kg/ha/year (200 and 400 lb/acre) of K. A more distinct optimum rate may be found once the ration crops are studied separately.

Phosphorus-Potassium - Guaruma 11

A small fertilizer trial was established in November 1975 in an area of Guaruma II Farm being irrigated by a drip irrigation system. The objective of this experiment is to determine whether a response, in plant growth, to

Days after application of treatments Treatment Nitrogen 0 15 30 N² Source Rate N concentration in the dry matter 2 kg/ha/year 1 Solid urea 196 2.12 2.48 2.58 11 2.59 2 11 280 2.54 2.10 11 3 28 365 2.32 2.70 2.61 4 11 28 2.24 2.72 2.57 450 56 112 2.31 2.61 2.57 Liquid urea 11 11 2.56 196 2.22 .2.55 TT. 11 7 280 2.61 2.56 2.21 11 11 8 2.64 365 2.45 2.56 9 NHLNO3 112 2.32 2.68 2.59 10 11 196 2.36 2.57 2.61 11 11 280 2.57 2.56 2.36 11 12 365 2.34 2.59 2.55 112 2.28 2.53 2.55 13 Nitroform 11 14 196 2.31 2.59 2.56 32 15 280 2.27 2.58 2.56 31 16 365 2.25 2.65 2.62

Table 106. Treatments and nitrogen concentration in the lamina -Nitrogen Sources Experiment - Caimito Farm, Honduras Alter of

10

NDIA NOT

CIN ARA

600 ···

6

() "W" "

100.000

A Values are averages of five replications.

A long of a state of the second second back of a second back of the second second second second second second s

	Treatmen	nt	Nutrie	nt concen	tration i	n the dry	matters
Nº	Nitrogen	Potassium	N	P	K	Ca	Mg
	kg/ha/y	ear			8		******
1	225	0	2.39	0.16	2.82	0.88	0.26
2	225	225	2.29	0.16	2.88	0.81	0.25
3	225	450	2.24	0.15	2.77	0.78	0.22
4	225	675	2.49	0.16	3.25	0.82	0.20
5	225	900	2.29	0.16	3.28	0.81	0.23
6	336	0	2.55	0.17	2.79	0.99	0.26
7	336	225	2.33	0.15	2.67	0.81	0.23
8	336	450	2.51	0.16	3.10	0.84	0.22
9	336	675	2.43	0.18	3.51	0.77	0.22
10	336	900	2.40	0.16	3.16	0.77	0.21

Table 107.	Effect of treatments on nutrient concentration in the
	leaf - Nitrogen-Potassium Experiment - Laurel Farm,
	Honduras

÷

T	[reatment*			Sampling (month (1976)	
Nº	Potassium applied	Stem weight	K cor	June	November in the dry m	atter
	kg/ha/year	kg** `			\$	
1	0	32.4 b		2.82	3.00	
2	225	32.2 b		2.88	2.91	
3	450	34.7 a		2.77	3.09	
4	675	35.7 a		3.25	3.19	
5	900	35.6 a		3.28	3.35	
6	0	32.6 b		2.79	2.78	
7	225	34.5 a		2.67	2.95	
8	450	33.6 b		3.10	3.15	
9	675	35.7 a		3.51	3.09	
10	900	36.1 a		3.16	3.29	

Table 108. Relationship among potassium rates, stem weight and potassium concentration in the leaf lamina - Nitrogen-Potassium Experiment - Laurel Farm, Honduras

Treatments 1 through 5 received 225 kg/ha/year of N, and treatments 6 through 10 received 336 kg/ha/year.

Ę

Mean stem weight from planting in January 1975 through December 1976.

the application of P and/or K would be obtained.

The experimental area consists of 0.2 ha planted to the Grand Nain banana cultivar. Each plot encloses 25 production units. The following treatments are being studied:

A. Control

- B. 450 kg/ha/year (400 1b/acre) of K as KC1
- C. 450 kg/ha/year of K as KC1 plus 168 kg/ha/year (150 lb/acre) of P as triple superphosphate.

The fertilizer treatments are applied by hand in one application per year. All plots receive a basal application of 252 kg/ha/year of N as urea distributed in three cycles per year, injected through the irrigation system. The experimental area receives 50 mm of water per week.

The following information is being collected: stem weight, total yield, pseudostem circumference, plant height, number of hands at shooting and at harvesting, number of leaves at shooting and at harvesting, finger length and maturation period. Leaf lamina samples, for chemical analysis, are collected periodically in order to relate response to treatments and nutrient concentration in the leaf.

No statistical differences, among treatments, for any of the parameters studied were found for the first or second harvests. The table below shows stem weight and chemical composition of the lamina for each treatment:

	Stem		Nut	rient c	oncent	ration i	in the d	ry matt	era	
Treat.	weight	N	P	K	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
	- kg -			%				pp	m	
A	52.8 a	2.72	0.15	3.54	1.05	0.24	117	147	8	31
в	52.8 a	2.65	0.16	3.63	1.00	0.24	133	123	8	36
С	53.1 a	2.73	0.15	3.30	0.98	0.20	118	100	8	33

* Sampled in January 1977 from the second ration crop.

Small or no differences in chemical composition among treatments were observed. Phosphorus and K concentration for all treatments were adequate, indicating that no response to the nutrients applied was obtained because the soil had a high enough reserve of these elements for normal plant growth and development.

Potassium-Magnesium - Honduras

The main objective of this experiment was to determine whether a response in stem weight and total production would be obtained to the application of K. Stem weight data through December 31 shown in Table 109 indicate a response to K application in all poor areas, except in Copen and Santa Rosa. Lower stem weights were obtained in the poor area of Copen with the application of K;

5	
ncentrat	
m co	
3	-
potassi	Honduras
and	1
10	100
æ	
^O	1
10	-
Ň	E
-	2
5	-
ũ.	6
4/1	C.
-	5
8	7
- či	T
5.	E
2	2
6	10
2	1/5
5	2
- 22	~
N.	d.
-	
2	
-	-0
- 52.	C
-	E
105	10
5	-
0	-
40	ž
12	-
1	-
à	
(T)	
0	
-	
100	
-	
-0	
10	

							SITE				
Farm	Treat. ##	Sec.	Stem weight*	P 0 0 Samplin April	g month Sept. ncentrat	(1976) Dec.	Sec.	Stem weight#	<u>Samplin</u> April K co	d <u>Sept.</u> ncentrat	<u>1976)</u> Dec.
			kg		8			kg		1 20 1	
San Juan San Juan San Juan	- 01 M		38.9 34.2	3.17 3.35 2.68	3.13 3.08 3.03	2.88 3.05 2.53	0000	42.5 42.1 41.3	3.45 3.58 3.32	3.29 3.27 3.07	3.41 3.45 3.21
San Juan San Juan San Juan	- N M	355	33.7	3.42 3.47 2.90	3.21 3.15 2.64	3.12 3.29 2.65	25 25 25	46.2 45.0 45.0	3.45	3.07 3.28 2.92	3.33 3.41 3.10
La Curva La Curva La Curva	- N M	222	37.7 40.9 38.3	3.13 3.27 2.96	2.96 3.08 2.87	3.07 2.88 3.16	22 22 22	43.7 42.3 41.5	3.55 3.47 3.32	3.27 3.03 3.05	3.47 3.58 3.20
La Curva La Curva La Curva	- 9 m	3333	42.5 42.9 33.2	3.25 3.21 2.91	3.17 3.06 2.76	3.16 3.33 3.01	111	111	111	: : :	111
Copen Copen Copen	- ~ m	m m m	27.8 26.4 31.4	3.25	3.19 3.01 2.86	3.40	91 91 16	40.4 39.0 33.9	3.10 3.09 2.67	2.95 3.11 2.55	2.79 3.31 2.36
Sta. Rosa Sta. Rosa Sta. Rosa	~ ~ ~	20 20 20	31.4 31.5 31.9	3.562	3.49	3.33 3.32 3.13	20.02	45.1 46.5 44.4	3.59 3.57	3.00 3.11 2.87	3.44
* Mean st ** 1 = 400	em weight o kg/ha/year kg/ha/year	btained of K p	1 through D	ecember 3 ba/year o	1, 1976. F Mg.	ada at ani; ara at ara ngibera		ar adi a pola fili advat lada anti at lada		a ana an	

-200-

に行られていているのですのです。 していているのなのののなるのですのですのなるの

1 = 400 kg/ha/year of K plus 28 kg/ha/year of Mg. 2 = 800 kg/ha/year of K. 3 = Control.

whereas no effect of this nutrient was observed in Santa Rosa. The only pronounced response in stem weight to K application in good areas was obtained in Copen.

Table 109 also shows K concentration in the lamina of recently shot banama plants for three sampling dates. Generally, there was a direct relationship between K concentration in the leaf and response to K application. The reduction in stem weight with K application to the poor area of Copen cannot be explained in terms of concentration of the nutrients determined (N, P, K, Ca, Mg, Fe, Cu, Zn and Mn). Reduction in growth might be related to a decrease in concentration of the cations Ca or Mg. However, concentration of these nutrients were equal or higher in this area than in others where a positive response to K application was obtained. For example, K treated and untreated areas in good and poor sites of Copen had the following chemical composition:

			Nutr	ient co	ncentr	ation in	n the d	dry mat	ter	100
Site		N	P	K	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mo	Cu	Zn
				&				pp	m	
Good Good	Treated Untreated	2.65 2.73	0.17 0.16	3.10 2.67	0.97 1.06	0.31 0.33	103 108	113 127	17 17	29 31
Poor Poor	Treated Untreated	2.72 2.73	0.17 0.17	3.29 2.94	0.96	0.31 0.35	148 145	96 119	15 17	31 31

The lack of response to K application in poor areas of Santa Rosa and in most good areas of all farms is related to a relatively high K concentration in the leaf.

Potassium content, by treatments, in poor and good sites for various sampling dates since April 1975 through December 1976 is shown in Figure 32. There was an increase in K content with the application of this nutrient. On the other hand, little or no difference was observed with the application of either 400 or 800 kg/ha/year (357 or 714 lb/acre) of K. A high K concentration in all treatments was observed for the sampling of April 1976, followed by a decline in K concentration for the September 1976 sampling. As more information of this type is obtained, it will be possible to determine whether K levels in the leaf fluctuate naturally throughout the year. This will be important in deciding best sampling dates or if a correction factor has to be used to adjust K concentration when sampling at different seasons in the year.

Potassium Frequency Trial Monitored by Foliar Analyses - La Curva Farm

Field experiments and foliar analyses indicated that, besides N, the application of K was required for obtaining adequate fruit yields in some areas of La Lima District in Honduras. However, more information was needed regarding K requirement by the banana plant for obtaining optimum fruit yields on soils derived from sediments of the Chamelecon River. A trial was established in July 1976 with the following objectives:



Figure 32. CHANGES IN POTASSIUM CONCENTRATION IN THE LAMINA-POTASSIUM-MAGNESIUM EXPERIMENT, HONDURAS.

10 m m 8 公 1

- Determine whether there is any difference between potassium sulfate (K₂SO₄) and potassium chloride (KCl) in their efficiency to supply K to the banana plant.
- Find out which K rate, 225 or 450 kg/ha, is more suitable for our growing conditions.
- Determine the required K concentration in the leaf lamina to obtain maximum yields of quality fruit.
- Find out the optimum frequency of K application needed to maintain the desired K concentration in the leaf.

The experiment was established in Sections 5 and 6, La Curva Farm, Honduras and consists of 13 treatments (Table 110). Plot size is 0.08 ha, containing 100 production units approximately, but only 50 mats in the middle of each plot are being used to obtain data. Potassium concentration in the leaf will be correlated with the agronomic data mentioned above. The experiment is a 2 x 2 x 3 factorial arranged in a complete randomized block design with four replications.

In each plot, K is being applied as frequently as required to keep the desired concentration in the leaf. Collection of agronomic information will be initiated in February. Effect of treatments will be evaluated by the Analysis of Variance for a factorial experiment and treatment means will be compared using Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

Leaf samples for foliar analysis were taken in July, before the initial application of treatments, to determine which plots required a K application. Samples to determine K concentration in the leaf are being taken monthly, from the first application of treatments at the end of July, to determine changes in K concentration and decide, after three to four months from each application, which plots should be treated with potassium.

Lamina samples collected one month after the experiment was established showed the following average composition: 2.63, 0.145, 2.79, 0.94 and 0.26% for N, P, K, Ca and Mg, respectively. Treatments and average monthly K concentrations found in each treatment are shown in Table 110. The average K concentration for all treatments, except the control, was 2.79, 2.80, 3.01, 3.05 and 3.23% for samples collected in July, September, October, November and December, respectively, indicating a continuous increase in K content with time, starting two months after application of treatments.

Foliar Analyses - Golfito

A total of 1,668 banana leaf and 1,800 soil samples from the Golfito Division were chemically analyzed this year. Additionally, textural class of 12 soil samples was determined and Br content was determined in 227 banana fruit samples.

Figures 33 and 34 depict the mean K concentration for 1975 and 1976 in every farm of Palmar and Coto Districts, respectively. There was a marked increase in K concentration from 1975 to 1976 in all farms of Palmar District,

L C	
oli	
t on the	
ê û	
of	
1 to	
i me nom	
a	
51	
ene	
eques	
Fr	
nce	
cor BSS	
et of	
1 1	
ota ts rva	
Cu	
ap	
nan s -	
ba vse	
101 101	
E to P	
0	
=	
ple	
e -	

Tree	atment						
led		Desired potassium	July	September	October	(1976) November	December
kg/	ha			the second is a	%		
5	25	2.75-3.00	2.69	2.60	2.88	2.88	3.01
2	25	3.00-3.25	2.96	2.71	2.80	2.93	3.07
2	25	3.25-3.50	2.96	2.82	2.94	3.10	3.11
2	25	2.75-3.00	2.76	2.63	2.89	3.03	3.31
2	25	3.00-3.25	2.72	2.88	2.92	3.05	3.15
64	25	3.25-3.50	2.71	2.90	2.94	3.03	3.19
4	50	2.75-3.00	2.76	2.75	3.03	2.93	3.06
4	20	3.00-3.25	2.86	2.84	3.13	3.10	3.20
4	50	3.25-3.50	2.79	2.92	3.22	3.22	3.54
4	50	2.75-3.00	2.79	2.77	3.09	3.07	3.42
4	50	3.00-3.25	2.69	2.94	3.15	3.19	3.30
-7	20	3.25-3.50	2.74	2.85	3.16	3.01	14.8
			2.78	2.71	2.98	2.92	3.20

ations. 0.0 replic four j. /erages 20 N e L.O Values

2

to the latest

6 I.S. T.

1.00

of American States

and the second strength

0000000

and a

140

100

ň

1

ł

5

-204-





しても発行していた難想になる意見思いたの

TTA ATA ATA ATA

44

-206-

except for Farm 2. On the other hand, K concentration decreased in five farms and increased in seven farms of Coto District.

In 1975, 8, 31 and 61% of samples from Palmar District had less than 2.80, 2.80-3.00 and more than 3.00% K in the leaf, respectively. For 1976, these percentages, in the same order were: 10, 15 and 75% of samples. There was a sharp increase in samples containing more than 3.00% K in the leaf. This trend can also be seen in Figure 33.

Potassium concentration in samples from farms of Coto District collected in 1975 was distributed as follows: 18, 25 and 57% with less than 2.80, 2.80-3.00 and more than 3.00% K in the lamina, respectively. In 1976, 10, 19 and 71% of samples had less than 2.80, 2.80-3.00 and more than 3.00% K in the leaf, respectively. There was a decrease in the percentage of samples containing less than 3.00% and an increase in the proportion of samples with more than 3.00% K in the lamina. The distribution of samples from Palmar and Coto Districts, in the three K concentration categories, was similar in 1976. The decrease in K concentration in five farms of Coto District may be related to weather and/or soil conditions prevailing at sampling.

Nitrogen-Potassium - Palmar

The objectives and procedures for this experiment were given on page 102 of the 1975 Annual Report. Table 111 shows estimated N and K rates for a population density of 1534 production units per hectare (621 per acre). However, the experimental area was planted at a population density of 1373 plants per hectare (556 per acre) and, therefore, rates are slightly lower than those shown in this table. Table 111 also shows total K applied per treatment from June 1975 through October 1976; mean stem weight for the first and second harvests; and N and K concentration for the sampling in July 1976.

The data in Table 111 show little or no difference in mean stem weight with the application of either 140, 280 or 420 kg/ha/year (125, 250 or 375 1b/acre) of N over all K rates. For these N rates, average stem weight was 32.4, 33.0, 34.2 kg for the first harvest and 33.6, 34.5 and 34.4 kg, respectively, for the second harvest. These results are in agreement with apparently adequate N concentration in the leaf for all treatments.

The total amount of K applied per treatment for approximately one and a half year in general is related to desired and actual K concentration in the leaf. Slightly higher K rates appear necessary for higher stem weight at lower N rates. In general, it is probable that 450 kg/ha/year (400 lb/acre) of K is adequate for optimum plant growth in these soils.

Figure 35 shows K concentration in the leaf for four samplings, starting March 1975, before the old NPK trial was modified, through November 1976. In general, there is a close relationship between desired K levels shown in Table 111 and K concentration in the lamina, especially for the last two foliar analyses. These data again suggest that foliar analysis can be used effectively to monitor K nutrition.

Potassium Frequency Trial Monitored by Foliar Analyses - Golfito

The objectives of this experiment were given on page 106 of the 1975

Relationship among treatments, stem weight, and nitrogen and potassium concentration in the lamina - Nitrogen-Potassium Experiment - Palmar, Golfito Table 111.

	Treatmer	nts	Desired K concentration	Total	Stem we	(ight##	Nutrient con	ncentration +
-14	Nitrogen	Potass lum	in the leaf	K applied*	lst harvest	2nd harvest	Nitrogen	Potassium
1	-kg/ha/appl	ication		kg/ha	4			
-	140	140	2.75-3.00	157	31.1 e	32.0 bc	2.46	2.75
64	140	280	3.00-3.25	627	31.3 de	32.5 abc	2.56	3.00
m	140	420	3.25-3.50	753	34.3 abc	35.8 ab	2.43	3.23
.4	140	560	3.50-4.00	1506	33.6 bcd	34.2 ab	2.42	3.33
in	280	140	2.75-3.00	251	31.2 de	34.2 ab	2.43	2.74
-0	280	280	3.00-3.25	439	33.3 bcd	33.6 ab	2.54	3.01
-	280	420	3.25-3.50	146	32.2 cde	34.1 ab	2.53	3.11
00	280	560	3.50-4.00	1380	35.1 ab	36.1 a	2.41	3.34
n	420	140	2.75-3.00	251	31.7 cde	34.0 ab	2.50	2.85
0	420	280	3.00-3.25	439	33.7 bcd	34.0 ab	2.43	2.82
	420	420	3.25-3.50	941	36.7 a	35.1 ab	2.59	3.34
64	420	560	3.50-4.00	1506	34.6 abo	34.5 ab	2.57	3.32
m	280	0		0	27.4 F	29.2 c	2.39	2.40

" Potassium applied from June 1975 through October 1976.

Mean weight for the second harvest. Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at the 0.05 probability level. 10

A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL

The ADA 27

The state and when the the

いたの事業のないの事業を行うので、

Sampled in July 1976.

-208-


PALMAR, GOLFITO.

Annual Report. Originally, two cables, one showing poor and the other good banana plant growth, were selected in each farm (five farms in Palmar and five in Coto). It was intended to maintain a K concentration in the leaf lamina between 2.75-3.00% in half of each cable area and more than 3.00% in the other half. In order to study the efficiency of two K rates, Farms 7, 12, 13, 44 and 48 receive 225 kg/ha (200 lb/acre) per application of K approximately (293 g KC1/mat/application); while 450 kg/ha (400 lb/acre) of K (586 g/mat/applica-

The first K application to plots showing lower K concentration than desired, was made in November 1975; a second one was made in April-May 1976 and a third one in October-November. The last foliar analysis showed that plots with same treatments from Palmar and Coto had similar K concentration in the leaf (Tables 112 and 113). However, more K had to be applied to plots from Coto. Plots from Palmar intended to have a K concentration of 2.75-3.00 and more than 3.00 have received 250 and 560 kg/ha (223 and 500 lb/acre) of K, respectively; while those from Coto in the same order were treated with 475 and 640 kg/ha (424 and 571 lb/acre), indicating that Coto soils may require more K than those from Palmar for the plants to absorb similar K concentrations. However, these are preliminary data and more definite information will be available by the end of 1977. More K has been applied to plots receiving 450 kg/ha/ application of K than those treated with 225 kg/ha, but the former also showed higher K concentration in the leaf.

The data in Tables 112 and 113 show the changes in K concentration from January through November 1976. In the November sampling, all plots had more than 3.00% K in the leaf. Nevertheless, an equilibrium may have not been reached in all plots by the time the samples were collected. A statistical analysis for the fruit weight of the first and second harvests failed to show differences in stem weight or any definite pattern. This may have been caused by the fact that all the desired K concentrations were not maintained throughout the year.

Potassium Chloride Versus Potassium Sulfate - Palmar

tion) are applied to Farms 4, 10, 42, 45 and 58.

The objective of this experiment was given in page 106 of the 1975 Annual Report. The statistical analysis for mean stem weight for the first and second harvest did not show any difference between treatments. The combined mean stem weights for both harvests were 32.8 and 32.4 kg for plots receiving K2SO4 and KC1, respectively.

Differences in K concentration in the leaf were noticed between the two treatments for the first sampling only. In this instance plots treated with KCl had 2.89% K; while those treated with K2SO4 showed 3.07% K. However, no differences in K content were observed for two other samplings. The overall K concentration for the three analyses was 3.09 and 3.15 for plots receiving KCl and K2SO4, respectively.

Foliar Analyses - Bocas

During the year, 1,109 banana leaf samples were chemically analyzed for this Division. Additionally, 127 and 158 soil samples were chemically and mechanically analyzed, and Br content was determined in seven green banana samples. ē

100

6

é

ê

1000

100 100

100

ŧ

Ť

¢

		Rica.				
				Com 1	Ine month	(1076)
Farm		Desired K concentration		January K concentra	July tion in th	November e dry matter®
		&			%	
4		2.75-3.00		2.56	2.78	3.26
4		>3.00		2.82	3.26	3,20
7		2.75-3.00		2.77	3.10	3.04
7		> 3.00		2.97	2.66	3.12
10		2.75-3.00		2.68	3.12	3.48
10		> 3.00		2.94	2.84	3.40
12		2.75-3.00		2.95	2.72	3.06
12		> 3.00		2.89	2.60	3.00
13		2.75-3.00		2.54	2.87	3.32
13	-	>3.00	the line	2.61	2.98	3.16

Table 112. Desired and actual potassium concentration in the leaf at various sampling dates - Potassium Frequency Trial monitored by foliar analyses - Paimar, Golfito, Costa Rica.

* Values are averages of samples from two half-cable plots originally showing different banana plant growth, poor and good, but differences in plant appearance are no longer evident.

		 Samp1	ing month	(1976)
Farm	Desired K concentration	January K concentra	July tion in th	November e dry matter#
	8		8	
42	2.75-3.00	2.60	3.40	3.48
42	> 3.00	2.80	3.40	3.46
44	2.75-3.00	2.50	2.84	3.08
44	> 3.00	2.36	2.76	3.32
45	2.75-3.00	2.36	3.67	3.58
45	> 3.00	2.56	3.54	3.40
48	2.75-3.00	2.46	3.37	3.14
48	>3.00	2.52	3.38	3.00
58	2.75-3.00	2.40	3.36	3.16
58	> 3.00	2,18	3.34	3.14

Table 113. Desired and actual potassium concentration in the leaf at various sampling dates - Potassium Frequency Trial monitored by foliar analyses - Coto, Golfito, Costa Rica

* Values are averages of samples from two half-cable plots originally showing different banana plant growth, poor and good, but differences in plant appearance are no longer evident. ų,

e

20 10

CALINO 100

(Consult

Ē

VER EL

町三

In 1975, 31, 26 and 43% of samples analyzed had less than 2.8, 2.8-3.00 and more than 3.00% K, respectively. The distribution of samples in these categories, in the same order, for 1976 was as follows: 23, 53 and 24%, respectively, indicating that there was a decrease in the proportion of samples having less than 2.80 and more than 3.00% K and, hence, there was an increase in percentage of samples containing 2.80-3.00% K.

Phosphorus-Potassium - Changuinola

This trial was cancelled in June 1976 after three years from its establishment. The most striking results from this experiment were the response to application of 450 and 900 kg/ha/year (400 and 800 lb/acre) of K and the close relationship between stem weight and K concentration in the leaf as shown in Table 114. Some variation in K content for the same treatment has been observed for the various sampling dates. Values were especially high for the sampling in April 1975 and may be related to weather and soil conditions prevailing at sampling.

Stem weights shown in Table 114 are averages for all crops, but when the ration crops are analyzed separately, the response is generally more pronounced. Since the application of 900 kg/ha/year of K to this soil increased K levels in the lamina just above 3.00% even after three years, this rate appears satisfactory for adequate fruit yields in this soil. For all samplings, except for April 1975, K concentration in the leaf of plants from plots receiving 450 kg/ha/year was less than 2.80%, indicating that this rate was below the amount required for maximum yields in these soils.

Foliar Analyses - Armuelles

A total of 972 banana leaf samples were analyzed. In addition, Br content was determined in 49 green banana samples.

The foliar analysis showed high K concentration in most farms of the Division. Nevertheless, 5, 23, 33, 21 and 26% of samples from Bogamani, Zapatero, Higueron, Caoba and Palmito Farms had less than 3.00% K in the leaf. Although it is recommended to maintain the K concentration in the lamina above 3.00%, a K application to these farms was not recommended since K availability in the soil may be influenced by changes in weather and/or soil conditions. A decision as to whether recommend a K application to these areas will be made after a second sampling.

Foliar Analyses - Colombia

In 1976, 1,019 banana leaf lamina samples were chemically analyzed; this includes 250 samples from Santa Marta. In the same period textural class and chemical characteristics of 105 soil samples were also determined.

Of the samples from Nueva Colonia District analyzed in January, 50 and 11% had low N and K concentration, respectively. Similar results were obtained for samples from this District analyzed in July. All samples from Zungo District had low N content; on the other hand, only the samples from La Astilla and some from La Zumbadora and Lacatan Farms showed low K

Table 114.	Relationship between	stem weight and potassium concen-
	tration in the third	leaf - Phosphorus-Potassium Expe-
	riment, Changuipola,	Panama*

			Sampli	ng date	
Potassium applied	Stem weight ^{##}	9-73	4-75 K concentratio	12-75 n in the lamina	7-76
kg/ha/year	kg			2	
0	23.6	1.46	1.92	1.73	1.53
450	32.2	2.54	2.80	2.68	2.51
900	35.7	2.93	3.10	3.09	3.04

Values are means of three phosphorus levels and eight replications.

Includes all fruit harvested from planting in June 1973 through June 1976.

윷

14

1

Service of

1021.21

100 MBA 400

HAT NOT NOT

1327 752

concentration. Low N and K content was found in 40 and 26%, respectively, of samples from Santa Marta.

Foliar Analyses - Dominican Republic and Philippines

Thirty-nine banana leaf samples from Dominican Republic were analyzed. Of these, 51 and 31% showed low N (less than 2.40%) and K (less than 3.00%) concentrations, respectively. The application of 336 kg/ha/year (300 lb/acre) of N and 450 kg/ha/year (400 lb/acre) of K was recommended.

A total of 231 banana leaf samples from Philippines were analyzed. All samples analyzed in June had adequate K levels, but 20% had low N content (below 2.40%). On the other hand, of the samples analyzed in October, only one had low N concentration, but 7, 28, 29 and 74% of samples from Farms 8, 9, 11 and 12, respectively, had low K levels. Sulfur and Zn content was low in a large proportion of samples. These samples had less than 0.20% S and less than 15 ppm Zn.

(RODRIGUEZ, FROMM, GUILLEN)

SOIL FERTILITY STUDIES

The soil fertility studies initiated last year (1975 Annual Report, p. 110) with soils from Golfito and Honduras were continued. Several greenhouse experiments were established to study the effect of various nutrients on growth of several indicator plants.

Phosphorus-Potassium

A P-K factorial trial was established in the greenhouse with soils C, E, J and M from Golfito and soils U + V (poor banana areas) and W + X (good banana areas) from Higuerito, Honduras with the purpose of determining optimum P and K rates, and to observe any interaction between these two nutrients on plant growth and/or chemical composition of the plant.

The indicator plant was 'X-105-A' corn (Zea mays L.). One kg of air-dry soil was placed in clay pots. Soil preparation, planting and harvesting procedures were similar to the ones followed last year. Since retention studies carried out in the laboratory showed higher P-fixing capacity for soils from Golfito as compared with the ones from Honduras, higher rates were tested in the former than in the latter. Treatments for soils from Golfito were factorial combinations of 0, 75, 150 and 300 ppm of P and 0, 100, 200 and 400 ppm of K; whereas the same K rates were used for the Honduras soils, the levels of P tested were 0, 37.5, 75 and 150 ppm. A basal application of 200, 50 and 25 ppm of N, S and Mg, respectively, was made. The following reagent grade compounds supplied all nutrients: NH4H2P04, KN03, K2S04, KH2P04, H3P04, MgSO4.7H20, (NH4)2SO4, NH4NO3 and Mg(NO3)2.6H20. Nutrients were applied in solution one day before sceding. Nitrogen at the same rate as at the beginning of the trial was applied after each harvest. All nutrients, including P and K, were applied again after the second harvest. The experiment was a factorial and treatments were arranged in a complete randomized block design with four replications.

Banana plant appearance at sampling, texture and chemical characteristics of soils from Golfito are shown in Table 115. Characteristics of soils from Higuerito were given on page 113 of the 1975 Annual Report. The main differences among Golfito soils are the low P and K content for soil M, and the high concentration of extractable Cu found in soils C and E.

Four and three harvests were obtained in Golfito and Higuerito soils, respectively. The relationship among treatments, herbage yields for the first harvest, and P and K concentration in the above-ground corn plant tissue for Golfito soils is shown in Table 116. Higher yields were generally obtained with the application of 300 ppm of P, regardless of extractable soil P, although in some soils there was no difference in yields with the application of either 150 or 300 ppm of P. Response to K application was related to extractable soil K. Soils C and J had the highest K concentration and showed response to the application of 100 ppm of K, but no further increase in forage yields was obtained with additional increments in K applied. On the other hand, soils E and M contained lower extractable K and produced the highest herbage yields with the application of 400 ppm of K.

The effect of treatments on the first herbage yields and P and K concentrations in soils from Honduras is shown in Table 117. A pronounced response to the application of 37.5 and 75 ppm of P was obtained in both soils, except when K was not applied to soil W + X, where maximum response was obtained with the application of 150 ppm of P. On the other hand, there was no effect of K application in soil U + V on forage yields. However, the best herbage yields on soil W + X were generally obtained with the application of 100 ppm of K.

Figures 36 through 39 show the effect of P and K application in soils from Golfito on total herbage yields for the four harvests obtained; while Table 118 shows statistical comparisons among treatments for each soil. Best growth was obtained with the application of 150 to 300 ppm of P and there was not a welldefined relationship between response and original P concentration in the soil. On the other hand, there was a closer relationship between response to K application and original K content in the soil. Maximum yields in soils C (high K content) was obtained with the application of 100 to 200 ppm of K. Conversely, best growth on soil M (low K concentration) was obtained with the application of 400 ppm of K. There was a significant P x K interaction only in the two soils with low original K concentration (soils E and M).

Figures 40 and 41 depict the relationship between P and K application in soils from Honduras and total herbage yields for three harvests; whereas Table 119 shows statistical comparisons among treatments in each soil. Best yields on soil U + V were obtained with the application of 75 and 100 ppm of P and K, respectively; whereas maximum herbage yields on soil W + X were obtained with the application of 150 and 100 ppm of P and K in this order, although yields in this treatment were not statistical superior to the ones obtained with the application of 37.5 ppm of P and 100 ppm of K. A PxK interaction was not observed in these soils. These results agree with retention studies in the laboratory showing that soils from Costa Rica fixed at least twice as much P as the ones from Honduras (pages 115 and 116 of 1975 Annual Report). Lower K rates required in Honduras soils are related to higher extractable K and lower retention of this element in these soils than in soils from Costa Rica (pages 112, 113 and 117 of the 1975 Annual Report). 10

A22

14

100

Ċ.

1224

AND FILM

÷

All A

1100

Now its

1

100

6

14
-
- 10
1.3
-
00
-
- 107
100
0
0
- L
1000
1000
-
-
0
12
-
E
- 25
-
1.
10
1
100
- 603
1.1.1
0
- 40
1000
-
0
100
0
4.8
-
- 6/5
-
100
-
4.2
- CD
_
ō
Da1
char
char
char
l char
I char
al char
cal char
cal char
Ical char
nical char
mical char
emical char
hemical char
chemical char
chemical char
chemical char
I chemical char
d chemical char
nd chemical char
and chemical char
and chemical char
and chemical char
and chemical char
'e and chemical char
re and chemical char
are and chemical char
ure and chemical char
ture and chemical char
xture and chemical char
exture and chemical char
exture and chemical char
Texture and chemical char
Texture and chemical char
Texture and chemical char
Texture and chemical char
. Texture and chemical char
. Texture and chemical char
5. Texture and chemical char
Texture and chemical char
15. Texture and chemical char
115. Texture and chemical char
115. Texture and chemical char
115. Texture and chemical char
e 115. Texture and chemical char
le 115. Texture and chemical char
ole 115. Texture and chemical char
ble 115. Texture and chemical char
able 115. Texture and chemical char
Table 115. Texture and chemical char
Table 115. Texture and chemical char

			A LANK					L.	xtracte	ible Nutr	·ients		
				Visual			Org.	N. Carolina	NHGC	Ac (pH 1	(8.)	0.1N HC1	
Soil	Farm	Sec.	Cable	rating	Text.	Hd	matter	٩	×	Ca	Mg	Cu	CEC
							32			- mod			mea/100 a
Palmar													n
U	9	21	64	Good	-1	5.5	3.3	25	190	5,475	488	188	46
ш	10	=	26	Medium	CL	5.5	3.4	21	130	4,950	450	270	43
Coto													
٦	14	32	31	Medium	Ц	5.1	2.9	13	225	7,275	569	55	15
W	57	01	11.19	Very Poor	-	5.3	3.4	2	55	5,000	600	95	44
0	59	38	20	Medium	SCL	5.9	3.1	19	220	000.6	613	4	22
1001								12.0				1111	0000
A Sampl	les wer	e col	lected in	n December 1	974.	1							

Relationship between herbage yields in the greenhouse, and phosphorus and potassium concentration in the forage for the first corn harvest on Costa Rican soils - Phos-phorus-Potassium Experiment Table 116.

						- 0 5	-					1
Treatment		0			-			P			W	Ĩ
P X					0	Ven-dry	forage					
applied applied	Yield*	۵.	×	Yield	d.	×	Yield	Ч	×	Yield	٩	×
wdd	g/pot	1		g/pot			g/pot		****	g/pot	90	1
0	3.4 9	0.07	2.17	3.7 e	0.07	1.07	5.3 e	0.08	2.39	2.8 h	0.07	0.79
75 0	6.4 c	0.08	46.0	6.7 d	0.08	0.66	10.3 d	0.08	1.08	5.4 9	0.10	0.37
150 0	9.3 c	0.11	0.71	8.4 c	0.10	0.57	13.2 bc	0.11	0.83	6.2 F	0.16	0.28
300 0	9.4 c	0.21	0.73	9.4 bc	0.16	0.52	13.0 bc	0.17	0.68	6.5 f	0.32	0.32
0 100	3.7 fg	0.06	2.75	4.3 e	0.06	1.93	5.3 e	0.08	3.09	2.6 h	0.08	2.28
75 100	8.4 d	0.08	1.46	6.6 d	0.07	1.18	11.2 d	0.08	1.34	6.5 f	0.08	0.93
150 100	9.8 bc	0.10	1.01	8.9 c	0.08	0.88	13.6 bc	0.11	1.02	9.8 d	0.12	0.68
300 100	10.5 ab	0.16	0.94	9.8 b	0.15	0.91	14.4 a	0.17	1.10	11.7 b	0.14	0.51
0 200	4.3 f	0.06	3.38	4.1 e	0.06	2.88	5.4 e	0.07	3.35	3.1 h	0.07	4.03
75 200	7.7 d	0.07	2.03	6.6 d	0.07	2.14	11.0 d	0.07	1.71	7.5 e	0.07	2.16
150 200	10.1 ab	0.09	1.70	9.0 bc	0.09	1.63	12.8 c	0.11	1.52	10.0 d	60.0	1.59
300 200	10.8 a	0.18	1.77	9.7 b	0.14	1.54	13.9 b	0.17	1.34	12.3 b	0.12	0.93
0 400'	4.2 f	0.06	4.52	4.3 e	0.06	3.29	5.7 e	0.08	4.43	3.2 h	0.07	5.22
75 400	8.4 d	0.08	2.58	6.0 d	0.07	2.59	10.4 d	0.08	2.43	7.2 e	0.07	2.60
150 400	10.3 ab	0.10	2.11	9.8 b	0.09	1.89	13.5 bc	0.10	1.89	10.7 c	0.08	1.67
300 ' 400	10.5 ab	0.18	1.92	11.5 a	0.13	1.55	14.8 a	0.16	1.69	13.0 a	0.13	1.34

values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at the 0.05 probability level.

見てん意のでとくな夢にしても意思の

「二」と思い

-218-

Table 117.	Relationship between herbage yields in the greenhouse,
	and phosphorus and potassium concentration in the forage
	for the first corn harvest on Honduras soils - Phosphorus-
	Potassium Experiment

			ALC: COLOR		Soi	1		
			U	+ V			X + X	100
N [©]	Phosphorus	Potassium	Yield	P -	Oven-dry K	forage	P	к
	pp	om	g/pot*	2		g/pot	3	6
1	0	0	3.7 e	0.08	3.70	3.3 c	0.07	2.93
2	37.5	0	13.0 abcd	0.09	2.56	10.5 b	0.09	1.67
3	75	0	10.6 cd	0.10	2.16	10.4 b	0.10	1.12
4	150	0	12.2 abcd	0.10	2.14	14.2 ab	0.13	1.02
5	0	100	4.1 e	0.08	3.49	3.8 c	0.09	3.52
6	37.5	100	10.3 d	0.09	2.68	13.8 ab	0.09	2.03
7	75	100	14.8 a	0.10	2.77	15.3 a	0.10	1.87
8	150	100	13.0 abcd	0.10	2.52	16.1 a	0.14	1.52
9	0	200	3.44 e	0.08	2.96	3.9 c	0.10	3.28
10	37.5	200	11.0 cd	0.09	3.53	10.8 ь	0.09	2.59
11	75	200	12.8 abcd	0.11	3.06	15.1 a	0.10	2.12
12	150	200	13.5 abc	0.11	2.91	13.4 ab	0.16	2.22
13	0	400	3.8 e	0.09	3.90	3.5 c	0.09	3.44
14	37.5	400	11.6 bcd	0.10	3.81	15.3 a	0.09	3.10
15	75	400	12.4 abcd	0.10	3.47	14.0 ab	0.12	2.82
16	150	400	14.5 ab	0.12	3.36	13.4 ab	0.14	2.34

* Values within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

100000



間回い

1000

721, 6395

「「「「「「「」」」

他の日日の

63,

뇄

Figure 36.

MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS ON CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS. SOIL "C", COSTA RICA.



Figure 37.

MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS ON CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITONS. SOIL "E", COSTARICA.



PERSON ARRANGE

The part of a set of the set of t

- West New York

CON AREA

104 400

MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS (" CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS.



Figure 39.

MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS ON CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS. SOIL "M", COSTA RICA.

				S o	í 1	
	Treatmen	t	C	E	J	м
Nº	Phosphorus	Potassium		Oven-dry	herbage*	
	p	pm		g/p	ot	
1	0	0	11.9 1**	9.2 9	28.8 1	10.8 h
2	75	0	22.3 f	13.5 f	33.4 fgh	18.7 e
3	150	0	27.8 de	18.3 e	39.0 de	17.6 ef
4	300	0	29.9 cd	19.9 e	41.1 bcde	17.5 ef
5	0	100	14.7 h	14.7 f	29.5 hi	11.5 gh
6	75	100	25.4 e	17.8 e	37.8 ef	28.0 d
7	150	100	30.7 c	21.4 de	41.9 bcd	32.1 c
8	300	100	35.5 ab	26.8 c	44.8 b	34.5 c
9	0	200	16.4 gh	12.0 fg	31.3 ghi	14.3 fg
10	75	200	28.5 d	21.1 e	39.1 de	33.8 c
11	150	200	34.0 b	28.3 c	42.6 bcd	35.6 c
12	300	200	37.6 a	28.5 bc	43.9 bc	39.4 в
13	0	400	17.4 g	12.9 f	34.0 fg	16.6 ef
14	75	400	30.7 c	24.9 cd	40.1 cde	33.7 c
15	150	400	35.2 ab	31.6 ab	43.8 bc	40.0 b
16	300	400	36.9 a	33.9 a	49.0 a	45.3 a

Table 118. Effect of phosphorus and potassium application in soils from Costa Rica on yields of corn herbage in the greenhouse - Phosphorus-Potassium Experiment

* Values are total of four harvests.

At Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

6

¢

100

4

" glap of the with

SCh. 675

1 miles

いいので

ž



Figure 40.

MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS ON CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS. 30/L U + V, HIGUERITO.



MEAN EFFECT OF PHOSPHORUS AND POTASSIUM LEVELS ON CORN GROWTH UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS. SOIL W+X, HIGUERITO.

from Honduras on yield of corn herbage in the green-
house - Phosphorus-Potassium Experiment

Table 119. Effect of phosphorus and potassium application in soils

			S c	o i l
5115	Treatment		U + V	W + X
Nº	Phosphorus	Potassium	Oven-dry 1	nerbage #
	pi	pm	g/p	oot
1	0	0	14.5 e**	14.1 f
2	37.5	0	28.9 abcd	24.8 e
3	75	0	25.9 d	25.5 de
4	150	0	30.0 abcd	29.8 bcde
5	0	100	14.3 e	15.7 f
6	37.5	100	27.3 bcd	30.2 abcd
7	75	100	31.5 abc	31.0 abc
8	150	100	30.3 abc	35.3 a
9	0	200	15.6 e	14.9 f
10	37.5	200	27.1 cd	26.6 cde
11	75	200	29.5 abcd	32.4 ab
12	150	200	30.0 abcd	33.0 ab
13	0	400	18.0 e	16.3 f
14	37.5	400	27.9 bcd	32.0 ab
15	75	400	31.6 ab	31.5 abc
16	150	400	32.3 a	31.5 abc

* Values are total of three harvests.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level. Maximum herbage yields in each soil were obtained when P concentration in the above-ground tissue was 0.13% or higher (Table 116). These results agree with those obtained in 1975 when it was found that best sorghum (Sorghum vulgare Pers.) growth was obtained when P concentration in the plant tissue was 0.14% or higher. On the other hand, maximum forage yields were obtained when K concentration in the above-ground plant part was 1.10% or higher. This value was lower than 1.50% found adequate in 1975 for maximum sorghum growth under greenhouse conditions.

Although no pronounced effect of K application on P concentration in the plant was apparent, there was a general reduction in K concentration with the application of P (Table 116). Total P uptake (mg/pot) was increased with each increment in P applied, but no effect of K on P absorption was observed (Table 120). On the other hand, there was no consistant effect of P applied on K absorption, but there was an increase in K uptake with each increment in K applied (Table 121).

There was an apparent reduction in Ca and Mg concentrations as the amount of P or K applied increased. However, P application increased Ca (Table 122) and Mg absorption (Table 123), indicating that the reduction in Ca and Mg concentrations in the plant was caused by dilution due to increased growth with P application. In general, there was no effect of K application on Ca uptake (Table 122), but each increment in K applied caused a reduction in Mg absorption (Table 123).

Results agree with those obtained by other investigators, indicating that some soils from Costa Rica contain relatively small amounts of extractable P and are able to fix high amounts of this nutrient, making it unavailable for plant absorption. No response to P application in banana plantings has been obtained probably because soils containing lower concentration of this nutrient have not been chosen for these trials, or because the banana plant is highly efficient in absorbing P from soils having low content of this element. Nevertheless, the data indicate that P supply is low in some soils and that extreme caution should be exercised in order to detect on time, by foliar analysis, a possible deficiency of this nutrient in bananas.

Solid Versus Liquid Phosphorus

A P experiment was established in the greenhouse with the purpose of comparing the efficiency of P applied in solution prepared from reagent grade materials and solid triple superphosphate in soils N and Q from Golfito.

Corn was the indicator plant. Soils used for this trial were N and Q, both from Coto. Treatments applied were:

- 1) 100 ppm P in solution.
- 2) 150 ppm P in solution.
- 200 ppm P in solution.
- 4) 250 ppm P in solution.
- 100 ppm P as solid triple superphosphate.

100

6 10

E.

1

¢

í.

an an an

100

6

100

ALC: 120

SUN.

ŕ.

大学であ

				S o	i1	
	Treatme	nt	C	E	J	м
Nº	Phosphorus	Potassium		Phosphorus	uptake #	
	p	pm		mg	/pot	
1	0	0	2.4 e☆☆	2.5 e	4.1 f	1.9 f
2	75	0	4.9 d	5.2 d	8.6 e	5.4 e
3	150	0	10.5 c	8.1 c	14.6 c	10.0 cd
4	300	0	20.0 a	14.6 a	22.2 b	21.1 a
5	0	100	2.2 e	2.7 e	4.0 f	1.9 f
6	75	100	5.8 d	4.7 d	8.7 e	5.0 e
7	150	100	9.3 c	7.5 c	14.8 c	11.4 c
8	300	100	16.9 b	14.5 a	23.8 a	16.1 b
9	0	200	2.7 e	2.5 e	3.9 f	2.0 f
10	75	200	5.7 d	4.8 d	8.0 e	5.5 e
11	150	200	9.1 c	7.7 c	13.7 cd	8.5 d
12	300	200	19.1 a	13.1 b	23.0 ab	14.9 b
13	0	400	2.4 e	2.7 e	4.3 f	2.2 f
14	75	400	6.3 d	4.2 d	7.9 e	4.9 e
15	150	400	10.1 c	8.6°c	12.9 d	8.4 d
16	300	400	18.3 ab	15.2 a	23.9 a	16.3 Ь

Table 120. Effect of phosphorus and potassium application in Costa Rican soils on phosphorus absorption in the greenhouse -Phosphorus-Potassium Experiment

Values for the first harvest.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

۰.

							S o	i 1			
	Treatme	nt	C			E		J	-	М	
N ²	Phosphorus	Potassium	 1100		_	Pot	assiu	m uptak	e*		-
	p	pm					- mg/	pot			
1	0	0	74	9**		40	e	126	fg	22	f
2	75	0	60	g		44	е	111	9	20	d
3	150	0	65	g		53	е	110	g	17	f
4	300	0	69	9		48	е	89	h	21	f
5	0	100	101	f		83	d	162	de	59	е
6	75	100	108	f		77	d	149	ef	60	е
7	150	100	99	f		78	d	139	ef	89	d
8	300	100	98	f		89	d	159	de	60	e
9	0	200	144	е		116	с	181	bcd	123	с
10	75	200	157	de		141	b	187	ь.	161	ab
11	150	200	172	cd		144	ь	193	ь	158	b
12	300	200	190	bc		148	b	186	bc	114	cd
13	0	400	190	bc		138	ь	252	а	166	аЬ
14	75	400	213	a		155	ь	252	а	188	а
15	150	400	215	а		186	а	256	а	178	ab
16	300	400	200	ab		177	a	250	а	173	ab

Table 121. Effect of phosphorus and potassium application in Costa Rican soils on potassium absorption by corn plants in the greenhouse - Phosphorus-Potassium Experiment のの風間の しゅう 単音のの と 愛着 遣ら

い、観察事ならしを意いまし

237 410

Values for the first harvest.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

-

represent period with the backet

IGDIC ILL.	from Costa Rica on calcium untake by corp plants in the
	greenhouse - Phosphorus-Potossium Eventiment
	greemouse - mosphorus-rocassium caperiment

					-	S o	i 1			
_	Treatme	nt	Ç		1	E	-	J	1	Μ -
N≘	Phosphorus	Potassium			C	alcium	upta	ke#		
	pl	pm				mg/	pot -			
1	0	0	29	c≜≙	29	cd	57	d	30	de
2	75	0	38	Ь	38	ab	75	а	45	abc
3	150	0	42	ь	41	а	75	а	46	ab
lą.	300	0	39	ь	39	ab	63	bcd	44	abc
5	0	100	28	с	27	cd	48	e	24	е
6	75	100	38	Ь	33	bcd	66	abcd	45	аҌс
7	150	100	51	a	35	abc	65	abcd	52	а
8	300	100	43	Ь	39	ab	70	ab	46	ab
9	0	200	31	с	27	cd	47	e	26	е
0	75	200	40	ь	37	ab	61	bcd	43	abc
1	150	200	42	Ь	40	а	59	cd	51	а
12	300	200	42	Ь	33	bcd	61	bcd	47	ab
13	0	400	29	с	29	cd	59	cđ	26	e
14	75	400	38	ь	37	ab	62	bcd	46	cd
15	150	400	40	Ь	41	а	62	bcd	42	bc
6	300	400	39	Ь	33	bcd	69	abc	40	bc

Values for the first harvest.

E yr marain (

Walues within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level.

						S o	11				-
	Treatmen	nt	C		1	E		J	1	M	
N ²	Phosphorus	Potassium			Ha	agnesiu	m upta	ke≜		-	
	PI	pm				mg/	pot				
1	0	0	22	gh≜≜	21	ef	31	f	24	de	
2	75	0	36	bc	20	ef	57	Ь	44	ab	
3	150	0	44	a	41	a	64	а	53	а	
4	300	0	48	a	39	а	63	a	49	а	
5	0	100	20	hi	19	ef	25	g	18	ef	
6	75	100	34	cd	28	cd	48	с	37	bc.	
7	150	100	45	a	33	bc	58	ab	53	а	
8	300	100	39	ь	36	ab	56	ь	49	а	
9	0	200	18	ij	16	f	21	gh	15	ef	
10	75	200	2.8	ef	24	de	39	е	28	cd	
11	150	200	34	cd	28	cd	40	de	35	bc	
12	300	200	36	bc	29	cd	45	cd	38	bc	
13	0	400	14	j	16	f	18	h	11	f	
14	75	400	26	fg	21	ef	35	ef	23	de	
15	150	400	27	ef	29	cd	38	е	30	cd	
16	300	400	31	de	29	cd	45	cd	35	bc	

Table 123. Effect of phosphorus and potassium application in soils from Costa Rica on magnesium uptake by corn plants in the greenhouse - Phosphorus-Potassium Experiment

* Values for the first harvest.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at 0.05 probability level. しての

CALIFY AND AND ALL TO AND AND ALL TO A

the state while the state was able to be all

301 357

7) 200 ppm P as solid triple superphosphate.

250 ppm P as solid triple superphosphate.

Treatments were arranged in a complete randomized block design with five replications. All pots received a basic application of 200 ppm each of N and K. All nutrients were applied three days before the initial planting. Subsequently, 200 ppm of N were applied after each harvest. Following the first harvest, a micronutrient solution to supply 5, 5, 2, 1 and 0.05 ppm of Fe, Zn, Mn, B and Mo, respectively, was applied. Nutrients were supplied by NH4H2PO4, KNO3, (NH4)2SO4, Mg(NO3)2.6H20, K2SO4, MgSO4.7H20, NH4NO3, triple superphosphate, Fe2(SO4)3.4H20, ZnCl2, MnSO4.H20, H3BO3 and (NH4)6 -Mo7O24.4H20.

Texture and chemical characteristics of soil Q are given in Table 115, while those for soil N were given in page 112 of the 1975 Annual Report. Three harvests were obtained from each soil, but since response was similar for the three crops, values shown in Table 124 are the total dry matter produced per pot. Results corroborate findings for the PK factorial experiment, indicating that in these soils the application of 150 ppm of P will be adequate for normal corn growth in the greenhouse.

Similar yields were obtained at equivalent P rates whether it was applied solid or in solution for soil N. On the other hand, lower rates appeared to be necessary for optimum growth when P was applied solid as superphosphate to soil Q.

Results again suggest the importance of observing closely P concentration in the banana leaf to detect on time a drop below the sufficiency levels.

Nitrogen

In order to determine optimum N rates for maximum corn and sorghum growth under greenhouse conditions, a trial was established using soil B from Palmar and soil Z from Copen Farm, Honduras. Sorghum followed corn in the planting sequence. Soil preparation, planting and harvesting procedures were similar to those applied for the previous experiment.

The following N rates were tested:

- 1) 100 ppm
- 2) 150 ppm
- 3) 200 ppm
- 4) 250 ppm

Treatments were arranged in a complete randomized block design with five replications. A basal application of 75, 300, 25 and 25 ppm of P, K, Mg and S, respectively, was made to all pots. Treatments and the basic nutrients were applied three days before planting each crop. Nutrients were provided by (NH4)2504, Mg(N03)2.6H20, NH4N03, KH2P04 and K2504.

15,21	Treatment	Soi1	
Nº	Phosphorus applied	N Oven-dry her	Q bage
	ppm	g/pot	
1	100 solution	24.4 b**	37.9 b
2	150 solution	26.4 ab	39.7 ab
3	200 solution	27.6 a	39.1 ab
4	250 solution	28.1 a	42.6 a
5	100 solid	24.4 ь	40.2 ab
6	150 solid	26.2 ab	41.4 ab
7	200 solid	26.2 ab	42.7 a
8	250 solid	27.8 a	41.5 ab

Table 124. Effect of solid and liquid phosphorus in soils from Golfito, Costa Rica on yields of corn herbage*

* Values are total of three harvests.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at the 0.05 probability level.

Treatments were arranged in a complete randomized block devign. with five

•

The effect of N on dry matter yields of corn and sorghum is shown in Table 125. Since growth response of corn to treatments was similar for the first and second harvests, values shown are total of the two harvests. Only one sorghum harvest was made. Differences in yields of corn among treatments were not statistically significant, indicating that 100 ppm of N is probably enough to supply N needs of corn under the conditions of this experiment. On the other hand, maximum sorghum growth on the Honduras soil was obtained with application of 150 ppm of N, but there was a reduction in sorghum yields with N application to the soil from Golfito. This was probably caused by N accumulation from previous crops since there was not water leaching from pots and/or by a decrease in pH at higher N rates.

In general, results agree with present N recommendations for bananas since best growth was obtained with application of 100-150 ppm of N which is equivalent to 225-336 kg per ha (200-300 lb/acre).

Magnesium

An experiment was established with the purpose of determining whether corn and sorghum growth was affected by magnesium applied to one soil from Honduras and four from Golfito under greenhouse conditions. Soil preparation, planting and harvesting procedures were similar to the ones used in the previous experiments.

Two corn harvests were made followed by one of sorghum. The following treatments were applied:

- 1) 0 ppm Mg
- 2) 25 ppm Mg
- 3) 50 ppm Mg

The soils from Golfito used for this trial were: G, I, L and S; the soil from Honduras was collected in Santa Rosa. A basic application of 200, 75, 300 and 50 ppm of N, P, K and S, respectively, was made to all pots. This N rate was applied before planting each crop. Treatments and basal nutrients were applied three days before seeding.

Texture and chemical characteristics of soils from Golfito were described in page 112 of the 1975 Annual Report. Characteristics of the soil from Honduras were given in pages 96 and 98 of the 1975 Annual Report. Magnesium application did not affect corn or sorghum growth, except for the first corn harvest on soil S where yields were significantly reduced from 13.50 to 12.64 g/pot, by the highest Mg rate. Results indicate that these soils supply all Mg required for adequate corn and sorghum growth. These results agree with analytical determinations indicating relatively large amounts of exchangeable Mg in these soils. Low absorption of this nutrient by oil palms in the Coto area may be related to an inefficient mechanism of Mg uptake by the oil palm. On the other hand, banana plants apparently are able to absorb enough Mg from these soils for adequate growth and development. Table 125. Since granth response of corn to treatments was similar for the first and accord harvests, values shown are total of the two harvests. Only one sorghum hervort was made. Differences in yields of corn among treatments worn not statistically significant, indicating that 100 mpm of A is probably enough to supply a means of threa under the conditions of this experiment. On the other hond, maximum scorphar growth on the bionduras soil was ditained with application of 150 ppm of H, but there was a reduction in

Т	reatment	Copen Soil Z	(Honduras)	Palmar Soil	B (Golfito)
Nº	Nitrogen applied	Corn	Crop Sorghum	Corn	Sorghum
	ppm		g/pot		
1	100	19.77 a**	3.84 b	16.58 a	4.37 a
2	150	20.22 a	5.15 a	17.66 a	3.52 a
3	200	21.94 a	5.27 a	17.40 a	2.31 b
4	250	21.27 a	5.18 a	18.12 a	1.47 b

Table 125. Effect of nitrogen application on yields of corn and sorghum herbage*

* Values for corn are total of two harvests; while the ones for sorghum are for one harvest.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at the 0.05 probability level.

Autoreants were appreted three mays months compares acribed in pupe LL of the 1825 Annual Ropert. Theracteristics of the soll from Penduras were given in anges 36 and 36 of the 1975 Annual Report. May measure application of and utlact corn or increme growth, except for the first care baryest of soil 5 Marre vields were sign. (contry reduced from 1.50 to 12.50 group, by the files fileway by and 36 of the 1975 Annual Report. May 1.50 to 12.50 group, by the files fileway have sign. (contry reduced from solls supply all by required for adequate sort and straight a file for the supply of schemes with analytical for adequate sort and straight for the solls supply all by required for adequate sort and straight for the second supply of schemes of the solution of the file for the straight is indicated for adequate sort and straight for the source of supply is a file fileway by the solid. (and straight for the second supply is a file fileway by the solid. (and straight and the by oil pater in the formation there table for adequate growth and advertign and he for absorb cannets by from these tables for adequate growth and advertign and he for absorb cannets by from these tables for adequate growth and advertign and the for the straight of the solid for a solid. (a solid for the formation of the formation and the formation of the solid for the solid for adequate growth and develop and the formation of the solid for these tables for adequate growth and develop and the formation of the solid for these tables for adequate growth and develop and the formation of the formation of the solid for adequate growth and develop and the formation of the formation 1.10

(ite

100 AND AND

237 42

123

Sulfur - Costa Rica

Preliminary greenhouse experiments conducted in 1975 with soils from Costa Rica showed a pronounced response in sorghum growth to the application of S (1975 Annual Report, p. 127). Since only one rate was tested last year, more experimentation was required in order to determine optimum S rates required for maximum dry matter production under greenhouse conditions.

Soil preparation, planting and harvesting procedures were similar to the ones followed last year. Corn or sorghum seeds were planted in clay pots containing 1 kg of air-dry soil. One week after germination, seedlings were thinned out to six per pot. Two corn and one sorghum harvests were made. Sorghum followed corn in the planting sequence.

The following soils were used for this trial: D, H, I, J, K, L, P and S. The following S rates were tested: 1) Control (no S); 2) 12.5; 3) 25; 4) 50; and 5) 100 ppm of S. Reagent grade K_2SO_4 and $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ were used as S sources. All pots received a basic application of 200 ppm N as KNO_3 , $Mg(NO_3)_2$.6H₂O, NH₄NO₃ and $(NH_4)_2SO_4$; 75 ppm P as KH_2PO_4 ; 300 ppm K as K_2SO_4 and KH_2PO_4 ; and 25 ppm Mg as $Mg(NO_3)_2$.6H₂O. After the first harvest all pots received a basal application of 200, 150 and 100 ppm of N, P and K, respectively. Following the second corn harvest, all pots were seeded to sorghum and received a basic application of 200 ppm of N. Treatments were arranged in a complete randomized block design with six replications.

After each harvest, the plant material was dried at 65-70° F and weighed. The data were analyzed statistically by Analysis of Variance, and treatment means were compared by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

Texture and chemical characteristics of soil J are shown in Table 115, while characteristics of the other soils were presented on page 112 of the 1975 Annual Report. Table 126 shows the effect of S application on corn growth in four soils: D, I, K and S from Golfito. No growth response was obtained in the other soils. The best treatments were 12.5 ppm of S for soils K and S and 50 ppm in soils D and I. Response for the second harvest was similar to the first harvest. Variable response in sorghum growth was obtained. In general, it appears that 25 to 50 ppm, equivalent to 50-100 lb/ acre will be enough for optimum corn growth on these soils under greenhouse conditions.

These data indicate that S may become a limiting factor for some crops growing on these soils and, unless bananas are very efficient in absorbing this nutrient, it may limit production of quality fruit. (RODRIGUEZ, GUILLEN)

Soil Fertility Survey

There is a need to characterize the fertility status of soils from all banana-growing areas in Central America in order to better understand plant performance under each specific set of conditions. A soil fertility survey will be also a complement to the foliar analysis program in establishing a comprehensive fertilization program for each region.

Suffur - Dasta Alga

C.S.

News

39 62

6

(interest

000

33, 433

Preliminary graamouse experiments conducted in 1975 with solis from dosta Nico showed a prenounced response is sorghum growth to the application of 5 (19)5 Annual Report, p. 137). Since only one rate was tested last year ore experimentation was required in order to determine optimum 5 rates repaired for maximum dry sutter production under graenhouse conditions.

Table 126. Effect of sulfur in soils from Golfito on yields of corn herbage

		State of the state of the state of the	1 2143 504 692	1	projust list. at	
Tr	eatment	tment Soil				
Nº	Sulfur applied	D	l Oven-dry her	K bage*	S	
	ppm		g/pot			
1	0	6.6 c**	7.7 b	8.4 c	21.4 ab	
2	12.5	7.0 bc	8.2 ab	9.8 a	23.9 a	
3	25	7.2 b	8.3 ab	9.0 b	18.4 ь	
4	50	7.7 ab	8.3 ab	9.6 ab	20.2 b	
5	100	7.9 a	8.8 a	9.2 ab	19.3 b	

* Values for the first harvest.

** Values within a column followed by different letters are significantly different at the 0.05 probability level.

There is a newl to charactering the famility status of solis from al anona-growing areas in Central Aparica in order to better understand plan orfornance under carb iscultic set of conditions. A soli ferillity surve ill be also a complement to the foller analysic program in establishing a Since Golfito probably has the most nutrition-related problems, a soil fertility survey was initiated in this Division. This was a very detailed survey; one composite soil sample at approximately 1.22 to 1.52 m from banana plants was taken at a 0-30 cm depth in each cable area. The number of sub-samples making up a sample varied from 25 to 50, depending on the length of each cable. All sub-samples collected in each cable area were mixed together in a large plastic bucket, a 200 to 300 g sample was placed in a polyethylene bag and sent to La Lima to make the following analytical determinations: pH, organic matter, P, K, Ca, Mg, S, Fe, Cu, Zn and Mn. After completing the chemical analysis, maps for pH, P, K and any other nutrient whose concentration in the soil varies considerably will be prepared for each farm.

Phosphorus was extracted by the North Carolina extracting solution (dilute HCl + H₂SO₄) and determined by the ascorbic acid method, while K, Ca, Mg, Mn, Zn, Fe and Cu were extracted by a 1N NH40Ac solution at pH 4.8 and determined by atomic absorption. Phosphorus concentrations were grouped into four categories: very low (<10 ppm), low (10-16 ppm), marginal (17-37 ppm) and high (>37 ppm). On the other hand, K concentrations were tentatively grouped into five categories: very low (<75 ppm), low (75-150 ppm), marginal (151-250 ppm), adequate (251-350 ppm) and high (>350 ppm). These categories are general guides, but even a high nutrient concentration in the soil does not guarantee that a response to the application of such nutrient will not be obtained since there are many factors that affect nutrient availability in the soil.

Tables 127 and 128 show the percentage of samples from each farm in Palmar District in each category for P and K, respectively; whereas these data for farms in Coto District are shown in Tables 129 and 130. Soils from Coto contained less P than the ones from Palmar District. This may be a factor in the lower fruit production in the former District. On the other hand, there was slightly more K extracted from Coto soils than from the ones from Palmar. (RODRIGUEZ, FROMM)

GROUND COVERS

Soil erosion is a serious problem in some Divisions, especially where bare ground is maintained by use of herbicides. This situation is more accentuated in Armuelles and Golfito where 75-80% of their rainfall occurs in 6-7 months of the year. It is suspected that the run-off that is taking place is affecting the upper and richer part of the soil by washing it into the bottom of canals.

A ground cover crop would help control erosion in these areas. This protective cover may be any plant providing an adequate covering of the soil. However, a more suitable cover is a leguminous crop. Undoubtedly, the choice of a ground cover plant must be preceded by a careful screening to guarantee that the selected plant will cause no problems.

A ground cover should cover the soil to prevent erosion, preserve the humus by reducing soil exposure to the effect of direct sunlight, improve structure and aeration of the soil, as well as increase the N level and reduce weed competition. Hilty survey was initiated in this Division. This was a very detailed wey, and composite soil semple at approximately 1.22 to 1.52 m from her its was taken at a 9-30 or depite in each coole area. The number of sub ites miking up a sample veried from 28 to 50, depending on the length cable. All sub-samples collected in each coole area vere mixed toget clarge plastic bucket, a 200 to 300 g sample was placed in a polyethyl and sent to ta time to make the following and the Actorninations:

Table 127.	Percentage of samples from Palmar District with phos-
	phorus concentration in each category - Soil Fertility
	Survey, Golfito, Costa Rica

-ptaa -	Fertility Category							
Farm	Very low (<10 ppm)	Low (10-16 ppm)	Marginal (17-37 ppm)	High (≻37 ppm)				
	191) Teolpres, (a	% of sa	amples					
2	2.56	11.54	55.13	30.77				
3	ing is the second	Data Dava-area area	26.92	73.08				
4	. from shifty farm	19.05	68.25	12.70				
5	freeday, cr eek data	K, respectively a	24.97	. 75.71				
6	al neri <u>s</u> tistist area in a fatta	The second s	78.75	21.25				
7	ada , band nadao a	di di azzinezia	11.11	88.89				
8	ne ones <u>(r</u> om Palm	te mini nule allos	32.26	67.74				
9-	24.29	55.71	20.00					
10	34.33	29.85	25.82					
11			71.80	28.21				
12	wythilmages ,end	26.14	57.95	15.91				
13		lolines. <u>Difference</u>	1.37	98.63				
x	5.10	11.86	39.53	42.74				

A ground caver crop would help dontrol acotion in their areas, This mateotive cover may be any flast provibiles an adequate covering of the soll. Insever, a core suitable cover is a lequeincout crop, undoubtadiy, the choice of a pround enser plant must be preceded by a cateful screening to guarantee but one talacted platt will chure as problem.

A grained cover should cover the scil to drivent chosion, provide the filmmus by reducing soll companies to the affect at Wirth's continue, improve structure and acresting of the soil, as well as increase the H level and reduce week comentation.

6.

Series.

.:

000

e

All 25

	Fertility Category							
Farm	Very low (<75 ppm)	Low (75-150 ppm)	Marginal (150-250 ppm)	Adequate (250-350 ppm)	High (>350 ppm)			
			% of samples					
. 2		60.26	37.18	2.56	a			
3		13.46	69.23	9.62	7.69			
4		41.27	50.79	6.35	1.59			
5		8.57	50.00	28.57	12.86			
6		35.00	57.50	6.25	1.25			
7		52.22	30.00	7.78	10.00			
8	80. <u>1</u>	20.43	64.52	11.83	3.22			
9		40.00	60.00		6			
10	10.1	25.37	58.21	16.42				
11	1.30	24.68	66.23	7.79	S			
12	10.25	47.73	39.77	11.36	1.14			
13		15.07	68.49	16.44				
x	0.11	32.01	54.33	10.41	3.15			

Table 128. Percentage of samples from Palmar District with potassium concentration in each category - Soil Fertility Survey, Golfito, Costa Rica

÷.

.

/ery low < 10 ppm) 50.00	Low (10-16 ppm) % of sa	Marginal (17-37 ppm) amples	High (<i>></i> 37 ppm)
< 10 ppm) 50.00	(10-16 ppm)	(17-37 ppm) amples	(>37 ppm)
50.00	% of sa	amples	
50.00			
	48.65	1.35	
46.25	22.50	31.25	
47.06	41.18	11.76	
19.77	63.95	16.28	
9.09	54.55	36.36	
33.33	61.73	4.94	
30.61	48.98	20.41	
17.02	17.02	64.89	1.06
0.91	4.55	40.00	54.54
1.12	7.87	83.14	7.87
21.86	6.25	54.69	17.19
9.88	7.41	53.08	29.63
23.91	32.05	34 85	9 19
	47.06 19.77 9.09 33.33 30.61 17.02 0.91 1.12 21.86 9.88 23.91	47.06 41.18 19.77 63.95 9.09 54.55 33.33 61.73 30.61 48.98 17.02 17.02 0.91 4.55 1.12 7.87 21.86 6.25 9.88 7.41 23.91 32.05	47.06 41.18 11.76 19.77 63.95 16.28 9.09 54.55 36.36 33.33 61.73 4.94 30.61 48.98 20.41 17.02 17.02 64.89 0.91 4.55 40.00 1.12 7.87 83.14 21.86 6.25 54.69 9.88 7.41 53.08 23.91 32.05 34.85

. .

Table 129. Percentage of samples from Coto District with phosphorus concentration in each category - Soil Fertility Survey, Golfito, Costa Rica

-242-

(

1. S. S.

(...

60 10

is.

A grown cover crop proyect but initiated in 1979 in Section 6 of Sec Juan Form, Hondurus to study the behavior of verious imported and native glants, mostly legument, grown under prestabilished bringing placestion. Information is being collected from these places to detruming the most suitable ones.

proverting under bunning plantings.

Table 130. Percentage of samples from Coto District with potassium concentration in each category - Soil Fertility Survey, Golfito, Costa Rica

	Fertility Category				
Farm	Very low (< 75 ppm)	Low (75-150 ppm)	Marginal (150-250 ppm)	Adequate (250-350 ppm)	High (>350 ppm)
Litra			% of samples ·		
41		1.35	44.59	50.00	4.05
42		s, is not depice	61.25	31.25	7.50
43	iver routeful	4.41	58.82	33.82	2.94
44		5-205 an per v	45.35	51.16	3.49
45		1.30	94.81	3.90	ri énec l' 11/1/0
46			66.67	30.86	2.47
47		18.37	80.61	1.02	netwoof sor
48		19.15	77.66	3.19	ani shakuta kana
58		dontent in th	57.27	32.73	10.00
59		put ni-addation	44.44	43.33	12.12
62		a the Taile and	48.44	43.75	7.81
63		3.70	53.09	38.27	4.94
x		4.02	61.08	30.27	4.61
	int cover plan	e arti samo grav	in the lance, the		

tesistance to berbicites. For the accessory of eftablistment and maintenance of a cover and, parbicide up its accessory. This factor is such muse important with antive plants which are untoraffy growing in some binace form. Several wody or semi-woody special may based in this respect. Plants with brick leaf cutieles are showing cartain to Prince for some burbicides.

<u>sees productions</u> floats producing large associaties of viable seed showahr aut the year are preferred over plants that produce loss viable seeds or those flowering in very sputific generies. It is plan important to consider some A ground cover crop project was initiated in 1975 in Section 6 of San Juan Farm, Honduras to study the behavior of various imported and native plants, mostly legumes, grown under an established banana plantation. Information is being collected from these plants to determine the most suitable ones.

The most important characteristics that must be considered in searching for the ideal ground cover crop are:

Shade adaptation: Species must be adapted to the low light intensity conditions prevailing under banana plantings. 12

and and an

E

(1) (1) (1)

C. St

0

6

1934

E.

100

<u>Plant longevity</u>: A perennial plant is preferred to a short-cycle one since it is not practical or economical to establish ground cover every year. Annual plants have been discarded.

<u>Growth habit</u>: Climbing plants are useful because they compete with weeds growing in the same area, but this habit must not be so extreme as to reach the banana bunch. On the other hand, plants with horizontal stem which produce roots at their nodes forming a dense carpet have advantages over climbing type plants.

Plant vigor: Plant vigor and height are important characteristics in the competition against weeds, hence a rapid establishment can be obtained with rapid horizontal growth. However, a very vigorous plant that grows tall tends to reduce labor movement due to its long vines. This is not desirable.

Adaptation to humid conditions: Rainfall in our banana divisions varies between 1,511 mm of water per year in Honduras to 5,209 mm per year in Coto; only species which are adapted to the weather conditions prevailing in each Division should be considered.

<u>Competition with banana plants</u>: Plants that may compete with the banana plant for water and nutrient elements are not desirable. On the contrary, plants which increase the nutritional level of the soil must be sought.

Nitrogen fixation: Determinations of the N content in the soil are being made in order to find out which plants are more suitable in terms of N fixation. There are some subjective indexes to determine the effectiveness of a legume nodule, such as the reddish color of a nodule. The size and number of nodules are not accurate means to judge the N fixing capacity of a legume plant.

Hosts for banana pests and diseases: Species that are hosts to banana pests or diseases will be avoided. For instance, there are some ground cover plants that have been reported as hosts to nematodes.

Resistance to herbicide: For the economical establishment and maintenance of a cover crop, herbicide use is necessary. This factor is even more important with native plants which are naturally growing in some banana farms. Several woody or semi-woody species may excel in this respect. Plants with thick leaf cuticles are showing certain tolerance for some herbicides.

Seed production: Plants producing large quantities of viable seed throughout the year are preferred over plants that produce less viable seeds or those flowering in very specific seasons. It is also important to consider some
specific problems like seed dehiscence, very small seeds, seeds with morphological appendixes, etc., which make harvesting of seeds difficult.

Resistance to damage by banana plant residue: When deleafing and at harvest, a large amount of leaves and stalks fall on the ground cover, causing a yellowing of the cover plants, resulting in a serious defoliation of the latter. The cover crop density declines and may be easily invaded by weeds. The degree of recovery is variable from one species to another, but this ranges between 4-6 weeks in the specific damaged sites. Species that spread laterally very slowly are more damaged than aggressive and vigorous plants.

Resistance to attack of pests and diseases: Many ground cover species are attacked by insects or fungi. The extent of the damage varies from poor appearance of the plants to some extreme cases in which some plants are destroyed.

The following species have been planted in the test garden:

- 1) Aeschynomene sp.
- 2) Canavalia ensiformis
- 3) Canavalia maritina
- 4) Calopagonium caeruleum**
- 5) Calopagonium muconoides*
- 6) Cassia lanceolata
- 7) Cassia tagera
- 8) Cassia tora
- 9) Cassia leiophylla
- 10) Cassia sp. (named C. maxillare by our suppliers)

and popular a sol (the second lost

11) Cassia occidentalis

12) Cassia reticulata

- 13) Cassia sp. (two species)
- 14) Centrosema plumierii**
- 15) Centrosema pubescens*
- 16) Centrosema virginianum**
- 17) Chamaecrista stenocarpa
- 18) Chamaecrista sp.
- 19) Clitoria ternatea
- 20) Cracca greenmanii*
- 21) Crotalaria incana

22) Crotalaria intermedia

- 23) Crotalaria juncea
- 24) Crotalaria lanceolata

25)	Crotalaria maxilaris		
26)	Crotalaria retusa		
27)	Crotalaria spectabilis		
28)	Crotalaria striata		
29)	Crotalaria tuerckheimii		
30)	Crotalaria vitellina		
31)	Crotalaria sp.		
32)	Desmanthus virgatus		
33)	Desmodium adscendens**		
34)	Desmodium affine*		
35)	Desmodium axillare*		
36)	Desmodium barbatum		
37)	Desmodium canum*		
38)	Desmodium intortum*		
39)	Desmodium scorpiurus*		
40)	Desmodium tortuosum		
41)	Desmodium triflorum		
42)	Desmodium uncinatum*		
43)	Derris elliptica**	annuat direct	
44)	Dolichos axillaris		
45)	Dolichos lablab blanco		
46)	Dolichos lablab roio		
47)	Dolichos lablab		
48)	Flemingea congesta		
49)	Glycine clarence**		
50)	Glycine javanica Cooper*		
51)	Glycine javanica Tinaroo*		
52)	Indigophera hirsuta		
53)	Indigophera mucronata		
54)	Indigophera suffruticosa	Characteristics see.	
55)	Indigophera sp. (two species)	Cittoria tematea	
56)	Pectis guyanensis		
57)	Pectis leptocephala		
58)	Phaseolus adenanthus*		
59)	Phaseolus atropurpureus*		
60)	Phaseolus aureus	trotalation lancaslater	
61)	Phaseolus calcaratus		

-246-

00.0000

0.0

U W W W

Ċ

000

1

(A) (A).

- 62) Phaseolus coloratum
- 63) Phaseolus lathyroides
- 64) Phaseolus lunatus
- 65) Phaseolus sp.
- 66) Pilea microphylla
- Psophocarpus tetragonolobus U.P.S.-31 67)
- 68) Psophocarpus tetragonolobus U.P.S.-46
- 69) Pueraria phaseoloides
- 70) Rhynchosia hondurensis
- 71) Rhynchosia minima
- Stizolobium aterrinum 72)
- Stizolobium deeringeanum 73)
- Stizolobium deeringeanum Gateado 74)
- 75) Stylosanthes gracilis
- Stylosanthes gracilis Guyanensis 76)
- Stylosanthes humilis 77)
- 78) Tagetes - Compacta Ursula
- 79) Tagetes - Dainty Marietta
- 80) Tagetes erecta - Aztec
- 81) Tagetes erecta - Guinea
- Tagetes erecta Glitters 82)
- Tagetes erecta Finest mixed 83)
- 84) Tagetes - Finest mixed
- Tagetes Marietta Hawaii 85)
- 86) Tagetes - Naughty Marietta
 - Tagetes Petite mixed 87)
 - 88) Tagetes ~ (two native species)
 - 89) Tephrosia sp.
 - Teramnus labialis 90)
 - Vigna sp. (named V. marina by our suppliers) 91)
 - Vigna sp. (named V. octubreña by our suppliers) 92)

season, but has shown to be a host to

- 93) Vigna unguiculata
- Vigna sp. 94)
- Zornia diphylla -95)
- Unknown species (three plants)* 96)

97) Grasses:

<u>Cynodon aethyopus</u> <u>Digitaria decumbens</u> <u>Digitaria decumbens</u> - Transval

* Very promising ground cover.

** Must continue under observation.

The more promising plants are briefly described:

<u>Calopagonium caeruleum</u> - A native plant well-adapted to shade. This is a creeping plant forming a dense mat of 30-45 cm height. Flowering has just started in January. Since it is one of the newest acquisitions, more observation is needed. It has proven to be an important cover crop in rubber plantations in Malaysia.

<u>Calopagonium muconoides</u> - Procumbent growth habit forming a mat of 15-30 cm in height. Since it produces roots easily at the nodes, it spreads very rapidly. Climbing plants with hairy stems and hairy pods. It is not affected by insects and diseases or cold weather. It seems to be favored by a rainy season, but has shown to be a host to Radopholus similis.

<u>Centrosema plumierii</u> - Probably an annual plant that has a procumbent growth, forming a vegetal cover of 30 cm in height. Plant of vigorous and aggressive growth, with abundant leaf falling. Does not reduce the labor movement. Has shown to be middly susceptible to attack by foliage insects. A large amount of effective nodules are observed. Flowering has not yet occurred after 9 months from planting.

<u>Centrosema pubescens</u> - Procumbent growth habit forming a dense mat about 25-30 cm in height. Spreads laterally rapidly. A vigorous and aggressive grower. Considerable leaf fall, hence a carpet of litter is formed between soil and plant. Stems are slender but somewhat woody.

Chlorosis common in Honduras high-pH soil is probably due to an Fe deficiency because when a 0.1% Fe solution was supplied to the foliage, this chlorosis disappeared. It is one of the best adapted cover plants in Honduras and Golfito Divisions. It has shown high adaptability to mixed growth with other plants.

<u>Clitoria ternatea</u> - This is a herbaceous, possibly perennial plant, forming a dense mat of 30 cm in height. A marked tendency to climb the banana mat has been observed. Up to date (one year of age) no insects or fungi have been seen attacking this plant. It does not present impediment to labor movement. It flowers and produces seeds from April through January. More information about the behavior of this plant is required. ALLEN ALLEN

13

10 10 10

AN AN

Star and

No.

Con Con

Ċ

金 彩

<u>Cracca greenmanii</u> - Procumbent growth habit forming a mat of 25 cm in height. Although it has roots at the nodes, it is not a strong competitor with weeds, hence it can easily be invaded; moreover, it is a quite slow plant to spread in a lateral growth. It has semi-woody stems and leaves have thick cuticle. Although it is easy to establish from cuttings, it is difficult to collect seeds due to the dehiscence. Flowering and seed production occurred from January through September. Nodules have not been observed in this plant. It may have considerable potential in a mixture.

Desmodium affine - A very promising dense mat forming a vegetal carpet of 15-20 cm in height. The woody stem roots at the nodes. It is not very aggressive and spreads slowly. It is not a good competitor against weeds. Flowering and seed production occur throughout the year. Reproduction is effective by cuttings and seeds.

Desmodium axillare - A native semi-woody to woody plant, which is very promising for banana plantations. It is one of the more creeping species, forming a dense cover of 15-20 cm. It is quite tolerant to damage by banana residue. It is not attacked by insects or fungi. Flowering and seed production occur throughout the year. Its growth is apparently favored by humid conditions. In spite of the difficulty of seed recollection by hand, some herbicides like Gramoxone and Gesatop may have an important role in the establishment of this plant when natural stands of this species are sprayed with these herbicides.

Desmodium canum - Semi-upright plant, not very dense. Stems thicker and more woody than D. affine. It is not a good competitor against weeds, probably due to poor rooting at the nodes. Defoliation is not abundant as in other plants of this genus. Flowering and seed production occur throughout the year. This plant may be mixed with a more aggressive plant. It is convenient to continue the observations and collection of data from this plant.

Desmodium intortum - Semi-upright growth habit with some stems reaching I meter in height. It does not reduce labor movement. Before the plant reaches I m in height, most stems lodge and the cover may then have 50-60 cm in height. The nodes produce roots when they are in contact with the soil. Abundant leaf falling occurs; therefore, there is a permanent carpet of litter between leaves and soil. It is easily established from seed and, to a lesser extent, from cuttings. It is not a climber plant. Flowering and seed production occur from January through April. It is slightly affected by the banana residue falling on it.

<u>Desmodium scorpiurus</u> - One of the most promising native creeping plants, forming a mat of 10-15 cm in height. This plant has a large quantity of small, light, green leaves. It roots at nodes extremely easily, hence it has an excellent lateral spread covering the ground within a few weeks. It has been propagated from cuttings and, although flowering and seed production occur throughout the year, the amount of seed produced is quite scarce. The seed is inside pods of 4-7 segments and like many other plants of the genus <u>Desmodium</u> has little hooks in the pods. Neither insects nor fungi attacks have been recorded. Desmodium uncinatum - Procumbent growth habit forming a mat smaller than D. intortum; it can reach 25-35 cm in height and in general is weaker than D. intortum. Standing water is probably the most limiting factor. The above has been observed in Coto District, Farm 47, where plants germinated successfully but standing water because of poor drainage has eliminated this species. Old plantings are not as dense as young plantings, especially after flowering. This is the main reason to justify a mixture with plants like <u>Centrosema pubescens</u>. Flowering occurs from April to September, and seed production is from December through January.

Derris elliptica - Procumbent native plant which is especially propagated by cutting, it is found growing locally in humid and shaded areas, forming a dense and vigorous mat of long and thick vines 60 cm in height which do not reduce labor movement. Flowering has not been observed in this plant.

<u>Glycine javanica</u> Cooper - A perennial plant of procumbent growth habit and a slight tendency to climb the banana plant and suckers. This plant forms a dense cover of 30 cm with abundant leaves of a light green color. Spreads laterally rapidly due to rooting at nodes. It is a good competitor against weeds by climbing them. It is propagated by seeds or cuttings. It is susceptible to the attack by <u>Rhizoctonia</u> sp. Flowering and seed production occur from November through April. It is also affected by standing water in soil surface. When planted on an open space subject to full sunlight, better ground cover is obtained.

<u>Glycine javanica</u> Tinaroo - Procumbent growth habit, very similar to <u>Glycine</u> <u>javanica</u> Cooper. The Tinaroo variety forms a dense cover of 25-30 cm in height, but it is more susceptible to climatic changes. As <u>G. javanica</u> Cooper, it suffers some declining after flowering, but it takes longer to recover. Insect attacks have not been reported; however, it is susceptible to <u>Rhizoctonia</u> sp. Flowering and seed production occur from February through March.

<u>Phaseolus</u> adenanthus - A native creeping species forming a fair cover 15-20 cm in height. It produces a small number of leaves, hence the cover is not procumbent. However, it is easily established from seed collected in shaded areas where this plant grows well. Flowers are produced from January through April. It is not attacked by insects, but is seriously damaged by the rainy and cold season. It has been observed growing naturally in the Golfito Division. Abundant nodules have been observed.

<u>Phaseolus atropurpureus</u> - A native plant which forms a dense cover of 20-30 cm height. The seed reproduction is more effective. Flowering and seed production have been observed throughout the year. Although almost all species of this genus were seriously attacked by insects, this plant is quite tolerant to this damage.

To date, this plant has behaved like a perennial with some age effect and its degree of recovery is quite good. Lately serious damage, probably associated with waves of low temperature, was observed.

Pueraria phaseoloides - One of the most vigorous species but with a very slow initial growth. A clean ground is generally required for establishment, but after this stage it is a highly aggressive climbing plant, with large vines. A common oil palm ground cover. In bananas it is now planted in a mixture with <u>Centrosema</u> <u>pubescens</u>, and they produce a cover 20-40 cm in height and the above-mentioned disadvantages were reduced. Large amount of effective nodules are observed in the roots.

Teramnus labialis - A creeping type plant. It is extremely aggressive. A good competitor against weeds. This plant is forming a dense mat of 30-60 cm in height, but does not present any difficulty for labor movement. It is affected by low temperatures. Flowering is observed from November through January.

<u>Unknown-1</u> - One of the more creeping plants now under observation. It is probably a perennial plant, forming a green carpet of 10 cm in height. A rapid lateral growth occurs due to an excellent rooting at nodes. Although flowers since July through September, no seed formation has been noticed; it seems that the flowers are falling off the plant. Reproduction by cuttings is very effective. It is not affected by climate changes nor by humidity conditions.

About 90 plants have been discarded as ground covers. They exhibited one or several undesirable characteristics which are briefly described below:

<u>Climbing species:</u> The genera <u>Dolichos</u>, <u>Stizolobium</u> and <u>Canavalia</u> have a pronounced tendency to climb the banana plant. Additional labor was needed to remove the long vines from the pseudostem and the base of the banana plants.

Too tall plants: The genera Cassia, Crotalaria and Flemingia are very high, which makes them completely unsuitable in banana plantings.

Unadapted plants: Plants of the genus <u>Stylosanthes</u> did not develop under banana conditions. All the species of this genus had an excellent germination but never reached an optimum growth.

Sun-loving plants: There were also genera like Indigophera, completely unadapted to the shade of banana plantation and, although they had a good initial stage, could not maintain a good appearance.

Short growth cycle: Those plants whose life period is limited from some months to one year have been discarded. They belong mostly to the following genera: Phaseolus, Vigna, Psophocarpus, Canavalia, etc.

Other defects: Some plants belonging to the genus Tagetes had an adequate start, but thereafter were seriously damaged by water fall from the overhead irrigation system.

Importance of Native Plants

About 80-90% of the preliminary chosen cover crop plants are species found locally. These plants were growing mainly in banana plantations. Both propagation by cuttings or seeds have been used. A collection of native plants, preferably leguminous ones must be initiated in Armuelles and Bocas Divisions. This work must also continue in the Golfito Division. Since the major number of plants suffer from periodic declines, depending upon their physiology and the climatic conditions, especially the rainy season, it is necessary to consider the potential of some plants for growing in mixtures. Mixtures may also be useful to diminish the damage of fungal attack that occasionally occur.

Some promising mixtures are: <u>Centrosema</u> <u>pubescens</u> with <u>Pueraria</u> <u>phaseo-</u> <u>loides</u>, <u>D.</u> <u>intortum</u>, <u>D.</u> <u>axillare</u>, <u>D.</u> <u>uncinatum</u> as well as with plants belonging to the genus Glycine.

Golfito Division Observation Plots

Centrosema pubescens, Desmodium intortum, Desmodium uncinatum and Dolichos lablab were planted in May 1975 at Farm 47, Coto District, Golfito Division. These plants were promising under Honduras conditions.

Dolichos lablab was seriously affected by a combined attack of chrysomelids and Rhizoctonia sp., resulting in the disappearance of this plot.

Standing water is also a factor with detrimental effects, especially in both species of the genus <u>Desmodium</u>. However, <u>D</u>. intortum has shown to be more tolerant than <u>D</u>. <u>uncinatum</u> to poor drainage conditions. Standing water, which is very common in Coto District after heavy rainfall, greatly affects these species. Possibly this situation may be rectified by ground cover mixture with one water-loving plant. <u>C</u>. <u>pubescens</u> has shown, by far, to be the best adapted plant under Coto conditions and the chlorosis observed in the Honduras Division has not been observed there.

It is convenient to start ground cover crop studies under conditions of each Division. Many native and some exotic plants can be planted in a farm to obtain preliminary information before large-scale trials are initiated.

Excluding the Honduras experience, only in the Golfito Division a fair number of species have been observed. In Armuelles there is also a small plot of <u>Centrosema pubescens</u> and some information has been collected from it. Species show pronounced variation in adaptability from one site to another. For this reason, it is necessary that the more important species be observed in each Division.

Experiment with Tagetes sp. for Suppressions of Nematode Populations

A greenhouse trial with Tagetes sp. and parasitic nematodes was conducted. Nine varieties of Tagetes sp., two species of the genus <u>Pectis</u> and one species of the genus <u>Phaseolus</u> were planted in pots filled with nematode-infested soil from San Juan Farm (Honduras Division). The objective of the trial was to determine if growing <u>Tagetes</u> sp. would eliminate banana plant parasitic nematodes from the rhizosphere.

The nematodes considered in this trial were: Radopholus similis,

6

Will's

100

1958 ARS

20 W.

6

1415

SD 60

200

Pratylenchus coffeae, Meloidogyne sp. and Helicotylenchus multicinctus.

Erecta aztec and Erecta glitters <u>Tagetes</u> varieties show some promise as far as reducing number of nematodes in the soil. Growing red beans mixed with <u>Tagetes</u> did not result in any more nematodes than did <u>Tagetes</u> grown alone. Apparently, under the conditions of this trial, these nematodes are going to survive in the presence of <u>Tagetes</u>, and little population suppression can be expected.

Herbicide Use in Establishment of Native Plants

When a native plant is found growing in a banana farm or in other areas, they have the appearance of a heterogeneous stand of natural weeds; the wanted plant may be the dominant one. Some help is needed to reach a complete cover by the desired plant. This has happened with plants like <u>Desmodium axillare</u>, <u>Phaseolus adenanthus</u>, <u>Centrosema pubescens and Centrosema plumierii</u> in the Honduras Division.

A small trial was conducted at Cobb Farm (Honduras) over a natural stand of <u>Desmodium axillare</u>. Several rates of the four cleared herbicides for bananas and three unregistered products were sprayed over the heterogeneous vegetal cover in order to find out whether any of the products under test was able to accelerate the establishment of this native plant.

Gesatop Z at the rate of 2.24 kg/ha (2.0 lb/acre) and Gramoxone at a rate of 1.7 lt/ha (1.5 pt/acre) applied on a monthly basis, 3 or 4 times, resulted in a good cover similar to one obtained by cleaning manually. The area covered by this highly promising plant is being increased.

Seed Germination Trials

A germination trial was conducted in the greenhouse in order to find the best pre-germination treatment to increase germination of each species. A large number of treatments have been tested:

- 1) Immersing the seeds in boiling water for 1 to 120 sec.
- Immersion of the seeds in concentrated sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) for 5-40 sec.
- Exposure of seeds to low temperature (-7° C) for 1-20 days before planting.

These trials are conducted with the most promising species. Encouraging results for <u>C</u>. <u>pubescens</u>, <u>D</u>. <u>intortum</u>, <u>D</u>. <u>uncinatus</u> and <u>P</u>. <u>phaseoloides</u> have been obtained.

Freezing for 7-10 days has been the best treatment for both Desmodium species; immersion in H2SO4 for 5-10 sec is also recommended. With both treatments germination was 90% or higher, but both species appeared susceptible to the immersion in boiling water for more than 15 sec.

<u>Centrosema pubescens</u> had a behavior similar to <u>Desmodium</u> genus for both treatments, but its germination was quite lower than in the case of <u>D</u>. <u>uncina-</u> <u>tum</u> and <u>D</u>. <u>intortum</u>. A marked reduction in germination was also observed when using boiling water. Best results with <u>P</u>. <u>phaseoloides</u> were obtained when the seeds were treated with hot water (40° C) during half an hour + freezing (-7° C) during 24 hr. However, no more than 39% of germination was obtained.

(RODRIGUEZ, JACOME, MORALES)

6

1993

C

(1) (1)

1995

a.

63

6

6

£.

6

New York

100

FRUIT PROTECTION - GUYING MODIFICATIONS

The present guying system is inadequate for several reasons; namely, improper guying (loose, slippage on anchor plant and choking of young anchor plant caused by slipped knot), variable twine strength, fixed guy length (too long or too short), and cut or broken guys. In addition, with the current strength of twine, even properly guyed plants have little protection against moderate and severe winds. This is especially true of inclined plants bearing heavy bunches.

Our competitors habitually use props of bamboo or other materials. These props have the disadvantages of expense in cultivation and harvest, labor for handling in the field, deterioration and thievery.

A modified system of guying by straightening inclined plants and guying under tension would possibly reduce the considerable field losses experienced with the current system. A simple light-weight tool for this purpose has been developed. The function of the straightening tool is illustrated before (Figure 42) and after (Figure 43) application to the same plant.

The modifications which are suggested for implementation of this revised guying system are outlined below:

- (1) Presently, the fruit spray crew searches for the plants with newly shot bunches and the following bagging crew has to search for the same plants. The spray team should carry markers and attach them around the trunk (waist high) of treated plants for subsequent easy spotting by the baggers. These markers are easily made from a strip of bright-colored cloth with a button or hook on one end and a rubber band on the other end. In addition to increased efficiency, this would also prevent missed unsprayed bunches from being bagged during periods of high fruit spot incidence.
- (2) The bagger would continue to bag, dehand and debud, but would not guy. Instead of guying, he would place a much shorter pre-measured string on the plant to be guyed and leave the two loose ends dangling (about 4 ft off ground) opposite the bunch for the subsequent guyer. This string should be three to four times the thickness of current guy string. Instead of tying a knot to attach the guy to the plant as is the current method, the leader guy would be attached with a simple pass-through loop (). This prevents slippage (and aids removal at harvest) and the



-255-

Figure 42. Plant straightener at beginning position on inclined plant.



Figure 43. The inclined plant after straightening. Straightener is fixed in position.

. Iontro

thicker twine will not cut the plant. The lead strings would have knots in the ends for ease of tying on of guy string.

轮

100 mg

No.

New Y

6

6

CEN.

States

6

Car Alter

No co

Ć

6

i.

- The guyer would carry the plant straightener and a spool of twine (on his (3)back). The twine should be twice as strong as that currently used. He would straighten the inclined mats, but not use the straightener on upright mats. Care must be taken that an angle is left for fruit to hang clear of pseudostem upon development. The guyer would then leave straightener in its fixed position and pull string from spool over his shoulder to tie onto one of the lead strings left by the bagger. He cuts only the amount of string needed and pulls it through anchor plant at six inches above ground level with needle carried in disinfectant. Choking of anchor plant is prevented by making a non-slip knot by putting a loop in the string close to anchor plant and running the end of string through the loop for final tie (()). The second lead string is tied onto and guyed in the same manner. The guyer then removes the straightener and marker that was left by the fruit sprayer before continuing to the next plant.
- (4) When the bunch is harvested, the lead rope is removed and taken in for subsequent re-use several times. A segment of guy twine can be left around the knotted ends for recording number of times used.

This system appears to have several advantages:

- (a) Less labor required than with propping.
- (b) Closer supervision, since guying is one job.
- (c) No increase in materials required (the thicker leader guy is re-used several times and 1/2 the amount of regular guy twine is used).
- (d) No exertion by guyer (and no loose guys) since the tension is put on the string when straightener is removed.
- (e) With needle for anchoring, anchor stays low on plant and will not double the anchor plant as frequently as with higher anchoring.
- (f) Stronger twine will give blowdown protection.
- (g) Less swaying of plant in wind, since there is no slack in guy or guy attachment on anchored plant.
- (h) Reguying of cut or broken guys is easily accomplished by tying onto the stronger leader guy again.
- Different colored leader guys could possibly be used for age-grade control.
- (j) A considerable reduction in fruit lost.

Disadvantages:

- (a) One more job (but bagger should cover a larger area and receive less pay per mat).
- (b) Thievery of the stronger lead string.
- (c) Lower anchoring will result in less space for carrying harvested bunches under the guys.
- (d) The straightener is apparently more applicable to Grand Nain which has more tendency to lean than VALERY.
- (e) The system has to be tested. Demonstrations and explanations have been given to Dr. D. W. Funk and Mr. G. E. Donaldson. They plan to test the straightener in their respective areas where props are commonly used (Philippines) and where the highest plant losses are suffered (Armuelles).

(ROWE)

POST-HARVEST HORTICULTURE

SINKERS

In the 1973 Annual Report (pages 215-216) it was reported that sinker fruit did not hold for a significantly longer or shorter time than normal, or floater fruit. It was also found that sinkers had a higher soluble solids content than floaters at all color index stages.

Although sinkers are not identified as a cause of RT problems, they remain a source of loss in production. This is because heavy scarring occurs when the fruit bounce along on the bottom of the delatexing tanks. The phenomenon is perennial and seasonal; fruit harvested soon after the cold winter months contain a high percentage of sinkers. The cold period of 1975-76 was especially long and severe (Table 131).

Table 131. Mean monthly temperature minima (°F) during winter -Honduras Division

	the second se	
Month	Average 1971-1974	Season 1975-1976
December	69	56
January	70	58
February	71	58
March	72	60

In late May 1976, the following statistics were recorded on proportions of sinker fruit in three farms:

	% of dehanded fruit	% of waste fruit
San Juan	0.41	1.72
Corozal	0.77	4.20
Tibombo	2.53	18.03

ATTA ATTA

1000

ASSAN (

(1) (1) (1)

Star Ship

6

14

20

The high frequency of sinkers in Tibombo fruit was thought to be attributed to comparatively low night temperatures. The following data show monthly average minima for Tibombo Farm between December 1975 and March 1976:

		۴F
December	1975	68.4
January	1976	66.9
February	1976	66.5
March	1976	70.1

It is clear that Tibombo minimum temperatures are not low in comparison with the overall means for the Honduras Division. Thus, low temperatures alone are not the cause of the increase in frequency of sinker fruit.

During April and May 1976, a number of analyses were conducted on floater and sinker fruit. Samples from these analytical determinations were collected from La Curva Farm (06). The fingers from floater and sinker clusters of fresh green fruit were sampled on the same day, weighed, and the volume displaced in a graduated cylinder was measured to determine fruit density. Table 132 shows the average results obtained in ten fingers and ten of sinker clusters.

Table 132. Weight, volume displaced and density of sinker and floater fingers

visialse ynt mit (3*) minise	Sinkers	Floaters
Weight (g)	243.5	189.2
Volume displaced (cm ³)	240.5	190.3
Density (g/cm ³)	1.013	0.996

The specific gravity was also measured with a hydrometer on a solution of 20 g macerated pulp in 1000 ml of water. The average of ten readings on sinkers and same number of floaters was 1.001 and 0.998, respectively. Soluble solids

refractometer readings at different color index grades were also measured on both sinker and floater fruit (Table 133). In all cases, sinkers had a slightly higher reading than normal fruit. These data agree with the results reported in the 1973 Annual Report.

	Color Index				
	3	4	6	8	
Sinkers	14.4	18.9	23.9	24.8	
Floaters	14.1	18.9	23.6	24.2	

Table 133. Average soluble solids refractomer readings on ten fingers of sinker and floater fruit

Total soluble solids were also measured with a Brix hydrometer on a juice obtained from fruit with color grade 5+. The macerated pulp was treated with a pectic enzyme (Pectinol 10M) and centrifuged. The Brix hydrometer readings on sinker and floater banana juice was 23.1% and 22.7%, respectively.

The starch analysis confirms the slightly higher content of soluble solids on sinkers, giving an average on ten fingers of 6.62% starch on sinker versus 6.70% on floater fruit.

Ten fingers each of floater and sinker fruit were peeled. The peel on both types of fruit floated 100% of the time, but the pulp did not. Pulp from normal fruit floated 70% of the time on vertical position (with flowering end at the top) and 30% on horizontal position while all sinkers sank 100% of the time.

The pulp of sinker and floater fruit was divided in seven sections (Figure 44). The bananas used in this study were approximately the same length.

1234567

Flowering end

Figure 44. Banana sections used for analytical determinations.

From each section a plug 1.3 cm wide and a variable height, depending on the grade of the fruit, was cut. The density of each plug was measured and it was determined whether they sank or floated. Table 134 shows average density (W/V) and percent of the time that the plugs from sinker and floater fruit sank. It can be seen that in both sinker and floater fruit, the fruit pulp is less dense in the middle sections. In these measurements, the overall mean densities for floaters and sinkers were almost exactly the same.

Stem end

This may be a reflection of the errors inherent in measuring the density of small pieces of tissue. When it was determined whether or not the various sections floated, however, it became clear that a much higher percentage of the middle sections from sinker fruit sank. In sections 3 to 6, a mean of 92.5% of sinker sections sank compared with only 27.5% in floaters.

The soluble solids refractometer readings per section in color index grades 4 and 5 in both floater and sinker fruit were also analyzed (Table 135). The differences in soluble solids were, on the average, higher in sinkers as already shown in Table 133 above. No clear pattern in distribution amongst the sections emerged, however.

Total soluble solids (Brix hydrometer) were measured on the juice extracted from sections 4 and 5 of floater and sinker fruit. Juice from floater sections 4 and 5 gave a reading of 20.5% and 20.20%, respectively, while on sinkers the percentage was 21.15% and 20.80%. Starch analysis from section 5 confirms these results, giving an average from five fingers of 6.8% starch on floater and 6.20% starch on sinker fruit.

The length and width of starch grains from the whole fruit were measured. Averages for the 20 biggest grains in a microscopic field on sinkers was 54.47 microns length and 39.01 width, while floater grain averaged 43.82 and 36.40 microns, respectively. The same analysis on starch from section 5 from 20 different fingers of sinker and floater fruit gave averages of 59.02 microns length and 42.72 microns width for sinkers and 53.60 length and 47.21 microns width for floaters. These results were confirmed by microscopic observations of tissue of 25 microns width cut with the microtone. Sinker cells had less but larger starch grains than floater cells.

Ten individual fruit samples (peeled) each of sinkers and floaters were subjected to mineral analysis. The results are shown in Table 136.

There appears to be a higher level of both potassium and iron in the floater fruit. However, the iron content was only significantly greater at the 10% level of probability. Potassium on the other hand, was significantly higher in floater fruit than in sinkers (5% level).

There have been some previous observations on the relationship between potassium and the sinker phenomenon. In 1976, fruit from experimental plots in Palmar, Costa Rica which were treated with nitrogen but no potassium produced a high percentage of sinker fruit, whereas fruit from plots with both nitrogen and potassium produced few or no sinker fruit. This relationship may also be reflected in the fact that Sections 29-44 in Tibombo Farm showed low potassium (<3%) by leaf analysis in 1976. It is planned to investigate more fully this relationship during the 1977 sinker season.

The Relationship Between Potassium and Magnesium Status and Holding Properties of Bananas

A preliminary experiment was conducted to investigate the possibility of low potassium and/or magnesium status being a cause of RT. An experiment in La Curva Farm, started in January 1974 in a low soil-K area, has involved treatments of 400 lb actual K/acre/year with some plots receiving supplemental Mg at 10 (1) (1)

100 C

10

(22)

1

6

CON I

New y

Č,

1.1.1

ints per million		Density			Percent frequency plugs sank			1.0
Section		Sinkers	Floaters	-	Sinker	s	Floaters	
1		1.252	1.218		100		100	
2		0.995	1,086		100		100	
3		0.917	0.920		100		45	
4		0.916	0.921		90		15	
5		0.879	0.937		90		10	
6		0.967	0.954		90		40	
7		1.160	1.053		100		90	
Means		1.012	1.013		95.7		57.1	
15		1.10	0.006	1.67	230.0.	08.1		qſ

Table 134.	Mean density of plugs of banana pulp from seven sec-
	tions of sinker and floater fruit, and the percentage
	frequency with which they sank in water

Table 135. Average soluble solids refractometer in three readings per section on floater and sinker fruit

13	- 2	138 - 381	0 113.8	Color Gr	ade	
		100	4		5	
Section		Sinker	Floater	-	Sinker	Floater
1		18.66	14.70		21.13	19.63
2		17.80	14.66	N.S.S.	20.96	20.40
3		16.46	15.66	1.25.0	20.80	19.43
4		16.66	16.33		20.96	16.56
5		15.86	16.06		20.40	18.63
6		16.80	15.10		19.26	17.96
7		16.00	14.60		20.60	18.96
Overall Average		16.89	15.28		20.59	18,80

Sample		N	Р	к	Ca	Mg	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
No.		2.2041	Parts per million							
F1	936013	1.90	0.061	1.66	0.013	0.131	103	3	15	11.3
F2		1.55	0.055	1.23	0.013	0.131	103	5	30	11.3
F3		1.90	0.055	1.66.	0.008	0.117	85	5	13	7.5
F4		1.60	0.051	1.45	0.011	0.117	48	3	15	7.5
F5		1.65	0.061	1.27	0.010	0.136	40	5	15	7.5
F6		1.70	0.061	1.05	0,008	0.130	90	8	13	8.1
F7		1.70	0.071	1.35	0.008	0.136	58	8	13	11.3
F8		1.65	0.047	1.31	0.009	0.125	88	5	35	9.4
F9		1.90	0.056	1.92	0.013	0.121	70	3	13	7.5
F10		1.80	0.065	1.67	0.006	0.124	63	3	45	8.8
Means		1.74	0.053	1.46	0.010	0.127	74.8	4.8	20.7	9.0
\$1		1.95	0.055	1.17	0.007	0.111	78	3	23	11.3
S2		1.75	0.047	1.43	0.012	0.131	88	3	10	9.4
\$3		1.75	0.049	1.37	0.006	0.124	35 .	3	13	7.5
.54		1.60	0.056	1.17	0.006	0.114	58	5	10	9.4
S5		1.90	0.055	1.15	0.007	0.121	55	5	13	8.8
s6		1.80	0.065	1.27	0.005	0.124	65	5	15	9.4
S7		1.90	0.065	1.27	0.012	0.136	55	5	13	8.1
\$8		1.65	0.041	1.27	0.012	0.120	63	8	10	7.5
S9		2.00	0.051	1.17	0.011	0.120	55	5	43	8.8
\$10		1.95	0.057	1.27	0.005	0.124	43	5	23	7.5
Means	4.184	1.82	0.054	1.25	0.008	0.122	59.5	4.7	17.3	8.8
Signific	cance	N.S.	N.S.	5%	N.S.	N.S.	10%	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.

Table 136. Mineral analysis of ten peeled fruit each of sinker and floater (fruit)

Com and ((:: 100 100 6 6 14 $(\cdot$ SP 53 100 8

25 lb/acre/year. In September, potassium rates were doubled. On the 29th December 1976, 20 boxes were taken from each treatment plus an untreated control and, after 48 hr at ambient temperature, were stored at 58° F. Boxes were held until their contents started to turn. Table 137 shows the average number of days held for each treatment and the average grade of the fruit. There was no difference in holding properties between treatments. The experiment will be repeated in 1977.

Treatment	Mean days* held	Average grade
Potassium	20.4	15.3
Potassium & magnesium	19.4	13.9
Control	20.1	15.5

Table 137. Mean number of days held and average grade of fruit from the potassium-magnesium experiment, La Curva

* Each figure is the mean of 20 boxes.

Holding Properties of Bananas in Relation to Hand Position

At shooting, basal hands are exposed 7-10 days before apical hands on the same stem. This difference reflects a difference also in the physiological age of the fruit.

It was decided to cut clean-up fruit on three different harvest dates, to separate the fruit according to hand position and to observe the holding properties of each hand. In two cases ll-hand stems only were cut, while in the third all stems were of ten hands. Each experiment consisted of 20 stems and the hands were grouped according to hand number (i.e. all apical hands - No. 1 were collected together in the same group of boxes and so on up to the basal hands Nos. 10 or 11). All hands were marked with the stem from which they had originated.

The data from each harvest were subjected to an Analysis of Variance and the least significant differences (L.S.D.) between hands computed. The results are shown in Table 138 and Figure '45. In all cases there was a very highly significant difference between hand positions. The range of holding times varied between 10 days and 13 days in the three trials, with the physiologically younger, apical hands holding longer than the basal hands. Thus, the 7-10 day difference in exposure at shooting is maintained, and probably slightly lengthened, during the course of fruit development.

tions		
posi		
a11		
at		
nands		
0 F		
5		
D		
Cal		
and		
es		
propert		
би		
holdi		
4-0		
E	tem	
iso	S	
par	the	
Com	uo	
138.		
able		
F		

		lst Harvest	t July 20	2nd Harves	t August 4	37	d Harvest	September 9	
No. clusters	z	Mean No. days held	Mean grade of hand	Mean No. days held	Mean grade of hand	Me	an No. ys held	Mean grade of hand	
1 (apical)	20	33.9	10.5	31.3	10.0		30.0	11.7	
2	20	32.8	11.3	31.2	10.5		27.7	12.3	
3	20	33.1	11.9	29.3	11.1		26.2	12.8	
-1-	20	28.8	12.6	29.2	12.3	i.	24.9	13.9	
5	20	27.9	13.9	26.7	12.8		22.6	14.0	
9	20	26.3	13.8	22.8	13.5		22.8	15.3	
7	20	26.1	14.6	18.7	13.9		20.0	15.5	
80	20	23.9	14.9	20.3	14.1		19.9	15.7	
6	20	23.7	15.6	20.0	14.7		20.6	15.8	
10	20	23.0	15.5	18.3	14.7		21.2	15.6	
11 (basal)	20	23.6	14.3	19.8	14.0			1	
Ranges		23.0-33.9	10.5-15.6	18.3-31.3	10.0-14.7	1	0.9-30.0		
L.S.D. 5%		2.01		6.78			3.90		
1%		2.65		8.94			5.15		
F Value		52.2		8.45			12.37		
									1

a highly significant difference at the 0.1% level of probability. **** Analysis of variance showed E S

(1) (2) (1)

- (1)- Y

• 1

1.0

100 NOV

6

*

129 (A)





* EACH CURVE REPRESENTS ONE HARVEST AND EACH POINT THE MEAN OF 20 HANDS.

Tests were carried out to evaluate the effects of these emulsions on the following properties: early ripes and turnings, fruit weight loss, crown rot susceptibility and chilling injury. No large positive effect was observed on any of these. Moreover, the emulsions appear to accentuate scarring.

Allied Chemical (A.C.) polyethylene emulsions 629 and 680 were sprayed at two concentrations in water on clusters of bananas at harvest on 11 February 1976. There were five boxes, containing ten clusters each, per treatment plus a water-sprayed control. The fruit were held for a maximum of 33 days or until boxes showed ripe or turning (RT) fruit. The results are shown below: 1930

AND ATTA ATTA

Ser.

No.

A.C.).

CEO.

5

SER NEV

Treatment	Mean days held	% clusters RT at 33 days	Average grade
P 629 10%	31.4	4	10.5
15%	31.0	2	9.9
P 680 10%	31.2	14	9.5
.15%	32.6	6	10.1
Control	33.0	0	9.4

Although the fruit were selected at random, there were slightly more high-grade (13) clusters in the treated fruit compared with the control. In any case, fruit do not appear to respond to the emulsions in terms of extended storage life. Scarring appeared accentuated after storage.

Further studies begun on July 14 were designed to test P 629 and P 680, together with Epolene E-10 Wax Coating (Eastman Kodak), for their effects on chilling susceptibility of fruit and on crown rot control. Each chemical was applied at 10% and 15% concentrations and the fruit were dipped, rather than sprayed, to ensure better coverage. Six boxes were treated with each concentration but three were subjected to a short chilling treatment as follows: after 24 hr at ambient temperature, the boxes were placed in a storage room at 50° F for 5 hr before being placed at the normal storage temperature of 58° F. The other half of the boxes were held for 24 hr at ambient temperature and moved directly into 58° F.

The degree of RT in the various treatments (after holding fruit for a maximum of 29 days) was as follows:

		Chilled	fruit	Unchille	d fruit		
Chemical	Treatment	Mean days to RT	Average grade	Mean days to RT	Average grade	Overall mean days to RT	
P 629	10%	28.0	13.6	28.5	12.6	28.25	
	15%	28.5	13.5	29.0	13.2	28.75	
P 680	10%	26.0	13.8	24.5	13.8	25.25	
	15%	26.5	13.4	23.0	13.6	24.75	
Epolene	10%	28.0	14.8	27.0	13.3	27.50	
	15%	25.5	13.2	25.5	13.9	25.50	
Control		27.0	13.6	29.0	11.0	28.00	
Honne		27 1	12 7	21 1	12 1		

Again, there was no significant alteration of storage life and scarring was accentuated.

The chilling treatment appeared inadequate since low numbers of chilled fruit were observed and none was severely chilled. The fruit were scored on the basis of a scale from 0 to 4 for none, trace, light, medium, severe, respectively. Maximum score per box of ten clusters was 40, but the highest chilling effect was 7.5:

Treatment	Chilling score (max. 40)
P 629 10%	2.0
15%	4.5
P 680 10%	2.0
·15%	7.5
Epolene 10%	2.0
15%	4.0
Control	1.0

The effect of the treatments on crown rot suppression was also evaluated. Sample boxes of fruit were ripened and assessed when at a mean color index of 4, 28 days after harvest. The clusters were scored from 0 (absence of mycelium) to 8 (rotting spread into pulp). Those clusters at or above score 5 (whole crown surface with rot) were counted also:

Treatment	Mean (C.R. score (max. 8)	% clusters C.R. 5
P 629	10%	3.70	25
	15%	4.85	60
P 680	10%	4.90	. 40
	15%	4.95	60
Epolene	10%	4.25	40
	15%	4.65	60
Control		3.00	0

It appears that crown rot organisms are stimulated to more rapid development when fruit are coated in polyethylene or wax emulsions. This may possibly be explained in terms of their ability to function anaerobically; but the host tissue may also be reduced in its resistance to these organisms by the alteration in the constituent gas concentrations in the intercellular atmosphere (the coatings will act as semi-permeable membranes).

A second test begun on July 28 again looked at chilling, using the same methods as in the earlier experiment, except that a period of 48 hr ambient temperature was allowed before the chilling period. Scores, directly comparable with those of the previous test, are shown below:

Treatmen	<u>it</u>	Chilling score	(max. 40)
P 629	10% 15%	0.0	
P 680	10% 15%	6.5 21.0	bis hevisido a Mileias a la
Epolene	10% 15%	17.0 6.0	
Control		14.0	

Again, scores were low, indicating 5 hr at 50° F was not sufficient. P 629 at 10% showed no chilling in comparison to "trace to light" chilling in the control, but these results were not statistically significant overall. There appears to be a slightly increased incidence of underpeel discoloration (UPD) at the higher concentrations of these coatings; if this is repeatable, it may be that there is a chemically induced UPD, as well as the chilling effect.

金 金 金

AND AND

1000

C C C C

199 (B)

A final experiment, commenced on 4 November 1976, was designed to test the A-C polyethylenes for their effect on fruit weight loss by desiccation and also to check further on their effect on resistance to chilling. Fruit were harvested on November 3 and kept 48 hr at ambient temperature. The two emulsions were applied at the same two concentrations (10% and 15%), making 40 boxes + two lots of ten controls. Half the boxes in each treatment lot were subjected to 50° F for 24 hr and then moved to 58° F. The other half were moved directly into 58° F after the period of ambient temperature. All boxes were checked for weight loss at intervals during storage of 21 days and checked at the end of this period for UPD. They were then ripened and checked for further weight loss six days later.

The following table shows that there was no marked difference in weight loss between the treatments (each figure is the mean of ten boxes - 100 clusters):

		Weight L	oss (%)	
		After 21 days storage	507	After ripening
P 629	10%	2.30		4.03
	15%	2.42		4.02
P 680	10%	2.31		3.96
	15%	2.55		4.10
Contro	1 1	2.34	i sit arti i tenco	4.06
Contro	1 2	2.41		4.20

The chilling treatment was more severe and resulted in higher UPD scores but there was no significant difference in scores between treatments:



These data, when considered with previous UPD data, leave a slight doubt whether P 629 is totally ineffective as an anti-chilling agent. However, the overall benefit of P 629, even if slight chilling protection is verified, is little more than P 680 or Epolene. The two A-C polyethylenes consistently high-lighted existing scars on the peel of the bananas.

A further check on P 629 and anti-chilling is planned. Also, it is intended to treat fruit that have already been ethylene-treated in order to observe the effect of the coatings on rapidity of the ripening response.

FOOD TECHNOLOGY

BANANA CATSUP

At the request of the Unimar Division of San Jose, Costa Rica, the development of two prototype banana catsup products was studied: one with artificial tomato flavor and the other with a hot spice flavor.

To develop these two prototype products from banana puree as a starting material, it was necessary to use U.S. certified artificial color and flavorings, beside the common ingredients of catsup: vinegar, salt, sugar and spices. Also, the total acidity had to be raised by addition of extra vinegar.

Analyses were made on a commercial banana catsup from the Philippines, on a commercial Honduran tomato catsup and on the banana puree. A Gardner Colorimeter was used. The "L" value gives a measure of the lightness, the "A" value the redness, and the "B" value the yellowness of the product.

The Bostwick consistometer was used to measure the distance in centimeters that a fixed volume of the product spreads in 30 sec (Table 139).

Total acidity was also determined in the commercial tomato catsup, giving a value of 1.7%, while in the banana puree this value was 0.77%.

Acidity Fixation

Acid in the form of vinegar was used to raise the acidity of the banana

Table 139.	Gardner color, pH,	soluble solids	and consistency
	values on a banana	catsup, tomato	catsup and ba-
	nana puree		

-270-

1

00

100

é

ALC AN ALC AND

0

(1.5 CM)

		% soluble	Bostwick	Ga	rdner col	or
Product	pН	solids	consistency		''A''	''B''
Banana catsup	3.7	26.0	6.9-7.5	24.8	17.1	7.3
Tomato catsup	4.1	31.6	4.6	27.2	7.0	8.4
Banana puree	5.2	22.0	2.0-6.0	63.6	3.2	18.6

Table 140. pH* obtained after various levels of vinegar added

Sample #	Volume added (ml)	% by weight of acetic acid in banana puree	pH obtained
1	48	0.42	4.6
2 .	58	0.50	4.4
3	68	0.59	4.4
4	96	0.83	4.3

* The initial pH of the puree was 3.1.

teid in the form of vindgar was used to sular bin adivity of the limit

puree. Vinegar is the principal preserving agent in catsup and constitutes about one-half of the total acidity. Heinz apple cider vinegar with a 50 grain strength (5 g acetic acid) was used (Table 140).

100 ml

The addition of large amounts of vinegar to obtain a pH of 4.3 affects the consistency of the product. Good consistency means a flow not more than 9 centimeters in 30 seconds in the Bostwick consistemeter.

This high addition of vinegar also makes the addition of more sugar to the product necessary in order to balance the sugar/acid ratio of the product and to keep the flavor in balance.

To overcome the problem of the consistency, a 10% V/V solution of acetic acid was made to use as a 100 grain vinegar. It was found very objectionable because of detection of acetic acid as a flavor component.

Color Fixation

Two dyes: Orange shade and reddish-brown shade manufactured by Warmer-Jenkinson Company were used to give the imitation tomato color.

A 1% W/V dilution of each of these two dyes was prepared and combined in three different proportions.

It was found that the color changed after heating and acidifying the samples. This change was not noticeable in a subjective evaluation. The proportion of 6.5 ml of orange shade per ml of reddish-brown was selected for further formulations.

Flavor

Banana puree contributes predominantly to the consistency of catsup and also an important part of the flavor is derived from it. The banana puree used was from physically damaged puree cans obtained at the La Lima Puree Plant. The rest of the ingredients used are shown in Table 141; the formula was different for the two prototypes.

Table 141. Amount of ingredients (%) used on each prototype

			-			Artificial tomato
Prototype	Salt	Garlic	Onion	Pepper	Chile	flavor
Spicy flavor	1.86	0.18	0.22	0.10	0.06	
Tomato flavor	1.86	0.04	0.06	0.04		1.2

An artificial tomato flavor 57.632/BP 05.51 of the Firmenich brand was used in this formulation. With the tomato imitation flavor, the problem was the strong aroma of the banana; even after raising the percentage of artificial tomato flavor, the aroma of the banana remained.

To avoid this problem, the use of puree that had been passed through a flash evaporator was tested. Most of the flavor and aroma components of the puree are driven off during flash-evaporation which makes it easier to achieve an artificial tomato flavor and lessens the use for spice. The evaporating conditions were as follows: The vacuum pressure used was 28 lb and the temperature 142° F in the heating unit and 36° F in the cooling unit.

A check was made on the possible use of flash-evaporated (concentrated) puree to see if any problems would arise from its use.

Table 142 shows a comparison of quality characteristics of a regular banana puree and a concentrated puree. The differences in color were small, but greater on consistency, soluble solids and aroma. 1990 (1999)

1000 AU

000

6

		% soluble	Bostwick	Gar	dner colo	r
Sample	рН	solids	consistency	ΠL	''A''	¹¹ B ¹¹
Regular puree	5.2	23	6	63.6	3.2	18.6
Concentrated puree	5.2	27.8	2.4	60.9	2.5	15.3

Table 142. Quality characteristics on a regular and concentrated puree

At present, studies on a pilot-scale are being performed in the Corning Laboratories in Iowa.

BANANA BREEDING

Diploid Breeding

The most significant recent accomplishment in diploid breeding is the development of the Sigatoka and black Sigatoka resistant diploid, SH-2989. This hybrid is from the cross IV-9 x SH-2752. Taxonomically, the leaf spot (Sigatoka and black Sigatoka) resistant accession IV-9 is classified as M. a. subsp. burmannica and has very inferior bunch characteristics (Figure 46). Indeed, SH-2989 was the only hybrid with markedly improved bunch features observed in a population of over 2,500 progenies from crosses of several different advanced diploids



Figure 46. From left: Bunches of the Sigatoka resistant accession IV-9 and advanced diploid SH-2752, and the Sigatoka and black Sigatoka resistant progeny from these, SH-2989.

In sulltion to Sh-CZES, other promises this year demonstrated he value

220

100 C

-

100

1000

All all

1979

ASSA.

1233

「「「「「「」」」

(6)

onto IV-9. During a visit to the Jamaican banana breeding scheme in June, Dr. Shepherd related that their experience using IV-9 as a source for Sigatoka resistance has not resulted in any useful hybrids.

In addition to Sigatoka and black Sigatoka resistance, SH-2989 has many other desirable characteristics. It is vigorous and flowers seven months after planting. The fruit has a good banana flavor and bunches will hold on the plant for six months without ripening. The parthenocarpic fruit set a few seeds when pollinated, and this hybrid is being used as both male and female parent in cross pollinations.

Earlier breeding efforts for Sigatoka resistance were based almost exclusively on accessions of the subspecies malaccensis. This was due mainly to the better agronomic qualities of malaccensis compared to the other sources of resistance. The resistance of malaccensis is controlled by multiple genes, and these accessions still have excellent resistance to black Sigatoka. Before the prevalence of black Sigatoka, hybrid progenies of malaccensis frequently exhibited the same level of Sigatoka resistance as the accession. However, now resistance is much more difficult to recover in hybrids. Evidently, all the malaccensis genes for resistance must be acquired by the hybrids to impart resistance to black Sigatoka, whereas a few of the genes were sufficient to give resistance against the traditional Sigatoka.

One advanced hybrid, SH-3013, is a derivative of <u>malaccensis</u> and has excellent resistance to black Sigatoka. This hybrid is the major parent for this source of resistance in continued hybridization. Crosses have been made between SH-3013 and SH-2989 to produce hybrids with combinations of resistance from malaccensis and burmannica.

The first progenies from crosses onto the diploid nematode resistant Pisang Jari Buaya (hereafter referred to as PJB) clones were evaluated in the field this year. Many of these hybrids had thick leaves, lacked vigor and ever flowered. These abnormalities were expected in view of previous findogs that the PJB clones produce chromosomally imbalanced as well as normal ploid egg cells. A total of 13 normal hybrids were selected for further aluation. Most of these selections had seeds and good pollen, which indites that the semi-sterile features of the PJB parents are not perpetuated its progenies. An additional 55 hybrids from this series of crosses were thated in the field and several more are in the seedling stage. This hybridzation effort continues with 3000 mats of PJB being pollinated.

The best diploid in the breeding program is SH-2095. A visual evaluation of the diploid breeding stock in the Jamaican program did not reveal any diploids that approached SH-2095 in terms of advanced agronomic features. A comparison of SH-2095 with Lidi, the most widely used diploid accession in the early phases of banana breeding, is shown in Figure 47. A measure of the excellence of SH-2095 is that the second best diploid agronomically in our program, SH-2752 (Figure 46), is a progeny of SH-2095. The three weaknesses of SH-2095 are slight slowness to shoot, poor pollen and slightly watery flavor. These weaknesses are readily corrected upon hybridizing, as evidenced by SH-2752 which is fast to flower, has abundant pollen and good flavor.

In addition to SH-2752, other progenies this year demonstrated the value



Figure 47. Comparison of the diploid SH-2095 (on shoulder) with Lidi, the most widely used diploid accession in the early phases of banana breeding.

of SH-2095 as a parent in hybridization. Four selected hybrids from a small population of the cross, SH-2095 x SH-2733, had bunch characteristics similar to SH-2095. In contrast, crosses of SH-2733 onto several other advanced diploids did not result in any hybrids which merited selection. Of all the advanced diploids which have been the basis of breeding for agronomic qualities, SH-2095 is the only parent which has consistently resulted in a high percentage of progenies with markedly improved agronomic features.

12335

Kee

and the set of the

NUSA N

100 MW

ACC.

ALL A

All a

Some 3200 hybrids from crosses of dwarf, agronomically superior and Sigatoka resistant diploids onto SH-2095 were planted in the field this year, and several hundred more will be planted shortly. Of special interest are the seedlings from crosses of the Sigatoka and black Sigatoka resistant SH-2989 onto SH-2095. A total of 5000 mats of SH-2095 are now being pollinated.

The diploid segregating populations evaluated this year resulted in 39 selected diploid hybrids. Aside from the PJB and SH-2095 progenies, the most interesting selection (SH-3041) is from a cross between the black Sigatoka resistant SH-794 and SH-2752. This hybrid is moderately resistant to Sigatoka and black Sigatoka, vigorous and has a nice 18-hand parthenocarpic bunch. Field plantings of segregating diploid seedlings with diverse pedigrees designed to incorporate agronomic qualities, dwarfness and disease resistance amounted to 10,500 plants.

Tetraploid Breeding

The triploids Highgate and Lowgate are the fixed female parents in cross pollinations with diploids to synthesize commercial type tetraploid hybrids. The diploids SH-2095 and SH-2752 were the most intensively used male parents in this breeding endeavor. The Sigatoka resistant diploid SH-2989 was crossed onto Highgate later in the year as pollen became available.

The diploid SH-2095 has poor pollen, and seed set in Highgate was correspondingly lower than when pollinated with more adequate male parents. Nevertheless, these pollinations yielded sufficient seeds for a field planting of 338 hybrids during the year. The earliest of these hybrids will be shooting fruit shortly.

In comparison to SH-2095, the diploid SH-2752 was a more effective pollen parent onto Highgate and yielded larger quantities of seeds with less extensive pollinations. A total of 354 Highgate x SH-2752 tetraploid progenies were planted in the field. The Sigatoka resistant diploid SH-2989 has abundant pollen, and numerous tetraploid progenies derived from this hybrid are in the seedling stage.

Only two progenies from Lowgate x SH-2095 were transplanted to the field this year. This shortest of the Gros Michel dwarf mutants has poorer seed fertility than Highgate, and only a small block of plants was available for pollination. Pollinations are just beginning on a 10-acre increase of Lowgate.

Tetraploid x Diploid Breeding

The various advantages of triploids over tetraploids have been discussed in previous annual reports. Namely, triploids have less leaf doubling, have greater sterility against possible seediness, are more genetically diverse, and additional sources of disease resistance can be introduced in a triploid pedigree.

Some near-commercial triploids have been synthesized by the Tetraploid x Diploid Method. Further testing of this scheme was pursued this year with the pollination of 97 different seeded tetraploids by SH-2095 and SH-2752. Some of the triploid progenies have been planted in the field and numerous others are in the seedling stage.

Greenhouse Operations

The ripening rooms constructed by enclosing frame structures with polyethylene sheeting have given very satisfactory results. Gassing with 1000 ppm (on an empty room basis) acetylene is readily accomplished by adding a measured amount of calcium carbide to a container of water. The standard practice is to apply gas two nights in a row and aerate during the day. A third application of acetylene is sometimes necessary during periods of low temperatures. Seed extraction is now routine and efficient with this system of ripening.

Additional greenhouse space was constructed this year for handling the increased numbers of pollinated bunches. (ROWE)

Publication

Rowe, P. R. 1976. Possibilités d'amélioration génétique des rendements de plantain. Fruits 31: 531-536.

EXTENSION AND TRAINING

During 1976, Extension visits were made to the Central American Divisions, Belize and Colombia, with the purpose of assisting the Agriculture personnel in the various aspects of banana production. The number of trips and duration of the trip in each location is given in the table below:

	Trips	Days
Almirante, Panama	2	20
Armuelles, Panama	3	18
Belize	ear April qui tara	3
East Coast, C. R.	4 4 4 a store la	27
Golfito, C. R.	2	23
Honduras	Res.	Res.
Isletas, Honduras	the spines lies	19761 1976
Sta. Marta, Colombia	r philadens vase	8
		Cont'd.

	Trips	Days
Turbo, Colombia Boston, U.S.A. Houston, U.S.A. (Scientific Meeting)	igini latorna internet	13 6 6
TOTAL	17	125

A total of eight intensive seminars on Banana Culture were given to Company's Agriculture personnel and Associate Producers in various Divisions during the year. The seminars in Armuelles were also attended by Agronomist from the Panama Ministerio de Desarrollo Agropecuario and the Corporación Bananera del Pacífico; in Honduras the seminars were also attended by Agronomist from the Corporación Hondureña del Banano. The following table shows the statistics of each seminar:

Division & Country	No. of <u>seminars</u>	Attendance	Days	Persons present
Almirante, Panama	ed chife year	Assoc. Prod. & Co. Agric. Staff	4	26
Armuelles, Panama	, 1	Assoc. Prod.	4	31
Golfito, C. R.	1	Co. Agric. Staff	4	63
Honduras	2	Assoc. Prod. & Co. Agric. Staff	6	169
Turbo, Colombia	2	Assoc. Prod.	5	32
	1	U.F. Co. Management	5	15
TOTAL	8		28	236

A total of 11 Agricultural graduates completed a 38-week training program coordinated by the Divisions and the Agriculture and Training Department. Subsequent to their training, they were assigned to positions in areas where fruit is purchased to provide technical assistance to Associate Producers. Their nationalities are British (1), Colombian (3), Costa Rican (3), Ecuadorian (1), Honduran (1), and Mexican (2).

Assisted by four Agricultural trainees, a section-by-section evaluation of the status of the plantation in 15 farms (approx. 6,900 acres) was made on the East Coast of Costa Rica.

During 1976, soil surveys were made in Belize, Costa Rica, Mexico and Panama. The total area surveyed amounted to approximately 15,578 acres distributed as follows:

(all

100 Mar

1945

Sec. . .

14.19

2

100 CD CD

ê

1000

という

Country	Acres	
Almirante, Panama	1,195	
Belize	964	
Chiapas, Mexico	6,567	
East Coast, Costa Rica	6,852	

Assistance was provided in the design of a series of agronomic studies to be initiated during 1977 in the Central American Divisions. These included studies on production timing, hedge-row planting, harvest systems, and fertilizer trials. (SIERRA)


EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - ARMUELLES

AGRONOMY

Leaf Sampling for Nutrient Analysis

A total of 1720 composite samples (488 from Associate Producers) were collected this year and sent to La Lima.

Potassium: Levels of this nutrient in Company farms still seems to be adequate with most areas above 3.00% in leaf tissue. Only few areas showed a lower level and were re-sampled. The Associate Producers' farms show typical potassium deficiency symptoms scattered throughout the marginal areas.

Nitrogen: During the year, three cycles of urea were applied, averaging 280.25 lb of nitrogen per acre per year. Foliar analysis results indicated some areas were under the desired N levels.

Production

The production of Company farms amounted to 993 boxes per acre from which 867 were shipped and 126 were not. The latter figure includes blowdowns, overgrade fruit loss due to poor market, Banana II not shipped, and wharf rejects. The Associate Producers averaged 634 boxes per acre shipped.

Drainage

This year a lot of primary and secondary work has been done using draglines and back hoes. Approximately 60% of the primary and 15% of the secondary drainage was completed by the end of the year. More work needs to be done on surface drainage.

Herbicides

Weed control has been accomplished using mainly a combination of Gramoxone and Karmex sprayed with mist blowers. Farms are not completely weedfree, but most of the grasses have been eradicated. Gesapax is being used in conditions where broadleaves, such as <u>Syngonium</u>, <u>Cissus</u>, etc. become a problem.

Cover Crops

A plot of <u>Centrosema pubescens</u> has been established in Section 5 of Majagua Farm. Late this year it was attacked by a fungus (<u>Colletotrichum</u> sp.) and almost completely defoliated. Later on, it overcame the infection and new leaves have been produced. A plot of 5 acres has been planted for seed purposes.

Sword Suckers As Material to Replant Within Plantations

A program was initiated later this year using "Colas de burros" to replant open areas within the plantations. At the beginning, results were discouraging due to (a) poor material selection, (b) dry period affecting the planted suckers, and (c) lack of experience of laborers doing the work. Later, most of these problems were solved and very successful work has been accomplished. One of the Associate Producers planted a complete section using this method and obtained very rewarding results.

Liquid Versus Granular Urea

This project started on January 1975 (1975 Annual Report, p. 3), using 250 lb nitrogen/A in solid form vs. 181 lb of nitrogen/A dissolved in water and sprayed in band at the base of the mats. As of December 1975, the liquid form was raised to 250 lb nitrogen. Data collected show a slight reduction in average fruit weights on plots receiving the liquid form (77.8 lb) compared with the granular form (78.9 lb) harvested at the same average grade of 14.5.

50.0

121.22

6333

100 CC

6

\$53F.

100

62

Roundup Experiment

An experiment was initiated using glyphosate herbicide. Residues in fruit will be determined for projected E.P.A. clearance. The product is being tested as a weed killer as well as a bananacide. Severe symptoms of phytotoxicity were observed in the treated plots after the second application on young banana plants. Weed control in general has been good so far, except for certain broadleaf weeds.

DISEASES

Sigatoka

Control has been exceptionally good this year due to improved coverage patterns detecting hot spots in time to reduce inoculum, using proper combination of fungicide-oil, and the exceptional dry weather conditions. Number of cycles was as follows:

Dithane	Benlate-Oil	9.59
Benlate	oil	.4
Dithane	oil	.38
TOTAL		10.3

Moko

There were 132 cases in Company farms and 295 in Associate Producers. In the Company area most of the cases were found in plantilla at Aguacate Farm; natural hosts were present. At the Associate Producers' farms, incidence was due to careless control measures.

Rejudus Turin - Lete this way is has arrested by a fundus (Chitater

Figure 48 shows a comparative Moko incidence of three years in Company farms, and Figure 49 shows a comparative Moko incidence of three years in the Associate Producers' farms.

Pitting Disease

The fruit spray program was initiated on April this year using 1 lb Dithane per 5 gal of water. Incidence of the disease has been low. Cobapa had an outbreak during the last months of the year.

Fruit Spot

This trial located in Palo Blanco Farm, Section 21 was designed to try different Dithane-Benlate rates of applications and combinations for fruit spot control.

Table 143 shows the incidence of spots per hand comparing different treatments. No differences could be detected among treatments. All were superior to no control.

NEMATICIDES

Nematode Control

To the end of this year the following have been treated with DBCP (Fumazone):

Acres	No. Cycles
12,245	. 2
8,060	3
2,775	4
626	5
626	6

DBCP was injected at the rate of 14 cc per mat using the new injection pattern six inches from the base of the mat. The second cycle of Mocap was applied on 1,038 acres.

Higueron Malady

As a result of bromine accumulation in the soil, phytotoxicity symptoms appeared scattered throughout much of the Division. Most of the symptoms were on one or two leaves only and plants recovered. About 5,479 cases were counted but many more cases showing light symptoms were present. These consisted of a brown discoloration at the base of the leaf lamina, or a narrow chlorotic stripe



6 e 62 33. A.T. 00

C

4 120

123

-284-

TOTAL NUMBER OF MOKO CASES



Incidence of fruit spot in different treatments -Fruit Spot Control Experiment, Section 21, Palo Blanco Farm

Table 143.

Brown .003 100. 5.65 .04 .03 1 Average spots per hand 1 Diamond 400. 100. .33 1 1 1 1 Johnston .008 .006 44. .02 .04 10. 10. Brown 24,674 53 9 2 74 1 Diamond Total spots 1,430 1 1 00 1 m Johnston 1,936 35 23 16 3 87 27 No. hands checked 2,084 1,970 4,370 1,952 2,043 2,061 2,002 Control - No Treatment Dithane 16 oz plus Benlate 28.5 g per Benlate 28.5 g per oz (Farm) S S Dithane 12 oz per 5 11.1.1 Dithane 12 oz plus per per Treatment Dithane 16 oz Dithane 20 oz 5 gal H20 5 gal H20 Dithane 20 gal H20 gal H20 gal H20

-286-

starting from the main vein going to the margin, close to the basal portion of the leaf. Very little of sucker distortion symptoms due to DBCP toxicity were found.

Nematicide - Fertilizer Experiment

This trial was established in May 1973 using different combinations and rates of nematicides and fertilizers, detailed in previous annual reports.

Table 144 shows the number of stems harvested and incidence of up-roots, and Table 145 shows total losses up to date. Tables 146 and 147 show statistical analyses data.

Losses due to uprooting are much lower than the average in the Armuelles Division (Table 144). However, losses due to "other" causes are high and account for a little over 50% of total losses. The cause of these high "other" losses (Table 145) has not been made clear. The statistical analyses of the data show no difference in stem weight, yield, or losses between nematicide and no nematicide treatments. Also, no consistant trend in potassium fertilizer influence could be detected. Although stem weight and yield tended to be higher in the DBCP than the Nemacur plots, there was too much variability among treatments for statistical significance. The experiment was concluded.

Nematicide - No Nematicide Trial

Nematicide plots received two cycles of DBCP of 14 cc/plant. Results for this trial for one year period are:

- 1) Plots not receiving nematicide: 2445 stems averaged 72.8 lbs and 8.9 hands
- 2) Plots receiving nematicide: 2398 stems averaged 75.9 lbs and 8.7 hands.

DBCP Toxicity Plots

A group of plots with different injection distances from the mat was established at Higuito Farm. Injection patterns followed were 2, 4, 6 and 8 in from the mat base on the sucker side. No DBCP phytotoxicity (splitting of sucker leaf sheaths) was present but bromine phytotoxicity symptoms appeared in the sucker leaves.

Mocap Applicator

An applicator has been designed for granular nematicides. Gravity lets the chemical flow through a plastic hose towards a double valve device which opens and closes with a trigger. It gives more protection to workers and will hopefully improve applications. A sample of the device has been sent to every Division for testing. Table 144. NEMATICIDE - FERTILIZER EXPERIMENT: Number of stems harvested and incidence of up-roots for all crops to December 1976

Fertilizer	Stems harvested	Up-roots	Up-root incidence (%)
		No Nematicide	
0 KoSOL	673 686	10	1.46
$K_{2}SO_{4} + P$ $K_{2}SO_{4} + P$ $K_{1} + P$	695 683	15 17	2.11 2.43
	2,737		2.01
		Nemacur	Henne felde No Nem
0 K ₂ SO ₄ K ₂ SO ₄ + P KC1 + P	712 707 695 702 2,816	7 6 9 4 <u>26</u>	.97 .84 1.28 .57 .92
		DBCP	
0 K ₂ SO4 K ₂ SO4 + P KC1 + P	723 747 738 724 2,932	6 5 1 6	.82 .66 .14 .82 .61

An applicator has been designed for granular namaticides. Arawity let the chemical flew through a plattic name formeds a double value device which opens and closes with a triggery it gives note protection to workers and will hopefully improve applications. A sample of the device has been sent to every Division for resting.

•

S. Star

Ceres!

1920 11

A8100 6534

Alto allo 1840

Ø.

S	
Lo Lo	
U	
a	
10	
4-	
Sec	
los	
-	
ota	
F	
÷	
MEN	
2	
XPI	
ш с	
ZE	
1	
ERT	76
11	5
ш.	r B
CID	emb
ITA)ec
EM	0
Z	4
in.	
11	
ble	
- N	

Nematicide	Doubling %	lla-roots	26	Snan-off	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Head rot	26	Blow- downs	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Others	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Total
00000000000							, ,					
Check	20 5.	8 55	16.1	14	4.1	29	8.5	56	16.4	168	49.1	342
Nemacur*	13 5.	5 26	11.0	14	5.9	33	14.0	26	11.0	124	52.6	236
Fumazone	11 5.	6 18	6	=	5.6	23	11.6	. 12	6.0	123	62.1	198
	10000											

* Nemacur replaced Furadan in 1975.

I A MUSE

-289-

10	
S	
-	
g	
ā	
m	
U	
4	
S	
0	
5 t	
-	
4	
5	
4	
S	
F	
5-	
Q	
2	
1.	
L O	
1	
q	
	5
tic	176
matic	1976
lematic	1976
Nematic	ah 1976
or Nematic	uah 1976
for Nematic	rough 1976
for Nematic	hrough 1976
ot for Nematic	through 1976
olot for Nematic	a through 1976
plot for Nematic	ata through 1976
ir plot for Nematic	data through 1976
per plot for Nematic	1 data through 1976
s per plot for Nematic	11 data through 1976
ns per plot for Nematic	all data through 1976
cans per plot for Nematic	or all data through 1976
Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
46. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
146. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
e 146. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
le 146. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976
able 146. Means per plot for Nematic	for all data through 1976

Up-root losses	0.8 a 1.2 a 1.7 a	0.8 a 1.0 a 2.1 a	0.2 a 1.5 a 2.7 a	1.0 a 0.7 a 2.8 a
General losses	11.3 xyz 9.0 xyz 14.7 yz	6.5 x 9.0 xyz 12.8 xyz	7.8 ×yz 10.0 ×yz 16.2 z	7.3 ×y 11.3 ×yz 13.5 ×yz
Gross yield	8678 ab 8079 ab 7513 b	9197 a 8117 ab 7871 b	9218 a 8272 ab 8262 ab	9137 a 8406 ab 8171 ab
Number stems	120.5 a 118.7 a 112.2 a	124.5 a 117.8 a 114.3 a	123.0 a 115.8 a 115.8 a	120.7 a 117.0 a 113.8 a
stem weight (1bs)	72.0 wxyz 68.0 yz 66.6 z	73.9 wxy 68.6 xyz 68.6 yz	74.9 wx 71.3 wxyz 70.9 wxyz	75.6 w 71.7 wxyz 71.8 wxyz
Fertilizer Nematicide	None DBCP Nemacur** Control	K2S04 DBCP Nemacur** Control	K2S04 + P DBCP Nemacur** Control	KC1 + P DBCP Nemacur** Control
Plot		32 22 12	3333	34 24 14

* Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different at the 1% level (w,x,y,z) or 5% level (a,b) by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

Con the Co

100 Mar 100

Ch. All and and Ch. Ch.

100 NO.

** Nemacur replaced Furadan in 1975.

-290-

S	
ys i	
ā	
an	
Ca	
2	
ц а	
s C	
C	
4	
3	
÷	
e	
-	
ē	
N	
4	
e L	
1	
D	
0	5
ц П	97
E	-
ž	4
L	5
4	0
t C	t
10	σ
	at
ē	σ
Δ	-
ns	æ
ea	0
Σ	4
47	
-	
-e	
qe	
+	

Up-root losses 10 1 Ø E U Ø e Ø Ð n n C 0.1 1.7 0.1 0.8 2.8 1.5 2.1 1.2 0.2 0.8 0.7 2.7 N 9.0 xyz XYZ 9.0 xyz γZ 1.3 xyz 3.5 ×yz 0.0 XYZ 11.3 xyz 7.8 ×yz General losses 7.3 ×Y × 6.5 2.8 16.2 14.7 qp qe ab qp qe ab 8406 ab 0 2 Gross yield Ū Ū n 8262 8272 9218 8678 8171 8117 8079 7513 9137 79197 7871 Ð ŝ B σ Ø G 10 ē S ē ŝ ē Number . 123.0 124.5 20.5 13.8 15.8 117.0 115.8 117.8 114.3 18.7 112.2 120.7 stems ZYXW ZYXW xyz XZ λZ N 72.0 WXYZ 71.3 WXYZ 71.7 WXYZ 73.9 WXY weight (1bs) XW 6.47 Stem 3 70.9 1 75.6 71.8 68.6 68.6 66.6 68.0 Fertilizer 4 K2S04 + P K2S04 + P 0 KC1 + P KC1 + P K2 S04 KC1 + K2 S04 K2504 K2504 1 ł Nematicide Nemacur** Nemacur** Nemacur** Nemacur** Control. Control Control Control DBCP DBCP DBCP DBCP Plot 24 14 23 3 22 2 34 33 32 5 2] -

2% 20 * Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different at the 1% level (w,x,y,z) level (a,b) by Duncan's Multiple Range Test.

** Nemacur replaced Furadan in 1975.

INSECTS

Colaspis

A few outbreaks appeared in Palo Blanco, Guayacán and Higuito Farms along the area bordering Rio Cacho. Damage decreased rapidly.

Caligo

This is one of the major pests at present. During the year, 9,321 acres were treated with Toxaphene at 22 oz per acre, and 710 acres were treated with Sevin at 1 lb per acre.

Late in the year a few flare-ups appeared, but were controlled by natural enemies.

Ceramidia

No chemicals were used; natural control is good.

Root Borers

Some 281 acres were treated with Kepone. Since Kepone is no longer available, other products such as Prymicid, Mocap, etc. will be tried on an experimental basis. Table 148 shows the effect of Kepone on the control of root borers and nematodes.

EXTENSION

- A) A guide on how to select, dig and plant sword suckers in open areas was distributed to all production personnel in order to reinforce the program.
- B) A revision of chemicals used for post-harvest disease was prepared and a circular on amounts required was issued.
- C) Data concerning water erosion were gathered and distributed to farm personnel in order to have a better picture of soil losses.
- D) Higueron was designated the pilot farm for the Division.
- E) Two-acre plots in each of the Associate Producers' farms are going to be used as a guide to show them the benefits of new and improved practices.
- F) A list of the most common chemicals, their formulation and application methods was provided to the Associate Producers as a guide for their use.

Table 148. Kepone and its effects on the control of root borers and nematodes

Roc	ot Borers - 10 tra	ps per plot (3 plots)	-
	Total borers/plot	Average borers/trap	
	2 oz Kepon	e per mat	
	24	2.4	
	40	4.0	
	25	2.5	
	89	3.0	
	Non-tr	eated	
	144	14.4	
	109	10.9	
•	179	17.9	
	432	14.4	

Root Borers - 10 traps per plot (3 plots)

Nematodes - 50 rhizomes per plot (3 plots)

0	1	ection _2	index 3	_4_	Ave. Inf. Index	% infection
			2 oz K	epone p	er mat	
14	1	11	7	17	2.24	72
3	5	5	12	25	3.02	94
5	11	6	8	20	2.54	90
22	17	22	27	. 62	2.6	85
			No	n-treat	ed	
1	5	6	10	28	3.18	98
3	6	2	5	34	3.22	94
1	6	5	16	22	3.04	98
5	17	13	31	84	3.15	97

Meetings Attended

 Proceedings of the Regional Planning Conference of the International Meloidogyne Project, University of Panama.

......

2) Annual Zamorano Graduates Meeting, Guayaquil, Ecuador.

Seminars

A seminar was conducted by Dr. F. A. Sierra assisted by Tropical Research personnel. This seminar was directed to the Associate Producers in order to encourage them to improve their farms.

Weather

A total of 76.67 inches of rainfall was recorded. Most of the meteorological instruments are obsolete or have been stolen. New sets of instruments and evaporation pans have been ordered.

55-5 -

(ESPINOZA)

-

Carlo

6

No.

1918 · 13

APA APA APA

67

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - BOCAS

Es resulted in 23.3. Sill and 11.43. respo

AGRONOMY

PK-24

This experiment was terminated on June 30. It was originally designed by Dr. F. A. Sierra in 1973 to determine the influence of potassium and phosphorus application on banana production. The data collected from this experiment were sent to La Lima for analysis and will be reported on by Dr. Sierra.

It was decided by Dr. M. Rodríguez to superimpose additional potassium treatments to the PK-24 plots disregarding phosphorus levels. Potassium chloride is being applied at 450, 675, 900 and 1,125 kg/ha in either two or three applications per year. All treatments are replicated six times. Leaf samples are being taken to relate nutrient concentration in the plant with potassium applied and fruit weight.

The original application of potassium was applied during week 29. One hundred and thirty-nine (139) g of urea per production unit was applied during weeks 34 and 46. The second potassium application was applied during the 46th week according to the respective plot needs. Fumazone applications were made during weeks 50 and 51.

This experiment will be identified as B-76-2 and is entitled Potassium - 24.

Four-Cable Plots

The four-cable plots located in Farms 15, 63 and 64 represent a study to determine the economics of maintaining high concentrations of potassium in the plant. The levels of potassium range from 2.75-4.00% in the lamina. Data obtained indicate a difference between treatments. Data are being collected and potassium leaf levels maintained to obtain the necessary information to determine the economics of maintaining the various levels of potassium in the leaf.

Foliar Analysis

A foliar analysis program for the application of potassium started in November. A series of cableways are surveyed each month from each farm in the Division. Every application of potassium will be based on this foliar analysis when the results are received from Tropical Research. This program should help considerably to utilize in the best way that money budgeted for potassium fertilization.

Plant Loss Survey

A field loss survey using 10% of each farm at random in a biweekly cycle was conducted during 1976. Plant losses were relatively even throughout the

year. They ranged from a low of 4.8% during October to 11.0% for August. The higher percentage for August was due primarily to a blowdown in Farms 44 and 45. The causes of field losses are shown in Table 149. Plant losses caused by doubling, up-rooting and snap-offs resulted in 23.3, 58.2 and 11.9%, respectively. Seventy-six percent of the losses reported had fruit on the stem. 1000

0

6

683

100

10.37

6.04 S.M.

Also (Alla (Alla /)

12.00 NEW 10.00

1945

1

During 1976 this division lost, according to this survey, approximately 333,000 stems from the above-mentioned causes. This loss represents, with a box stem ratio of 1.46 for the division, about 486,000 boxes.

NEMATOLOGY

A nematode survey conducted by the Research Department in Farms 47 and 63 was completed in October. This survey revealed an increase in nematode infestation of 80 and 82%, respectively, over the 1975 survey. As a result of this survey, these farms are scheduled to receive DBCP treatment. With the addition of these two farms, all Company production areas are receiving nematicide treatments. All farms are receiving DBCP with the exception of Farm 44 which is being treated with Mocap 5% granules.

The Nema experiments under way in this Division are on their 1st (Nema IX) and 2nd years (Nema VII and VIII) of existence. To date, we have not been able to gather fruit weight data due to low levels of potassium. However, the latest leaf analysis indicated this level is now sufficient to start the harvest data. Up-rooting data from Nema VII for the first 39 weeks were analyzed and no measurable differences were found between the injection of DBCP in the 9x5 or 5x9 pattern. The analysis of up-root data from Nema VIII also indicated that there is no difference between the injection of DBCP at 10 cc or 14 cc per mat, or Mocap at 3 or 4.5 g active ingredient per mat.

Fallow Farm 66

This experiment was originated to determine any preplant fallow methods to destroy existing nematode populations. The original report is found in the 1972 Annual Report. The various fallow treatments were: weeds left in the plots, disc cleaned, rice planted, nematicides and herbicides. Each of the five treatments was replicated five times. Weekly plant loss surveys were conducted by Research personnel. The analysis of these data showed that there were no significant differences between treatments four years after starting the banana plantation in this area.

the Bivision. Every application of preasures will be based on this

INSECTS

Antichloris (Ceramidia)

An outbreak of <u>Ceramidia</u> during January on some 600 acres of Farms 2 and 3 necessitated the use of toxaphene to control them. High larval counts, defoliation on young and unshot plants and low parasite required insecticidal control. Throughout the rest of the year populations of this insect have been held at subeconomic levels by parasitic and pathogenic factors. Light to medium thrips intestations nave been reported in localized area segment the Division. Spot treatments of distinct applied to the president fruit gave yood control and held costs and onvironmental contacination to

Month	Doubling	Up- rooting	Snap- off	Others	With fruit	Without fruit	Total	%
January	684	1691	418	448	2547	694	3241	10.0
February	790	1717	554	263	2618	710	3328	10.3
March	626	1423	395	255	2129	570	2699	8.3
April	451	1417	306	204	1930	448	2378	7.3
Мау	572	1947	250	220	2399	590	2989	9.2
June	573	1518	222	166	1937	• 542	2479	7.7
July	554	1746	173	122	1870	725	2595	8.0
August	1057	2055	327	128	2353	1214	3567	11.0
September	490	1574	272	98	1755	679	2434	7.5
October	452	714	298	83	1205	342	1547	4.8
November	741	1713	299	53	2040	766	2806	8.7
December	563	1324	346	78	1825	486	2311	7.1
Z	7553	18839	3860	2118	24608	7766	32374	99.9
% of total	23.3	58.2	11.9	6.5	76	24	100	

Table 149. Report of plant losses by month and cause -Bocas Division

A July survey was taken in facts that the four <u>Colaspis</u> populations to detet also if there were farms or section of faces that could be removed from the coatly premature bagging necessary in <u>Coluspis</u>-infected areas. The regression coafficient from farms bi and 05 mercs used as a guide in safecting areas to be removed from premature truit protection sections. The first area placed under compate hasping consisted of approximately 205 acres in Farm 15: later all of farm 15 and parts of other farms ware removed from premature fruit protection practices. Several months after the change to menal happing the nopulations of <u>Colaspis</u> rose and much of the area again has placed under a the order week prevature system. Apparentitly, when large acrements at the order pre-

(WW

(Clock)

1

No.

10 Cal

100 V 100

15.17

6

18. 18 M. S. 18 M.

10

Thrips

Light to medium thrips infestations have been reported in localized areas throughout the Division. Spot treatments of diazinon applied to the pseudostem and fruit gave good control and held costs and environmental contamination to a minimum.

Colaspis

Colaspis still is the principal insect in this Division. Presently, there are about 4,000 acres infested with populations sufficiently high to require premature bagging.

There is a wealth of information on leaf damage caused by <u>Colaspis</u> in the Bocas Division. Before 1973, <u>Colaspis</u> research was conducted by Dr. H. E. Ostmark, Carlos Evers and Clyde Stephens; from 1973-1974 the leaf surveys of T. H. Atkinson (1973-74) and the Research Department (1974 to present) all give excellent descriptions of population limits and relative densities. However, we still did not understand what these figures meant in regards to fruit damage. Throughout March a great deal of time was spent developing a leaf survey that would reduce the subjectivity of this survey. Large unshot plants were selected as the plants to be surveyed. The last two leaves that had completely unfurled were considered as the sample leaves and received a visual rating of 0-4. The rating description is as follows:

0 = No damage evident,

1 = A trace of feeding injury present, less than 1/10 of the leaf damaged,

2 = 25% of the leaf with feeding damage,

3 = 50% of the leaf with feeding damage, and

4 = 75% or more of the leaf with feeding damage.

Research cables were set up in Farm 62 and 65. Ten shot mats per cable did not have the early bag placed to protect the fruit. These racemes were allowed to develop until the 21-25th day at which time they were dehanded, fruit damage by <u>Colaspis</u> assessed and protected with the regular fruit protection bag. Regression analysis of several months data shows that Farm 62 had a regression coefficient of 9.526; while Farm 65 had a regression coefficient of 7.88. Therefore, for every unit increase in the leaf damage index, 9.526 and 7.88% more of the fruit will be damaged in Farms 62 and 65, respectively.

A July survey was taken in farms that had low <u>Colaspis</u> populations to determine if there were farms or sections of farms that could be removed from the costly premature bagging necessary in <u>Colaspis</u>-infested areas. The regression coefficient from Farms 62 and 65 were used as a guide in selecting areas to be removed from premature fruit protection methods. The first area placed under normal bagging consisted of approximately 265 acres in Farm 15; later all of Farm 15 and parts of other farms were removed from premature fruit protection practices. Several months after the change to normal bagging the populations of <u>Colaspis</u> rose and much of the area again was placed under a two cycle per week premature system. Apparently, when large acreages are removed from premature fruit protection, there is a surge in the Colaspis population.

The search for a new fruit protection system was continued throughout 1976. The objectives sought were a reduction in labor expense, reduction in fruit damage caused by clinging bracts and finger rot, and reduction of beetle damage.

Three types of bags were tested against normal bagging. They were: 1) an "apron" bag, 2) an "open" bag, and 3) a "split" bag. All were placed on fruit approximately 8 days old, and all were Poly-D material. The "apron" bag was hung between the raceme and the pseudostem and acted as either a physical or chemical barrier to the beetles. When the fruit was about 21-25 days old the bag was detached and placed on the fruit in a normal manner. The "open" bag was a flat piece of Poly-D hung between the raceme and the pseudostem. This bag was never removed and the fruit was never bagged. The third type, the "split" bag, was a 72-inch Poly-D bag slit along one side. The slit extended 36 inches up the bag. The slit was located away from the pseudostem for maximum fruit protection. The results of this experiment are presented in Table 150.

The analysis of variance of the data for the amount of damaged fingers per stem is given in Table 151.

Table 151. The analysis for the amount of damaged fingers per stem from four different fruit protection methods

df	SS	MS	F
3	10875.72	3625.24	92.54***
68	2663.88	39.17	
71	13539.60		
	df 3 68 71	dfSS310875.72682663.887113539.60	dfSSMS310875.723625.24682663.8839.177113539.60

F.001(3,68) = 6.13.

As indicated in Table 151, there is a high level of significance between treatments when one compares the three early bagging methods against the normal fruit protection method. However, when one analyzes the means from the four treatments, there are no differences between the "apron", "open" or "split" bags related to damaged fingers.

The analysis of variance of bracts per stem (Table 152) indicates a high level of significance between the three experimental bag types. The number of bracts per stem in the "apron" type is statistically different from the "open" and "split" types when one analyzes the means of each treatment. The premature bagging method presently used in <u>Colaspis</u>-infested areas in the Bocas Division was not included in this experiment because when it is on the fruit at the correct time, eight days after shooting, it offers essentially 100% fruit

ns	
tio	
P	
ndo	
d s	1
: ds	
la	١
ŭ	1
high	
4	
Wit	
ea.	
a r	
a l	
pou	
net	
- uo	
Ct:	
tec	
pro	
<u>ب</u>	
fru	
40	
uo	
r is	
npa	
COL	
A	
50.	
0	
1 qe	
F	

		ام ص						-	300-	-64										
		Damage finger	104	369	149	362	285	244	121	244	236	325	460	400	270	433	516	307	194	207
	Late	No. of hands	59	56	53	82	16	76	37	87	78	78	81	58	136	136	115	94	72	89
		No. of stems	7	7	7	10	10	6	4	10	6	6	6	7	15	15	12	10	7	6
		No. of damaged fingers	З	30	0	80	10	14	0	5	17	9	21	2	32	63	23	6	52	22
	11t"	No. of bracts	ad) 1 0	9	2	31	19	33	141	23	19	23	9	ß	16	25	141	18	31	21
	dSII	No. of hands	48	55	26	77	83	67	44	83	78	73	86	42	139	106	115	84	141	109
T Y P		No. of stems	9	7	4	10	10	5	5	10	6	6	10	Ś	14	12	14	6	15	Π
BAG		No. of damaged fingers	38	50	53	24	30	12	9	20	81	24	85	10	15	86	94	42 .	25	27
	en''	No. of bracts	e esa	14	11	31	32	20	13	29	17	10	12	10	11	33	22	27	12	12
	dOn	No. of hands	68	77	59	77	83	45	52	68	89	62	96	46	107	132	111	84	81	66
		No. of stems	80	10	8	10	10	5	9	6	10	7	10	9	12	1 4	12	6	80	10
		No. of damaged fingers	16	62	21	44	54	35	04	44	99	38	63	80	70	45	39	66	38	34
	ron"	No. of bracts	1521 YZ	3	2	13	10	8	S	28	10	7	9	2	21	17	21	23	12	13
	dA''	No. of hands	66	60	41	74	81	11	4.6	85	86	68	79	68	129	114	107	16	77	102
		No. of stems	8	00	5	10	10	00	9	10	10	00	10	80	14	13	12	10	σ	10
		·	-	2	3		5	9	7	00	S	0		5	3	14	5	9	7	00

(www. www 0000 しいのを思くしいのながらしているたい

10

(E

protection. However, this method also holds about 100% of the floral bracts as well if they are not dislodged by hand.

Source of variation	df	SS	MS	F
Treatments	2	11.06	5.53	6.91**
Replications	48	38.38	.80	
Total	50			

Table 152. The analysis for the amount of bracts per stem from four different fruit protection methods

F.05(2,48) = 5.09.

One might assume from these data that "apron" bag gives the most practical <u>Colaspis</u> control. Laborers do not like the bag since it is difficult to open when wet. The "split" bag is easy to handle, also allows most of the bracts to fall naturally and gives good protection against <u>Colaspis</u>; however, the "split" bag should be tested and its fruit protection qualities, such as fruit scarring and thrips injury, determined. To date, there is little indication of these problems existing with the "split" bag.

The use of the "split" bag in <u>Colaspis</u>-infested areas will not reduce the cost of fruit protection because it is placed on the fruit prematurely. However, I feel this bag will increase production due to less damage caused by bracts hanging up in the bag and the reduction of associated finger rot.

Additional experiments to understand the biology of <u>Colaspis ostmarki</u> were started in 1976. Until we know more about the biology of this insect, we will have little success in controlling it in a more economical manner.

MISCELLANEOUS

Critical Age Studies

This project is in its third year of data collection. All data are being sent to Tropical Research in La Lima for analysis.

A study was begun in September to determine if maturity date differences exist in racemes of different sizes. To date, only a small amount of data has been collected and will be reported on at a later date.

To determine if differences exist in maturity dates for the location of the hand on the raceme, an experiment was started in October. Again, due to the small amount of data, this will be reported on in detail at a later date.

Weather

The weather station located in the Research patio consists of rainfall gauges, a sunshine duration recorder, phyheliograph and minimum-maximum thermometers. At the station in Farm 12 there is an evaporation tank, rainfall gauge and piezometers. Precipitation for 1976 amounted to 117.79 inches. This is 18.54 inches more than the same station received in 1975, and 19.6 inches above the 45-year average. Even with the increased rainfall, the piezometer data indicated a water table level generally around five feet. After a heavy rainfall the water table rapidly returned to the 4.5-5.0 foot level.

Visitors

The Research Department hosted 27 official visitors during 1976. The majority of these were scientists from Tropical Research, La Lima, Honduras helping with problems associated with banana production or checking cooperative experiments in progress.

Meetings Attended

I attended the National Meetings of the Entomological Society of America held in Honolulu, Hawaii from November 28 through December 2, 1976.

(HINTZ)

100

14

No.

Alter Alter

(A) 400

120 ARN

the use of the spirit and in <u>colsept</u> interacted draws will not reduce i out of fruit atotaction because it is placed on the fruit prematurely. No ver, i feel wils key will incrume production due to less damage caused by the to horging up in the bog and the roduction of associated finger rat.

Additional experiments to understand the biology of <u>Colaspia ostantsi</u> were started in 1976. Until we know more about the biology of this instead, we will have little success in contraling it in a part according manner.

Gritisol Ade Studies.

This project is in its third year of data balletion. All dain are being

A study was begin in Sapimier to data and it saturity date differencies exist in racenee of different Lizzs. To date, guly a small among of deta has been collected and will be reported on at a later date.

The determine if differences ealed to menurity dates for the lengthon of he hand on the receive, in experiment we stimted to October. Again, due to be small impund of date, this will be reported on in detail at a letter date.

EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - GOLFITO

AGRONOMY

Fertilization

Three applications of urea were made in 1976 before August with liquid urea sprayed by knapsack around the plant. Spray dosage per plant was not measured. Although farm records showed a rate of 250 lb N/acre, it is believed that accumulated sub-dosages per mat may have resulted in low N readings in leaf analyses. The spray method was abandoned and hand application began again in December 1976.

Potassium chloride was applied twice, totalling 568 g/mat for the year.

Leaf Analysis

Each farm was divided into three blocks for scheduled leaf sampling and K fertilization. Each block will be sampled twice a year. Potassium application will be based on leaf analysis. The current modification is: No KCl above 3% in the leaf, 284 g KCl/mat between 2.8 and 3%, and 568 g KCl/mat below 2.8%.

Phosphorus Trial - Coto 45

On 29 October 1975, six replicates per treatment were fertilized at rates of 0, 548 and 1098 g per mat of triple superphosphate. A leaf analysis from samples taken in May (six months after treatment) showed no difference in P between treatments, nor were fruit weights in 1976 different.

Potassium Chloride Versus Potassium Sulphate - Palmar 10-11

On 20 September 1975, 700 g of K_2SO_4 and 587 g of KCl were applied to each mat in ten replicates each. Stem weights through 1976 are not different between treatments. A leaf analysis from samples taken eight months from treatment showed an average concentration of 2.89% K from KCl plots versus 3.07% from K_2SO_4 plots. However, a second analysis from samples taken 11 months from treatment showed no difference in % K between treatments.

ENTOMOLOGY

Natural Control

For the fourth straight year, no aerial insecticides were sprayed. Insect pests are rarely seen in banana plantations. It was recommended that all insecticides being stored for emergency be transferred out of the Division.

63

in the

6

100 630 67b

6

Chalcid Wasp

見

The last of the Mirex ant bait was used up. A substitute, Kepone, was phased out and there is no longer a control measure against chalcid wasps, except early bagging.

Trial to Study Losses Caused by Root Borers

Duplicated experiments were initiated in Palmar on October 1975 and in Coto on April 1976. Root borers were treated in 6 one-hectare replicates, leaving 6 one-hectare untreated replicates as the control. Losses were recorded weekly.

On 24 August 1976, four months after treatment, heavy field losses were recorded as the result of a blowdown. A statistical analysis showed a highly significant difference between the treated and control plots as shown by the following data:

	Ave. Uproots	F. Obs.			
Treated	37.17	Treatments	24.30404	1%	
Control	122.67	Blocks	0.47352	NS	

Borer counts just before the blowdown averaged 1.4 in treated plots versus 12.9 in the controls. Monthly borer counts continue but weekly loss surveys were suspended until plantings recover.

In Palmar 7, 6 one-hectare plots were treated on 22 October 1975 and 10 November 1976. Since the first treatment, borers remained low with an average of 1.4 per trap in the treated plots versus 14.6 in the control. Trap data were taken monthly. Field losses in each plot were recorded weekly. Losses for the 53 weeks in 1976 were recorded as follows:

Uproots		Total	Losses
Treated	Control	Treated	Control
73.2	114.7	126	170.5

The means of uprooting and total losses are both significantly different at the 1% level and block means are not significantly different as shown below:

	F. Obs.			
	Treatment	Blocks		
Uproots	44.56	2.4		
Total Losses -	33.03	1.39		

The Palmar 7 experiment and the duplicate in Coto 48 were designed to indicate effects of root borers on losses. Nematologists now have evidence suggesting that some insecticides may also be nematicidal. If this was the case in the Coto and Palmar experiments, then losses, mostly uproots, may have been reduced in treated plots not only from less borers, but also from partial nematode control. It should be noted that all treated and control plots were injected with DBCP beginning in 1974 through 1976. Also all plots were reguyed weekly to correct poor guying by farm labor.

NEMATOLOGY

Losses

Beginning week 1 of 1976, the line plot method for surveying losses was replaced by the 10% plot survey. Losses are recorded in Table 153.

Bromine Analysis

Three sets of fruit samples from areas mostly with five or more DBCP treatments were sent for bromine analysis as follows:

Date sampled	No farms sampled	Comments on Analysis
June	8	Pulp analyzed. Palmar ranged 4.42-37.18 ppm; Coto 24.7-98.28 ppm. Only one sample above 75 ppm.
October	24	Samples 3-4 months after treatment. Pulp analyzed. Palmar ranged 5.3-33 ppm; Coto 6.2-77.2 ppm. A single sample was over 45.8 ppm.
October	24	Duplicate sample of above sent to Dow Lab who analyzed whole fruit. Coto ranged 9-105 ppm. Only one sample was above 50 ppm. Palmar. 8-56 ppm.

Mocap

Based on the June fruit analysis for bromine, a decision was made to substitute Mocap for DBCP in Coto. Sixty grams of 5% granules per mat were applied beginning in November. Comparative costs were as follows: The Paimar 7, experiment and the duplicate in Coto 48 were designed to dicate affects of root berers on losses. Nometologists now have evidence gesting that some insecticides may also be nemetoided. If this was the se in the Coto and Felmar experiments, then losses, metty uproots, may we been reduced in treated plots not only from less borers, but also from rial memoiode control. It should be noted that all treated and control ots were injected with DCC boginning in 1974 through 1976. Also all plot

		F	Per Hectare		
Sable 153.	Double	Uproot	Poor	Other	Total
Coto					
Without fruit	4.02	13.16	.11	.14	17.43
With fruit	31.52	50.06	1.2	.41	83.19
Total	35.54	63.22	1.31	.55	100.62
Palmar					
Without fruit	1.72	5.72	.05	.01	7.5
With fruit	33.96	58.47	.63	.12	93.18
Total	35.68	64.19	.68	.13	100.68

stitute Hocar for DBCP Hn:Cotol Sixty grams of 5% granules per Mat Were applied

beginning in lovember. Constative costs were as follows:

Table 153. Losses* (blowdowns not included) - Golfito Division, Costa Rica - 1976 ÷.

Calls and all

(9,9)

489

E.

* Ten percent of area planted was surveyed weekly. Line plot method eliminated end of 1975.

	Dollars pe	er Hectare
	Mocap	DBCP
Cleaning around mat Application Foreman	11.24 8.20 1.75	.00 15.46 1.75
	21.19	17,21
23% Social benefits	4.87	3.96
Total basic labor	26.06	21.17
Nematicide	58.79	53.57
TOTAL	84.85	74.74

Mocap in Palmar 3

Six entire sections previously on DBCP were treated with 60 g/mat of 5% Mocap granules in December 1975, May and December of 1976. Those sections, plus six alternate sections which remained on DBCP, were checked for field losses each week. Losses between treatments for the 53 weeks in 1976 were similar as shown below:

	Ave. pe	er hectare
Treatment	Uproots	All Losses
Мосар	72.4	99.4
DBCP	82.1	105

Nemacur Versus DBCP - Coto 48

This study was continued in the same ten cableways used in the Furadan Field Trial described in the 1975 Annual Report, p. 259. Five alternate cableways, previously left as the untreated control, received DBCP injections at 14 cc/mat on March and August 1975, February and August 1976. Nemacur granules at 3 g a.i. per mat replaced Furadan in the same five alternate cableways previously with Furadan. Nemacur was applied on August and December 1975; April, August and December 1976.

A blowdown on 24 August 1976 caused minor losses as follows:

	Mean uproots/ha	F.	Obs.	
Nemacur	1.98	Treatments	8.10993	5%
DBCP	2.56	Blocks	2.17801	NS

Weekly field losses for 1976 were as follows:

	Mean pe	er hectare
	Uproots	Total Losses
Nemacur	62.7	90
DBCP	74.8	99.2

1

60

ALL ALL

KE.

39. AB

Circumference, 1 m high on plants just shot, was measured monthly on 20 plants per plot. The annual mean was 69.5 cm (Nemacur) and 70.1 cm (DBCP). No statistical difference was found between treatments.

Twenty stems per plot, twice a month, were randomly selected and weighed. Though mean stem weights for 1975 were 72.6 lb in DBCP plots versus 64.7 lb in Nemacur, there was no statistical significant difference between treatments (Table 154).

Replant Study with Rhizomes Versus Sword Suckers

On 4 June 1976, 200 VALERY rhizomes and 200 VALERY sword suckers were alternately planted in Palmar 10 to compare growth rates under shady conditions where occasional replants are needed due to nematodes. Central growing points were left on rhizomes. Mocap and KCI were placed in the planting hole. The following data were recorded by the end of 1976:

		Height end of		
Treatment	% germination	Dec.	% shot	
Rhizome	94.5	1.62 m	18	
Sword sucker	94	1.37 m	2 .	

All plants are highly variable in diameter and height. Fruit is poor and would normally be chopped down by the farm.

A similar study was initiated in Coto 47, but due to irregularities, plants will be observed only.

To observe rhizomes and sword suckers in the open sun, 200 Grand Nain rhizomes and 200 Grand Nain sword suckers were alternately planted in Farm 10 in the open on 10 June 1976. Central growing points were left on the rhizomes. Mocap and KCl were placed in the planting hole. The following data were recorded by the end of the year:

		Height	
Treatment	% germination .	end of Dec.	% shot
Rhizome	85.5	1.87 m	60
Sword sucker	93	1.96	65

Month	DBCP	Nemacur	F. Obs.
January	70.4 68.9	70 69.8	.05
February	73	72	.03
	71.7	71	.03
March	69.2	71.8	1.91
	69.5	68.2	.30
April	70	68.8	.09
	65.5	65.7	.02
Мау	66.3	63.3	7.17
	67.5	65.2	5.33
June	70.3	65.4	6.20
	70.5	69.3	.26
July	67.7	68.6	.5
	73.8	76.1	.64
August	75.4	79.9	2.57
	81.6	73	28.15**
September	82.4	75.9	4.17
	79.6	71.6	4.00
October	78.5	70.9	5.25
	76.2	70.5	4.43
November	72.5	71	.17
	74.9	73.9	6.87
December	77.7 78.5	70.1 73.6	

Table 154. Average bunch weights in pounds from 100 bunches weighed twice a month - Nemacur Versus DBCP - Coto 48, Costa Rica - 1976

Triton was added only to the first mixture each day to protect against

-309-

Both treatments appear normal and equal. Data will continue through the second crop. A duplicate of the foregoing (Grand Nain in open sun) was initiated in Coto 59. Results to date are similar.

12:00

147 AR.

150 154 15V

and the time

100 CC

20 M

PATHOLOGY

Moko

Less cases were reported than in previous years as shown below:

Year	No. Cases
1973	298
1974	135
1975	82
1976	62

Fruit Spots and Fruit Sprays

Fruit spots were less troublesome than in previous years. Beginning 19 November 1976, fruit spray was suspended in two farms each in Coto and Palmar each week until 11 December when all fruit spraying ceased.

Sigatoka

The disease was not cleaned up during the early 1976 dry season and consequently, a threatening infection appeared in Coto and Palmar when the rains began in May.

Cycles were sprayed as follows:

Rate/acre in 1	No. applic	cations 1976
gal straight oil	Coto	Palmar
1.5 lb Dithane	10.2	10.86
.75 lb Dithane, 2 oz Benlate	4.7	5.29
4 oz Benlate	2.6	1.8
TOTAL	17.5	17.95

Triton was added only to the first mixture each day to protect against water contamination in the plane or mixing plant.

The following observation blocks were established during August in Coto and in July in Palmar:

Rate/acre in l gal straight oil	Location
2 oz Benlate	Palmar 13, 416 acres Coto 41-43, 661 acres
3 oz Benlate	Palmar 5, 379 acres
4 oz Benlate	Palmar 9, 635 acres Coto 41, 559 acres
2 oz Benlate, .75 lb Dithane	Palmar 3, 331 acres Coto 41-43, 781 acres

At the end of 1976, Sigatoka infection was low in all treatments.

WEATHER

The Division received about 100 inches of rainfall less than the average (Table 155, Figure 50). A severe drought resulted in constant irrigation totalling 10.9 cycles in Coto and 16.7 in Palmar. Water tables remained low most of the year, except during October.

PHILIPPINE INSECTS

Introduction

Notes on miscellaneous banana insects observed mostly in TADECO VALERY plantations, Davao del Norte, Mindanao, Philippines in January-February 1976 were submitted in a report: "Part I, Miscellaneous Philippine Insects and Other Fauna in Mindanao Banana Farms". A second report, "Part II, Philippine Banana Peel-Scarring Weevils in Mindanao Banana Farms" reviewed weevil pests. Both reports were widely distributed to personnel in Boston, Honduras and the Philippines. Therefore, only a summary of these findings are included in the Annual Report.

Bagworms

Five species of bagworms (Family: Psychidae) were collected from VALERY leaves in TADECO (Figure 51).

Identifications and Descriptions: Bags and male adults of three species (1, 4 and 5, Figure 51) were sent to Dr. Don R. Davis, National Museum of Natural History, Washington, D. C. 20560, who recently collected in Mindanao. Specimens from numbers 2 and 3 were poor and scarce and were not sent. The following identifications and descriptions refer to the mature males numbered in Figure 51.

Table 155. Rainfall in inches in 1976 - Golfito Division, Costa Rica

	A	C	D	
I	Farm 45	Farm 59	Farm 5	Orchard
Month	loto	Coto	Palmar	Golfito
January	2.72	2.88	2.10	1.54
February	0.00	.25	0.00	0.00
March	1.00	.21	0.00	4.62
April	7.69	4.78	5.80	8.26
May	21.26	13.61	14.60	11.42
June	10.34	11.59	8.15	12.32
July	6.17	4.67	3.55	6.98
August	14.37	12.23	14.75	13.12
September	15.19	17.29	18.60	12.48
October	30.22	26.00	22.95	13.33
November	13.99	13.59	6.35	9.87
December	6.38	6.81	1.85	7.12
1976 Total	129.35	113.91	98.7	101.06
1975 Total	211.00	190.14	179.15	233.22
1974 Total	208.77	187.26	148.53	248.52
1973 Total	234.50	202.91	191.27	247.06

identifications and Descriptions: Badi and male adults of three species (1. 4 and 5, Figure 51) were sent to br. Don't. Davit, Mational Museum of Matural History, Washington, D. C. 20560, who recently collected in Mindanas Specimens from sumpers 2 and 3 were poor and scarce and were not sent. The following identifications and descriptions refer to the mature males numbers

leaves in TADECO (Figure 1)]

Five species of bagwinn (Familyr Psychidae) were collected from VALERY

-312-

6

0

(1) (E

AN AN AN

100 100 UN

1

(1) (1)

-313-

FIGURE 50

RAINFALL, GOLFITO DIVISION, 1976





of bagworms. (1) May be <u>Brachycyttarus</u> sp. near <u>subtalbatus</u> (Hampsn.). (4) <u>Eumeta fuscescens</u> Snell. (5) Trashy bagworm. TADECO, Mindanao, Philippines, February 1976.

1. A.M.

0

- May be <u>Brachycyttarus</u> sp. near <u>subtalbatus</u> (Hampsn.). Bag soft, brown, 8 mm long, attached to leaf by silk thread 8 mm long. Leaf thatch mostly horizontal. Smallest of the banana bagworms. Feeding damage minimal. Common on nutgrass in banana farms. Adult dark gray, fragil. Wingspan 13 mm.
- 2. Not identified due to lack of good adults. Bag hard, light brown, neat leaf thatch placed flat on surface. Main bag 12 mm with tapering extension 4 mm forming a right angle. Extension made with tiny leaf bits and connected to leaf with silk string 4 mm long which angles back up about 90 degrees. Not common, feeding damage minimal. Adult gray, fragil similar to N² 1. Wingspan 17 mm.
- Bag 32 mm, leaf bits placed close to bag, moderately neat thatch, soft bag. Upper bag tapers gradually and has no distinct string attachment as in numbers 1 and 2. Female bag 1/3 larger. No male moths collected. This species not common.
- 4. Eumeta fuscescens Snell. Bag 54 mm, thin, papery, smooth, neat, light tan to light brown, made of finely chewed leaf bits and silk. Common and is a potential pest. Large larvae make 45 mm wide feeding holes. Moth light brown, dense setae on thorax and abdomen. Wingspan 32 mm. Figure 51 shows a newly emerged male moth clinging to its bag.
- Trashy bagworm, unknown to Dr. Davis. Bag 42 mm, large leaf pieces loosely attached. Mature female bag frequently twice the size of the male. A potential pest. Mature larvae chew holes 45 mm in diameter and larger. Adult dark gray. Wingspan 30 mm.

Miscellaneous Species

The following species were discussed in Part I:

- 1. A stinging limacodid defoliator similar to Sibine.
- 2. A slug caterpillar defoliator.
- 3. A lepidopterous finger tip feeder.
- 4. Lace bugs (Tingidae) on banana leaves.
- 5. Red rust thrips identified as <u>Chaetanaphothrips signipennis</u> (Bagnall) by H. E. Ostmark. This pest was not found in TADECO but typical fruit russeting caused by this species was seen on bananas in Desidal and Mabuhay, a few kilometers south of TADECO. Male and female adults were collected between Tugbok and Guianga from banana fruit and suckers with blemishes identical to russeting caused by <u>C. signipennis</u> in Changuinola, Panama.

a. Similar in appearance to <u>Diaspis</u>.

b. Similar to yellow coconut scale,

7. Cosmopolites sordidus

8. <u>Odoiporus longicollis</u> was not seen in TADECO but was collected at higher elevations at Davao Fruit Company plantation 1 near Guianga. This species was observed in banana fruit stalks in southern Taiwan where severe tunnelling in pseudostems and stalks occurs. 10

6

6

61.0

色

100

6

6

Sel.

- 9. Termite damage to props in the field. The large termite mound is similar to Coptotermes lacteus of Australia.
- Bat scratch on young fingers was similar in appearance and intensity to that found in Central America.
- Giant snail (Japanese snail) not reported as a pest. Snails are highly susceptible to Mocap and Furadan granules. This observation suggests that such pesticides may also control slugs.

Peel-Scarring Weevils

To summarize Part II, three species of flightless curculionid beetles (Figure 52) that feed on banana fruit and leaves were identified by Dr. Charles W. O'Brien, Florida A & M University, Tallahassee.

on thoreax and abdoment. Wings

Philicoptus demissus Heller. This pest (Figure 52) is isolated in the General Santos region, the arid banana zone of Standard Fruit Company where the light sandy soils are irrigated 7-9 months a year. Little is known about the species. The female is 7 mm in length, whereas the male is 6 mm. To the naked eye, adults appear dull white with sparse irregular black markings. Under the microscope, masses of round white scales are seen. Scales overlap on many parts.

Philicoptus iliganus Heller. This insect (Figure 52) is the most economically important banana peel-scarrer. Infestations occur in the South banana zone west of the Davao River Valley (Figure 53). The species is prolific near sea level in Lapanday Farm near Davao City, ranging west into the cool slopes of Mt. Tolomo. High populations are common above Davao Fruit Company's plantation 1 near Guianga at 700 m elevation and in the banana and coffee region of Calinan.

Female adults are 7-8 mm in length, whereas males are 6-7 mm. Both sexes are brilliantly colorful. Although the body is black, the insect appears metallic green. About 3/4 of the body is covered with minute round, metallic green scales which form irregular patterns on the elytra and thorax. Scales also cover parts of the head and abdomen although scales are absent on the caudal 3 abdominal segments of the female. A gold to burnt-orange sheen is commonly reflected. Pink to tan-colored scales are found on the legs and basal segment of the antenna. Scales tend to be green on the interior side of the legs. Scales, anterior to the eye are sometimes blue. All surfaces of the body have hair-like setae.


Figure 52. Banana peel-scarring weevils: Left, Philicoptus iliganus (South banana zone); Center, P. sp. (North banana zone); Right, P. demissus (General Santos). Figure 53. Distribution of 2 banana peel-scarring weevils, Mindanao, Philippines, 1976.

26

14.15

New Will

100

(::

6

S. 33

1999 (AB)



During recent years, this pest was erroneously identified as <u>Metapocyrtus</u> and P. waltoni Boheman.

The species is strongly polyphagus, feeding on many economic plants, i.e. coffee, avocado, cacao, citrus and pineapple. On bananas, feeding occurs on suckers, mature leaves, banana flowers and mature fruit (Figure 54).

Life cycle studies in the lab by another investigator found that 3-31 eggs deposited in moist soil hatched in 10.2 days. Larvae fed on live mong bean roots. The larval stage required 81-177 days. The newly emerged adult has a pair of black mandibular extensions about .5 mm long which later break off. The new adult is dark, even when exposed to light, but turns metallic green after several days.

Although the larva probably feeds on roots of other hosts, it is strongly indicated that the life cycle is mostly passed on banana roots. During February 1976, of 50 carton drum traps placed over bare soil beside banana plants in Lapanday Farm, 12 traps caught a total of 19 P. iliganus adults (9 males, 10 females). Two traps of 20 placed in the bottom of a moist canal yielded a weevil each. Banana roots were found in soil under both traps.

Control by hand-picking weevils from fruit just shot was only partially effective. Up to 26 adults per bunch were commonly collected. A sticky barrier around the fruit stalk prevented weevils from crawling into the bunch. However, any bridges touching the fruit bunch, i.e. strings, leaf, prop, etc. are almost certain to be used by the insect to enter the bunch.

Insecticide treatments to the soil, weeds, suckers, pseudostem and fruit have been only partially successful in pest control. Bags treated with Diazinon dust have helped to reduce damage.

Philicoptus sp. This weevil (Figure 52) was found only in the North banana zone which extends north and east of the Lasang River Valley to Compostela (Figure 53). The pest was not found in TADECO until February 1976. Previously, weevil damage to fruit was mistakenly identified as caterpillar scar. This insect was mistakenly identified previously as Pyrgops.

The species (Figure 52) is distinctly different from P. iliganus in color and only slightly smaller in size. Females are approximately 6 mm long and males are 5 mm. To the naked eye, the adult of both sexes is a drab green. A black lateral marking on the elytra is visible 1/3 from the posterior of the body. When viewed through the microscope, a colorful display of mostly green mixed with some blue and gold, irridescent, round scales are revealed. These scales cover the basal segment of the antenna, head, thorax, elytra and abdomen, except the caudal 3 segments. Scales on the legs are tan to salmon-colored with occasional gold or orange scales. The body is covered with hair-like setae which are less prominent on the dorsal prothorax. Membraneous wings are lacking and the elytra are fused.

Little was known about the biology of this weevil, but its habits appear similar to those of P. iliganus. Although the species was collected at widely scattered sites, populations in banana farms appear to be limited to low infestations in small localized spots. Farm managers reported little spread in these localized infestations since their discovery soon after bananas were



Figure 54. Peel scarring by Philicoptus iliganus, Lapano pines, 1976. ganus, Lapanday, Mindanao, Philip-

Little was known shout the biology of this wnevil, but its babits appear similar to those of P. illiginus. Although the species was collected at widely festations to small localized sport. Farm managers reported little spread in these localized intestations since their discovery soon after bananas wore

chorax, alytra and abdomen, except the caudal 3 seminats. Scales on the legs are tan to selmon-colored with occasional gold of orange scales. The body

(interior

313 Ciel:

C.S.

Ca an

Sec. Aller A Nelly

10 (A) (A)

1000

planted in early 1970's. For example, a known infestation covering 1-2 hectares in northeast Compostela Farm bordered by rice and the Agusan River has reportedly not moved during the last five years. A similar case was reported in La Filipina Farm near Tagum. Although reported previously on a minor scale, no scarring is now known in Hijo Farm.

The insect is polyphagus, feeding on banana fruit and suckers, coffee, a common malvaceous tree, and numerous other plants. Although adults were difficult to find in a small infestation in bananas in La Filipina Farm, numerous specimens were collected only 3 m across the road on the foliage of "madre de cacao" fence posts. Weevils were collected from the bush bordering bananas in Dizon, Diamond and Desidal Farms but no specimens were located on bananas a few meters away. There are indications that beetles in the bush do not penetrate far into the bananas. This may or may not be the result of insecticide sprays in some farms.

In TADECO, the insect was found in Farms 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 10. A survey in February revealed that 5% of 1629 stems of fruit had weevil scar. Of the damaged fruit, 90.6% came from Farm 5. Mindanao Fruit Company 1976 monthly reports summarized total stems with weevil scar from all farms as follows:

Month:	March	April	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.
No. stems:	180	389	244	84	196	110	97	75

In August, damaged fruit came only from Farm 5 with an average of 7.7 damaged fingers from an average of two damaged hands per stem. Although beetle populations were high in weeds in Farm 2, no scarred fruit was reported.

Before bananas were planted in 1970-71, some of the <u>Philicoptus</u>-infested areas were in scattered coffee, abaca, ramie and kenaf. It is likely that the weevil was there in its natural state before man settled the zone. The insect has persisted despite drastic ecological changes brought about in recent decades. It is speculated that the species will continue to survive in the present banana habitat and that man should accept the weevil's presence as a permanent part of the banana plantation fauna. Certain manipulations of the habitat based on proven research findings may reduce weevil damage to a tolerable minimum.

Other Weevils

Rumors that other weevils in banana farms are also peel-scarrers appear to be unsubstantiated. To the untrained eye, several weevils are confused with peel-scarring species. A collection of 11 numbered species were deposited in the TADECO lab. Identifications (Table 156) using the collection number will serve as a reference. Dr. O'Brien has a numbered set as well as the USDA collections in Beltsville, MD.

When placed in a 1500 ml jar, six of eight miscellaneous species fed on green banana fingers. Most of the <u>Metapocyrtus</u> species were reluctant to feed during the first few days. However, Philicoptus strigifrons Heller

Comments	Banana pest, South zone		Banana pest, North zone		Common	Common	Tentative identifi- cation	Banana pest, General Santos		Not Identified
Author	Heller	Schultze		Heller	Schultze	Heller	Chevrolat	Heller		
Species.	iliganus	apoensis	6100 409 110	stringifrons	trifasciatus	bituberosus	viridulus ?	demissus		
Subgenus		Trachycyrtus		nd h i 2, som and nan igos ch c c c c c c c c c c c	Dolichocephalocyrtus	Dolichocephalocyrtus	Trachycyrtus			
Genus	Philicoptus	Metapocyrtus	Philicoptus	Philicoptus	Metapocyrtus	Metapocyrtus	Metapocyrtus	Philicoptus	Philicoptus Philicoptus	
Loliection	i gai bered sucea eree	2	.3	4	5	9	2	ω	e 0 ;	i as i as i as i as i as s ai s as

near Mindanao banana farms, Mindanao, Philippines, 1976 10 ._ Curcul ionids Table 156.

-322-

6

(ist)

6

1. 60

18

Ser.

an an an

14

(1) (1) (1)

City

6

C) (2)

100 CC

taken from banana suckers at Guianga feed readily in captivity and may be a suspect peel-feeder.

(STEPHENS)



EXPERIMENTAL DEPARTMENT - HONDURAS

PATHOLOGY

Disease Control

During 1976 black Sigatoka was the disease receiving major attention and we applied 7.79 more cycles to control it than in 1975. Crown mold has been reported in most of the U. S. shipments due to the fact that 40% of the fungi causing the problem are resistant to Benlate or Tecto.

Black Sigatoka

The major disease in Honduras Division is the new race of leaf spot called black Sigatoka and is affecting all the bananas and plantains growing in the Sula Valley.

In the Sula Valley, the area planted with bananas represents 40% and plantains 60%. Most of the banana farms are surrounded by plantains heavily infected with Sigatoka and only in bananas the disease is controlled; because of this we have a high inoculum level in our farms. During December the plantain shipments to U. S. market had been discontinued due to poor quality fruit.

We are controlling this disease with spray cycles of oil plus Benlate and Benlate formulations according to Research recommendations. At the beginning and during the last three months of the year, we had a lot of rainfall and the spray cycles had to be prolonged due to the weather and equipment problems.

In some hot areas (Mopala, Santa Rosa Farms), plants with fruit severely infected and having less than five healthy functional leaves were chopped down to reduce inoculum and help clean up the "hot spots" sooner.

Weekly deleafing cycles to eliminate all infected leaves were made in all the Division starting in July; this also helped to reduce the inoculum of the fungi that caused crown mold, crown rot and fruit spot.

In April CAGSSA farms (2,678 acres) were incorporated to our Sigatoka control program. The area is sprayed using airplane with six micronairs AU 3000. At the beginning the infection was high and spotting was found on leaf number 6. To lower the infection in this area, we were using a nine-day spray cycle of Dithane and Benlate in oil during the first six months. At present, we have good control with no hot areas. On the last survey made on December 30, spotting was found on leaves 8-9.

In the Division the average spray cycles applied this year were 29.39. La Fragua Farm had 33.0 and Guaruma Farm 25.48 cycles. The average length cycle in days is 13, La Fragua having the shortest cycle with 11 and Guaruma with 15 days.

The following is a comparison in number of spray cycles by years:

	1973	1974	1975	1976
Average cycles/	13.8	17.2	21.6	29.4
year				

Carlo Carlo

etc.

18.39

No.

WEL ! 1450

A.C.W.

(B)

(***

As a result of short spray cycles in combination with the cool weather registered in November and December, bronzing of the leaves is observed in all farms; the problem is heavier at the edges of the farms, along the road ditches and in young plantations (plantilla). Sigatoka control looks better than in 1975.

Crown Mold and Crown Rot

During 1976 crown mold has been reported in most of the shipments sent to U.S. markets, and crown rot only in two or three reports from Europe.

Starting in July, the complete Division was using 200 ppm Benlate or Tecto-40 for the U.S. shipments and 400 ppm Benlate or Tecto-40 for the European markets. This change was done according to Research instructions.

The Agricultural personnel instructed all farm administrators and all packing plant and farm supervisors to improve farm sanitation (weed control, deleafing, plant population, drainage, fruit protection, etc.). At the packing stations all techniques were improved, such as dehanding with enough crown tissue, selecting and cutting the clusters in the right way, giving enough time to spray the fruit with the protective fungicides and packing the fruit in the box correctly.

Mr. James Murphy from the Plumbing Department designed and installed the "Double Line Spray System". This system has been installed in 27 packing plants and is giving us a better protective spray against crown mold and crown rot fungi.

Fruit Spot

The incidence of pitting disease was very low this year due to improved sanitation techniques.

To reduce costs in chemical control, we were spraying the fruit seasonally starting in March through November.

Moko

Moko control was excellent this year with a total of 725 cases in all the Division as compared to 1,206 last year. This means a reduction of 39.9% less cases than in 1975.

Dithane and Beniate In off during the Mirst wix woulds. At present, we

San Juan, Guaruma and Omonita Farms in La Lima District have become the problematic ones during the year. We must improve Moko control techniques in these farms (Figure 55).



Leaf Pruning Experiment

The experiment is located at Indiana Farm and is carried out by the farm administrator, assisted by our Department and Research.

The objectives for this study were presented in the 1975 Annual Research Report.

We have the following results for 1976:

		Bunch			Caliper 2nd	
Treatment	Stems harvested	weight (1bs)	Average weight	Hands/ stem	largest hand	Leaves at harvest
Leaving 9 leaves at shooting	1,550	138,167	89.14	9.78	13.68	8.14
Control	1,387	128,686	92.78	10.01	13.98	8.30
Difference	163	9,481	3.64	0.23	0.30	

These results show an increase of 11.75% in harvested stems over the control; in gross weight this means 7.37%. Also, we can note in the treated plots less bunch weight, hands and caliper grade.

Table 157 shows that there are no significant differences in total bunches harvested, average stem weight or total gross yield between deleafed and non-deleafed plots.

Table 157. Leaf pruning experiment - Indiana Farm - Honduras

			F Test -	ANOV
	Deleaf	Control	Treatments	Blocks
Total harvested bunches	258.3	231.2	0.99 NS	4.49 *
Ave. stem weight (lbs.)	88.7	91.6	1.04 NS	1.15 NS
Total gross yield	23,027.8	21,447.7	0.32 NS	3.94 NS

NEMATOLOGY

DBCP Nematode Control Experiments

During 1976 the experiments were treated with DBCP 86E at 14 cc/mat/cycle

and two cycles during the year. At the second cycle of the year, the injections were made in the 9×5 configuration with the inner circle at 6 in (15 cm) and the outer circle 12 in (30 cm) from the inner circle as per Research recommendations. The cycles applied in 1976 represent the 5th and 6th consecutive cycles of DBCP. These were applied in week 8 and 34 in the Los Limones Experiment, 20 and 51 in the San Juan Experiment, and 15 and 48 in the Barranco Experiment.

Previous data collection has included loss surveys, pseudostem circumference, and nematode surveys. During the year the data collection was increased to include (number of stems), stem weight, number of hands, pseudostem circumference and for the 4th quarter, grade and apical finger length. Summaries by quarter are presented in Tables 158 and 159. Data were collected weekly on random stems from the plots harvested.

In the Barranco Experiment, means for the 3rd quarter were highly significantly (1% level) different from stem weight and significantly (5% level) different for number of hands. During the 4th quarter, stem weight was significant and grade highly significant for mean comparisons. In regard to stem weight in this experiment, two things are happening: the number of hands is increasing and the caliper is higher at harvest. This could indicate an effect of nematode control through better growth and reaching grade faster. Thus, it is going to be necessary to mark mats and keep a closer record of growth and development of the stems. Rainfall in this area during 1976 was 52.56 inches and represents a total increase of 11.62 inches over 1975.

In the San Juan Experiment, data were not available for the 3rd quarter. During the 4th quarter, grade mean difference was the only parameter that was significant. Rainfall during 1976 was 54.13 inches, 27.49 inches greater than 1975.

The Limones Experiment was accidently treated with DBCP in the control plots during 1975. Six additional plots were included to act as controls. Research made counts of nematodes and found no <u>Radopholus</u> in these plots, so at Research recommendation they have been eliminated from the analysis. This area was originally 65% infested based upon rhizome index at the start of the experiment. The area still yields very low nematode counts in the roots. Data analysis shows mean differences only for stem weight in the 3rd quarter which is significant. Rainfall during 1976 was 80.01 inches which is 41.75 inches of the 1975 total.

Up-root losses for the three experiments are presented in Table 160. The losses based upon 650 production units per acre represent 2.1, 2.1 and 0.2% in the areas of Barranco, San Juan and Limones, respectively. The only case where mean differences are significant is in Barranco Farm (1% level), the farm with the highest incidence of Radopholus.

ENTOMOLOGY

We had two insect problems reported in the Division this year:

we expertes during the year. At the second cycle of the year, the inject were made in the 9 x 5 configuration with the inner circle at 6 in (1 and the outer circle 12 in (30 cm) from the inner circle as par Massacq exadations. The cycles amplied in 1776 represent the 5th and 6th conlive cycles of UBCP. These were applied in meet 8 and 34 in the tos 16 froeriment, 20 and 61 in the San Juan Experiment, and 15 and 58 in the

Table 158. DBCP Experiments - Yield data for 3rd quarter 1976

100 Var

100 m m

C.S.

6

New York

6

1999 (ES)

			F Test - ANOV 2			
Location	DBCP	Control	Treatments	Blocks		
Barranco ³						
No. stems	132.6	121.4	1.50 NS	2.77 NS		
Stem weight (1bs)	89.6	77.4	35.81 **	7.71 *		
No. hands	9.5	8.8	10.58 *	1.60 NS		
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	72.0	69.1	3.41 NS	1.96 NS		
Limones	11 10 52		a sinesente a	6 Inches a		
No. stems	68.8	45.8	2.98 NS	4.98 NS		
Stem weight (lbs)	95.3	91.6	8.79 *	2.70 NS		
No. hands	9.8	9.9	0.03 NS	2.49 NS		
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	77.8	77.6	0.03 NS	3.42 NS		

where mean differences are: significant is in Darianco Farm (12 level), the

We had two intect problems reported in the Division this years

farm, with the highest inclience of Radophotus.

¹ No San Juan data available.

 2 ** = 1% level, * = 5% level and NS = Non-significant.

 3 Replicate Nº 1 omitted due to harvesting problem.

			F Test - A	NOV 1
Location	DBCP	Control	Treatment	Blocks
Barranco				
No. stems	174.7	155.8	0.04 NS	1.62 NS
Stem weight (1bs)	90.8	80.6	8.76 *	3.36 NS
No. hands	9.0	8.7	0.58 NS	0.62 NS
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	72.4	71.4	0.28 NS	1.00 NS
Grade	18.2	17.3	28.26 **	1.44 NS
Apical finger length (in)	8.0	7.9	1.40 NS	0.91 NS
San Juan				
No. stems	66.5	65.3	0.05 NS	3.70 NS
Stem weight (1bs)	94.3	93.1	0.16 NS	1.38 NS
No. hands	10.5	10.3	0.57 NS	0.99 NS
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	75.7	74.6	0.61 NS	1.49 NS
Grade	15.4	15.7	9.14 *	2.89 NS
Apical finger length (in)	7.8	7.7	0.43 NS	1.16 NS
Limones				
No. stems	64.0	50.2	5.30 NS -	1.95 NS
Stem weight (1bs)	91.3	88.1	2.68 NS	1.85 NS
No. hands	9.0	8.9	3.08 NS	9.31 *
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	74.2	72.8	5.30 NS	5.32 *
Grade	16.5	16.2	5.45 NS	3.61 NS
Apical finger length (in)	8.4	8.2	2.08 NS	8.02 *

Table 159. DBCP Experiments - Yield data for 4th quarter 1976

1 ** = 1% level, * = 5% level and NS = Non-significant.

Location	Up-roots/acre		F Test
.04 NS 1.62 NS	0	179.7	
Barranco			
DBCP	2.8		21.87 **
Control	13.8		
Reduction	80%		
24-04.			
San Juan			
DBCP	8.7		4.63 NS
Control	13.8		
Reduction	37%		
	57.0		
limones			
	1.1.1		(al) digast is
DBCP	0.7		0.53 NS
Control	1.3		
Reduction	46%		
	1.84		(155)
\dot{x} = 1% level		0.8	
10 10001.	12 P	14.2	i (ma) .anio
			:

st = 12 level, s = 52 level and NS = flon-significant.

Table 160. Up-root losses in DBCP experiments in Barranco, San Juan and Limones Farms during 1976

-332-

6

0

and and all

State (1)

10 1 (E)

う 第

- Metachroma variabile Higuerito District. This was reported on June 18. The small beetle was feeding on young banana fruit. To control the pest all the water suckers were chopped down and the farms cleaned to eliminate weeds, especially camalote grass.
- 2) <u>Red Rust Thrips Santa Rosa Farm</u>. The damage appeared at the end of July. The damage apparently was caused because of the poor quality of the plastic bag that did not resist the wind action and rupted (87%), allowing the insects to infect the fruit.

AGRONOMY

Potassium-Magnesium Experiment - Lima and Ulua Districts

The plots are located in poor and good areas in San Juan, La Curva, Copen and Santa Rosa Farms. The objective was to determine if bananas growing in poor and good soil would respond to the application of potassium plus magnesium and potassium alone in soils from Chamelecon and Ulua rivers.

Table 161 shows the results obtained from January through December 1976.

In Lima District, results found through December indicate an increase from 2.6 to 20.5 lb in poor areas and from 2.5 to 14.4 lb in good areas receiving 360 lb of K plus 25 lb of Mg/acre/year.

With 720 lb of K/acre/year, the results show an increase from 5.6 to 21.7 lb for poor areas and from 0.9 to 11.2 lb in good areas.

We have no response in poor areas in Santa Rosa Farm (Ulua District) and a slight increase from 1.4 to 4.5 lb in good areas.

This indicates that most of the farms located along the Ulua River are not actually deficient in potassium. We applied two cycles of 400 lb KCl during this year in Lima District, and during 1977 all the entire Lima District will be treated with potassium.

Table 162 shows significant results in stem weight for San Juan (10% level) and La Curva Farm (5% level) in poor areas. Means for grade are highly significant (1% level) in the poor area in La Curva and slightly significant (10% level) for the good area in Santa Rosa Farm. Number of hands is significant (5% level) only in the poor area of San Juan Farm. Pseudostem circumference is significant in poor areas (5-10% level) in San Juan and La Curva Farms (5% level).

Grand Nain Versus Dwarf VALERY - Laurel Farm

At the beginning of the year, the data showed that 22% of the Grand Nain plants had shot fruit and only 6% in the Dwarf VALERY variety.

The data collected from January through December show the following:

entered to valley of the blas	F	Poor Area	MALDEN PRA	(Good Area	and the
Location	T-1*	T-2	T-3	T-1	T-2	T-3
San Juan						
Total stems	688	690	644	691	682	700
Stem weight (1bs)	85 8	83 7	75 5	93 6	92 9	91 1
No hands	10.3	10.0	9.4	10.7	10.8	10.7
Colliner gradett	14.7	14.7	14.8	14 3	14.2	1/1 1
Provides tom circ (cm)	72 9	72 0	67.0	78 2	78 8	76 1
i seudos cem circ. (cm)	12.5	72.0	07.0	10.2	70.0	/0.4
San Juan	(1.0	709	707	720	600	(70
lotal stems	648	700	/0/	129	698	6/9
Stem weight (Ibs)	/4.2	11.3	/1.6	101.8	100.2	99.3
No. hands	9.3	9.7	8.9	11.1	10.9	10.9
Caliper grade	14.6	14.6	14.9	15.2	15.3	15.2
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	65.3	67.1	62.7	78.9	79.2	78.0
La Curva						
Total stems	679	726	703	616	604	631
Stem weight (1bs)	83 2	90 1	84 5	96 4	93 2	91.6
No hands	9.0	9.7	0.2	0.8	9.5	9.5
Colliner grade	15.6	15 2	9.2 15 E	16.0	15 0	9.5
Pseudostem circ (cm)	70.6	75 4	71 7	77 4	76 6	74 6
			,			,
La Lurva Total stems	749	796	646	552	558	544
Stem usight (lbs)	02 7	OL E	72 2	88 E	90.8	84 8
Stem weight (IDS)	55.7	94.9	13.2	00.5	90.0	04.0
No. nands	9.0	9.0	0.2	9.0	9.0	9.5
Laliper grade	15.2	15.0	15.0	14.4	14.0	14.0
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	/6.4	/6.5	64.6	/5.4	/6.2	/1.4
Copen		nel	100		they felds	171
lotal stems	550	554	620	//0	/51	6/1
Stem weight (lbs)	61.2	58.3	69.9	89.1	85.9	74.7
No. hands	7.6	7.5	8.2	9.6	9.2	8.5
Caliper grade	15.2	15.0	15.6	15.2	15.4	15.5
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	57.4	56.6	61.8	74.0	71.8	65.2
Santa Rosa						1.000
Total stems	403	367	395	631	606	611
Stem weight (1bs)	69.3	69.5	70.3 :	99.4	102.5	98.0
No. hands	8.1	8.0	7.9	10.2	10.4	10.3
Caliper grade	16.1	15.9	16.2	15.3	15.3	14.9
Pseudostem circ. (cm)	64.8	65.0	63.0	81.3	84.2	81.2

Table 161. Potassium-magnesium experiment - Lima and Ulua Districts

* T-1 = 360 lb/acre/year of K plus 25 lb of Mg/acre/year.

T-2 = 360 lb/acre/year (starting September 1975, we are applying 720 lb/ acre/year.

** Caliper grade = 2nd largest hand.

T-3 = Control.

	F Test							
Location	Poor	Area	Good Area					
San Juan								
Stem weight (lbs) Caliper grade No. hands Pseudostem circ. (cm)	4.24* 0.20 NS 3.28 NS 4.74*	3.46** 0.16 NS 8.67** 11.98***	0.36 NS 0.14 NS 0.84 NS 2.68 NS	1.22 NS 0.23 NS 2.27 NS 2.39 NS				
La Curva								
Stem weight (lbs) Caliper grade No. hands Pseudostem circ. (cm)	1.20 NS 0.45 NS 1.28 NS 1.81 NS	7.36** 13.35*** 9.09** 9.17**	1.60 NS 0.05 NS 1.08 NS 3.18 NS	0.88 NS 0.03 NS 1.61 NS 2.12 NS				
Copen								
Stem weight (lbs) Caliper grade No. hands Pseudostem circ. (cm)		0.71 NS 0.44 NS 0.78 NS 0.83 NS		0.71 NS 1.42 NS 3.90* 4.07 NS				
Santa Rosa								
Stem weight (lbs) Caliper grade No. hands Pseudostem circ. (cm)	0.04 NS 0.52 NS 0.32 NS 1.07 NS		0.72 NS 4.29* 0.41 NS 1.43 NS					

Table 162. Potassium-magnesium experiment - Lima and Ulua Districts

1 * = 10% level, ** = 5% level and *** = 10% level.

Variety	Stems harvested	Bunch weight	% CHIQUITA	Caliper basal hand	Apical finger length (inch)
Grand Nain	1,142	81,667	64.9	15.5	7.9
Dwarf VALERY	993	68,445	68.4	15.5	7.8

Grand Nain produces more fruit than Dwarf VALERY, but less percent of CHI-QUITA fruit.

Selective Pruning Experiment - Laurel Farm

The experimental area was planted on February 10 through 19, 1976 with peeled but not heat-treated Grand Nain "seed". Plant spacing is 9' x 9' hexagonal (621 units per acre). The rhizomes planted ranged from 6 to 8 inches in diameter with the center growing point removed prior to planting.

The objective of this trial is to evaluate the effect of different sucker selection methods on yield, bunch weight, stem size and finger length.

Treatments are arranged in a randomized complete block design and are replicated six times. Each replicate consists of 280 to 301 production units, but production data are collected from the center 56 mats.

Treatments are:

- 1) Select the first sucker regardless of position.
- 2) Select the most vigorous sucker regardless of position.
- 3) Select vigorous, well-located suckers.
- Leave first two suckers and select best located one when direction of shooting is known.

Data collected from November through December give the following:

		Stems	Stem weight	Hands/	Caliper basal
Treatment	Shot	Harvested	(1bs.)	stem	hand
1	246	87	59.5	7.7	15.6
2	243	89	66.4	8.2	15.6
3	246	72 -	60.7	7.8	15.5
- 4	249	84	63.0	8.0	15.7

-336-

6

W UN UN VE

CALL CEN

Will will

City.

CHE'

33

Con aller

100 WB

Nitrogen-Potassium Experiment - Laurel Farm

The experiment is located at Laurel Farm. The objective is to determine the response of Grand Nain to two rates of Nitrogen in combination with five rates of potassium sulphate, using 621 production units per acre.

Table 163 shows some differences in bunch weight, number of hands per stem when comparison is made between the two rates of nitrogen using all potassium combinations at each nitrogen level.

Table 163. Effect of nitrogen and potassium fertilization of Grand Nain - Laurel Farm - Data collected from January through December 1976

Pounds/Acre/Year		Stems	Stem weight	Hands/	Apical finger	Caliper basal
Nitrogen	Potassium	harvested	(1bs)	stem	length	hand
200	0	414	71.0	8.4	7.7	15.2
200	200	413	70.5	8.3	7.7	15.4
200	400	462	76.0	8.7	7.8	15.1
200	600	445	78.4	8.9	7.8	15.1
200	800	438	78.3	8.9	7.8	15.2
300	0	425	71.7	8.4	7.7	15.1
300	200	432	75.5	8.6	7.8	15.1
300	400	441	73.5	8.7	7.7	14.9
300	600	450	78.4	8.9	7.8	15.1
300	800	452	79.3	8.9	7.8	15.0

Potassium Experiment - La Curva Farm

The experiment was initiated in August. The objective of this trial is to know the optimum potassium concentration in the leaves, source of potassium (K_2SO_4 and KCI), rate and frequency of application more efficient to obtain maximum yields in our conditions. Using the foliar analysis, potassium concentration in the leaf will be correlated with stem weight and total production.

Phosphorus Experiment - La Curva Farm

The objective of this experiment is to know if phosphorus application has an effect on fruit weight and if there is any beneficial effect to determine which is the best level of application to obtain maximum production.

Banana Production Estimating Project

The project was started during February 1975 with the assistance of Mr. E. Schons and Dr. Yñiguez. The purpose is to determine the feasibility of estimating three-week banana production by using maximum and minimum temperatures, bud farm counts, weekly fruit growth, ribbon color and field losses. To run this trial, a total of 38 sampling plots (0.5-acre plot) were laid out in a randomized fashion, one in each section of Santa Rosa Farm.

Each week we send a radiogram to Dr. Stier in Boston which includes all information collected.

This information has been helpful to the Agriculture Department when planning weekly fruit estimation, especially during November through February when the climatic conditions changed due to cold fronts.

Figure 56 shows the information for 1976 recorded in Santa Rosa Farm. Dr. Sierra's Harvest Program Age/Grade Control showing four harvest periods for Honduras Division, according to our weather conditions, is as follows:

	Harvest					
	Day	ys	Weeks			
Harvest periods	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.		
From Dec. 11 to Apr. 3	84 to	o 105	12 to	15		
From Apr. 3 to May 28	77 to	98	11 to	14		
From May 28 to Sept. 28	70 to	91	10 to	13		
From Sept. 28 to Dec. 11	77 to	98	ll to	14		
	Harvest periods From Dec. 11 to Apr. 3 From Apr. 3 to May 28 From May 28 to Sept. 28 From Sept. 28 to Dec. 11	Harvest periodsDayHarvest periodsMin.From Dec. 11 to Apr. 384 toFrom Apr. 3 to May 2877 toFrom May 28 to Sept. 2870 toFrom Sept. 28 to Dec. 1177 to	Harvest periods Min. Max. Harvest periods Min. Max. From Dec. 11 to Apr. 3 84 to 105 From Apr. 3 to May 28 77 to 98 From May 28 to Sept. 28 70 to 91 From Sept. 28 to Dec. 11 77 to 98	Harvest Harvest periods Days Week Min. Max. Min. From Dec. 11 to Apr. 3 84 to 105 12 to From Apr. 3 to May 28 77 to 98 11 to From May 28 to Sept. 28 70 to 91 10 to From Sept. 28 to Dec. 11 77 to 98 11 to		

This means that for period N° 1 any ribbon in areas with good growth must be calipered for the first time in week 12, second calipered in week 13, and swept in week 14. For areas with less growth, the first caliper must be in week 13, second calipered in week 14, and swept in week 15. This is done to optimize grade, try to obtain the maximum box/stem ratio, and avoid ripe and turning during transit.

Water Requirement

The Experimental Department gave assistance to the Agriculture personnel in this matter. Weekly soil moisture readings with tensiometers were initiated starting in January and continued according to the dry periods experienced during this year. Readings were taken at 6" and 12" below soil surface in most of the farms. 6

20 VES

15. A. A.

AN.

The star star

C.S

ASS.



Figure 56

-339-

In 1976 we had 76.54 inches of rainfall in comparison with 30.33 inches during 1975. Because of this, we applied only 33.4 irrigation cycles during this year vs. 60.3 cycles applied last year.

Sampling for Foliar Analysis

The entire Division, including the Independent Producers, was sampled from February through August. The results of analysis showed some nitrogen deficiencies which were corrected with a better urea application.

Training Program

The Department is responsible for training the Agronomist according to the program.

METEOROLOGY

Blowdown Losses

On the evening of June 2, the Division experienced a tropical depression that affected Limones, Lupo, Laurel, Monterrey and Los Indios Farms. A local windstorm was formed (3:15 p.m.) during 0.30 inches of heavy rain; temperature dropped 21° F, drastically from 102° F to 81° F in 20 minutes.

The wind blew from southeast to north. We lost between 350,000 to 375,000 production units.

The wind velocity recorded by the Anemometer at Laurel Farm ranged from 36 to 6 miles per hour (Figure 57).

Rainfall

The average rainfall for the Division was 76.54 inches, as listed in Table 164.

During 1976, February and March were the driest months in Honduras. Progreso and Guanacastal recorded more rain than Ulua and Lima Districts, Lima being the driest area of the Division.

Temperature

Table 165 and Figure 58 show average maximum and minimum temperatures which occurred in 1976. Data were collected from 13 hygrothermographs throughout the Division.

(OYUELA)





8

9 W W

Car and the set

ALL ALL ALL

CA AR

130 A.

~			- / 1	
1	ah	0	164	1
	au	16	107	

64. Monthly average rainfall in inches - Honduras Division 1976 - Distribution of rain by months on each District

Month	Lima (5)*	Ulua (7)	Progreso (5)	Guanacastal (5)	Division average
January	10.38	15.66	16.44	16.77	14.89
February	1.42	1.64	1.39	2.30	1.66
March	.01			0.15	.01
April	2.69	3.72	3.16	3.04	3.20
Мау	3.11	2.52	3.22	2.96	2.91
June	6.14	8.09	8.20	9.99	8.11
July	3.86	4.71	4.98	3.90	4.40
August	1.96	3.72	4.09	4.84	3.66
September	2.31	2.98	3.82	2.02	2.80
October	8.92	10.27	11.86	17.33	11.92
November	9.27	13.19	14.04	15.89	13.10
December	7.75	9.65	10.63	11.47	9.86
	57.82	76.06	81.81	90.67	76.54

* Number of stations per District.

Table	165.	Monthly	average	maximum	and	minimum	temperature
		Honduras	s Divisio	on 1976			

Month	Maximum	Minimum
January	79.2	65.2
February	82.6	64.4
March	92.2	69.3
April	91.5	71.7
Мау	94.6	74.9
June	92.1	74.7
July .	91.5	74.1
August	92.2	73.5
September	93.1	. 73.4
October	89.9	73.1
November	85.3	71.2
December	83.2	70.6
Division Average	89.0	71.3



PROFESSIONAL STAFF AT END OF 1976

Dr.	R.	H. Stover	Director Vining C. Dunlap Laboratories
Dr.	D.	L. Richardson	Director Crop Development
Dr.	F.	A. Sierra	Director Agricultural Ext. & Training Services
Dr.	Н.	E. Ostmark	Director Entomology/Nematology Department
Dr.	Ρ.	R. Rowe	Director Banana Breeding Program
Dr.	Τ.	J. Johnson	Associate Horticulturist
Dr.	Le	Da Ton	Associate Horticulturist
Dr.	Μ.	Rodríguez	Associate Agronomist
Dr.	J.	G. Pinochet	Associate Nematologist
Dr.	Ρ.	L. Taylor	Associate Nematologist
Dr.	L.	C. Darlington	Associate Pathologist
Dr.	₩.	R. Slabaugh	Associate Pathologist
Dr.	М.	D. Grove	Associate Pathologist
Mr.	J.	D. Dickson	Associate Botanist
Mr.	J.	E. Romero	Associate Geneticist
Mr.	Н.	J. Lizárraga	Associate Scientist
Mr.	G.	E. Donaldson	Manager Pest Control Extension - Panama
Dr.	J.	A. Salas	Principal Pathologist - Costa Rica
Mr.	R.	Escobar	Research Associate - Costa Rica
Mr.	G.	Alpízar	Senior Research Assistant - Costa Rica
Mr.	G.	Quesada	Senior Research Assistant - Costa Rica
Mr.	Μ.	R. Bustamante	Research Associate
Mr.	С.	Evers Q.	Research Associate
Mr.	G.	Manzanares U.	Research Associate
Mr.	М.	T. Palao	Senior Research Assistant - Nicaragua
Mr.	Α.	A. Bueso	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	R.	A. Fromm	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	J.	R. Gómez	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	Ε.	0. Jácome	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	J.	A. Alfonso	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	0.	A. Barrigh	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	J.	R. Hernández	Senior Research Assistant
Mr.	J.	A. Padilla	Administrative Assistant

PROFESSIONAL STAFF AT END OF 1976 (Cont'd)

Mr. J. C. Guillén
Mr. C. Joya
Mr. M. A. Lara
Mr. R. Lanza
Mr. C. Martínez
Mr. R. Beltran
Mr. V. M. Guerra
Mr. L. A. Ware
Mr. J. R. Arriaga
Mr. A. Maldonado

Research Assistant - Agrónomo Veterinario Research Assistant - Agrónomo Veterinario Research Assistant - Agrónomo Veterinario Research Assistant - Agrónomo Research Assistant - Agrónomo Junior Agronomist Senior Soil Surveyor Research Mechanical Supervisor Office Head Scientific Programmer

Senior Revenueh Acsis

J. E. Romero

6

Vel:

6.

(i.

1. Call

Cent

1

EN VEL

MEETINGS ATTENDED BY STAFF - 1976

- "Food Storage Seminar" Agency for International Development, San Pedro Sula, Honduras. January 25-30. A. A. BUESO
- Plantain Work Shop International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan, Nigeria. January 27-29. R. H. STOVER
- Interamerican Course on Soil Microbiology, San Jose, Costa Rica. May 31-June 24. E. O. JACOME
- 17th Annual Meetings of the Society for Economic Botany, Urbana, Illinois. June 13-16. T. J. JOHNSON
- The Malaysian International Agricultural Oil Palm Conference, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. June 14-17. D. L. RICHARDSON
- XII Annual Meetings PCCMCA, San Jose, Costa Rica. July 26-29. H. J. LIZARRAGA
- 73rd Annual Meetings American Society for Horticultural Science, Baton Rouge, Louisiana. August 11-14. P. R. ROWE
- 15th Annual Meetings Society of Nematology, Daytona Beach, Florida. August 15-19. P. L. TAYLOR and J. G. PINOCHET
- XV International Congress of Entomology, Washington, D. C. August 19-27. H. E. OSTMARK
- 4th International Colloquium on the Control of Plant Nutrition, Ghent, Belgium. September 6-11. M. RODRIGUEZ
- 68th Annual Meetings American Society of Agronomy, Houston, Texas. November 28-December 3. F. A. SIERRA



DAYS WORKING AWAY FROM LA LIMA AND LOCATION 1976

Place	Ph. D.	Others	Total	%
Tapachula, Mexico	-	9	9	0.6
Mexico (FAO Banana Course)	10	-	10	0.7
Quepos	2	6	8	0.5
Golfito (Coto, Palmar)	132	146	278	18.4
Costa Rica (various locations)	63	107	170	11.3
Bananera, Guatemala	6	-	6	0.4
Nicaragua	15	90	105	7.0
Belize	17	10	27	1.8
Changuinola	283	40	323	21.4
Armuelles	54	7	61	4.0
Panama (Oil Palm)	16	28 .	44	2.9
Colombia	75	19	94	6.2
Ecuador	7	-	7	0.5
U. S. A. (various locations)	51	19	70	4.6
Taiwan	6	-	6	0.4
Philippines	49	-	49	3.2
Asia (other countries)	12	-	12	0.8
West Indies	5	27	32	2.1
Puerto Rico	5	-	5	0.3
Scientific Meetings	72	6	78	5.2
Seed Technology, Zamorano	-	16	16	1.1
London	-	8	8	0.5
Surinam	17	-	17	1.1
Honduras - PATSA	11	31	42	2.8
Panama - PATSA	11	-	11	0.7
Nicaragua - PATSA	11	-	11	0.7
U. S. A PATSA (Meetings)	6	6	12	0.8
	936	575	1511	100.0

Above does not include soil surveys as follows: 66 days Mexico; 63 Colombia; 8 Belize; 28 Changuinola; 48 Cobal; 7 Isletas. Total = 220 days.

DAVE MORNING AWAY TRON LA LINA AND LOCATION

CEN VEL

133 W.

All and all

1990 (1971 (1972)

Con Party

The second